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Preface

The Road from 
Gush Etzion

on sePtember 27, 2017,  the Israeli government celebrated a half 
century of territorial expansion in the West Bank. The occasion was 
marked with an official state commemoration in a field outside the 
Gush Etzion settlement of Alon Shvut. Thousands of guests gath-
ered for “50 Years of Settlement in Judea and Samaria,” referring 
to the biblical term the government had adopted for the territory 
in 1967. Featuring music, dancers, and fireworks, the ceremony 
echoed across the hilltops between Jerusalem and Hebron. “Settle-
ment is important to you my friends,” Prime Minister Benjamin 
Netanyahu told the assembled crowd. “It is no less important to me 
and therefore, I tell you clearly and before anything: There will be 
no further uprooting of settlements in the land of Israel!”1

The location of the ceremony was historically significant. Gush 
Etzion, or the Etzion Bloc, is a cluster of settlements that consists 
of many heavily populated towns and includes Kfar Etzion, the first 
religious kibbutz established in the West Bank after the 1967 War. 
Before the emergence of Israel in 1948, the area was the site of pre- 
state Jewish agricultural communities founded between the 1920s 
and 1940s. After the November 1947 UN vote to partition Pales-
tine, the area was designated as part of a Palestinian state. During 
the 1948 War, Gush Etzion’s children were evacuated from the area, 
but women and men remained behind to defend the settlement. 
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On May 13, armed villagers and the Arab Legion broke into Kfar 
Etzion, killing over a hundred Jewish residents. The neighboring 
kibbutzim surrendered the following day to the Arab Legion, as the 
State of Israel was declared in Tel Aviv.2 Gush Etzion then came 
under Jordanian control for the next nineteen years, until Israel’s 
conquest of the West Bank in the June 1967 War. That war, referred 
to as the “Six Day War” in Israel, and the Naksa, or “setback” in the 
Arab world, led to a lightning- fast Israeli victory over combined 
Arab forces yielding the capture of the Sinai Peninsula and Gaza 
Strip from Egypt, the Golan Heights from Syria, and East Jerusa-
lem and the West Bank from Jordan.

Having kept the memory of the kibbutz alive while growing up 
in Israel, the children of Kfar Etzion’s former residents immediately 
sought to return. The Israeli cabinet granted them permission to 
do so in September 1967, despite advice by the legal counsel of the 
Foreign Ministry at the time, Theodor Meron. A civilian settlement 
would contravene the Fourth Geneva Conventions, Meron argued, 
as the territory was deemed “occupied” by Israel after the war. To 
circumvent these legal strictures, Kfar Etzion was established as a 
military outpost, even though it was in effect a civilian settlement.3

The reestablishment of Kfar Etzion, which followed similar 
initiatives in the Golan Heights, was the basis for a much broader 
effort by successive Labor and Likud governments to settle Jews 
beyond the 1949 Armistice line (known as the “Green Line”) in 
the newly occupied territories. Five decades later, their number 
reached over six hundred thousand people, including residents 
of East  Jerusalem.4 For Israeli government officials in 2017, Gush 
Etzion was therefore a fitting place to mark the anniversary of the 
war and the birth of the settlement project. In their planning an-
nouncement of the ceremony, Naftali Bennett, Israel’s education 
minister, and Miri Regev, Israel’s culture minister, remarked that 
“Israel’s glorious victory in the Six Day War and the liberation of 
Judea and Samaria, the Golan Heights and the Jordan Valley” 
should be celebrated with “the respect it deserves.”5

Government opposition members decried the choice of loca-
tion, which flaunted the ongoing occupation of Palestinians living 
in the same territories. “Israel has controlled millions of people for 
50 years, treads on them every day anew and denies them rights 
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and sovereignty,” the left- wing Meretz party chairwoman Zehava 
Galon told the Haaretz newspaper. “Bennett and Regev want us to 
continue living with this reality alongside us without considering 
the heavy price it extracts from us,” she concluded.6 The ceremony 
and the surrounding debate embodied the dissonant feelings that 
1967 still arouses in Israel, of conquest and military victory along-
side unanswered questions about the war’s consequences and Is-
raeli state control over local Palestinian life and territory ever since.

I know Gush Etzion well. In August 2001, when I was eighteen 
years old, I arrived in the settlement of Alon Shvut for a year of 
intensive study at Yeshivat Har Etzion, a preparatory academy of 
religious learning focused on immersion in the Torah, Talmud, and 
Jewish thought. The yeshiva, commonly known as the “Gush,” was 
originally established in Kfar Etzion in 1968, before it expanded to 
bigger quarters nearby. It has programs for both Israeli students, 
who integrate their religious learning with active service in the 
 Israeli army, and overseas Jewish students from across the United 
States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and South Africa. My time at 
the Gush was in line with the expectations of the Modern Ortho-
dox American Jewish community in which I grew up, where it was 
common practice to spend a gap year before college living in Israel. 
Most young men and women study at a religious seminary, an expe-
rience that is meant to strengthen traditional observance and one’s 
connection to the land of Israel.

I had been raised with a strong attachment to Zionism, traveling 
across Israel as part of a summer camp teen tour and participating 
in a wide array of activities to support the Jewish state. Although I 
was not particularly eager to pore over pages of Talmud, the social 
and familial expectations to spend a year abroad were strong, as 
was the encouragement of my school rabbis. The Gush seemed less 
restrictive than some of the other yeshiva options. It had a repu-
tation for deep and critical inquiry, where students and teachers 
drew on ancient and modern Jewish thought to explore the texts of 
a religious tradition with analytical rigor and robust debate. This 
particular theological outlook was also coupled with openness to 
the wider world. With some trepidation, but also a degree of excite-
ment, I found myself arriving in the West Bank for a year of study 
between high school and university in New York City.
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My arrival at the Gush coincided with the height of the second 
Palestinian Intifada, or uprising. It was a year of extreme violence 
throughout Israel and the occupied territories, with a stream of 
suicide bombings and military operations that unleashed havoc 
on civilian life. The events of that year led to a gradual and pain-
ful personal and political awakening about the circumstances that 
had led me there. I was often close to the violence, making regu-
lar trips out of the settlement for weekend breaks. The dark green 
Egged company buses that I rode to and from Gush Etzion were 
bulletproof. There were frequent shooting attacks on the cars and 
buses driving on the settler- only roads in the West Bank, especially 
near the tunnels that passed under Palestinian villages above. I had 
 macabre thoughts on those trips, wondering where it was best to sit 
in the event of a suicide bombing and whether a bullet round could 
make it through the gaps under the double- plated windows. On the 
announcement board in the yeshiva’s study hall, or Beit  Midrash, 
small notices regularly went up with the Hebrew names of the in-
jured, asking students to pray for those who had been victims of a 
terror attack.

One Saturday night, headed back to yeshiva after the Jewish 
Sabbath, I missed a particularly gruesome triple suicide bombing 
on West Jerusalem’s Ben Yehuda Street by just a few minutes. I 
remember visiting a student from my high school who had been in-
jured in the bombing and can still distinctly recall the ball bearings 
that had been removed from his body sitting in a small plastic cup 
nearby. It was hard to focus on tractates of Talmud in this surreal 
environment. I often retreated to my dorm room, where I read local 
newspapers and tried to make sense of events unfolding around 
me. In the spring of 2002, I could feel my room shake as the Israeli 
army launched Operation “Defensive Shield,” occupying nearby 
Bethlehem, as well as Jenin, Nablus, and other major Palestinian 
cities. The operation was launched following a string of attacks that 
culminated in a Passover suicide bombing by a Hamas bomber at 
the Park Hotel in the seaside town of Netanya. It was the largest 
military operation in the West Bank since the 1967 War.

Amid all this upheaval, I recall very little discussion with our 
 yeshiva’s rabbis about the drivers of Palestinian violence or the rela-
tionship of the yeshiva and the Gush Etzion settlement bloc to the 
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wider context of the occupation. For many Jewish religious  leaders 
in the settlements or elsewhere this would not be surprising, given 
their deep- seated belief in the divine right to the land and intimate 
knowledge of biblical scripture invoked to support continued Jewish 
presence there, generally to the exclusion of others. But the founder 
of the institution, an inspiring educator named Rabbi  Yehuda Am-
ital, was a figure who possessed a unique worldview. Born in what 
was then Transylvania, he had survived the Nazi invasion of Hun-
gary and arrived in Palestine in 1944. His entire family had perished 
in the Holocaust. Rabbi Amital would often tell students the fa-
mous story of a rabbinic scholar studying Torah in a room next to 
his grandson and hearing a baby cry in a third room beyond. The 
elder rabbi got up to calm the baby, walking past his grandson, who 
was too involved in the religious text to notice. Returning to his 
own room, the grandfather criticized his grandson: “If someone is 
studying Torah and fails to hear a baby’s cry, there is something very 
wrong with his learning.” This was the founding philosophy of the 
Gush: to be immersed in the realm of the spiritual but attuned to 
the everyday concerns of the physical world beyond.

After the yeshiva was founded, Rabbi Amital shifted from a mes-
sianic view of Zionism toward the idea of territorial compromise 
with the Palestinians. He had been shaken by the loss of students 
at the yeshiva who had fought and died in Israel’s 1973 Yom Kippur 
War and 1982 Lebanon War.7 He founded the left- leaning Meimad 
(Jewish State, Democratic State) movement in 1988, and served 
as a Minister without Portfolio in the Labor government of Shi-
mon Peres in 1995– 96. Soon after the November 1995 assassination 
of Prime Minister Yitzhak Rabin by the religious extremist Yigal 
Amir, Rabbi Amital castigated the religious Zionist community for 
their role in fostering an environment in which such violence was 
condoned.8 On a day- to- day basis, however, I often wondered how 
he and the other rabbis really felt about living in a settlement and 
the ethical implications of their actions for the daily lives of Pales-
tinians. In youthful deference to their stature and the environment 
of the yeshiva I never asked, even as I increasingly wondered what 
I was doing in the middle of it all myself.

Leaving the settlement for Jerusalem or travels farther afield, 
the Egged bus would often make its way through the nearby 
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settlement of Efrat, a sprawling suburb founded in part by Ameri-
can Jews from New York City’s Upper West Side.9 On Fridays, the 
main grocery store would be bustling with mothers doing family 
shopping for their Shabbat meals. Once the route linked up with 
the main highway, we would pass through a large checkpoint on 
the outskirts of Beit Jala, a Palestinian town adjacent to Bethlehem. 
There would always be a long line of Palestinians sitting in their 
cars or standing nearby, waiting to pass. As our bus bypassed the 
line and zipped through the checkpoint, I would peer at them from 
the bulletproof window.

Something did not sit right with me on those frequent journeys. 
The growing knowledge that my ease of access to travel around the 
West Bank and Israel as an American Jew came at the expense of 
local Palestinian inhabitants made me uncomfortable. Their con-
ditions seemed bleak, and the contrast with the Jewish population 
living or traveling through the West Bank was stark. We lived in 
verdant hilltop settlements with manicured lawns, and from the 
little I could discern, their towns seemed a jumble of unfinished 
buildings on the horizon that had to be avoided. The entire road 
system that we traveled on had been designed to bypass Palestinian 
areas, but we could still see them from a distance. It was strange to 
inhabit space so close together and yet have no real interaction with 
these neighbors.

While the disparity of movement and restrictions that separated 
Palestinians from Jews now seems so obvious, it was a slow real-
ization at the time. In the Jewish community of my youth, I had 
no direct contact with Arabs, let alone much interaction with non- 
Jews. Ironically, the biblical “Land of Israel” was far more present 
in my life, a storied place of great religious significance that evoked 
the long sweep of Jewish history and whose modern “redemption” 
verged on the miraculous. As kids, we sang songs of the Jewish 
 return to the holy city of Hebron and the Tomb of the Patriarchs, 
and felt strongly that this faraway land belonged to us, the Jew-
ish  people. Each year, our school marched proudly down New York 
City’s Fifth Avenue in the annual “Salute to Israel Day Parade,” 
blending notions of religious return with the modern miracle of 
statehood. In our insular context, we did not comprehend or even 
recognize the presence or rights of another people.
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This image of biblical Israel cultivated at a distance was shat-
tered on those bus rides, which inadvertently exposed the reality 
of the West Bank. With the overwhelming obsession over the land 
of Israel, no one seemed to take much notice of the non- Jewish 
inhabitants living there. How could we not have seen them? Here 
were Palestinian mothers and their children waiting at the Beit 
Jala checkpoint on a Friday morning, not far from their Jewish 
counter parts in the bustling Efrat kosher supermarket. The cogni-
tive dissonance was astounding. What could possibly explain this 
disparity? Why were Palestinians unable to move freely, in the very 
same space where I, a U.S. citizen, could come and go as I pleased? 
It seemed to me that the only difference was based on religion or 
ethnicity, one system for Jews and another for Arabs. Friends in 
yeshiva talked about the need for security, but I felt uncomfortable 
drawing distinctions along these lines.

Over the course of that year in yeshiva, deeply troubled by these 
questions, I took a much greater interest in the political nature of 
the conflict between Israel and the Palestinians. My limited but 
growing awareness of the underlying dynamics was often out of step 
with the views of many friends and family who did not grasp things 
the same way I did. For those who did notice something amiss, the 
disparity was easily justified. Among some friends in  Israel or my 
community back home in the United States, the explanation was 
that Palestinians brought misery upon themselves. “Look at all the 
violence they perpetrate!” they would say. “They are not interested 
in peace,” or “This is our land, God gave it to us,” others would tell 
me. One particularly savvy educator responded to my piercing ques-
tions with the following response: “You know, Seth, as bad as things 
have gotten, it’s important to remember that we need to care about 
our own first, before we address the needs of the other side.”

The justifications offered to me did not mitigate the daily real-
ity I was witnessing. I had grown up saturated with conversations 
about the Israeli- Palestinian conflict, yet crucial pieces of the story 
were missing. Living in the West Bank provided an immediacy that 
had been lacking in my American context. I had arrived from the 
United States with a very strong image of the land and a belief in 
who it belonged to, and yet the visceral encounter with Israel, the 
occupied territories, and the mechanics of the occupation chipped 
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away at faraway projections. Through conversations with numer-
ous other American Jews over the years, similar moments of disen-
chantment have often been described to me, the feeling of incon-
gruence and even self- deception that lies at the heart of discovering 
certain uncomfortable truths about the relationship between Israel 
and the Palestinians.

Moreover, as an American citizen who grew up viewing U.S. di-
plomacy as a force for good in the Middle East, there was something 
particularly curious about my own country’s role in this disturb-
ing reality. As a child in the 1990s, I remember my family saving 
a copy of the newspaper with the cover of President Bill Clinton 
presiding over the signing of the Oslo Accords with the sense that 
a new reality was beginning. This was encapsulated in the photo of 
the handshake between Israeli prime minister Yitzhak Rabin and 
Palestinian leader Yasser Arafat on the White House lawn. Close 
to a decade later, why was I sitting in bulletproof buses, full of fear 
that a fellow passenger might be a suicide bomber? And how could 
those suicide bombers be willing to blow up random civilians on 
Ben Yehuda Street? These were heavy questions for an eighteen- 
year- old and led to many tense discussions with my parents back 
home in the United States about why I was in the West Bank.

A desire to find answers to these and other questions drove me 
to study the history, languages, and politics of the region follow-
ing the formative experience in Gush Etzion and eventually led to 
this book. I became interested in understanding how and why the 
Palestinians still lived under Israeli control without equal rights, 
lacking a state of their own. What explained Oslo’s unraveling? 
How had the American government mediated the conflict for so 
long without an end to the Israeli occupation that began in 1967? 
I also wanted to understand how the expansion of Israeli territory 
beyond the Green Line had affected daily reality, and why the very 
“peace process” that was presumably intended to address the fate of 
the West Bank and Gaza Strip had not in fact facilitated the inde-
pendence of the territories. Rather, the diplomatic process seemed 
to solidify their absorption into Israel, blurring borders and mak-
ing it very easy for me to get on a public bus in West Jerusalem and 
less than an hour later end up in Gush Etzion without noticing a 
demarcated crossing.
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In different guises, the search to answer these questions took 
me back to the West Bank, this time to Bethlehem and Hebron and 
Jenin and Nablus and Ramallah, but also to Syria and Lebanon 
and Jordan and Egypt, to state archives in Jerusalem, London, 
and Washington, private collections and U.S. presidential libraries, 
interviews with diplomats and legal advisors, thousands of docu-
ments, and unsurprisingly, countless more questions. My inquiry 
ultimately stretched back to the 1970s, particularly to the emer-
gence of the Camp David Accords in September 1978. This was 
the first moment since the establishment of Israel in 1948— what 
Palestinians refer to as the Nakba, or “catastrophe”— that Palestin-
ian self- determination was the subject of international diplomatic 
negotiations. While much of the focus on issues at the heart of the 
Israeli- Palestinian conflict like settlements, territory, and political 
sovereignty dwells on diplomacy in the 1990s, the foundations of 
that era were actually laid fifteen years earlier.

A great deal of this early history has been ignored or glossed over 
in broader accounts of the Israeli- Palestinian conflict. The complex 
legacy of Camp David, particularly concerning the political fate 
of the Palestinians, is often eclipsed by the beaming image of U.S. 
president Jimmy Carter, hands intertwined with Egyptian presi-
dent Anwar al- Sadat and Israeli prime minister Menachem Begin. 
Egypt’s accord with Israel is an event that demands broader reex-
amination, especially given the availability of new historical sources.

I arrived at the Israel State Archives early on in my research just 
as the records from this period were released to the public under 
the thirty- year rule of declassification. While in the archives, I was 
also among the first to gain access to newly available records about 
the 1982 Israeli war in Lebanon, which followed on the heels of the 
political discussions at Camp David and focused on a military solu-
tion to the problem of Palestinian nationalism. Taken together— 
and alongside newly available sources that I examined in the United 
States, Europe, and the Middle East— a clearer picture emerged of 
a formative moment in the international history of the Arab- Israeli 
conflict and the battle over Palestinian self- determination.

The forty- year anniversary of the triple handshake between 
Carter, Begin, and Sadat after Camp David coincides in Sep-
tember 2018 with twenty- five years marking the Arafat- Rabin 
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handshake of the Oslo Accords. Rather than engendering regional 
peace or statehood for the Palestinians, this fateful twin constel-
lation is marked by an entrenched stalemate. Israel has success-
fully maintained and expanded its presence in the West Bank and 
East Jerusalem, even with a withdrawal from settlements in the 
Gaza Strip, which remains subject to an Israeli blockade. Palestin-
ian geographic and political fragmentation has grown ever more 
acute, and the lack of meaningful sovereignty remains a formative 
element of the contemporary Palestinian condition. The celebra-
tion of fifty years of the settlement project in Gush Etzion merely 
underscores the failure of the peace process, highlighting how it 
has also facilitated Israel’s territorial expansion. At the ceremony, 
Prime Minister  Netanyahu spoke to the assembled guests from a 
stage adorned with a large banner that read in Hebrew: “We have 
returned to Judea and Samaria.”10 For stateless Palestinians living 
nearby, the echo of the music and fireworks must have been par-
ticularly lacerating.

Only in retrospect do I recognize that the dissonance engen-
dered by a year living in Gush Etzion launched a much longer 
quest for historical understanding about Israel’s establishment and 
its control of the occupied territories, the fate of the Palestinians, 
and the absence of Palestine. This book is an attempt to provide an 
answer to some of my questions. I am well aware that it lands in a 
field saturated with fierce debate and a depth of emotion, raising 
questions of political allegiance, ideology, objectivity, and compet-
ing claims of responsibility. But I am also certain that confront-
ing an ongoing tragedy and advancing a conversation about where 
things might be headed begins with greater consciousness about 
how we got here in the first place.
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Introduction

“i fear for tHe sPirit of camP DaviD,”  wrote its chief archi-
tect, former U.S. president Jimmy Carter, in a 2016 plea to outgoing 
president Barack Obama. Before leaving office, Carter told Obama, 
his administration should “grant American diplomatic recognition 
to the state of Palestine.” The thirty- ninth president invoked his 
own efforts to reach a peace agreement between Israel and Egypt 
in 1978, based on United Nations Security Council Resolution 242, 
passed in the aftermath of the 1967 War. This resolution, Carter 
underscored, formed the basis of U.S. policy toward the region and 
should guide a renewed commitment to ensure the viability of a 
“two- state solution” to the Israeli- Palestinian conflict. By recogniz-
ing a Palestinian state, Carter argued, Obama would clear the way 
for other countries and the UN Security Council to take action, 
“countering the one- state reality that Israel is imposing on itself 
and the Palestinian people.”1

“The primary foreign policy goal of my life has been to help bring 
peace to Israel and its neighbors,” Carter concluded. He recalled 
with pride his speech to a joint session of Congress in September 
1978 after Israeli prime minister Menachem Begin and Egyptian 
president Anwar al- Sadat had reached their agreement at Camp 
David. “Blessed are the peacemakers, for they shall be called the 
children of God,” the president had said to loud applause and a 
standing ovation, looking at the two leaders in the balcony above. 
It was a moment broadcast live on television and the radio, etched 
into public consciousness as the high point of Carter’s time in office.
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Forty years since negotiations were convened in the isolated 
Catoctin Mountain Park presidential retreat, Camp David still 
endures as a moment of rare triumph for a U.S. administration 
beset by domestic challenges and struggles abroad. Under Carter’s 
guidance, the United States acted as an effective broker to secure 
a peace agreement between Egypt and Israel that has persisted as 
the cornerstone of regional politics in the Middle East. For many 
observers, Camp David’s success underscores the importance of 
skilled American mediation and burnishes the image of judicious 
U.S. engagement abroad. But could such a positive interpretation 
be a misreading of history? Is the invocation of Camp David as a 
model for peacemaking to help solve the Israeli- Palestinian con-
flict truly appropriate? Might Carter’s great diplomatic success have 
helped ensure the prevention of a Palestinian state?

There is in fact a competing view of Camp David that focuses 
on its more troubling legacy for the Middle East. From the van-
tage point of Palestinian nationalists in Beirut and in the streets of 
other Arab capitals at the time, the 1978 summit was a formative 
moment of disenfranchisement. Palestinians, whose struggle for 
self- determination had been moving definitively from armed resis-
tance to diplomatic engagement in the years prior to this deal, had 
high hopes for a shift in the American approach to their political 
fate in the late 1970s. Yet at the very moment when their demands 
for self- determination were under serious consideration for the 
first time, they found themselves shut out of an incipient peace 
process and consigned to the sidelines. In exchange for peace with 
Egypt and the return of the Sinai Peninsula negotiated at Camp 
David, Israel was able to exercise continued control of the West 
Bank and Gaza Strip.

The bilateral peace agreement that Carter brokered between 
Begin and Sadat was therefore castigated as an abandonment of 
the Palestinian cause. Sidestepping the question of Palestinian 
self- determination in East Jerusalem, the West Bank, and Gaza 
Strip, the accords ultimately shifted negotiations to the question of 
possible local autonomy for Arab residents living in the occupied 
territories. The emergence of these subsequent “autonomy talks,” 
which were held between representatives of Egypt, Israel, and the 
United States from 1979 to 1982, were premised on a non- sovereign 
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resolution to Palestinian national aspirations. Although often ig-
nored or dismissed as insignificant in accounts of this period, the 
autonomy discussions became the basis of limited self- rule and, 
eventually, the emergence of the Palestinian National Authority 
after the Oslo Accords were signed in 1993.

Four decades since the signing of the Camp David Accords, 
the Palestinian quest for self- determination remains unfulfilled. 
Without an independent state in the West Bank, Gaza Strip, and 
East  Jerusalem, Palestinians continue to live as non- citizens under 
 Israeli occupation, deprived of basic rights like the freedom of 
movement. They are stateless subjects under Israeli military con-
trol, suspended between limited autonomy within enclaves of 
self- rule and the continuing encroachment of Israeli settlements.2 
This result did not appear out of the blue, nor was it inevitable. A 
non- statist outcome emerged directly from the diplomatic negotia-
tions meant to resolve their political fate, in line with what Israeli 
 officials intended.

Camp David’s narrow outcome was not at all what President 
Carter had envisioned when entering office in January 1977. Un-
like his predecessors, Carter sought to include the Palestinians as 
part of a comprehensive regional peace settlement to resolve the 
un answered questions of the 1967 War once and for all. He was the 
first U.S. president to speak openly of a Palestinian “homeland,” 
using the controversial term at a news conference a few months 
after he took office.3 But through a series of protracted diplomatic 
negotiations following on the heels of the Camp David Accords, 
which began while Carter was in the White House and continued 
after the administration of Ronald Reagan took over, the expansive 
vision that had guided the thirty- ninth president yielded a far more 
troubling legacy.

This book traces the fate of the “Palestinian question”— the dip-
lomatic negotiations over Palestinian self- determination— from its 
emergence as a central feature of a Middle East settlement under 
Carter in the late 1970s to the onset of the Madrid and Oslo peace 
process that finally brought Palestinian leaders to the negotiat-
ing table in the early 1990s. It is the first study based on primary 
sources of how Palestinian self- determination was conceptual-
ized and debated by American, Israeli, Egyptian, Palestinian, and 
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transnational actors in this crucial period, predating the years tra-
ditionally demarcated as formative for the negotiations of a Pales-
tinian political future.

A tendency to canonize Camp David— even by President Carter 
himself— has obscured the structural deficiencies enshrined by 
these early negotiations. While an Egyptian- Israeli settlement was 
indeed a significant achievement, it was reached at great and recur-
ring expense. For Israel, the primary outcome of the peace treaty 
was the end of the traditional military rivalry with a neighboring 
Arab state. Concurrently, however, it also helped secure legitimacy 
for the extension of Israeli state sovereignty beyond the 1967 bor-
ders. For the Palestinians, Camp David was a crucial moment of 
state prevention. It marked the first instance of post- 1948 discus-
sion of their plight on a global scale, yet excluded them from the 
negotiations that would decide their political fate. By reassessing 
the negotiations that led to the summit and its consequences, this 
account complicates the dominant interpretation of Camp David as 
“heroic diplomacy.”4

The diplomacy around Camp David actually served more trou-
bling ends. Alongside the linkage to autonomy provisions and 
settle ment expansion plans, it connected directly to Israel’s military 
invasion of Lebanon in 1982, which in turn shaped the outbreak of 
the first Palestinian Intifada in 1987. Taken together, these succes-
sive developments reshaped Israel’s relations with the Palestinians 
as well as broader regional politics in the Middle East during the 
late twentieth century. Given its transnational dimension, Camp 
David also affected crucial domestic currents in the United States, 
from the resurgence of Cold War conservatism to the shifting politi-
cal allegiance of American Jewry. Yet beyond essential accounts of 
the summit itself, the linkage between Camp David and the wider 
transformations of this period remain unexamined.5

In order to understand why the Palestinian question remains 
among the most vexing problems of international diplomacy, we 
must revisit the years in which the very terms of political engage-
ment were first substantively debated by American, Israeli, British, 
and Arab officials. In recounting this history, Preventing Palestine 
demonstrates how a confluence of global and regional politics, as 
well as shifting local developments on the ground, has produced an 
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outcome of indefinite occupation, statelessness, and deep fragmen-
tation for Palestinians. After surveying Israel’s territorial conquest 
and the resurgence of Palestinian national politics after 1967, as 
well as the American approach to resolving regional conflict in the 
wake of the war, chapters 1 and 2 turn to the rise of new leader-
ship in the United States and Israel in the 1970s. The clash between 
President Jimmy Carter’s expansive vision of Palestinian political 
aspirations and Prime Minister Menachem Begin’s more sobering 
approach explains how two competing worldviews led to a more 
limited Egyptian- Israeli peace at Camp David. Chapters 3 and 4 
explain how Egyptian and American acquiescence in the face of Is-
raeli statecraft led in turn to the triumph of “autonomy” as a rubric 
for addressing the Palestinians, while facilitating the extension of 
Israeli sovereignty inside the occupied territories.

Troubling dynamics unleashed in the 1970s were exacerbated 
in the 1980s. Rising neoconservative influence and the election of 
Ronald Reagan, as chapter 5 examines, positioned the Palestinians 
as a proxy of the Soviet Union in a revived Cold War and offered 
legal legitimacy to the settlement project. While bolstering Israel’s 
restrictive notion of autonomy, the Reagan administration facili-
tated a turn from political suppression to military intervention as 
the Camp David process gave way to the 1982 Israeli invasion of 
Lebanon. Chapter 6 explores the central role of the Israeli- American 
relationship in the lead- up to the war and during the fighting itself, 
which targeted Palestinian nationalists in their Lebanese strong-
hold. The unforeseen consequences of the war, from the Sabra and 
Shatila massacre to Iranian- backed proxy attacks on U.S. Marines, 
underscored the limits of American support for  Israeli actions and 
undercut U.S. influence in the Middle East. It also highlighted the 
futility of thwarting Palestinian nationalism, which rebounded in 
the wake of the expulsion of the Palestine Liberation Organization 
(PLO) from Beirut. Continued attempts to sideline the movement— 
which included economic initiatives and Jordanian circumvention, 
as chapter 7 demonstrates— were ultimately unsuccessful. The 1987 
outbreak of the first Intifada led to U.S. recognition of the PLO in 
1988, one of Reagan’s final acts in office.

The end of the Cold War reordered U.S. relations with the Middle 
East, reviving a political track on the Palestinian front. Chapter 8 
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explores the onset of formal peace negotiations in the 1990s and the 
continuing influence of diplomatic models first introduced through 
the Camp David Accords. While the Madrid Conference crucially 
brought the Palestinians to the negotiating table in 1991, and the 
secret Oslo Accord of 1993 secured the return of the exiled Palestin-
ian leadership to the West Bank and Gaza Strip, meaningful sover-
eignty and the possibility of statehood remained elusive. Rooted in 
the autonomy model enshrined by Menachem Begin, the negotia-
tions ensured an ongoing Israeli presence in the occupied territo-
ries. Twenty- five years after the signing of the Oslo Accord and the 
subsequent establishment of the Palestinian National  Authority, 
the Palestinians are no closer to self- determination. Many would 
argue that a separate state of Palestine is even farther away from 
reality and that Palestinians are alternatively no closer to secur-
ing equal rights within an expanded one- state entity between the 
Mediterranean Sea and the Jordan River. The book’s conclusion 
examines the persistence of statelessness and its long- term conse-
quences against this historical backdrop.

At the heart of this story is a struggle between two compet-
ing  political projects: the first of an Israeli government embold-
ened by the conquests of 1967 and seeking to extend control into 
the newly occupied territories while preventing Palestinian self- 
determination from taking hold. The second is of a Palestinian 
 national movement finding its political voice in the wake of the 
same war and seeking sovereignty on a portion of their ancestral 
homeland.6 The race between these two projects was ultimately 
won by Israel, in part as a result of U.S. and Egyptian acquiescence 
in the wake of Camp David, as well as through Israel’s military vic-
tory in Lebanon. But Israel’s success also bred its own version of 
failure, as the crushing military and political defeat of the PLO 
brought the Palestinian plight to world attention. This develop-
ment opened a space for global agitation on their behalf, as the vis-
ibility was solidified by the outbreak of the first Intifada. Inversely, 
the Palestinian achievement in gaining international recognition 
and opening a dialogue with the United States ultimately yielded a 
diplomatic agreement that did not resolve the core issues of conten-
tion. Diplomacy in the 1990s, like the autonomy talks in the 1970s, 
helped assure Israel’s expansion of settlements in the occupied 
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territories, now extant for more than fifty years. When those ter-
ritories first came under  Israeli control, neither the conquerors nor 
the inhabitants could have imagined what would follow.

In the Wake of 1967
For many Israelis and their supporters abroad, the capture of the 
West Bank, Gaza Strip, Golan Heights, Sinai Peninsula, and the old 
city of Jerusalem in June 1967 was greeted with ecstatic revelry. It 
seemed to fulfill the redemptive hopes of messianic Zionism, or else 
a secular variant of nationalist fervor.7 The swift but surprising war 
had first been a source of existential dread, ultimately giving way 
to celebration.8 At the same time, the expansion of Israel’s territory 
raised profound political and demographic questions for Israeli 
leaders. During the earliest security cabinet discussions about the 
future of the newly occupied territories, the specter of how to man-
age the Palestinian population took on central importance. While 
the assembled Israeli ministers broadly agreed that the newly ac-
quired Golan Heights and Sinai Peninsula would be bargaining 
chips for possible peace treaties with Syria and Egypt, the status of 
Jerusalem, the West Bank, and the Gaza Strip remained a matter 
of extensive debate.9

The conquest of territory greatly expanded the young state’s 
borders, but it now left Israel in control of more than one million 
inhabitants living on the land that it had occupied. Officials argued 
over the fate of the Palestinians in the West Bank who had previ-
ously been under Jordanian rule. What would become of these resi-
dents? Would they acquire rights and an ability to vote in  Israel? 
What of their citizenship? A consensus emerged against either an-
nexation or granting rights to the Arab residents, with the cabi-
net of Israeli prime minister Levi Eshkol making a “decision not 
to decide” on the status of the newly occupied territories. The land 
would be utilized for Jewish settlements, and the Palestinians living 
there would de facto be deprived of sovereign control or the right to 
self- determination.10

The cabinet’s “decision not to decide” evolved into a permanent 
condition of military occupation, and it enabled the building of set-
tlements under the Labor- led government in the decade after the 
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war.11 Legal and historical arguments about the state’s right to the 
conquered territories expanded with the rise of the messianic Gush 
Emunim movement, or “Bloc of the Faithful.” Founded in 1974 by 
Orthodox followers of Rabbi Tzvi Yehuda Kook, the group’s ideo-
logical support base had grown in the wake of the 1967 War. The 
movement called for the reclamation of land in the territories— 
labeled by their biblical name, Yehuda v’ Shomron (Judea and 
Samaria)— to establish Jewish settlements.12 While nationalists 
and the religious right were advocating for settlements, secularists 
from the dominant Labor party had in fact long been ushering a 
wave of expansion on the ground in the territories. A project that 
began under the Labor government of Eshkol expanded dramati-
cally under the Likud- led governments that followed. In combina-
tion, Israeli control over the territory yielded one of the longest— if 
not the longest— military occupations of the modern era.13

Beyond the decisions inside the Israeli cabinet room in 1967, a 
struggle for self- determination was taking shape among Palestin-
ians themselves. A reinvigorated national movement helped revive 
global attention to the Palestinian plight, which had been sidelined 
as a humanitarian problem after the creation of Israel in 1948. In 
the course of the war, over seven hundred thousand Palestinians 
were expelled or fled from territories that had become the Israeli 
state.14 Against the backdrop of dispersion and infiltration that fol-
lowed, as well as inter- Arab rivalry and internal divisions in the 
1950s and 1960s, the quest for self- determination strengthened in 
the wake of the 1967 War.15 Disillusioned with the failure of Arab 
nationalism, Palestinian leaders seized the struggle for their future 
away from discredited regional power brokers.16 The PLO, founded 
in 1964, was given new life in the aftermath of Israel’s victory.17 In 
their quest for political recognition, the Palestinians found allies 
across Europe and the Global South, seizing on other examples of 
decolonization, from the struggles of Algerian independence to the 
Vietnam War.18

The 1967 War was therefore a watershed moment for the United 
States in the Middle East and for the reemergence of the Palestin-
ian question. Israel’s rapid defeat of the Arab states was a decisive 
blow to the prestige of the Soviet military who backed them. U.S. 
support for Israel during the war placed Washington at the center 
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of postwar diplomatic efforts to resolve the Arab- Israeli conflict. 
President Lyndon Johnson did not want to return to the status quo 
that had prevailed before 1967 and supported Prime Minister Esh-
kol’s bid to retain the territories until the Arab states recognized Is-
rael and made peace.19 This stance was codified in November 1967 
via United Nations Security Council Resolution 242, which was 
understood internationally as a guideline for pursuing an exchange 
of “land for peace,” meaning the return of territories for Israel’s full 
recognition by the Arab world. At the same time, UN resolution 242 
did not refer to the Palestinians directly, calling for a “just settle-
ment to the refugee problem,” without mentioning the fate of the 
West Bank and Gaza Strip. According to some opinions, it did not 
call for full Israeli withdrawal from all the captured territories.20

Nevertheless, by the mid- 1970s, the PLO had gained inter-
national prominence through a combination of diplomatic over-
tures and violent acts of political terrorism on the global stage.21 
After first pursuing “total liberation” over the entirety of historic 
Palestine via armed struggle, the organization gradually shifted to-
ward territorial partition and separate statehood alongside Israel. 
Moderating influences within the Palestinian national movement 
also gained ground after the 1973 War, generating measured sup-
port for a negotiated settlement.22 At the Arab League Summit in 
1974, the PLO was officially recognized as the representative voice 
of Palestinian concerns in the Arab world. But how, exactly, were 
Palestinians going to be able to get any territory for a state? Beyond 
armed struggle, the PLO needed international backing for its dip-
lomatic track, particularly from the United States. It was an effort 
riven with difficulty, given internal Palestinian debates over mili-
tary tactics and the parameters for diplomatic engagement, as well 
as long- standing U.S. policy toward Israel and the Middle East.23

A crucial regional development followed the September 1970 
death of the champion of pan- Arab nationalism, Egyptian president 
Gamal Abdel Nasser. The new president, Anwar al- Sadat,  pivoted 
his country westward, seeking to align Egypt with the United States 
rather than the Soviet Union.24 Sadat was also determined to break 
the hold of Israel’s dominant territorial position in the region, seek-
ing to reclaim the Sinai Peninsula. He tried to negotiate a territorial 
exchange with Israel and signaled his determination to align with 
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Western powers. Israeli officials were not responsive to his over-
tures, and President Richard Nixon’s powerful National Security 
Advisor, Henry Kissinger, was determined to maintain the strategic 
balance of détente. Joining forces with Syrian president Hafez al- 
Assad, Sadat launched the 1973 October War against Israel as a way 
to break this regional stalemate and create a “crisis of détente.”25

The surprise attack broke out on Yom Kippur, the holiest day 
of the Jewish calendar. Israeli reservists were not at their bases, as 
the leadership of the country had not heeded the warnings of intel-
ligence channels on the eve of the fighting.26 The ensuing battle 
shattered Israel’s cloak of invincibility that had been dominant in 
the wake of 1967. Although Israel defeated the Egyptian and Syr-
ian forces, Israeli leaders had to seek U.S. military aid to turn the 
tide of the fighting. A massive American airlift of tanks, airplanes, 
and ammunition reversed the Egyptian and Syrian advances. With 
Nixon distracted by the Watergate scandal, Kissinger negotiated 
the terms of agreement to end the war. These terms were passed as 
UN Security Council Resolution 338, which called for a “just and 
durable peace in the Middle East” along the lines of UN Security 
Council Resolution 242 after the 1967 War.27 Kissinger, as Nixon’s 
envoy and later as secretary of state to President Gerald Ford, pur-
sued a step- by- step approach to achieve a diplomatic solution be-
tween Israel and its neighbors.

Within Israel, the 1973 War brought the downfall of Prime Min-
ister Golda Meir’s government. A committee of inquiry, known as 
the Agranat Commission, found deep lapses of judgment among 
the leadership of the Israel Defense Forces (IDF) and held several 
military leaders to account for Israeli losses.28 Meir’s replacement 
was Yitzhak Rabin, a Labor party leader and decorated commander 
of the Israeli army who had served for five years as Israel’s ambas-
sador to Washington. Primarily concerned with rebuilding Israeli 
military deterrence after the war, Rabin entertained U.S. efforts 
to maintain postwar calm with interim arrangements. Alongside 
Sadat, who had been seeking out U.S. patronage and aid since as-
suming the Egyptian presidency, the two leaders helped ensure the 
success of Kissinger’s diplomacy.29

In December 1973, a few months after the end of the Yom 
Kippur War, the United States and the Soviet Union convened a 
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short- lived Geneva Conference that included representatives from 
Egypt, Jordan, and Israel. Although largely in a ceremonial role, 
it was to be the last time the United States accepted the Soviet 
Union as an equal partner in the Middle East, leading to a period 
of American diplomatic dominance in the region. The PLO leader-
ship, which thought that Palestinians would be included in these 
discussions, began to rethink its diplomatic options.30 While the 
Geneva Conference did not achieve a comprehensive solution to 
the Arab- Israeli conflict, it fostered Kissinger’s “shuttle missions” 
to Egypt, Syria, and Israel between 1973 and 1975. These missions 
led to disengagement agreements between the three countries, as 
well as the Sinai Interim Agreement (Sinai II), which signaled a 
willingness to resolve conflict between Israel and Egypt “by peace-
ful means.”31

While strengthening bilateral relations with Israel and Egypt, 
the American approach also prolonged broader regional conflict in-
definitely.32 Sinai II included further Israeli withdrawals from the 
Sinai Peninsula and the establishment of a UN buffer zone in the 
area. In pulling Cairo out of the Arab- Israeli conflict, the United 
States hoped to reduce the likelihood of another dangerous armed 
conflict, which threatened to destabilize great power relations in 
the Middle East. Kissinger’s approach was a means of conflict man-
agement: by removing Egypt as a strategic and diplomatic threat, 
Israel’s position would be secured and American dominance in the 
region would be preserved.

Palestinian national aspirations, which remained a central 
point of contention between Israel and the Arab states during this 
 period, were ignored by Kissinger’s diplomatic initiatives. In focus-
ing on limited cease- fires between warring states, Kissinger’s ef-
fort favored a piecemeal approach that separated the Palestinian 
issue from broader regional concerns.33 This served Kissinger’s 
agenda of conflict management, and also assuaged the anxieties 
of the Rabin government. Israel was deeply opposed to the pos-
sibility of Palestinian self- determination, and in 1975 Kissinger 
formally promised that the United States would not engage with 
the PLO unless it acknowledged Israel’s right to exist and accepted 
UN Security Council Resolutions 242 and 338. This ban on deal-
ing with the PLO was formative in shaping U.S. relations with the 
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Palestinians, forestalling meaningful engagement just as the PLO 
was moving purposefully toward diplomacy.34

During the 1976 presidential campaign, a new U.S. approach 
to the Middle East began taking shape. Gerald Ford’s Democratic 
opponent, Georgia governor Jimmy Carter, had grander plans for 
U.S. foreign policy in the Global South.35 Carter was viewed in the 
United States as a political outsider and foreign policy neophyte, 
but he also ran for office at a time when Cold War détente was 
under assault and human rights were emerging as an alternative 
basis on which to formulate the trajectory of U.S. international-
ism.36 The governor was developing a regional, rather than strictly 
Cold War, approach to foreign policy, marked by a concern with 
localized political dynamics.37

In his campaign speeches on the Middle East, Carter stressed a 
shift away from Kissinger’s gradualist approach to regional peace-
making. “A limited settlement,” Carter argued, “leaves unresolved 
the underlying threat to Israel. A general settlement is needed—  
one which will end the conflict between Israel and its neighbors 
once and for all.”38 This comprehensive tone, which sought a 
resolution with countries like Jordan, Lebanon, Syria, and Saudi 
Arabia, marked a more expansive agenda while privileging U.S. 
relations with Israel. Carter also placed the Palestinian question 
at the heart of a comprehensive solution. In a break with long- 
standing policy, Carter spoke of a Palestinian “homeland,” offer-
ing the possibility of a radically new American policy toward self- 
determination.39 For the first time since 1948, U.S. officials had 
come to recognize the centrality of Palestinian political— rather 
than humanitarian— rights.

The eventual outcome of the Carter administration’s extensive 
diplomatic efforts in 1977 and 1978 was the Camp David Accords, 
which secured the bilateral peace agreement between Egypt and 
Israel. In effect, the accords were the triumph of Kissinger’s dip-
lomatic architecture. They left the Palestinian issue subject to fur-
ther negotiations over autonomy after the ratification of the 1979 
Egyptian- Israeli peace treaty. These autonomy talks sidestepped 
the PLO and served to prevent a territorial resolution of Palestinian 
national aspirations, solidifying a condition of statelessness and de-
liberately undermining sovereignty claims. While the peace treaty 
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with Egypt was being implemented, Israel’s Likud government in-
troduced new plans for the territories, expanding settlements that 
had first started under the Labor governments in the decade after 
the 1967 victory.

Despite their significance, the autonomy talks have largely been 
absent from historical accounts of the Israeli- Palestinian conflict. 
Among the leading studies, Israeli historian Benny Morris dis-
misses autonomy as a “nonstarter,” while other scholars downplay 
or ignore the negotiations in the wake of Camp David.40 Dominant 
narratives of the peace process instead trace the beginning of a seri-
ous engagement with the Palestinian question to the Madrid and 
Oslo negotiations of the 1990s, often ignoring the diplomatic mech-
anisms that constrained Palestinian self- determination in the 1970s 
and 1980s.41 Those who do examine this earlier period, like one 
recent study of the Carter administration’s approach, paint a more 
sympathetic portrait of American attempts to create a process lead-
ing to “genuine Palestinian self- determination” by challenging the 
Begin government on settlement expansion and territorial with-
drawal.42 But the U.S. role in the autonomy talks— and the very 
substance of the negotiations themselves— actively undermined the 
prospects of a solution to the Palestinian question.

Israeli prime minister Menachem Begin’s autonomy scheme was 
in fact a formidable and sophisticated piece of statecraft. While it 
was designed to frustrate Palestinian nationalism, its ingenuity was 
to sustain the fiction of serious movement on the Palestinian front. 
Far from representing a diplomatic dead end, the talks were an in-
tegral, dynamic, and highly consequential component of Israel’s 
diplomatic strategy. The recent revival of interest in the autonomy 
plan among right- wing politicians in Israel attests to the deep im-
print it continues to have on Israel’s approach to the Palestinians.43

While Begin was indefatigable as a negotiator and relentless in 
advocating for his ideas, he received a great deal of help from his 
new ally, Egypt. The country’s formal withdrawal from the Arab- 
Israeli conflict as a consequence of Camp David relieved Israel of 
military pressure from the southwest and enabled the intensifica-
tion of the occupation of Palestinian land. However, Cairo was also 
a willing partner in the political project that Begin had conceived 
for the Palestinians. Despite Sadat’s loud exhortations as the chief 
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defender of Palestinian rights, Egypt explicitly countenanced the 
Israeli notion that autonomy would preclude, rather than facilitate, 
the achievement of Palestinian statehood. Verbatim records of suc-
cessive rounds of negotiations between delegations from these two 
countries reveal how an initial Egyptian insistence on a meaning-
ful outcome for the Palestinians gave way to functional autonomy 
and the preservation of a bilateral peace alone.44 Egypt’s permissive 
role underscores a causal link between the “breakthrough” of Camp 
David and the subsequent thwarting of Palestinian statehood.

Global constraints also played a large part in the limits of  Carter’s 
achievements in the Middle East. After Camp David, events in 1979 
fueled a shift in Carter’s attention, notably with the overthrow of 
the Shah of Iran and the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan.45 As a 
result of the Iranian Revolution and the hostage crisis in Tehran, 
the latter part of Carter’s time in office was not devoted to the intri-
cacies of the Arab- Israeli conflict as it had been in the early years. 
Heightened tensions in the Cold War, which have often been as-
cribed to Reagan’s election and the revival of global conflict in the 
1980s, actually emerged in part as a reaction to Carter’s actions.46 
By his 1980 State of the Union address, the articulation of a “Carter 
Doctrine” signaled a more muscular American posture toward the 
international arena. This would only increase during the early years 
of the Reagan administration.47

There are many ways to narrate the Palestinian struggle for self- 
determination in the late twentieth century and a multiplicity of 
perspectives to account for. I have focused here on the inter actions 
between the United States, Israel, Egypt, and the Palestinians them-
selves, although the latter were often excluded from the discussions 
over their political fate. Grassroots activists and various movement- 
based organizations were also pivotal in framing (and opposing) this 
struggle, and I have incorporated the constraining voices of domestic 
groups like the American Jewish community and Cold War conser-
vatives. While examining local developments, this is not an inter-
nal history of the Israeli Likud or the PLO’s military and diplomatic 
strategy, although those dynamics are discussed. Nor does this book 
seek to cover all the developments within inter- Arab politics or inter-
national and nongovernmental organizations, even as organizations 
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like the United Nations and the Arab League, as well as European 
governments, played a crucial role and appear as well. Rather I ex-
plain how and why a host of influential state and non- state actors 
engaged with the question of Palestinian self- determination in politi-
cal terms and reflect on the broader outcome of those discussions at 
a pivotal moment in the international history of the Middle East.48

The persistence of Palestinian statelessness since the years 
under examination in this book remains intimately tied to the tri-
umph of a political vision for limited self- rule first articulated by 
Israeli leaders in the 1970s, as well as the very real consequences of 
settlement expansion in the occupied territories. These processes 
are linked together. But while visible evidence of Israel’s fifty- year- 
old occupation is well- documented, the evolution of its intellectual, 
legal, and political architecture is only recently coming under sus-
tained scrutiny.49 By examining the genesis of diplomatic negotia-
tions prior to Camp David and the repercussions in the decade that 
followed, I am therefore suggesting we rethink the conventional 
periodization of the peace process to more directly account for the 
1970s and 1980s. This deeper history is often obscured by the im-
mediate concerns of the present, but the architecture of this process 
extends much farther back than has been acknowledged.

My argument by no means implies that independent statehood 
was necessarily the preferred outcome for Palestinians, or even con-
sidered a viable option as far back as the 1970s. Other ideas were 
always circulating in diplomatic corridors, from confederation with 
Jordan to limited self- rule by local elites and other non- state alter-
natives. Rather than presume statist outcomes, it is important to 
remember that the articulation of self- determination in the 1970s 
and 1980s looked rather different than it might in the early twenty- 
first century.50 The central claim of Preventing Palestine is also not 
to say that Palestine, as a real or imagined place, was irrevocably 
foreclosed in the period under examination. At multiple junctures, 
horizons had opened for possible Palestinian self- determination, 
and may very well still exist.

But in writing a history of contingent and unfolding events 
during the formative period between Camp David and Oslo, it 
is clear that certain avenues for sovereignty were closed down in 
the process, and the effect— if not the intent— has been the elision 
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of a political solution for the Palestinians. In tracing a history of 
failure— the genealogy of a non- event, as it were— the historian 
must be mindful of clashing dynamics at play, haphazard inten-
tionality, and a predetermined reading of the recent past. As this 
book makes clear, a series of diplomatic decisions and military in-
terventions, shifting legal ideas about settlements, and conceptual 
debates over the meaning of autonomy and self- determination all 
contributed to the prevention of Palestine at the very moment when 
demands for sovereignty were first being heard.
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cH a Pter one

Jimmy Carter’s Vision

WitH a large blUe velvet kiPPaH  covering his head, former 
Georgia governor Jimmy Carter rose to speak to an overflowing 
crowd of more than two thousand congregants at the Jewish Ed-
ucational Center in Elizabeth, New Jersey. It was June 1976, the 
summer before the national election that would bring Carter to the 
White House. “The land of Israel has always meant a great deal to 
me,” Carter told his audience. “As a boy I read of the prophets and 
martyrs in the Bible— the same Bible we all study together.”1

A devout Southern Baptist, navy veteran, and successful agri-
culturalist, Carter was largely unfamiliar to American Jews in the 
Northeast. Many were skeptical of his southern roots and were 
wary of supporting an untested politician with no experience in the 
Middle East.2 The hostility ran deep. One Jewish campaign advisor 
recalled the views of his coreligionists. “You mean you are support-
ing that guy? I thought he was anti- Semitic.”3

To counter these anxieties, the Democratic Party’s nominee for 
president chose a large Orthodox congregation to deliver one of his 
most important campaign speeches. “As an American,” Carter told 
the audience, “I have admired the State of Israel and how she, like 
the United States, opened her doors to the homeless and the op-
pressed.”4 This affirmation of a deep commitment to Israel in part 
reflected personal experience, as well as the steady growth of cul-
tural and intellectual bonds between political Zionism and Ameri-
can liberalism since the 1940s.5
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Carter’s speech at the synagogue came against the backdrop 
of tense Israeli relations with the wider Arab world. Attempts at 
regional peacemaking after the 1973 War had left unresolved core 
issues of political contention, as well as the fate of the Palestin-
ian question. “All people of good will can agree it is time— it is far 
past time— for permanent peace in the Middle East,” Carter told 
the congregants in Elizabeth that day. This peace “must be based 
on absolute assurance of Israel’s survival and security,” he assured 
the assembled crowd. “As President, I would never yield on that 
point. The survival of Israel is not just a political issue, it is a moral 
imperative.”6

The rising political star argued that only a “change of attitudes” 
would lead to “Arab recognition of the right of Israel to live as a 
Jewish State.” When speaking of the Palestinians, he stuck with 
more humanitarian themes. “Too many human beings, denied a 
sense of hope for the future, are living in makeshift and crowded 
camps where demagogues and terrorists can feed on their despair,” 
Carter remarked.7 This language was deliberate and designed to 
assuage the concerns of his audience. “Our constant and unwaver-
ing goal must be the survival of Israel as a Jewish State and the 
achievement of a just and lasting peace.”8

Conspicuously absent from Carter’s synagogue address was a di-
rect discussion of the Palestinians in national terms. The omission 
was in line with dominant U.S. policy at the time, given strong do-
mestic American Jewish opposition to the PLO in the United States 
and the unwelcome claims of self- determination the organization 
had been making globally in the 1970s. The specter of armed Pal-
estinian resistance had not dissipated, despite the PLO’s growing 
commitment to diplomacy in place of military action. Carter had 
a national race to win, and in the view of a campaign liaison to the 
American Jewish community, the Elizabeth speech helped clinch 
the election by preventing a big loss in the New Jersey primary.9

The Georgia governor’s support for Israel extended well be-
yond political expedience. In his memoir, Keeping Faith, Carter 
later reflected on his 1973 visit to the country, which underscored 
religious attachments as well. “In my affinity for Israel, I shared 
the sentiment of most other Southern Baptists that the holy places 
we revered should be preserved and made available for visits by 
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Christians . . . I considered this homeland for the Jews to be com-
patible with the teachings of the Bible, hence ordained by God.” It 
was a perspective that had direct bearing on his approach to politi-
cal solutions in the Middle East, as Carter felt strongly that regional 
stability depended on continued U.S. alignment with Israel. In his 
view, “moral and religious beliefs made my commitment to the se-
curity of Israel unshakable.”10

What of Carter’s early attitude toward the Arab world and Pal-
estinians? Initially, religious blinders and limited experience in 
the Middle East precluded a more substantial engagement with 
divergent perspectives.11 As the president himself declared in his 
memoirs, “I had no strong feelings about the Arab countries. I had 
never visited one and knew no Arab leaders.”12 At the same time, 
Carter took issue with Palestinian political disenfranchisement, 
growing out of his domestic orientation toward greater civil rights 
and equality. This was a function of his childhood in the segregated 
South, where racial inequality was a direct feature of his daily life.13 
He highlighted the linkage in very forthright terms years later, writ-
ing in his memoir about “the continued deprivation of Palestinian 
rights” and the need for American involvement in securing these 
rights. “It was imperative that the United States work to obtain for 
these people the right to vote, the right to assemble and to debate 
issues that affected their lives, the right to own property without 
fear of its being confiscated, and the right to be free of military 
rule,” Carter reflected. “To deny these rights was an indefensible 
position for a free and democratic society.”14

Throughout his presidential campaign, however, Carter consis-
tently used language that avoided the endorsement of Palestinian 
statehood, and he continued to avoid it during his time in office. 
Such a position fit well in mainstream American political discourse, 
which did not countenance the idea of a state or sovereignty for Pal-
estinians.15 After the election, closer attention to the region and the 
complexities of the conflict yielded startlingly original ideas that 
pushed the boundaries of what might be possible diplomatically, 
including arrangements for territory administered by Palestinians 
themselves. While Carter’s initial framing of this issue had largely 
been in the context of human rights and humanitarian concerns, 
his evolving rhetoric signaled a willingness to engage more directly 
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with the question of Palestinian aspirations in political terms.16 
Over the course of Carter’s first few months in office, the evolution 
of his thinking about the meaning of self- determination and the 
floating of specific ideas drew fierce opposition from both the Is-
raeli government and domestic constituencies in the United States.

Carter’s Turn
On November 2, 1976, Carter and his running mate, Minnesota 
senator Walter Mondale, defeated the incumbent president Ger-
ald Ford and his running mate, Kansas senator Bob Dole. Carter’s 
foreign policy advisors had been busy outlining priorities for the 
first six months of the administration even before he had won the 
election. Like many untested transition teams, they were ambi-
tious and envisioned a “protracted architectural process to reform 
and reshape the existing international system.”17 In the realm of 
the Middle East, they stressed the need to pursue a comprehensive 
settlement to the Arab- Israeli conflict instead of Kissinger’s interim 
agreements negotiated under Nixon and Ford. Underscoring that a 
new approach to the Arab- Israeli conflict was under development, 
Carter’s advisors emphasized that this would mean “a settlement in 
which the Arab countries trade full normalization of relations with 
Israel for return of territories occupied in 1967, with such changes 
as may be mutually agreed, and some form of self- determination 
for Palestinians on the West Bank.”18 Rather than put forward de-
tailed American proposals or “impose” a solution from the outside, 
the United States would encourage negotiations by working as an 
external broker.

The newly appointed National Security Advisor, Zbigniew 
Brzezinski, worked closely with the president to craft this compre-
hensive approach. Brzezinski was a member of the political sci-
ence faculty at Columbia University when he first met Carter. He 
also served as the executive director of the North American branch 
of the Trilateral Commission, a forum for government, business, 
and academic representatives from the United States, Europe, and 
Japan to discuss issues of the developed and developing world. 
After a 1975 speech in Japan, at which Carter had argued for uti-
lizing a balanced approach to achieve peace in the Middle East, 
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Brzezinski decided to become more actively involved in the cam-
paign and quickly emerged as a top foreign policy tutor to the gov-
ernor. He saw Carter as realistic and determined, sensing that he 
was “able to combine principle with power, the only prescription for 
a successful American foreign policy.”19

Brzezinski was a Soviet specialist, a clear indication that the 
Carter administration was still working in the context of a U.S.- 
Soviet power struggle.20 But the waning influence of détente, 
which had shaped U.S. foreign policy around the globe in the early 
1970s, provided space for a new sort of American internationalism. 
Carter’s aim was to articulate a stance abroad that was rooted in the 
rhetoric of human rights and that was responsive to decolonization 
in the developing world. This stance would often be applied un-
evenly, and its impact would be more rhetorical than substantive. 
Nevertheless, Carter’s intention was to break with dominant Cold 
War constraints of the decade.21

Even with this new emphasis, the great power rivalry of the Cold 
War continued to cast a shadow during the presidential transition. 
Not long before entering the White House, Carter met with the 
outgoing secretary of state, Henry Kissinger. Kissinger had jointly 
convened a meeting in December 1973 with the Soviet Union under 
the auspices of the United Nations intended to negotiate a solution 
to the Arab- Israeli conflict in the wake of the 1973 War. Carter was 
attuned to this geopolitical rivalry, and off the record he assured 
Kissinger that he would try to avoid a revival of the Geneva Confer-
ence “out of concern for the role the Soviets might play there.”22

Two major influences shaped the development of Brzezinski’s 
views of the Middle East. The first, as had been the case for Carter, 
was a trip to the region in the summer of 1976, right before the 
presidential election. This visit convinced Brzezinski that security 
for Israel would depend on formalized borders, close to the 1967 
Green Line. Such a conclusion came into conflict with Israeli settle-
ment expansion, which Brzezinski understood as extending Israeli 
sovereignty beyond internationally recognized borders.23 Brze-
zin ski’s second formative exposure to Arab- Israeli issues was his 
participation in a 1975 Middle East Study Group hosted by Wash-
ington’s Brookings Institution. This was a think- tank gathering 
of leading experts who sought to articulate an alternative for the 
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region through a collaborative effort between “pro- Israel,” “pro- 
Arab,” and non- aligned parties.24 According to one member of the 
study group, the Brookings report grew out of the realization that 
Kissinger’s step- by- step approach to Middle East diplomacy, first 
articulated in the 1973 Geneva Conference, was not working.25

The Brookings report called for an integrated settlement that 
would include security for Israel and a territorial withdrawal to the 
1967 Green Line. Explicitly, it also argued for some form of Palestin-
ian self- determination. “This might take the form either of an in-
dependent Palestinian state accepting the obligations and commit-
ments of the peace agreements or of a Palestinian entity voluntarily 
federated with Jordan but exercising extensive political autonomy,” 
the authors explained.26 Rather than a simple matter of human 
rights, the assembled experts drew a line between the need for per-
manent Israeli borders and the importance of framing the Palestin-
ian question in national terms. Rita Hauser, a prominent lawyer and 
former fund- raiser for Richard Nixon, emphasized the importance 
of the Brookings study to Carter’s foreign policy: “[Carter] took this 
report and he read it, and he campaigned on it, and he made it his 
Bible.”27 In the view of another study group participant, the report 
stated openly “what those in government could not say about the need 
for a comprehensive solution that would involve the Palestinians.”28

Brzezinski had coauthored a 1975 article in the journal Foreign 
Policy that called for an independent Palestinian state in the West 
Bank and Gaza Strip.29 In his first official meeting with Israeli offi-
cials, the National Security Advisor got a sense of how far apart the 
administration’s views were from leading voices in Israel. General 
Moshe Dayan, a prominent Israeli Labor politician and military 
hero who had been defense minister during the 1967 War, met with 
Brzezinski on January 31, 1977, to discuss the contours of a peace 
settlement. While Dayan spoke about interim avenues with Syria 
and Jordan, he felt peace with the Arab world was “far off,” even 
if an “end to the state of war” might be possible.30 Dayan took the 
Arabs seriously in their readiness to sign peace treaties but also told 
Brzezinski that “Israel is not willing to pay the price.” The general 
acknowledged this left Israel in an “awkward position” with regard 
to U.S. and world opinion.31 When it came to territorial division, 
Dayan was clear that the West Bank, unlike the Golan Heights and 
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the Sinai Peninsula, posed non- security- related challenges. “Israel 
has every right to be there,” Dayan remarked. “Any division of the 
area is unacceptable. . . . A West Bank- Gaza state is not a solu-
tion.”32 Dayan would soon be appointed foreign minister in the 
Likud government of Menachem Begin, where he would help nego-
tiate the Camp David Accords. In January 1977, however, he made 
it clear that “if Israel were offered peace tied to full withdrawal, he 
[Dayan] would oppose peace.”33

Like Brzezinski, Carter’s newly appointed secretary of state, 
Cyrus Vance, was convinced of the need to address the question of 
Palestinian self- determination. Vance was a graduate of Yale Uni-
versity and a veteran of the U.S. Navy who joined the New York law 
firm of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett after completing his military 
service. He later transitioned into the government as general coun-
sel of the Department of Defense and secretary of the army in the 
administration of John F. Kennedy, followed by a stint as the deputy 
secretary of defense under President Lyndon B. Johnson.34 In his 
memoir, Vance wrote explicitly of the Palestinian plight. He de-
scribed how they were “ejected from their homes, embittered, radi-
calized, living in squalor and desperation,” and argued that the Pal-
estinian question remained the “central, unresolved human rights 
issue of the Middle East.” Reflecting on his approach to diplomacy 
in the region, Vance wrote that he and Carter were convinced a last-
ing solution to conflict in the Middle East required “a just answer” 
to the Palestinian question, “one almost certainly leading to a Pal-
estinian homeland and some form of self- determination.”35 Vance 
was also mindful of the constraints inhibiting a change in U.S. policy 
after 1967. He pointed out that UN Security Council Resolution 242 
only dealt with the Palestinians as a refugee problem, not a politi-
cal group seeking self- determination. The international community 
was not initially focused on statehood. “It was only in 1969 and 1970 
that serious attention began to focus on the Palestinian people and 
their aspiration for a homeland in the West Bank and Gaza.”36

A Palestinian Evolution
Part of the reason for the delayed engagement with the politi-
cal dimensions of Palestinian self- determination was a result of 
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an evolution within Palestinian nationalism itself. The 1967 War 
had revitalized the national movement, which was easily eclipsed 
by inter- Arab political rivalries before Israel’s victory. There was 
a split between the PLO, created by the Arab League in 1964 as 
a means to defuse nationalist agitation among Palestinians, and 
the Fatah movement, an independent liberation movement whose 
founders included Yasser Arafat.37 Arafat was born in Cairo to par-
ents from Gaza and Jerusalem, and he engaged in politics early 
on, demonstrating against British colonial rule in Egypt and then 
fighting in the 1948 War. While completing his engineering studies 
at Cairo University he became the head of the Palestinian Studies 
Union, drawing the attention of the secret police. He left Egypt for 
Kuwait in 1957, where he headed a successful construction com-
pany but remained involved in political activity through the cre-
ation of Fatah in 1959.38

In 1965, Fatah began launching guerilla attacks into Israel from 
Jordan, Syria, and Lebanon to “liberate” Palestine and keep the na-
tional struggle alive. The movement gained a great deal of attention 
and prestige after 1967, seen as the only legitimate resistance move-
ment against Israel. Fatah soon joined the PLO and became the 
dominant force of the umbrella organization, with Arafat taking 
over the leadership in 1969.39 There were several constituent fac-
tions within the organization, including the Popular Front for the 
Liberation of Palestine (PFLP), headed by George Habash, and the 
Democratic Front for the Liberation of Palestine (DFLP), headed 
by Nayaf Hawatmeh. Smaller groups included the Syrian- backed 
Al- Saiqa force and the Iraqi- backed Arab Liberation Front. All of 
these groups utilized armed violence and some engaged in highly 
visible global attacks like plane hijackings to advance their struggle, 
while also balancing the use of force with a need to maintain re-
lations with Arab states from where they operated. Arafat was at 
the helm of the PLO throughout this formative period, balancing 
various factional interests through challenges like the Jordanian 
civil war. He was an indomitable force, although he ruled by fac-
tional consensus and was therefore heavily constrained by other 
resistance actors within the organization. There is a risk of reading 
Palestinian national history exclusively though his actions given the 
wider balance of power between clashing factions.40
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Between 1969 and 1973, the PLO’s primary objective was the re-
covery of a Palestinian homeland and the establishment of a “secu-
lar democratic state,” without leaving Israel in place. Tactically, this 
included armed struggle as well as diplomatic means.41 The 1973 
War launched a new phase in the PLO’s struggle, oriented toward 

figUre 1.1. Leader of the PLO Yasser Arafat by John Austin Hanna. 1982. 
Courtesy of Liberation Graphics and the Palestine Poster Project Archives.
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partition and the acknowledgment of Israel’s presence. In the after-
math of the October War, the PLO sought a place within the com-
prehensive diplomatic negotiations, which required political com-
promise and the eventual embrace of a state on far less territory 
than historic Palestine.42 This was not a simple position to take, 
nor did it elicit uniform support, with early stirrings for a political 
solution leading to a violent backlash by more extreme factions. In 
June 1974, the Palestine National Council (the PLO “parliament in 
exile”) passed a ten- point program that denoted a more targeted 
struggle for “every part of Palestinian land that is liberated,” im-
plying an acceptance of a political solution on a limited piece of 
territory.43

By the time that Carter took office in 1977, advocates for a sep-
arate state on a part of Palestinian territory had gained ground 
within the PLO, and the national movement’s political demands 
were increasingly visible on the global stage.44 The United Nations 
General Assembly had granted the PLO observer status in 1974, 
and Arafat had spoken in the chamber, a signal that the national 
movement was increasingly acceptable as a political interlocu-
tor. The U.S. government, however, continued to officially oppose 
diplomatic engagement with the PLO, codified by the 1975 ban on 
discussions with the organization. Palestine, the PLO’s Informa-
tion Bulletin published in Beirut, noted the movement’s growing 
international prominence and the attendant constraints of Ameri-
can policy. Describing hard- won victories in forums like the United 
Nations, the magazine’s editors asserted the centrality of the Pal-
estinian cause to regional stability even as mounting violence in 
Lebanon’s civil war was generating new complications.45

The views articulated by Carter’s advisors were discussed widely 
in the American media and think tanks, strengthening Palestinian 
hopes that the incoming administration might be open to the no-
tion of Palestinian statehood. For the PLO, this new U.S. attitude 
denoted a break from the previous administration. Yasser Arafat 
had singled out Henry Kissinger, the architect of the 1975 ban, for 
his intransigent approach. “If the imperialist forces are unable to 
liquidate the Revolution, then they are not averse to taming it or 
trimming its wings, turning it into a disarmed, restricted entity, 
void of the active militant spirit which disturbs the dreams of the 
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imperialists and Zionists.”46 Skeptical of American attitudes, Pal-
estinian nationalists had looked elsewhere for diplomatic backing.

Over the course of the mid- 1970s, the PLO was making quiet 
inroads with Western diplomats in Europe. British Embassy offi-
cials across European capitals, the United States, and the Middle 
East had regular “discreet and informal contact with the PLO,” in-
cluding monthly lunches between the Middle East desk officer in 
London and Said Hammami, the PLO representative in the city.47 
UK officials were mindful of Israeli opposition to these contacts but 
stressed the importance of hearing the PLO’s ideas and “feed[ing] 
ideas directly to them.”48 In France and Belgium, the PLO had at-
tained some official recognition, and the organization was gaining 
ground with the German government as well. Among Europeans, 
there was a growing consensus to support the organization, in-
creasingly seen as the legitimate vehicle for achieving Palestinian 
self- determination.49

Israeli leaders, long opposed to Palestinian national rights and 
deeply shaken by the violence of armed groups during the 1970s, 
sought to quash any effort to engage with Palestinians as a national 
entity. This position was bolstered by Kissinger’s promise to the Is-
raelis not to speak with the PLO as long as it refused to accept UN 
Security Council Resolutions 242 and 338.50 By contrast, Carter’s 
incoming administration included critics who had opposed the 
PLO ban and were more attuned to the broader sweep of decolo-
nization across the Global South. They found themselves in a po-
sition to craft Washington’s new Middle East policy in a way that 
accounted for Palestinian aspirations as well.

“Possible Elements of a Middle East Settlement”
Since 1967, America had played the leading role in conflict medi-
ation between Israel and the Arab states, working to shape dip-
lomatic efforts as part of what had become known as the “peace 
process.”51 While not always perceived as a balanced mediator, 
Washington was the driving force for a regional settlement.52 With 
Carter assuming office, several key State Department experts col-
lectively began formulating a comprehensive approach to solving 
the Arab- Israeli conflict, including the Palestinian issue.53 They 
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suggested Carter embrace U.S. mediation as the lead driver for 
talks in the region as he sought to break from Kissinger’s shuttle 
diplomacy. Carter’s European allies voiced private skepticism of 
his administration’s ambitions. “Israel is enormously dependent on 
the United States,” British ambassador John Mason wrote from Tel 
Aviv, “but the scope for the new U.S. Administration to use this de-
pendence to force the Israeli government to concede points which 
they judge vital to their security is subject to severe constraints.”54

Aware of these difficulties, Carter’s National Security Coun-
cil settled on the idea of arranging a new version of the brief 1973 
Geneva Conference, which had been premised on a comprehen-
sive solution before yielding Kissinger’s narrow shuttle diplomacy. 
They hoped to convene such a gathering in the fall of 1977, with 
the goal of negotiating the large and seemingly intractable policy 
questions prior to that date. Kissinger’s unwillingness to confront 
the Israelis directly on a permanent settlement had undermined 
the effectiveness of his shuttle diplomacy, and Brzezinski believed 
that a breakthrough would only occur if the American government 
took a harder line against Israel by demanding the establishment of 
permanent borders.55 Such a confrontation could not be sustained 
indefinitely in light of Israeli dependence on their American allies. 
“Most Israelis would instinctively shrink back from overt defiance 
of the United States,” Brzezinski remarked, “provided they were 
convinced the United States meant business.”56 With the model of a 
Geneva- like conference that included U.S. and Soviet cochairman-
ship as well as UN endorsement in mind, State Department experts 
prepared detailed proposals focused on content.

In a closely held secret proposal circulated to the president, 
Brzezinski, and Vance, a striking vision emerged of a possible com-
prehensive settlement that included an entity akin to a Palestinian 
state.57 The details of the plan covered Israel’s relations with Egypt, 
Syria, and the Palestinians and examined the fate of Jerusalem 
while providing maps of possible permanent borders. Egypt was 
viewed as a key component in this settlement, but a separate peace 
between Egypt and Israel was “not in the cards.”58 An agreement 
that included the Palestinians was intended to proceed along with 
the participation of other Arab states, particularly Syria, in direct 
contrast to Kissinger’s bilateral approach. The State Department 



jimmy carter’s vision [ 29 ]

was hopeful that Syrian president Hafez al- Assad could endorse a 
settlement and provide “explicit acknowledgement of Israel’s right 
to exist,” which had been out of reach since the emergence of the 
Israeli state in 1948.59 This would include support for a solution to 
the Palestinian refugee question and “recognition of a final, sover-
eign border between Israel and a Palestinian entity.”60 In return, 
Syria would regain control over the Golan Heights, captured by 
Israel in 1967, and full diplomatic relations would be established 
between the two countries.

In the West Bank and Gaza, the details of a possible agreement 
focused on a viable resolution that would balance Palestinian na-
tional aspirations with Israeli concerns. Several political configura-
tions were offered, but two “extreme outcomes” were eliminated. 
The first was a “reconstitution of the Hashemite Kingdom of Jor-
dan on a pre- 1967 basis,” which would fail to address Palestinian 
self- determination. The second was “a radical Soviet- armed PLO- 
dominated state on the West Bank and Gaza,” which would be “un-
acceptable to Israel and could be a destabilizing force in the region.” 
Instead, the study suggested that the areas from which Israel would 
withdraw “would be administered by the Palestinians and would 
have a recognized Palestinian political identity.”61

State Department analysts envisioned a Palestinian homeland 
linked to Jordan in loose confederation, with an elected admin-
istration supervising the police, courts, a capital, flags, taxation, 
and passports. The Palestinians would be allowed “internal secu-
rity forces” without heavy military equipment crossing the Jordan 
River. Jordan would be responsible for foreign policy and defense, 
and could intervene for internal security matters. Any arrangement 
would rely on political and economic relationships between the Pal-
estinian entity and Jordan, with Palestinian representatives par-
ticipating in negotiations and approval being secured by local ref-
erendum. In essence, an interim Palestinian administration would 
work with Jordan to set up this confederation, cooperating with the 
United Nations prior to internal elections.

Carter wondered whether a Palestinian commitment to the 
terms of a peace agreement— including “Israel’s right to exist as a 
sovereign state”— would require the PLO’s participation at a  Geneva 
Conference, a matter of some debate in the ensuing weeks.62 But 
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the initial plan called for an agreement on the West Bank and Gaza 
signed between Israel, Jordan, and “Palestinians accepted by these 
Arab governments and the PLO as representative of the Palestinian 
people.” Syria, Egypt, and Saudi Arabia would also associate them-
selves in the pursuit of this political entity “constituting a homeland 
for the Palestinians.”63

The recommendations outlined the borders of such a homeland. 
Aside from the Israeli government’s unilateral annexation of East 
Jerusalem in June 1967, the rest of the territory captured during 
the war had not been formally annexed and boundaries remained 
indeterminate. The administration sought a first- stage Israeli 
withdrawal to the 1967 lines, excluding a fifteen- kilometer strip 
along Jordan and the Dead Sea with West Bank access via Jericho. 
Further more, it envisioned that this strip would be extended to em-
brace Israeli settlements in Hebron and around the Latrun area 
near Jerusalem. A further ten- kilometer strip would remain under 
Israeli control along the western boundary of the West Bank north 
of Latrun, the Gush Etzion settlement bloc, and a two- kilometer 
strip either side of the Jerusalem corridor. After a second stage of 
withdrawal, Israel would still retain Hebron and half the area north 
of Latrun.64 Demilitarized security zones would follow in the West 
Bank, Gaza, and a portion of the Jordanian side of the border, with 
Israeli surveillance stations on high points over the Jordan valley 
and UN observer posts at the border crossing. This peace would re-
quire mutual recognition, “free access” for Israelis and Palestinian 
entity residents in each other’s territory, and eventual diplomatic 
recognition. If Israel would not withdraw from most of the terri-
tories without mutual security offers from the United States, the 
proposal recommended a separate treaty to come to Israel’s defense 
in the event of aggression.

The status of Jerusalem was to be adjudicated with particu-
lar criteria in mind. These included the requirement that the city 
would be “undivided physically,” with the Jewish population re-
maining part of Israel. Israelis would control Jewish areas in what 
was described as their capital, although the plan stipulated that “no 
authority has sovereignty over [the] entire city.” Later, the report 
expanded, “It is important, but probably not such an imperative, 
that the local Arab entity, whatever it may be, has its capital in 
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Jerusalem as well.”65 The proposal for Jerusalem included a Jew-
ish mayor and Arab deputy, Jewish and Arab community councils, 
respective courts and schools, unhindered access, and an inter-
national commission under the United Nations to oversee free 
 operation and use of religious institutions.66 As for the Israeli set-
tlements that housed 40,000– 50,000 Jewish inhabitants in the East 
Jerusalem neighborhoods of French Hill and Neve Yaacov, what 
the report euphemistically called “Jewish housing projects in Arab 
Jeru salem,” options included representation on Jewish or Arab 
councils or the abandonment of these settlements and the move-
ment of people and institutions to Jewish areas in the west.67

Among the most charged issues addressed was the long- 
standing dilemma of the Palestinian refugee problem. According 
to Carter’s Middle East advisors, it “would be resolved primarily 
through compensation and resettlement in the West Bank- Jordan 
area, with only token repatriation to Israel.”68 In detail, the prin-
ciples of a settle ment included the acknowledgment of injustice, 
the stipulation that “refugees have right [sic] to homes but devel-
opments since 1948 affect practicality,” and offering compensation 
as a replacement where necessary. Carter, who had closely com-
mented on this plan, scribbled on the side, “Most will not want to 
live there— this is my guess.”69 Furthermore, the memo stated that 
Jews who left Arab countries have claims, “but not against Pales-
tinians.” A special Israeli- Palestinian/Jordanian Commission under 
UN auspices, intended to organize refugee choices, screen returns, 
and calculate compensation, would facilitate the practicalities. The 
actual movement of the refugees would be done under direct UN 
auspices, via a Refugee Resettlement and Development Commis-
sion that would initiate development for resettlement and eventu-
ally subsume the operations of the long established United Nations 
Relief and Works Agency for Palestine (UNRWA).

As a statement of the opening U.S. position for peace in the 
Middle East in early 1977, the State Department proposal was a 
bold document. Its contents, many of which have since returned 
as the central components of any negotiated settlement, outlined 
the beginnings of what at the time was an equitable solution to 
Israel’s conflict with the Palestinians and the wider Arab world. 
 Arguably, it was the first detailed American outline of a grand 
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regional settlement, placing territorial division at the core. It can 
also be read as an early iteration of what would eventually emerge 
as the “two- state solution.” Although the Palestinian component 
was limited to a homeland linked with Jordan rather than an in-
dependent state, it contained the seed of plausible sovereignty to 
address Palestinian aspirations for self- determination. In dealing 
with the most contentious aspects of the conflict, including refu-
gees and the right of return, the status of Jerusalem, and the de-
marcation of a permanent border, this February 1977 plan was the 
first comprehensive U.S. idea for resolving the unanswered ques-
tions of the 1967 War.

Carter himself was well aware that the State Department pro-
posal went beyond the existing ceiling of negotiations, which had 
been limited to bilateral truces in the Nixon and Ford adminis-
trations. On the cover note of the entire memo, which had been 
distributed on National Security Council stationery to only eight 
people “aware of its existence,” the president wrote that it “probably 
asks too much of Israel.” He suggested his advisors limit themselves 
to specific items, which he listed in his handwriting as “a) ’67 bor-
ders & minor adjustments; b) real peace; c) Palestine homeland; 
refugee problem resolved; d) no specifics re Jerusalem; no PLO 
contact absent UN 242 endorsement, etc. J.C.”70 The new presi-
dent was certainly thinking beyond the existing script of Middle 
East diplomacy but remained attuned to the limits of what might 
be possible.

Vance to the Middle East
To initiate movement on this new approach, Secretary of State 
Vance made plans for an extensive trip to the Middle East. A  series 
of meetings were arranged in Washington at President Carter’s be-
hest throughout the spring of 1977, including with Israeli prime 
minister Yitzhak Rabin in March, Egypt’s president Sadat and King 
Hussein of Jordan in April, and Saudi Arabia’s Crown Prince Fahd 
in May. Optimism abounded among regional experts. The U.S. 
Consul General in Jerusalem, Michael H. Newlin, wrote to Vance 
of the “real possibility” of peace given Arab willingness to recog-
nize Israel’s legitimacy in exchange for territorial withdrawal along 
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the lines of UN resolution 242. “The complicated and interrelated 
problems of peace, withdrawals, security, a Palestinian entity, and 
the future of the PLO, while truly formidable, do not appear in-
herently insoluble.”71 Newlin was, however, aware of the irony that 
inhabitants of the Palestinian territories themselves would be ex-
cluded from the negotiations.72

Gaps between the initial American position and the views of 
 regional leaders did not take long to appear. Vance’s first stop was 
in Jerusalem, where he had an official lunch with Prime Minister 
Yitzhak Rabin, Defense Minister Shimon Peres, Foreign Minister 
Yigal Allon, and several leading diplomats from both countries in 
Rabin’s private office. Rabin had taken over from Golda Meir in 
June 1974 at the age of fifty- two, the first native- born Israeli leader. 
He had transitioned from a soldier to a diplomat and finally to a 
Labor party politician, an evolution that his biographer explains 
was “neither smooth nor easy.”73 In his meeting with Vance, Rabin 
spoke of Israel’s readiness for territorial compromise to advance 
peace, but he said it would “not be a total withdrawal to the 1967 
borders.” The prime minister suggested that changes to sovereignty 
and questions about the control over territory would be subject to 
negotiation.74

In an evening telegram to the State Department in Washing-
ton, Vance recounted Rabin’s views about normalization with Arab 
states and the establishment of “defensible borders” rather than full 
withdrawal to the 1967 Green Line.75 The prime minister’s stance 
was a clear sign that the expansion of settlements would still be 
encouraged by the Israeli Labor government, despite American 
fears that these settlements would undercut Palestinian claims 
for territorial control. Vance’s telegram contained a great deal of 
eye- opening reportage. Defense Minister Peres, who would later be 
cele brated as a leading Israeli dove, had defended the situation in 
the occupied territories.76 Peres had spoken of an “Open Bridge” 
policy facilitating population movement between the West Bank 
and Jordan, and praised the rise of employment and improved liv-
ing conditions among local residents. He also complimented Jor-
dan’s shadow role in the West Bank, where it was paying local sala-
ries of public officials and supporting municipalities. With regard to 
the Gaza Strip, Peres spoke proudly of Israeli housing schemes and 
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employment opportunities for Palestinians: “It is the most tranquil 
part of the area under Israeli administration . . . Israel feels that 
whatever happens, it must behave as a responsible government and 
permit a normal life for the Gazans.” This nod to a policy of paci-
fication drew on a longer tradition of colonial control over  native 
territories, a stance that was common within the Labor government 
since the 1967 War.77 As Peres told Vance, “Israel hopes to maintain 
a humane presence in the territories.”78

Arriving in Cairo for meetings on February 17, Vance joined 
Deputy Egyptian Prime Minister Ismail Fahmy and his advisors 
to discuss the state of U.S.- Egyptian relations and the peace pro-
cess. Fahmy was a close confidant of Sadat, who had appointed 
him as the foreign minister after the 1973 War, a position that had 
exposed Fahmy to Kissinger’s negotiations of the Sinai Disengage-
ment Agreements. Vance stressed that the United States hoped to 
be “a facilitator of peace” but that it also “has no plan” and he had 
“come to learn.”79 This sentiment underscored the American ap-
proach of gathering information and gauging positions rather than 
suggesting parameters for diplomatic negotiations, even as it had 
developed ideas privately.

Fahmy stressed the importance of engaging with the PLO di-
rectly on matters related to the Palestinians. Despite Kissinger’s ear-
lier promise to the Israelis on non- engagement, there was already 
formal American communication with PLO leaders in the context of 
security procedures around the Lebanese civil war that had broken 
out in 1975 and a modus vivendi had emerged between U.S. officials 
and Yasser Arafat’s organization. This had expanded into more gen-
eral discussions over the organization and its role in the region.80 
The Egyptian minister had met with PLO leader Yasser Arafat the 
same morning that he saw Vance and was pushing the Palestinians 
toward a more moderate stance that might yield American recogni-
tion. But Fahmy stressed to Vance that he “could not and would not 
wish to negotiate for others, including the Palestinians.”81 Fahmy 
elaborated on the willingness of the Egyptians to reach a compre-
hensive settlement with Israel, including full recognition in ex-
change for complete withdrawal and “secure boundaries.”

That evening, Vance met with Egyptian president Anwar al- 
Sadat and Vice President Hosni Mubarak. He was assured that for 
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the first time in over twenty- five years, Arabs and Israelis “both 
now have full confidence in the U.S. and in President Carter” to 
act as a mediator.82 Sadat was born to a poor Nubian family in the 
Egyptian Nile Delta, one of thirteen siblings, later graduating from 
the Royal Military Academy in Cairo. He met Gamal Abdel Nasser 
in the army, where several junior officers formed the secret Free Of-
ficers Movement, which sought to free Egypt and Sudan from Brit-
ish rule. In the Egyptian Revolution of 1952, the group overthrew 
the corrupt King Farouk, and Sadat went on to serve under Nasser’s 
government as vice president. The curtailed influence of Egypt’s 
secret police and the empowering of Egypt’s Islamist movement, 
which Nasser had suppressed, bolstered his political rise.83

Sadat spoke of his own efforts to reach out to the United States 
from the time he came to office in 1970, recalling his statements 
of support for a peace agreement with Israel and his proposals to 
complete such an agreement swiftly.84 He also recalled his decision 
to order Soviet troops out of Egypt and his work with Kissinger on 
the disengagement agreements. The Egyptian president was caus-
tic about the Soviet Union, saying they had “nothing to offer except 
their ability to undermine and create chaos so that the Arabs will 
have to ask for Soviet assistance.”85 As for the Palestinians, Sadat 
believed they should have a state on the West Bank and Gaza Strip 
connected by a corridor running through Israel.

Vance reflected on the dissonance of his meetings with Israelis 
one day and Egyptians the next in a telegram to Carter that evening: 
“The suspicion and distrust of each other’s intentions are profound 
and are matched by an almost total inability on each side to under-
stand the other’s political realities.”86 The Israelis sought a peace 
process at a “measured pace,” stressing their need to retain some 
Arab territory for security purposes and opposing a separate Pales-
tinian state or dealings with the PLO. The Egyptians viewed PLO 
participation and the establishment of a Palestinian state as “the 
crux of the problem” and were willing to find creative ways to en-
sure their participation in Geneva.87 Sadat privately assured Vance 
that he was deeply committed to a peace deal, and “he said he could 
bring the other Arabs along by virtue of his substantial influence.”88

Before returning to Washington, Vance shuttled to Amman, 
Beirut, and finally Damascus, where he met with President Hafez 
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al- Assad on February 20.89 Assad, like King Hussein of Jordan and 
President Elias Sarkis of Lebanon, agreed that a comprehensive 
solution to the Middle East conflict was a necessity. He was ada-
mant that a withdrawal from the territories occupied during the 
1967 War signified the areas in their entirety. “Even if a state of 
war continued for hundreds of years with clashes every other year, 
Syria would not give up one inch of its territory under any pretext 
or condition,” Assad stressed.90 Privately, Vance spoke with Assad 
about the Arab states finding common ground on the Palestinian 
issue.91 Back in his room at Damascus’s Hotel Meridien that eve-
ning, Vance scribbled out the areas of agreement and division that 
had emerged during his visit to Arab capitals. All the parties, Vance 
wrote, were willing to go to a Geneva Conference in the second half 
of 1977, and they were prepared to have substantive discussions on 
the “core elements of a final settlement: peace, withdrawal, resolu-
tion of the Palestinian question.”92 The disagreements that Vance 
described centered on the method of resolving these issues and the 
question of PLO participation.

Vance reported back on his trip to President Carter, Vice Presi-
dent Mondale, Brzezinski, and several other senior officials at 
the National Security Council (NSC). He reiterated the common 
agreement on going to Geneva for an overall settlement and the 
“essential” U.S. role in facilitating these discussions. The question 
of  Israeli withdrawal divided the Arabs who were demanding full 
pull back from the 1967 lines and the Israelis, who held onto the 
notion of secure recognized borders. As Vance relayed, there was 
“little consensus” on the Palestinian question, “even among the 
Arabs.”93 America’s role, the NSC meeting participants agreed, was 
to help the parties articulate their positions and to outline general 
principles governing a settlement. Brzezinski stressed the need to 
deal with substance ahead of Geneva, like separating out the dis-
cussion of security and sovereignty and a “sharper definition” of the 
Palestinian issue.94

In their discussion of Israel’s position on negotiations, Carter 
wondered about the impact of an impending Israeli election on 
foreign policy and the willingness of any Israeli government— left 
wing or right wing— to recognize the PLO. The organization re-
mained a pariah group in the view of leading Israeli politicians. 
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Vance suggested more U.S. willingness to grant visa applications to 
PLO spokespeople wanting to travel to the United States, “a limited 
sign we are prepared to move off dead center.” Carter entertained 
the idea but also raised his concern about U.S. conformity with the 
Helsinki Agreement, which necessitated the preservation of civil 
and human rights: “Can we keep people like this out of our coun-
try? This is not so much a question just of the PLO, but we have to 
be clean on the human rights issue.”95

Following up with Carter after the meeting, Brzezinski argued 
that permitting the PLO to come to the United States would be 
a “major concession” requiring something in return. The National 
Security Advisor warned that Carter should only “add to the PLO’s 
prestige” when the timing was right for broader American efforts in 
the Middle East. “The moderate Arabs are making an effort to get 
the PLO under control,” Brzezinski suggested, and this would “di-
minish their stature.” Such action was in the U.S. interest, Brzezin-
ski concluded, “and we should not undercut them by suddenly giv-
ing the PLO a big public shot in the arm.”96 On the margin of the 
memo, Carter noted his agreement. The president’s position under-
scored the dissonance between his invocation of human rights as 
a replacement for Cold War détente and the reality of subjecting 
regional politics to a strategic advantage.

Brzezinski worked to develop a strategic view of the Ameri-
can approach to peacemaking. He advised Carter that Israel had 
to under stand that a Geneva Conference was not a “substitute for 
stalemate.” Rather than simply attend and let the conference stum-
ble, Brzezinski argued that in Carter’s upcoming talks with Rabin, 
the president should emphasize real movement, and the adminis-
tration should not be shy to contribute substantive thoughts of its 
own. Carter underlined “not shy” on the memo, writing that “we 
should play a strong & discreet role, but first we must decide what 
we want— ultimately & step- by- step.”97

Rabin to the White House
Rabin’s March visit presented an opportunity for the two leaders to 
discuss the substance of a possible settlement to the Arab- Israeli 
conflict. In his first meeting with Carter, the Israeli prime minister 
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emphasized an approach to territorial compromise that did not de-
note full withdrawal, especially in the West Bank. At the same time, 
he stressed that the territories were not being annexed: “Under 
international law, these are administered territories under Israeli 
control, but they are not part of our sovereign territory. We believe 
that their future is still to be decided in negotiations.”98 But when 
Rabin was pushed by Vance to clarify whether Israel required or 
claimed sovereignty in occupied territories like the Golan Heights, 
the Israeli prime minister was noncommittal: “We may claim it, but 
we have not annexed any other territory. We have left it open.”99 
The echo of the Eshkol government’s 1967 “decision not to decide” 
was unmistakable.

The talks between Carter and Rabin also highlighted the diffi-
culty of the U.S. convincing Israel to yield on the Palestinian ques-
tion. In Rabin’s view, there should be two states, “Israel, as a Jewish 
state,” and a “Jordanian- Palestinian state,” not an independent Pal-
estinian entity between the Jordan River and the Mediterranean. 
According to Rabin, this Jordanian- Palestinian state would be the 

figUre 1.2. “Jimmy Carter with Yitzhak Rabin, Prime Minister of Israel.” March 7, 
1977. White House Staff Photographers Collection at the Jimmy Carter Library.
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only address for the Palestinians. “How the Palestinian identity is 
worked out within that state is not our business. It is up to them. 
But we want two states. It can consist of two entities, but there 
can only be one state.”100 Carter pushed Rabin, asking about a 
possible U.S. model of two states within a federation, where Jor-
dan would control defense and foreign policy and the West Bank 
state would be demilitarized. Rabin reiterated that “there can be 
no third state.”101 In his view, negotiations should only proceed be-
tween governments, underscoring the limits of Israeli willingness 
to  accommodate any Palestinian national entity with attributes 
of sovereignty outside of a Jordanian context. Later that evening, 
Brzezinski noted the Israeli prime minister’s firm positions and en-
couraged Carter to “make clear to Rabin that we want greater speci-
ficity . . . we are prepared to support Israel in a genuine search for 
peace, but that he should have no illusion about the United States 
indefinitely supporting a stalemate.”102

Rabin had also made it clear that forging any agreement with 
the PLO at a possible Geneva Conference was out of the ques-
tion, as the organization refused to recognize Israel or accept UN 
resolution 242.103 These procedural difficulties would complicate 
preparations for a possible conference, given the Arab demands for 
Palestinian participation. In an earlier meeting with Israeli foreign 
minister Yigal Allon during his February trip to the region, Sec-
retary of State Vance broached the possibility that the PLO could 
amend its charter to accept Israel and adopt UN resolution 242, to 
which Allon responded, “A PLO that accepts 242 would no longer 
be the PLO.”104 As Vance’s visit to the Middle East had signaled, the 
administration was already pursuing the possibility of PLO reform 
and discussing modes of engagement with the organization in suc-
cessive talks with Arab leaders.

During the second extended session between Rabin, Carter, and 
senior advisors from both countries, Carter more firmly articulated 
the American position on territory and the Palestinian question. 
“Your settlements in the occupied territories are illegal,” Carter 
told Rabin. “Your control over territory in the occupied regions 
will have to be modified substantially in my view.”105 As for the 
PLO, Carter invoked global comparisons to soften Rabin’s opposi-
tion to engagement: “We, of course, deplore terrorism, but even we 
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sometimes have had to swallow our pride. We talked to the North 
Koreans and the French talked to the FLN [Front de Libération 
Nationale] . . . we don’t know of any Palestinian leaders other than 
the PLO.” He called for greater Israeli flexibility on moving toward 
Geneva with Palestinian representation, and Rabin’s response 
evinced frustration with such an activist U.S. stance: “I hope that 
you, Mr. President, will not take clear substantive positions before 
negotiations.”106

For Rabin, a broader Israeli position on the Palestinian issue 
could be separated from the question of PLO representation, which 
he opposed. But Carter and Vance made it clear that the issues were 
intertwined, and the U.S. government would not shy away from 
 either. As Carter concluded, “My only goal is to bring about a per-
manent peace in the Middle East,” and this would require move-
ment from all parties. “We will be just as insistent in dealing with 
the Arabs,” Carter added. “We will insist that they recognize you, 
that they open their borders, and that they end belligerency. But I 
do not intend to tell them where the borders should be.” The presi-
dent did not share the same skepticism toward the Arab states as 
Rabin. “We want a partnership with you in peace, and I understand 
how difficult it will be for you to accept the proposition that the 
Arabs really do now want peace.”107

Personal accounts of the visit underscore the deep divide that 
was emerging between the United States and Israel.108 Rabin re-
called his meeting with some disdain in his memoirs: “It seemed 
to me that Carter was set on the Brookings report and intended to 
‘sell’ it to me piecemeal.”109 In Rabin’s opinion, “the Brookings plan 
had absolutely nothing in common with Israel’s views about final 
borders.”110 The Israeli prime minister was especially frustrated 
with Carter’s insistence on frank talk and clear objectives, grow-
ing “increasingly concerned about the effect his ‘new style’ would 
have on our region.” “If he publicized his views on the Middle East,” 
Rabin noted, “he would bring comfort to the Arabs and weaken 
Israel’s negotiating position.”111

Carter also felt uneasy about his meetings with Rabin. Ten 
days later, aboard Air Force One, he told a domestic affairs advi-
sor “he liked Rabin but didn’t think Rabin liked him.” In private 
talks in the White House residence, Carter had asked Rabin about 
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a possible peace and promised that “he could raise with Sadat any 
point on behalf of Israel that Rabin wanted.” But Carter had been 
“dis appointed” by Rabin’s “lack of response.”112 In the context of 
American ambitions to solve the Arab- Israeli conflict, Rabin’s cir-
cumspect reaction was disheartening.

Tensions generated by the visit also worried leaders of the 
American Jewish community. On the evening of Rabin’s departure, 
a  delegation from the Conference of Presidents of Major Jewish 
Organizations gathered in the State Department with Secretary 
Vance.113 The conference had been founded in 1954 during the 
administration of Dwight D. Eisenhower, in response to an Israeli 
military massacre of Palestinians in the West Bank village of Qibya. 
American Jewish leaders had mobilized during this crisis in U.S.- 
Israeli relations and sought to facilitate a central address for en-
gaging the growing and often fractious communal organizations.114 
Rabbi Alexander Schindler, the chairman of the organization and 
the leader of the Union of American Hebrew Congregations (the 
congregational arm of Reform Judaism in North America), ex-
pressed concern over Carter’s meeting with Rabin. Vance assured 
the assembled Jewish representatives that the special relationship 
between the United States and Israel was as strong as ever. His 
 assurance would not last very long.

A Palestinian “Homeland”
The breaking point between the Carter administration and Ameri-
can Jewish supporters of Israel came just ten days after the talks 
with Rabin. At a town hall meeting in Clinton, Massachusetts, 
Carter responded to a question on the Middle East saying “there 
has to be a homeland provided for the Palestinian refugees who 
have suffered for many, many years.”115 The frank language and 
insistence that accommodating Palestinians was central to any 
movement on Arab- Israeli policy fit with Carter’s decisive break 
from his predecessors. In particular, Carter’s choice of the word 
“homeland”— which was actually invoked with similar language 
in both the Brookings report and the State Department secret 
memo— elicited a great deal of public criticism from Israeli and 
American Jewish leaders.116
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Almost 70 percent of American Jews had cast a vote for Carter 
in the 1976 election, but deep suspicion lingered with regard to the 
administration’s policy toward Israel. The remarks at the Clinton 
town hall bolstered these anxieties. Time magazine printed scath-
ing reactions to the “homeland” comment from communal  leaders, 
with sources commenting that “Carter’s pronouncement seems 
both premature and imprecise.”117 The President’s chief of staff, 
Hamilton Jordan, recognized this mounting concern and worked to 
rectify it, along with other members of the administration includ-
ing Stuart Eizenstat, the leading domestic policy advisor, and Mark 
Siegel, the administration’s designated Jewish communal liaison. 
Their reactions to the Clinton remarks and the subsequent discus-
sions about Carter’s approach to Israel indicate that the domestic 
pressures on the administration’s approach to the Middle East were 
real and ongoing from the very first months of 1977.118

The brunt of the internal effort to soothe relations with Amer-
ican Jewry fell under the remit of the office of the chief of staff. 
As Hamilton Jordan’s young deputy in charge of Jewish outreach, 
 Siegel was an active advisor who guided the early response of the 
White House to criticism of Carter’s policies on Israel. Siegel had 
been appointed executive director of the Democratic National 
Committee (DNC) in 1974, leading to his position within the 
 administration.119 In the wake of the Clinton town hall, Siegel co-
authored a breathtaking White House memo titled “Jewish Iden-
tity, Zionism and Israel.” The internal document demonstrated 
increased executive branch awareness of the need to be cognizant 
of domestic Jewish concerns in the articulation of foreign policy. 
Siegel later recalled scrambling to finish the memo for Jordan, who 
feared that domestic support was “slipping away.” In the memo, 
 Siegel referred specifically to Carter’s “homeland” statement, writ-
ing that “the Jewish community here is in almost morbid fear of 
a separate, politically independent Palestinian entity on the West 
Bank of the Jordan River.”120

Siegel captured the zeitgeist among American Jews in his memo, 
describing how “the fear and disgust of the PLO reaches almost 
Nazi- hating quality of emotion.” This disgust is what animated 
 domestic criticism to the town hall statement. “The American 
Jewish community,” Siegel explained, was “terribly concerned by 
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the President’s reference to a Palestinian homeland.” The liaison 
also made several recommendations for Carter to reach out to 
American Jews, who were convinced “that the State and Defense 
Departments are populated with anti- Semitic Arabists.” As Siegel 
suggested, “a token of ‘objectivity’ must be introduced into the de-
partments, even if it is the placement of one obviously sympathetic, 
non- career person, in each. At the very least, this will give the lobby 
someone to bitch to that they feel will at least listen.” A similar sug-
gestion was made regarding the National Security Council and the 
White House, in line with the belief that a better explanation of 
administration policies would have long- lasting strategic benefits. 
As Siegel concluded, “above all, they [American Jews] must come 
to feel that their voices have been heard and that they have been 
part of the process. Only then could they be called on to help sell 
the result to their people and the Hill.”121

As a constituency long engaged in political activism, the Ameri-
can Jewish community had been working tirelessly to tighten 
its support among Congress and among sympathetic allies in the 
White House, building a powerful lobby to steer its agenda. This 
increasing focus on Israel was a pronounced shift in the activity of 
organizations like the American Jewish Committee (AJC) and the 
Anti- Defamation League (ADL), older advocacy groups tradition-
ally focused on domestic matters of concern like civil rights and im-
migration.122 The effort to shape American policy through domestic 
lobbying grew exponentially during the 1970s, with the American 
Israel Public Affairs Committee (AIPAC) making significant inroads 
alongside other American Jewish organizations.123 This domestic 
mobilization was partially rooted in the psychologically damaging 
effects of Israel’s military losses in the surprise attack of the 1973 
War, which still hung over Jewish organizational life.

The negative reaction among American Jewish leaders was 
largely the result of a mounting perception that Carter was taking 
sides in the Middle East debate, to the detriment of Israel’s national 
interest. Brzezinski admitted in his memoir that without any Arab 
concessions, the town hall remark “helped to create the impres-
sion that the new administration was tilting away from Israel.”124 It 
was coupled with decisions around the same time not to sell cluster 
bombs to Israel or allow the sale of Israeli- made Kfir bombers to 
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Latin American countries. As a result, the Carter administration 
was viewed in some quarters of the American Jewish community 
as having distanced itself from its alliance with Israel. By June 1977, 
the perception among domestic supporters of Israel that the coun-
try was being unfairly targeted by the administration led members 
of AIPAC to compile a list of twenty- one grievances, demanding 
the dismissal of Carter’s Middle East experts. The White House was 
inundated with letters attacking Carter’s “pro- Arab” policies.125

Carter attempted to counter this public outcry, saying “he never 
called for an independent Palestinian country” and expressing sup-
port for the idea that “if there is a Palestinian entity established 
in the West Bank . . . it ought to be associated with Jordan.”126 
Brzezin ski, too, reassured Israeli officials that the term was far 
more  innocuous than they imagined, calling Ambassador Simcha 
Dinitz to clarify that the word change was not monumental.127 One 
administration official, however, portrayed Carter’s statement as 
deliberate, arguing that the president wanted to move the negoti-
ating process forward in his first year.128 The concept of a “home-
land” implied certain inalienable rights for Palestinians, addressing 
the refugee issue and acknowledging Israel’s role in fomenting the 
dispossession of 1948. That may have been too much for some allies 
to countenance. In the late 1970s and 1980s, many supporters of 
Israel took issue with the view that Palestinians were an actual na-
tion, a position that persisted well beyond Carter’s time in office.129

Outside of the United States, the American call for a “homeland” 
was a welcome development. Carter’s remarks were considered a 
sign of the administration’s seriousness in advancing toward Ge-
neva and resolving the Palestinian question. The British Foreign 
Office emphasized their agreement. “We consider that the Palestin-
ians should have a land of their own,” one official wrote. “How this 
should be realized is one of the matters for negotiations between 
the parties.”130 The PLO leadership in Beirut also praised Carter’s 
declaration as a “step forward in U.S. Middle Eastern policy, and 
an encouragement for the Palestinian people in their resistance 
to Zionist expansion and settler colonialism.”131 PLO officials still 
sought out a more specific reference to the location of this possible 
homeland, insisting on an independent state rather than a confed-
eral arrangement with Jordan.132 While mindful of declarations 
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that had not altered the situation on the ground, the Palestinian 
reaction reflected a wider embrace of a diplomatic solution in the 
1970s and a grudging willingness to live side by side with Israel.133 
The president’s broader appeal for human rights elicited particular 
praise, with the hope that he would “relieve the sufferings of all op-
pressed peoples of the world, including the Palestinians.”134

This linkage of the administration’s Middle East stance with an 
emerging human rights agenda was touted as a successful departure 
from the approach of earlier decades domestically as well. As Zbig-
niew Brzezinski wrote to the president, “the public clearly under-
stands that the Carter foreign policy is derived from an  affirmative 
commitment to certain basic human values. Moreover, you have 
defined these values as ‘human rights,’ which is both broader and 
more flexible than such words as ‘liberty’ or ‘freedom.’ This gives 
our foreign policy a wider appeal, more in tune with the emerg-
ing political consciousness of mankind— which is concerned both 
with liberty and equity.”135 Brzezinski suggested that the  vision of-
fered by the president contained the kernel of an entirely new way 
of conceiving of the U.S.- dominated Arab- Israeli peace process, one 
based on greater flexibility in dealing with intractable issues. He 
believed the parties would see that the United States was serious 
about its peacemaking efforts, which could lead to more substan-
tive negotiations. “This is a significant step forward from almost 
anything that the United States has said on the subject for at least 
ten to fifteen years,” the NSC advisor concluded.136

Arab Dissonance
What did other Arab parties think of this new American approach 
to the region? Continuing the series of meetings that Vance had 
initiated on the Middle East, Carter hosted Egyptian president 
Sadat at the White House for his first face- to- face conversation 
with an Arab leader. At their discussion in the Cabinet Room on 
April 4, the connection between the two men was immediate. Sadat 
spoke of the common principles shared by the two villagers, both 
from religious backgrounds. “You have to be optimistic if you are 
a farmer,” Carter replied. “You have to always believe that things 
will be better next year.”137 Their discussions about the Palestinian 



[ 46 ] cHaPter one

issue, representation at Geneva, and Egypt’s willingness to pursue 
a permanent peace with Israel were frank and far- reaching. Sadat 
was eager to establish his unique role for Carter: “I am the only 
leader in the Arab world who can take real steps toward peace. . . . 
No other Arab leader, even in Jordan, will go as far as I will.”138 
Underlying Sadat’s optimism about peacemaking was an acute con-
cern about the state of Egypt’s economy and the need for greater 
Western investment to bolster the country’s domestic and regional 
security.139

King Hussein of Jordan visited the White House after Sadat, 
and Carter pushed him on the specifics of Jordanian- Palestinian 
relations in the West Bank.140 Hussein, the long- standing mon-
arch of the Jordanian Kingdom since 1952, had a storied secret 
relationship with successive Israeli leaders.141 It remained unclear 
how sovereignty for Palestinians in the West Bank would affect 
Palestinians in Jordan, and how to achieve an independent entity 
given the dominance of the PLO. As King Hussein argued, “The 
PLO prefers its own state before discussing the future, and they 
realize the need for close links with us. The PLO is the creation of 
Arab summits, not the choice of the Palestinian people.”142 Hus-
sein had been pressured to agree to the 1974 Rabat Summit dec-
laration, in which the Arab League members recognized the PLO 
as the sole representative of the Palestinian people, with induce-
ments of annual subsidies from oil- producing states. His antipathy 
toward organized Palestinian nationalism was a legacy from the 
1970 civil war in Jordan and the Hashemite Kingdom’s long his-
tory of control over the West Bank. Jordan’s direct annexation of 
the West Bank in 1950 had a formative impact on the Palestinian 
national movement, and it lasted until King Hussein formally re-
linquished claims on the territory west of the Jordan River in 1988. 
In the interim, it was difficult for Palestinians to represent their 
own interests on a global stage, as demands were made that they 
participate in diplomatic discussions jointly with Jordan. This was 
a core structural impediment to the possibility of direct contacts 
with the PLO, which officials in the Carter White House sought to 
address.143

The paramount concern within the administration during these 
consultations was not PLO representation but the composition of 
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a defined territorial entity for Palestinians and how to account for 
refugees from the 1948 War. Carter raised these matters directly 
during his first meeting with Syria’s president Hafez al- Assad, 
which took place in Geneva’s Intercontinental Hotel on May 9. 
“How do you see a practical solution?” he asked Assad. “I don’t be-
lieve that Israel can agree to take all of the Palestinians into their 
territory. What does Arafat have in mind that is practical?” Assad 
searched for an answer. He felt that any Palestinian state in the 
West Bank and Gaza would be too small to accommodate the refu-
gees, and Israel would have to accept some. Carter asked him how 
many there were. Assad was taken aback, whispering to his foreign 
minister about the numbers of Palestinians in each Arab country. “I 
am anxious to provide you with a reply, but I don’t want to mislead 
you,” he told Carter. The conversation turned to the possible for-
mation of a Palestinian homeland, and Assad admitted that there 
was internal dissonance between King Hussein and the Palestin-
ians. Carter sensed the Arab states “do not favor a fully independent 
Palestinian nation. It could become radicalized with a Qadhafi- like 
leader. The Soviets might gain influence there.” Assad explained 
the divergent schools of thought, one that saw Jordanian hegemony 
over the West Bank and Gaza preventing the emergence of a Pales-
tinian state, and the other saw a demilitarized entity for Palestin-
ians as part of a Jordanian state. “These propositions would divest 
the Palestinians of anything allowing themselves to demonstrate 
their own personality,” Assad concluded.144

Inter- Arab disagreements about the nature of Palestinian self- 
determination persisted throughout Carter’s bilateral discussions 
with the Egyptian, Jordanian, and Syrian leadership. The problem 
for the Carter administration was not merely a question of internal 
Arab confusion about how to manage the fate of the Palestinians. 
It extended into questions of representation, the nature of political 
sovereignty, and the extent to which the United States might recog-
nize the possibility of self- determination for Palestinians.145 This 
was particularly vexing in light of shifting PLO views about how 
best to exercise national aspirations after the Rabat Summit. Arab 
recognition had spurred Arafat’s diplomatic gains at the United Na-
tions, while also raising “the expectation of a showdown with the 
more extreme guerilla organizations” skeptical of the diplomatic 
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track.146 If a “homeland” was a dangerous prospect for Carter to 
float in the United States, Palestinians themselves were still debat-
ing the nature of a political outcome that would be premised on 
independent statehood alongside Israel.

The Carter administration’s planning for a comprehensive 
peace was upended by a sea change in Israeli politics in the spring 
of 1977. In a startling development, Prime Minister Yitzhak Rabin 
announced his resignation from office on April 8. The decision was 
a consequence of a bank account scandal involving his wife while 
he was ambassador to the United States. Coming on the heels of 
several corruption and nepotism investigations, the “Dollar Ac-
count Affair” set in motion a political upheaval in Israel.147 The 
electoral success of Menachem Begin in May and the arrival of a 
Likud government to power would further challenge the possibility 
of Palestinian national sovereignty inside the West Bank or Gaza 
Strip. Carter’s early efforts to reorient American involvement in 
the region, away from Kissinger’s limited cease- fires and toward a 
comprehensive solution involving the Palestinians, now faced new 
hurdles in Jerusalem.
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Menachem Begin’s Reality

in His memoir,  President Carter recalled watching an interview 
when Menachem Begin was running for prime minister, in which 
the candidate stated “that the entire West Bank had been ‘liberated’ 
during the Six Day War, and that a Jewish majority and an Arab 
minority would be established there.” At the time Carter exclaimed, 
“I could not believe what I was hearing.”1 But Begin’s views were 
not at all surprising to anyone paying attention to his long career in 
politics. Begin was a leader of the revisionist faction of the Zionist 
movement and a disciple of its founder, Ze’ev Jabotinsky. His early 
years had been marked by the upheaval of war in Europe and the 
tragedy of losing his parents and brother in the Holocaust. After 
arriving in Palestine and commanding the underground Irgun 
 militia, Begin headed the opposition in the Israeli Knesset as the 
head of the Herut and then Likud party, a position from which 
he passionately articulated his views on a host of fractious issues, 
 including the territories.2

Begin saw the West Bank as central to Israeli identity, always 
 referring to it using the biblical name of “Judea and Samaria.”3 
When the territories were first conquered by Israel in 1967, Begin 
was deeply opposed to granting Arab inhabitants political rights or 
any form of territorial control that could lead to Palestinian state-
hood.4 Running counter to this exclusivist approach was  Begin’s 
more inclusive conception of nationalism, based in part on the 
model of European thinkers who had elevated a progressive ver-
sion of the nation- state that should provide individual rights to 
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minorities.5 Together, the influence of Jabotinsky’s ideas about 
Jewish territorial dominance and the discourse of liberal national-
ist thinkers fed Begin’s emerging conception of Palestinian Arabs 
as a minority that could be granted rights under Israeli rule rather 
than a self- determining political entity deserving of sovereignty.

This inherent tension engendered an evolution in Begin’s think-
ing as he campaigned for the 1977 elections a decade later.6 In 
the lead- up to the May election in Israel, Begin stressed the im-
possibility of a Palestinian state or some form of national self- 
determination for Arabs in the West Bank or Gaza Strip. The Labor 
party that had been ruling Israel since 1948 was no less opposed 
to such a development but remained wary of the political limbo 
that confronted the young country after the territorial conquests 
of the 1967 War. Leading Labor politicians like Levi Eshkol, Golda 
Meir, and Yitzhak Rabin therefore had spoken publicly of offers to 
exchange territory for peace between 1967 and 1977.7 At the same 
time, they had facilitated the installation of military outposts and 
civilian settlements in the territory itself.8 The grounds for this en-
croachment were always articulated in terms of security, although 
common cause was made with the religious right and secularists 
involved in the “Greater Land of Israel” movement, which sought 
the expansion of Israel’s borders.

Unlike Labor politicians, Begin was less circumspect about 
 Israel’s choices regarding the territories and did not try to hide his 
views. “To whom are we going to give it back?” Begin responded 
to one interviewer. “[In 1948] King Abdullah invaded this coun-
try from Jordan, he killed our people, destroyed our synagogues 
and he occupied part of it. Then in the early ’50s he annexed it. 
Nobody recognized that annexation but Britain and Pakistan. The 
U.S. never recognized it. So give what back? It doesn’t belong to 
them.”9 In the style of liberal nationalists in interwar Europe, Begin 
viewed the “Arabs of Judea and Samaria” as a minority that should 
be treated with a degree of fairness but without collective rights for 
self- determination. The Likud election platform had provisions for 
dealing with the Palestinians in Israel as well as the West Bank and 
Gaza Strip. It delineated their choice to adopt Israeli citizenship, 
which would provide full rights and include voting for the Knesset. 
Alternatively, if Arabs in the territories chose not to take up Israeli 
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citizenship, they would retain full rights without voting. In either 
circumstance, the electoral platform stated that the “Arab nation-
ality in Eretz Israel will enjoy cultural autonomy,” a term that was 
distinct from political sovereignty and would emerge as a central 
tenant of Begin’s approach to the Palestinians while in power.10

The Likud Revolution
In an unexpected political earthquake, Begin’s Likud party emerged 
eleven seats ahead of the Labor party’s forerunner, the Alignment, 
in the Knesset elections of May 17, 1977. Long relegated to the op-
position, the Likud shocked the dominant political forces inside the 
country with the surprise victory. As the results were announced 
on Israeli television, the news anchor Haim Yavin declared “Ladies 
and Gentleman— a revolution!”11 Begin’s rise was especially jarring 
in Washington, where the settlement issue had already become 
a point of contention with Rabin. Carter was deeply attuned to 
 Israeli claims being made on the West Bank and Gaza Strip. He had 
warned Israeli leaders of the dangers of land seizures and settle-
ment expansion before the election.12

This opposition to settlement building was even more rele-
vant after the Likud victory. On May 18, Secretary of State Cyrus 
Vance received a memo from the State Department reporting on 
the “stunning defeat” of the ruling Labor- Alignment with the pro-
jection of Likud’s large electoral success. The Tel Aviv embassy 
reported on the “uncertainty” of U.S.- Israeli relations as a major 
 factor in the left’s poor showing: “The Israeli electorate foresees 
hard times ahead and has prepared to batten down the hatches by 
taking a strong swing to the right.”13 Officials in Washington feared 
that the results of the election would herald the end of Carter’s 
comprehensive peace plan for the region. After the news of the 
 political realignment reached the White House, NSC Middle East 
advisor William Quandt recommended a policy review. “Much of 
our strategy toward the Arab- Israeli conflict has been predicated 
on the  assumption that a strong and moderate Israeli government 
would at some point be able to make difficult decisions on territory 
and on the Palestinians,” Quandt told Brzezinski. “The Arabs will 
no doubt read the Israeli election results as signifying an end to the 
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chance of getting to Geneva this year, and possibly the end of any 
hope for a political settlement . . . all in all, the short- term looks 
rather bleak in the Middle East.”14

Rather than turn their backs, Carter’s Middle East advisor 
 argued that the administration should engage with the new govern-
ment. The best course of action was to withhold any outward disap-
pointment with the Likud’s victory, stick to the plans for  Geneva, 
and invite Begin to Washington in the event he was chosen as 
prime minister. Nevertheless, Quandt wrote, “Israeli voters should 
know that a hard- line government will not find it easy to manage 
the U.S.- Israeli relationship. Intransigence must be seen to carry a 
price tag, but we should not be seen as the bully. Begin should be 
allowed to make his own mistakes.”15 Sounding a note of optimism, 
Quandt suggested that American public support for a Likud gov-
ernment would be less than their support for earlier governments, 
giving the U.S. government “room for maneuver.”16

Carter adopted this cautious approach to the Israeli elections in 
his conversations with allies. He told British prime minister James 
Callaghan that regardless of the change in Israel’s administration, 
the United States would continue to pursue efforts for a compre-
hensive peace. If the Likud government was intransigent, Carter 
told Callaghan, the United States might have to move away from a 
commitment to Israel.17 Callaghan discussed the possibility of in-
ternal splits within British and American Jewry over the election, 
mentioning Jewish leaders with whom he regularly consulted, add-
ing that he “rather kept away from them this week whilst they are 
suffering from shock.”18 Carter agreed, noting similar dynamics in 
the United States: “If it became obvious that there was a choice 
between Begin and an unpopular government on the one hand 
and the security of Israel on the other there is no doubt that they 
would go with the security of Israel.”19 A fault line seemed to be 
opening up between supporters of centrist Israeli leaders and the 
new right- wing government, although this gap may have been less 
pronounced than Carter surmised. Internal discussions among do-
mestic American Jewish leaders reveal discontent over Begin’s vic-
tory but ultimately a calculated decision to support Israel’s newly 
elected leader despite the troubling policies he began to espouse.20

Carter and Callaghan, whose relationship was warm and trusting, 
spoke of mutual concerns over Begin’s political views and compared 
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their respective plans to speak with the new prime minister. Cal-
laghan had met Begin in 1974 and found him “extremely charming” 
yet “extremely hard line.” Recalling the era of the British Mandate in 
Palestine, Callaghan told Carter that Begin had “fought very bitterly 
against us and has the respect that old enemies have.” Carter voiced 
concern over Begin’s more recent “unwarranted” statements about 
settlements in the West Bank (“or Judea as he calls it”). “He could 
at least have kept his mouth shut for a few weeks,” Carter remarked. 
Callaghan’s response was revealing. “But it is unrealistic to expect 
him to do so. He has been saying this for 30 years . . . I don’t think he 
will modify that policy unless you can apply some leverage.”21 The 
British leader’s comments were an early indication to Carter that 
U.S. aspirations for a shift in policy toward the Arab- Israeli conflict 
would require exercising active American pressure where it had not 
been heavily applied before. In contrast, discussing Arab leaders, 
Carter told Callaghan he was “favourably impressed . . . they may be 
wonderful con artists but my impression is that they genuinely want 
to make some progress.” Callaghan agreed.22

The British and American concerns over Israeli territorial aims 
and settlement building were prescient. In his first speech to the 
Israeli Knesset as prime minister on June 20, Begin declared “the 
government will plan and establish and encourage settlements, both 
rural and urban, on the land of the homeland.”23 Among Palestin-
ian leaders in exile, Begin’s initial moves merely substantiated their 
deep antipathy. In Beirut, the editors of the PLO Information Bul-
letin wrote that Begin’s election was “a confirmation of the long- held 
PLO line that unmasks the fascist and aggressive nature of the Zion-
ist entity.” The editors’ diagnosis of Begin suggested impatience with 
international rhetoric about Israeli policy in the territories. “It proves 
the rightness of the PLO’s attitude, that Zionist expansionism and 
aggression cannot be deterred by mere words,” they concluded.24

Formulating a Negotiating Position
The extent of the Begin government’s position on the Jewish right to 
settlement in the territories and cultural autonomy for Arabs would 
become clear as Carter continued his efforts to lay the groundwork 
for negotiations at a Geneva Conference. In proceeding with Mid-
dle East discussions, the president sought the help of other regional 
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powers who might provide a mediating influence. Saudi Arabia’s 
Crown Prince Fahd was welcomed to the White House on May 24. 
Fahd was considered the de facto leader during the reign of his half 
brother King Khalid, who ascended the throne in 1975 after the as-
sassination of King Faisal. Given his financial support for the PLO 
and Arab leaders, Fahd was seen as the linchpin of any American- 
led peace process, someone who had the ability to set a moderate 
regional agenda.25 The president had been encouraged by Brzezin-
ski and Vance to indicate a willingness to work with the Saudi leader 
on efforts to reach a settlement, providing security guarantees and 
attesting to U.S. friendship with the Gulf monarchy.

Fahd himself was a great advocate of closer U.S.- Saudi ties and 
sought to capitalize on emerging Saudi leadership in the Arab 
world.26 Only a few years after the 1973 oil crisis and OPEC em-
bargo, the kingdom had flexed its political and economic muscle. 
As the largest oil exporter to the United States, Saudi Arabia had 
become a regional and global power.27 During their opening discus-
sions, the U.S. president stressed the close alignment between the 
two countries, telling Fahd “there is no other country with whom 
we have closer or more friendly relations than Saudi Arabia.”28 
Fahd  articulated the Saudi position on the Arab- Israeli conflict and 
stressed his willingness to follow the U.S. lead in negotiations. He 
explained, however, that Saudi Arabia and the other Arab states 
would not agree to a joint Palestinian entity with Jordan, rather 
 favoring an actual homeland.29 In their private conversation the 
next day, Fahd agreed to “induce the PLO to endorse United Nations 
Resolution 242,” which would be a prerequisite for U.S. discussions 
with the PLO. The Saudi Crown Prince reiterated his commitment 
to the pursuit of a comprehensive settlement in the months ahead.30

Fahd’s departure from the United States concluded the adminis-
tration’s extensive outreach to Arab leaders in the first half of 1977. 
In early June, U.S. officials began to strategize domestic outreach 
for promoting a comprehensive peace. “The case must be carried to 
the American people as a whole, including the Jewish community,” 
Brzezinski advised the president. “This means stressing not only 
that a settlement is good for Israel, but also emphasizing explic-
itly that the national interests of the United States require a settle-
ment.”31 For Carter’s Middle East policy to work, he would need the 
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support of American Jews, who remained skeptical of his inten-
tions since the president’s Palestinian “homeland” remark. Brzezin-
ski’s advice underscored the need to frame the entire under taking 
in terms of the national interest, appealing to American Jewish 
 patriotism and allegiance, rather than driving a wedge between 
their support for Israel and for the United States.

As the Carter administration planned its next steps, the Israeli 
Foreign Ministry was assessing the American approach for the 
new government in Jerusalem.32 Begin announced a set of fifteen 
guidelines for his government’s approach to key issues, revealing 
his commitment to settlement in the entirety of Israel and the ter-
ritories.33 Begin’s guidelines asserted that “the right of the Jewish 
people to the Land of Israel is eternal and inalienable” and called 
for an increase in the “setting up of defense and permanent settle-
ments, rural and urban, on the soil of the homeland.”34 At the same 
time, Begin’s points included agreement to attend the Geneva Con-
ference and an invitation to Israel’s neighbors “to conduct direct 
negotiations for the signing of the peace treaties between them.”35 
This dual approach emerged as a hallmark of Israeli diplomacy 
under Begin. On the one hand, it expressed a willingness to nego-
tiate bilaterally with Arab states, albeit without the Palestinians. 
At the same time, it premised these negotiations on the assertion 
of Israeli sovereignty in the occupied territories and allowance for 
expanded settlement building. The approach was cleverly designed, 
and fundamentally at odds with the U.S. and Arab positions.

To dispel any criticism of the Israeli strategy, Begin deployed his 
close confidant Shmuel Katz and Israel’s ambassador to the United 
States, Simcha Dinitz, to meet with Brzezinski and other advi-
sors in the White House.36 Katz was a founder of the right- wing 
nationalist Herut party, the forerunner of the Likud. He was also 
a cofounder of the Movement for Greater Israel in 1967, a group 
that advocated for permanent settlement in the occupied territo-
ries.37 Dinitz had been a political advisor to former prime minister 
Golda Meir and was ambassador to the United States during the 
1973 War, when he coordinated weapons shipments to Israel with 
Secretary of State Henry Kissinger. In their meeting with Carter’s 
representatives, the gap between Israeli and American views was 
clearly articulated. Katz affirmed Begin’s position on abiding by 
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UN Security Council Resolutions 242 and 338, although he took 
issue with the notion that the question of a Palestinian homeland 
or refugee compensation fell under these resolutions. This claim 
was an early indication that the Begin government did not accept 
the applicability of resolution 242 to the West Bank, disputing that 
“withdrawal from territories” signified a need to leave “Judea and 
Samaria” and ensuring a collision with his American interlocutors.

The logic of the new Israeli government was challenged on the 
issue of settlements. Brzezinski explicitly asked about their status, 
and Katz restated the Likud position “on the basic right of the Jew-
ish people to Western Palestine as a whole.”38 He invoked inter-
national law, arguing that the rejection of the 1947 partition plan 
by the Arabs “restored the full legal basis” for Israeli claims to the 
territories. This inherent contradiction, claiming to abide by 242 
and believing in the basic right of the Jewish people to Western 
Palestine, reflected a core element of the right- wing government’s 
approach to the settlements: explicit and unapologetic.39

Katz stressed that Israel’s position would not preempt negotia-
tions, while at the same time insisting that settlement building would 
continue. Brzezinski asked him about building in areas populated by 
Arabs, and Katz acknowledged that there was some controversy on 
this matter. He stressed that the Likud government was hoping to 
persuade Arabs not to force an Israeli withdrawal. “If I can give you 
the vision that I have, after forty years of contacts with the Arabs,” 
Katz remarked, “I would try to convince the Arabs in Western Pal-
estine that their greatest chance for security and prosperity, with-
out loss of their cultural identity and with local autonomy, lies in a 
unitary state under an Israeli government, with the right to citizen-
ship for those who want it, or they can remain Jordanian citizens.” 
The notion of a political solution to Palestinian aspirations was an 
 anathema to Begin’s envoy. “If an Arab entity of any kind is formed 
west of the Jordan River, it would be a threat to Israel.”40

In essence, Katz had provided the Americans with a recipe for 
a one- state solution to the Israeli- Palestinian conflict: an Israeli 
state in full control of territory and inhabitants on both sides of the 
Green Line. Brzezinski pushed Katz to explain how such a  vision 
squared with the demographic reality of a possible eventual Arab 
majority over Jews. Katz spoke of the hopes among the Likud for 
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mass immigration “so that we could at least keep the ratio in our 
favor.” He refused to accept any proposition that a mere Israeli 
withdrawal to the 1967 lines would yield peace with the Arabs. 
“We believe that the 1967 borders constitute a death trap.”41 Rather 
than concede that peace required giving up land, Katz reinforced 
the notion that Israel would emerge more vulnerable, lecturing his 
American interlocutors about the conflict, which he argued “stems 
from the Arab refusal to recognize our existence in any area.” “You 
know,” Katz concluded, “100 years ago Palestine was almost empty. 
Most of the Arabs came after the Zionists already made the area liv-
able. There was no such thing as an Arab- Palestine that existed for 
1,300 years before we came.”42 It was the clearest statement yet of 
a divergence between American and Israeli views about the causes 
and possible outcomes of the conflict.

Despite these irrefutable warnings of the Begin government’s 
ideological shift and overt commitment to settlement expansion, 
Carter believed he had to try to bring the Israeli leader into his 
own political orbit. The president sent a warm note of congratula-
tions to Jerusalem and invited Begin to the White House in July 
1977. “I would welcome your ideas on how progress towards peace 
can best be achieved,” Carter wrote. “I believe it important that we 
meet at an early date to establish a personal relationship and ex-
change views on the negotiation of a peace settlement and on other 
matters of mutual concern.”43 U.S. officials worked on a strategy 
to keep the focus of the meeting on elements of a comprehensive 
solution, seeking a clear Israeli endorsement of Security Council 
Resolution 242 along favorable lines as well as restraint on settle-
ment building.44 They also reached out to President Sadat of Egypt 
to encourage public statements reaffirming his commitment to a 
comprehensive peace with Israel.45 Several U.S. senators endorsed 
Carter’s approach, issuing a bipartisan letter signed by the likes of 
Robert Byrd, Abraham Ribicoff, and Edward Kennedy.46

As a means of shoring up domestic support, Carter, Vice Presi-
dent Mondale, Vance, and Brzezinski gathered with Jewish leaders 
in July, ahead of Begin’s visit. Mondale had been a senator from 
Minnesota before Carter selected him as a running mate, and he 
was viewed as more sympathetic to Israel than other members 
of the administration. He often led discussions with pro- Israel 



[ 58 ] cHaPter tWo

lobbyists and was a favored conduit with the leader of AIPAC.47 In 
the meeting, which was reported in full by the administration to 
Israeli Embassy officials in Washington, Vance provided updates of 
his discussions with Arab leaders while Brzezinski affirmed three 
underlying principles in the U.S. approach. “1. We will not deceive 
Israel nor the Jewish community; 2. We will not betray the funda-
mental moral problems Israel faces; and 3. We will not compel or 
threaten Israel’s security.”48 The necessity of reiterating these points 
was a function of growing anxiety among Jewish leaders. Rabbi 
Alexander Schindler, attending as the head of the Conference of 
Presidents of Major Jewish Organizations, spoke of a perception of 
the “erosion of America’s commitment to Israel.”49 Carter tried to 
reassure the participants that the United States would not impose 
a settlement and that he would personally work with Begin when 
he came to Washington later that month. While the administration 
worked to implement its foreign policy in the Middle East, domes-
tic pressures from American Jews were a clear factor that had to be 
accounted for. The lack of parallel pressure from Arab Americans 
was a function of a less developed lobbying arm, although their 
own political voice had begun to take shape as well.50

Begin Visits Washington
On July 19, 1977, Menachem Begin arrived at the White House for 
his first face- to- face meeting with President Carter. During their 
morning discussion in the cabinet room, Carter laid out the central 
principles of the U.S. approach to the Middle East conflict, which 
included a comprehensive peace based on UN resolutions 242 and 
338, a resolution of territorial boundaries, and the question of the 
refugees. “We have said a homeland tied into Jordan,” Carter told 
Begin, “but we have no plan.”51 This was not entirely accurate, given 
the well- developed and confidential plan that had been laid out in 
February. But the president did not seek to preempt the parties 
themselves. Carter accordingly concluded his opening remarks with 
a reflection on the American role: “I am sure that not every side 
completely trusts us. We will try to act as best as we can. We will be 
eager to see you and your own neighbors negotiating  directly. We 
have no desire to be intermediaries.”52
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The Israeli prime minister used the occasion of this first bi-
lateral meeting to launch into a swift historical review of the Jew-
ish fight for Palestine, typical of his grandiose rhetorical style. He 
first recalled the Israeli victory in 1948, during which time he was a 
leader of the Irgun militia, the group responsible for the infamous 
wartime atrocity at Deir Yassin. While the massacre was seen as a 
primary driver of forced Palestinian migration, Begin characterized 
the consequences of the violence quite differently. “It is true that 
some 450,000 Arabs left,” he told Carter. “We did not want them 
to go. I myself wrote a pamphlet appealing to the Arabs not to flee. 
Their leaders told them to leave, promising them that they would 
take over Tel Aviv once the Arab victory had been won.”53 As with 
most historical work on the 1948 War, the afterlife of the massa-
cre was subject to clashing interpretations, a reflection of unsettled 
questions about the causes and consequences of the Palestinian ref-
ugee crisis. Historians generally agree, however, that at least seven 
hundred thousand Palestinian refugees were either forced out of 
their homes by Jewish fighters or fled as a result of violence and 
fear of transfer during the course of the war.54

Begin also recalled the feeling of existential threat followed by a 
rapid Israeli victory in the June 1967 War, leaving President Carter 
a small map outlining the short distance between the Green Line 
and Israeli population centers. It was Begin’s way to illustrate the 
“mortal danger” of his country returning to the pre- 1967 borders. 
“Such a restored situation could mean the mutilation of our coun-
try,” Begin remarked.55 Choking up as he continued reviewing the 
history of Jews unable to defend themselves, Begin added, “This 
is our concept of national security, Mr. President. Our fathers and 
mothers got killed because they were Jews. We don’t want our 
grandchildren to suffer the same fate.”56

Carter, sidestepping the emotional aspects of the discussion, was 
encouraged by Begin’s apparent willingness to proceed to a Geneva 
Conference for broader diplomatic talks on the basis of UN reso-
lutions 242 and 338. Such a position seemed to open the door for 
Egypt’s Anwar al- Sadat and Jordan’s King Hussein to participate 
in regional negotiations. Yet Carter also saw major differences that 
would have to be resolved, most notably on the question of continued 
settlement expansion. “As far as you and your people are concerned,” 
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Carter told Begin, “the question of the West Bank is going to be im-
portant as an open subject for discussion.” Israel’s divergence from 
the U.S. position was openly acknowledged. “The attitude of your 
government at permitting new settlements— these very well might 
prevent the peace conference itself,” Carter continued. “One of the 
acute concerns here has been the attitude of you and your govern-
ment to the West Bank that almost closes off future negotiations.”57

Another central point of contention remained the role of the 
PLO. Carter explained to Begin that he had notified the PLO 
through Arab leaders “that if they would fully endorse the UN reso-
lutions and acknowledge Israel’s right to exist, we would begin to 
talk and listen to their positions.” “This is a very difficult thing for 
us,” Carter added, “it is our impression that the Israeli people would 
be prepared to talk to them if the PLO acknowledged Israel’s right 
to independence.”58 Carter’s vision for PLO recognition was not 
a fanciful wish. In the weeks prior to Begin’s visit, PLO chairman 
Arafat relayed a message to President Carter “implying the PLO’s 
willingness to live in peace with Israel.” His condition was a “U.S. 
commitment to the establishment of an independent Palestinian 
‘state unit entity.’ ”59 Although the form of such an entity remained 
a matter of fierce disagreement, the principle of Palestinian diplo-
matic engagement was clear. Begin, however, would not counte-
nance PLO involvement in Carter’s Geneva initiative.

Carter suggested instead that perhaps the Palestinians would not 
be invited to the opening of Geneva “but that the question of the ref-
ugees be put on the agenda.” Begin, invoking the plight of Jews who 
had been forced out of the Arab world in 1948 as a counterweight, 
quickly added, “Both the Arab and the Jewish refugees.” The presi-
dent replied he had no objection.60 Like Rabin before him, Begin 
agreed to a Jordanian delegation representing Arab inhabitants of 
the West Bank as long as PLO members did not participate. “We too 
are Palestinians,” Begin said. “We are prepared to agree that in the 
Jordanian delegation there should be Palestinian Arabs. We will not 
investigate their private credentials— but not the PLO.”61

The Israeli prime minister then invited his advisor Shmuel Katz 
to discuss the Palestinians and the refugee question. Turning to 
Carter and his advisors, Katz pulled out a large map of the Arab 
states and Israel. “Every child in the Arab states is taught from an 
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early age (now there are new text books recently surveyed) that this 
triangle (Israel) must as a patriotic duty and a moral imperative be 
eliminated as a decisive and immoral element in the Arab world.”62 
This was a markedly charged tone in Israeli messaging about the 
fate of the Palestinians. It was the start of a public relations of-
fensive that would recur with great frequency in meetings between 
Likud politicians and their American counterparts.

The new Likud leadership worked to reframe their views about 
Israel’s internal conflict with the Arabs as part of their diplomatic 
offensive at the Carter White House. In the working dinner that 
evening, Begin’s toast was a reflection of his deep- seated belief in 
the shared values between Israel and the United States. “We are 
a guardian of human liberty and democracy in the Middle East,” 
Begin proclaimed, marveling at the peaceful transition from his 
predecessor in a region where such shifts were so often marked by 
violence. The Israeli prime minister summed up his view of why 
there was still no peace: “It is an historical conflict. It is not a ter-
ritorial problem.” He expanded on this point, emphasizing the lack 
of peace that existed between 1948 and 1967, before Israel’s territo-
rial expansion. “We came there. We have come there by right of our 
ancestors. But it was not recognized and time and again attempts 
were made to destroy us.”63

The clear distinction between historical and territorial conflict 
enabled Begin to situate the Palestinians as merely “Arab inhabit-
ants of Judea and Samaria,” neither a nation nor a people in their 
own right. It was a radically different postwar vision than the collec-
tive rights of self- determination that the Palestinians demanded and 
the Americans had begun to recognize by the late 1970s. Begin con-
cluded his toast by returning to his earlier theme about the Arab dis-
placement in 1948. “We don’t hate our neighbors,” he told Carter. “We 
don’t want to humiliate them at all. We never wanted to defeat them. 
We never wanted to wrong them. But we had to defend ourselves.”64

Territorial Retention
In light of the Begin government’s position, what might the ter-
ritorial contours of a Palestinian political solution include? Before 
Carter and Begin began formal talks on the morning of July 20, the 



[ 62 ] cHaPter tWo

president and Secretary Vance relayed their initial negotiating posi-
tion to the Israeli prime minister via Connecticut senator Abraham 
Ribicoff. Any territorial withdrawal, the president and his secretary 
of state explained, would have to consist of “mutually agreed and 
recognized borders on all fronts,” and a settlement would have to 
include “provisions for a Palestinian entity.” Such an entity would 
not be militarized, just as the administration’s secret February 
study had recommended, and provisions should be made for “an 
open and economic and social relationship with Israel.” The Carter 
administration was even more specific on the makeup of this entity. 
“Means should be sought to permit self- determination by Palestin-
ians deciding their future status,” the U.S. position conveyed, “like 
trusteeship for five years in which Israel would be co- trustee with 
Jordan of West Bank along lines of functional plan [sic] suggested 
by Dayan.”65

General Moshe Dayan had joined Begin’s government as foreign 
minister after a long association with the Israeli left. His functional 
plan for the West Bank had emerged in response to the Allon Plan 
of 1967, conceived in the aftermath of the war by Israeli minister 
and Labor politician Yigal Allon. The Allon Plan mandated a re-
drawing of the map of Israel to extend Israeli sovereignty in much 
of the  occupied territories. In order to secure a permanent Israeli 
presence in the Jordan Valley, Latrun Salient, and the southern 
Gaza Strip (as well as the Golan Heights and Rafah approaches), 
Allon suggested annexing a large chunk of this territory and re-
turning the remaining populated parts of the West Bank to Jordan 
or creating autonomous Palestinian enclaves.66 Beyond the stated 
security concerns, the plan was premised on demographic consid-
erations. Israel would acquire further territory without the Arab 
inhabitants who threatened to undermine the Jewish majority of 
the state.

Dayan, unlike Allon, felt there should be a greater degree of 
 Palestinian autonomy in West Bank municipalities, and his plan 
called for shared administrative responsibilities between Israel and 
Jordan with more territory under Israeli sovereignty. The specifics 
of any such arrangement had not been fully outlined, and Carter 
and Vance suggested that a plebiscite should be held after five years 
to determine the specifics and “how to relate to Jordan and  Israel.”67 
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The introduction of a conditional model of trusteeship and a plebi-
scite was a means to defuse some of the thorniest aspects of Arab 
demands and account for the Israeli ideas already in circulation. 
While these elements of a possible settlement accounted for Pal-
estinian aspirations in political terms, it was a model that neces-
sitated the deferral of actual sovereignty.

Although Begin may have signaled a degree of flexibility about 
Geneva in his meetings with Carter, his stated territorial position 
tells a more intransigent story. Declassified Israeli records reveal 
that on July 13, Begin sketched out his “peace principles,” which 
he delivered privately to Carter during their initial meeting at 
the White House and in writing to Secretary Vance. The Israeli 
prime minister indicated a clear willingness to withdraw forces 
substantially in the Sinai as part of a peace deal with Egypt and 
seemed prepared to withdraw forces from the Golan Heights in 
the context of a peace treaty with Syria.68 But the West Bank and 
Gaza were not ever part of his negotiations. “Concerning Judea, 
Samaria and the Gaza Strip our position is that we shall not place 
them under any foreign rule or sovereignty on the basis of two 
factors,” Begin explained. “One, our people’s right to the Land; it 
is our Land as of right. Two, our national security, which concerns 
the defensive capability of the State and the lives of our civilian 
population.”69

After his private meeting with Begin on July 19, Carter made 
notes about Begin’s approach to territory and expansion. “He will 
try to accommodate us on settlements,” Carter wrote. “Wants to 
carry out Mapai plan at least,” the president continued, referring to 
the ideas of Dayan and Allon. But Begin was reluctant to delay his 
expansion plans. Carter therefore suggested that Begin wait until 
after the Geneva talks and “restrict new settlers to existing settle-
ments.” The president was clearly aware of the diverging views. 
“This is difficult for him— Will stay on Golan. I told him Syria won’t 
agree. W Bank, Gaza, Jerusalem. ‘no foreign sovereignty’— Sinai— 
‘Substantial withdrawals.’ ”70 Given these clear parameters by Begin 
on the possible Israeli negotiating position at Geneva, any diplo-
matic endeavor spearheaded by the United States would have to 
address a central dilemma: What to do about the West Bank, Gaza 
Strip, and East Jerusalem?
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In spite of a clear divergence, U.S. officials agreed not to publicly 
discuss their concerns over the fate of the territory itself. Carter 
seemed to think he could keep Begin and the Israelis in play as 
negotiating partners. During the final meeting between U.S. and 
Israeli officials on the morning of July 20, Carter announced that 
he had agreed not to talk openly about Israeli withdrawals to “the 
1967 lines with minor adjustments” before checking with Begin. 
As they discussed preparations for their joint press conference, 
Carter asked that Begin mention UN resolutions 242 and 338. 
“As far as our agreement that I will not mention minor modifica-
tions in the 1967 lines, I hope that you will not say that you have 
my commitment not to talk about that.”71 Carter was in essence 
 offering Begin his silence on the inviolability of the 1967 border 
in exchange for some Israeli movement on other issues. In spite of 
their clear differences, the visit had encouraged the U.S. president, 
who wrote in his diary that he found Begin to be “quite congenial, 
dedicated, sincere, and deeply religious.” This was in contrast to 
Rabin, who, Carter simultaneously wrote, was “one of the most 
ineffective persons I’ve ever met.”72 Begin’s visit had managed to 
assure the U.S. administration that there was some room for dip-
lomatic maneuver.

Two days after Begin’s trip, Carter was therefore shocked to hear 
that the Israeli prime minister had returned home and legalized 
three West Bank settlements, declaring them “permanent.” Secre-
tary Vance sent a critical telegram to Dayan, who had been working 
with the White House on this issue. “Particularly coming at this 
time,” Vance wrote, “any new settlements, wherever located, would 
tend to confirm the fears of the Arabs that the new Israeli govern-
ment intends to pursue an essentially annexationist policy with re-
gards to the West Bank.”73 Vance reiterated the U.S. belief, as Carter 
told Begin, “there should now be a moratorium on any Israeli set-
tlements in the occupied territories.”74 Responding to a public bar-
rage of questions about this provocative move at a press conference, 
Carter was forthright in his approach: “I let Mr. Begin know very 
clearly that our government policy, before I became President and 
now, is that these settlements are illegal and contravene the Geneva 
Conference terms. Mr. Begin disagrees with this.”75 Deftly trying to 
steer away from an outright break with Israel, Carter posited that 
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Begin was continuing the policy of earlier Israeli governments and 
expressed his hope that this shift was not “insurmountable.”76

The American desire to reconcile views on territory with Israel 
belied all the strong indicators of an inevitable collision. Begin 
had a very clear idea of his ceiling on withdrawal. At no time dur-
ing his subsequent discussions with Carter or eventually Egyp-
tian president Anwar al- Sadat did the Israeli prime minister ever 
relent on his basic stated principle of “no foreign sovereignty” 
for the West Bank, Gaza Strip, and Jerusalem. It was a position 
he had taken for many years, well before the 1977 election that 
brought him to office. His government’s declaration of perma-
nence secured subsidies for the settlements, further legitimizing 
Israeli claims in the territories.77 The PLO was acutely aware of 
this growing threat, taking heed of Begin’s decisions in official 
communications.78

Secretary of State Cyrus Vance later explained how the Ameri-
can and Israeli divergence on territory amounted to a conceptual 
as well as political split.

figUre 2.1. “Prime Minister Menachem Begin Is Welcomed by Children of Elon Moreh.”  
Minister Ariel Sharon on the left. February 27, 1981. Herman Chanania,  

courtesy of Israel’s Government Press Office.
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Our approach is from point of view that Israel must ultimately turn 
over West Bank to Arab sovereignty, once borders, security arrange-
ments and political status are agreed.

Israeli approach is from point of view that it does not agree to ultimate 
Arab sovereignty, even as part of Jordan. It sees West Bank as perma-
nent self- governing colony.

Fundamentally, what is needed is for Israel to relinquish now its claim 
to sovereignty and refocus issue on security (which would require fun-
damental reversal of Begin’s political ideology).79

This clear explanation lay bare the core difference between the U.S. 
and Israeli positions on sovereignty. Vance understood that any 
 attempt at resolving the Palestinian question as part of a compre-
hensive peace initiative would ultimately fail if the issue of con-
trol were left in dispute. Carter’s negotiating style evinced a strong 
conviction that he could assess Israel’s opening position and grad-
ually work to bring the sides closer together. Both the president 
and Vance clearly understood the challenge of reconciling Begin’s 
views with their own comprehensive ideas. But a crucial element of 
possible success was the timing and nature of U.S. mediation and 
the degree to which the administration would exercise pressure to 
achieve its goal. In the absence of such external pressure, the Israeli 
plans would continue apace.

A Bumpy Road to Geneva
Against the backdrop of Begin’s July 1977 visit to the White House, 
the Carter administration continued to hammer out a set of draft 
principles for a revival of the Geneva Conference. Secretary Vance 
traveled once again to the Middle East to meet with Arab and 
 Israeli leaders in August. He intended to finalize discussions at 
the UN General Assembly in New York in September and issue 
invitations for a conference to convene before the end of 1977.80 
Vance carried with him five draft principles. These included a 
comprehensive settlement based on UN resolutions 242 and 338; 
the establishment of peaceful relations between Israel and the 
Arabs; phased withdrawal “to secure and recognized borders with 
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mutually agreed security arrangements”; and a “non- militarized 
Palestinian entity with self- determination by the Palestinians.”81 
Before even leaving Washington, Ambassador Dinitz visited the 
secretary of state at  Begin’s request to inform him that the prime 
minister had agreed to resolution 242 but “did not accept that this 
required withdrawal on all fronts.” Vance was “furious” at what he 
perceived as “backsliding” and surmised correctly that the  Israelis 
wanted the United States to refrain from mediating with the Arab 
states in a manner that exposed  Begin’s disagreements on sub-
stance and procedure.82 The acceptance of the logic underlying 
the UN resolutions that had been negotiated after the 1967 and 
1973 wars— a variant of “land for peace”— would be a difficult pill 
for the Begin government to swallow.

During early stops in Egypt, Syria, Jordan, and Saudi Arabia, 
Vance sought Arab agreement on the Palestinian question, an 
issue of particular concern to U.S. officials. The U.S. secretary of 
state had been examining various perspectives on Palestinian self- 
determination and the status of the occupied territories.83 In dis-
cussions with Arab leaders, he introduced the idea of a “transitional 
arrangement,” which was intended as an alternative to outright 
statehood “so that the Palestinians could demonstrate whether 
they were prepared to govern themselves and live peacefully beside 
 Israel.”84 Removing the word “trusteeship” from his proposal after 
Syrian and Lebanese leaders expressed their distaste for a term that 
harkened back to colonial rule, Vance secured support from King 
Hussein of Jordan and Prince Fahd in Saudi Arabia for an arrange-
ment that would defer self- determination in favor of an interim 
solution on the road to a more permanent outcome.85 This idea 
gained traction and became an early influence on the autonomy 
provision of Camp David, ostensibly offering a temporally circum-
scribed period that could prepare Palestinians in the occupied ter-
ritories for self- rule.

The PLO still had to be convinced of such an arrangement, 
alongside the more immediate concern of participating in the 
 Geneva process and resolving an ongoing debate over the accep-
tance of UN resolution 242. Palestinian leaders strongly objected 
to the resolution on the grounds that it said nothing explicit about 
Palestinian national rights or the guarantee of a homeland. Yet 
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the organization’s thinking had evolved in a more accommodating 
 direction. As early as June 1974, PLO officials had adopted a “Ten 
Point Program,” which implicitly accepted the principle of parti-
tioning Palestine into two states, one Arab and one Jewish.86 This 
was a crucial step on the road to embracing a diplomatic solution 
alongside Israel, but it did not have the full support of all the PLO 
factions. Many within the national movement denounced the pro-
gram, leading to a split within the PLO. This dynamic made it a 
sensitive moment for considering U.S. diplomatic initiatives.

Saudi Arabia acted as the conduit between the PLO Executive 
Committee and Vance in his attempts to further engage the na-
tional movement. The secretary of state suggested that an official 
dialogue with the organization would be possible if they accepted 
242 “with a reservation that it did not deal adequately with the Pal-
estinian issue.”87 During his meeting with Saudi officials in the city 
of Taif, Vance offered specific language for a reserved endorsement 
of 242 to be passed on to the PLO. “If the PLO would accept this 
language,” Vance told the Saudis, thereby publicly acknowledging 
“Israel’s right to exist, we would have met our commitment under 
the Sinai II agreement and would be willing to meet with the PLO 
immediately.” He added that while his goal was to achieve a Pales-
tinian homeland on the West Bank, he could not offer such a guar-
antee. The Saudis shared this offer with PLO chairman Yasser Ara-
fat directly, as the Executive Committee of the PLO was meeting 
the same evening that Vance was in Saudi Arabia. After vigorous 
debate, the PLO Executive Committee voted against such an en-
dorsement of 242. The result was due to strong opposition among 
hard- line factions who would not give up a chief bargaining tool, 
namely conceding the acceptance of Israel without the assurance of 
a Palestinian homeland in return.88

Official U.S. discussions with Arab parties on the inclusion of 
the PLO were leaked to the press before the secretary of state ar-
rived in Israel. Prime Minister Begin was adamantly opposed to 
these efforts, and he “lectured” Vance on the 1975 U.S. commitment 
not to recognize or negotiate with the organization. Begin read out 
sections of the PLO covenant to Vance that called for the destruc-
tion of Israel, and he “questioned the morality” of the American 
position. The leading American diplomat stood his ground and 
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defended his pursuit of an opening with the PLO on the condition 
they accepted 242, which would have superseded the PLO cove-
nant had Arafat and the Executive Committee agreed. Clearly PLO 
objections deferred certain diplomatic options, but the Americans 
were also constrained by the straitjacket of Kissinger’s earlier com-
mitment to Israel.89

Begin’s strong opposition to the PLO revealed a deeper hostility, 
one that extended beyond political grievance. Vance was accom-
panied to the Middle East by his wife, Grace, who kept a detailed 
diary of the visit, which provides a sense of how Israeli officials con-
ceived of the Palestinian national movement. After being taken to 
settle in at the King David Hotel by Foreign Minister Dayan and his 
wife, Grace was brought to Yad Vashem, Israel’s Holocaust museum 
and memorial. Her guide was Gideon Hausner, the lead prosecutor 
in the trial of the notorious Nazi official Adolf Eichmann. Hausner 
took Mrs. Vance through the Avenue of Righteous Gentiles, mark-
ing non- Jewish heroes who had saved Jews during the war. She was 
shown photographs and documents of the Nazi killing of Jews and 
the overall plans of Adolf Hitler’s Final Solution to exterminate the 
Jewish people. Grace wrote that she “was told two times by Haus-
ner and later by Mrs. Dayan that Israel can never again be taken in 
by enemies— that Nazis and PLO both dedicated to the destruction 
of Israel. Therefore, no compromises can be made.” She recalled 
being “drained” by the visit, “too sad to comment on whole period.” 
“But,” she added, “did feel that [I] was leaned on heavily re PLO 
problem through visit to this memorial.”90

At a Knesset dinner in honor of Secretary Vance that evening, 
Grace was seated between Dayan and Begin, and she described 
the Israeli prime minister as “his usual pleasant dinner self, rather 
pixie, from time to time.” Her reflections quickly shifted. “When 
he rose to his feet to make toast, surprise, surprise. Had with him 
copy of PLO manifesto vowing destruction of Israel, which he read 
aloud with appropriate comments— then Sec. 242, with appropri-
ate comments; compared PLO to Nazis, swore eternal opposition 
to those who would destroy Israel.”91 Begin’s continuum linking the 
PLO with a broader history of anti- Semitism had been asserted in 
earlier meetings with Carter at the White House. The secretary of 
state’s official visit only drove home the ideological gulf separating 
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American and international perspectives on the future of Pales-
tinian nationalists, compared to the derisive attitude of the Begin 
government in Jerusalem. In condemning the PLO as a successor 
organization to the Nazis, Begin conflated genuine Israeli concern 
over terror attacks in the 1970s with existential fear of Palestin-
ians. This distortion of a historical analogy served to elide Palestin-
ians as a national group while linking Israeli political aims with a 
 lachrymose reading of the Jewish past.92

The Origins of Autonomy
In his visit to Israel, Vance reported on his meetings with Arab 
leaders to Begin and continued to search for a way to bring the 
Palestinians into the process. He mentioned the suggestion of a 
“transitional administrative regime” to facilitate Palestinian self- 
determination, along with a plebiscite and other options to deal 
with the relationship between an eventual Palestinian entity and 
its neighbors.93 Begin rejected this idea; his uppermost concern 
remained the content of the PLO charter and the organization’s 
 opposition to the creation of Israel, as well as the violence of the 
PLO. “We unhesitatingly call this organization ‘genociders,’ ” ex-
claimed the prime minister. “Their aim is to destroy our country, 
our people, and their method is to kill civilians.” The Israeli prime 
minister entirely ruled out the PLO’s involvement at a Geneva gath-
ering but made a non- national distinction. “We agree to the par-
ticipation of Palestinian Arabs. This is the proper expression; not 
Palestinians, because we are all Palestinians,” Begin insisted.94

Among the other topics that surfaced during Vance’s time in 
Jerusalem was the increasingly vexing issue of settlements. In his 
meeting with the U.S. secretary of state, Begin, whose government 
adopted an entirely different line than the United States on settle-
ment legality, asked Aharon Barak, Israel’s attorney general, to read 
out a memo asserting his position. Barak explained that the provi-
sions of international law only dealt with the forced transfer and re-
moval of a population in occupied territories caused by movement 
of population into the territories, which he argued was not the case 
in the building of Jewish settlements. The attorney general argued 
that Article 49 of the Fourth Geneva Convention, which was widely 



menacHem begin’s reality [ 71 ]

seen by international jurists as applicable to the territories occu-
pied in the wake of the 1967 War, did not apply to Jewish settle-
ments. “Article 49 must be understood against the background 
of World War II,” Barak told Vance. “It was aimed in part against 
such horrors at the barbarous extermination camps in occupied 
Europe to which Jews and others were taken by the Nazis and in 
part against the displacement of the local population with a view 
to making room for the German invaders.” In light of this context 
and particular history, Barak asserted, “it is clear that the situation 
envisaged by Article 49 does not apply to the Jewish settlements 
in question. No Arab inhabitants have been displaced by Jewish 
settlements or by these peaceful villages and townships.”95

The United States did not see this issue in the same light. After 
hearing the Israeli position articulated by Barak, Vance replied, 
“Our legal advisers have come to a different conclusion.” Begin 
inter jected a final word before a brief adjournment of the meeting: 
“Perhaps one day we have a meeting between our legal advisers and 
your legal advisers and there is no doubt they will reach a disagree-
ment.” The verbatim text notes that the collective response from 
the assembled delegations was “laughter.”96 In the official U.S. re-
port on Vance’s visit, NSC member Gary Sick recalled the increase 
in settlement activity that surfaced in the discussions, including 
Begin’s legalization of three settlements and indication he would 
limit activity to another “ ‘six or eight’ settlements to be established 
on land within present military bases or on government- owned 
land.” Dayan assured the Americans that these settlements might 
be closer to the center of the West Bank, posing no problem to an 
eventual peace settlement since they could be moved. “From all in-
dications,” Sick wrote, “Dayan believes there will be no real difficul-
ties so long as present inhabitants are not displaced.”97

The report of a private meeting about settlements between 
Vance, U.S. ambassador to Israel Samuel Lewis, Begin, and Dayan 
on the morning of August 10 expands on the content of these sen-
sitive bilateral discussions. As Dayan explained, “We cannot stop 
settle ments altogether, or even suspend new settlements for any 
substantial period of time. Such an effort would not be sustain-
able, just as the British effort to limit or suspend immigration into 
Israel during the Mandate period never proved enforceable or 
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sustainable.”98 In explaining Israeli policy, Dayan promised that the 
settlements were located within twenty- five kilometers of the Green 
Line near Jerusalem, not in populated Arab areas. Vance asked 
for an explanation of why this was necessary, and Begin invoked 
historic arguments and referred to the “wonderful youth genera-
tion,” especially religious Israelis, “determined to till their historical 
lands.” He also explained that unlike his Labor party predecessors, 
he would not wink at illegal squatters but was being “straight-
forward” and “honest.” “What we ask for,” Begin told Vance, “is not 
your blessing but your understanding. Now you know what we in-
tend to do. Please talk to President Carter and explain our position.” 
Vance assured Begin he would talk to Carter when he returned, 
“but I said that the President already understands this problem but 
is deeply convinced that any new settlements will greatly compli-
cate the peace- making process.”99

While making the Israeli case for continued settlement building, 
Dayan asserted that these policies were compatible with long- term 
U.S. efforts toward Geneva. The foreign minister provided a flat 
assurance that no settlement would be an impediment to a peace 
agreement, promising that the Israeli government would move 
such a settlement. This logic served as a justification for building 
while negotiations were ongoing, rooted in official practice since 
1967. “There had never been an Israeli government which did not 
authorize new settlements, that the ongoing settlement process of 
the land is and will remain a fundamental principle for the Jewish 
state,” Dayan concluded. All the vocal criticism, he assured Vance, 
was focused on the “taking of new lands from Arab hands, and that 
no such thing would be occurring.”100

Dayan’s defense of the settlements emanated directly from the 
office of the legal advisor to the Israeli Ministry of Foreign  Affairs, 
Meir Rosenne.101 To justify their logic, Israeli legal experts like 
Rosenne navigated a series of High Court decisions about the 
settlements and formulated an alternative reading on the Geneva 
Conventions and the status of the occupied territories under inter-
national law.102 This approach came into sharper focus during 
future negotiations over Palestinian autonomy and would be en-
dorsed by neoconservative U.S. legal scholars in the Reagan White 
House. But the discussions in 1977 demonstrate how the initial 
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articulation of these ideas was presented to the Americans and fur-
ther developed in the months that followed.

This Israeli official consensus on settlements was inextricably 
linked with an emerging conception of limited autonomy for Pal-
estinians, a dual approach to the contested sovereignty of the terri-
tory itself and the political rights of the inhabitants who lived there. 
The suggested status of the inhabitants in the territories, as Begin 
explained to Vance in Jerusalem, was “complete cultural auton-
omy, municipal and religious autonomy, not to interfere with their 
lives at all.” Rather than force citizenship upon them, the option 
of  Israeli citizenship and voting in the Knesset elections would be 
extended. “It would be completely on the basis of equality of rights,” 
Begin explained, comparing those Arabs who did not take citizen-
ship to Jewish residents in Israel who were also non- citizens. “So it 
will be complete equality of rights of Arabs and Jewish residents or 
Arab and Jewish citizens,” the prime minister told Vance.103

By situating the Palestinian question as a national minority issue, 
Begin was stripping away claims of collective self- determination in 
favor of a narrow focus on the individual as a loyal citizen to the 
state of Israel, like the Arab citizens within the 1967 borders.104 
His attitude toward the Arabs was reflected in an interview he gave 
to the Israeli newspaper Yedioth Ahronoth in early September. “I 
want to say that I have a profound respect for the Arab nation. The 
Arab nation made a very great contribution to human culture. . . . 
In my opinion, the past decade has seen a growing rapport between 
the Arabs living in Israel and ourselves. Unpleasant incidents from 
time to time notwithstanding, I believe that the two people can live 
side by side in mutual respect based on understanding, peace, eco-
nomic and social progress, and the building up of this country to a 
state of glory.”105 This benevolence toward Arabs writ large, rather 
than Palestinians as a distinct national group, underpinned Begin’s 
insistence on the possibility of coexistence within a Jewish state 
with Arabs as a minority. It was not clear what would happen if 
all the Palestinians took on Israeli citizenship and shifted Israel’s 
demographic a different way, or how such an arrangement could be 
sustained in the occupied territories.

To understand the emerging Israeli view of autonomy,  Begin’s 
perception of the Palestinians— as distinct from the PLO— is 
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therefore instructive. For the Israeli prime minister, the PLO was 
Israel’s “implacable enemy” while the problem of Jews and Arabs 
living together and “the human problem of the refugees” was an-
other matter. He explained his views to Vance by returning to the 
consequences of the fighting during the 1948 War. “We would like 
that wound which was opened in 1948, not as a result of our guilt 
whatsoever— Their leaders asked them to flee and promised them 
to come victoriously to Tel Aviv. We didn’t want to create that prob-
lem of refugees, but we know that in cruel wars, such problems al-
ways arise, and this should be healed.”106 The distancing of  Israel’s 
leadership from guilt over the creation of the refugee problem en-
abled Begin to present the Palestinians in a humanitarian light, 
rather than in national terms.107

As a minority in need of protection, Begin suggested, the Pal-
estinians in the territories should be provided with economic op-
portunities and housing, but not political rights. He singled out 
Gaza as a model. “We want to solve the problem and we did quite 
a lot in the Gaza Strip for the humane solution of this problem,” 
Begin emphasized. “Now they have proper houses, permanent 
jobs, have an income. Of course, we know that there are refu-
gees on the other side; so the Arab countries should take care of 
them.”108 Dayan added that the refugees from Gaza were working 
in Israel and increasingly tied together with the Jewish popula-
tion: “We don’t like this business of the Gaza Strip with refugees 
and everything. I can’t see any other way but being combined with 
Israel, providing them with work and surrounded with Israeli 
settlements.”109 To further emphasize the benevolent character of 
Israel’s control of the territory, Begin told Vance, “If you go via 
Judea and Samaria, perhaps you won’t see for miles on end one 
Israeli soldier. We don’t interfere in their lives.”110 Despite popular 
recollections about the ease of travel for Jewish Israelis to cheap 
weekend markets in Gaza and the West Bank in the 1970s and 
1980s, the experience of Palestinians was very much affected by 
the military presence.111

After leaving Israel, Vance had further consultations with Presi-
dent Sadat of Egypt and stopped in London to coordinate regional 
policy with the British prime minister.112 In discussions with Carter 
back in Washington, Vance reviewed his trip and told the president 
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that if there were no serious movement to Geneva by September, 
the U.S. strategy of bringing all the parties together for comprehen-
sive negotiations would falter.113 Carter agreed, and was especially 
encouraged by the consensus emerging from the Arab states. He 
was aware of the divergent position of the Israeli government on 
the key issues, however, writing in his diary that “the Israelis are 
going to be typically recalcitrant, but the more we go public with 
a reasonable proposition the more difficult it will be for them not 
to make an effort.”114 This underlying frustration with the Begin 
government characterized much of the administration’s private cor-
respondence, evincing impatience with the ideology of the ruling 
Likud party in light of U.S. efforts to work toward a significant dip-
lomatic achievement.115

The Question of Sovereignty
Even as the Carter administration worked to find ways of bring-
ing Palestinians to the negotiating table, the Israeli and Egyptian 
leadership were consulting secretly to advance their own bilateral 
interests. Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan, disguised with a wig, 
mustache, and dark glasses, flew to Morocco and met with Sadat’s 
deputy prime minister, Dr. Hassan Tuhami, at King Hassan’s palace 
on September 16. Tuhami, a confidant of the Egyptian president, 
presented Sadat’s precondition for peace, which was the “evacua-
tion of Arab occupied territories.”116 This would be the only condi-
tion for Sadat meeting Begin. The Palestinians, Tuhami stressed, 
“should be left to Egypt and the Arab nations,” who would see to 
it they were not radicalized. Sadat’s emissary was confident that 
the two parties could reach an agreement independently, barring 
Israeli retention of the territories. “Places are negotiable. Adminis-
tration is negotiable. But sovereignty is not,” Tuhami said.117 This 
was the central principle of the Arab states in discussions about the 
West Bank and Gaza Strip, as well as the other territories captured 
by Israel in 1967.

The Israelis were operating under altogether different expec-
tations. In his draft peace treaty prepared for Vance that month, 
Dayan had already provided the basic position of his government 
on the occupied territories in relationship to Jordan.
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 A) In Judea and Samaria equal rights and full coexistence 
should be ensured between Jew and Arab.

 B) No part of this area should be subject to any foreign rule or 
sovereignty.

 C) Any settlement should take Israel’s security needs fully into 
account. In this context our position is that Israel’s secu-
rity on the eastern border should be based on the Jordan 
River.118

In asserting Israeli security needs as the basis for continued control 
of all territory west of the Jordan River, a collision on the place 
of Palestinian aspirations and the negotiation of a comprehensive 
peace was inevitable.

Dayan traveled to Washington shortly after meeting Tuhami to 
discuss modalities toward Geneva and the settlements with Vance 
and Carter. His positions in the draft peace treaty were questioned, 
and Dayan responded that there were no “musts” in Israel’s paper; 
rather, it served as a basis for exploration.119 Dayan explained that 
while Israel “would avoid discussing sovereignty” it would only con-
struct settlements in places where there were “security concerns.” 
He hoped to work with local Palestinians, like mayors not affiliated 
with the PLO, to determine what the population wanted.  Jordan, 
Dayan believed, would one day be Palestinian, and they would rule 
both sides of the river. While not specifying Israeli sovereignty for 
the area, he preferred that the issue be deferred until practical 
questions would be answered on the ground, like “who will repair 
the roads.”

Vance wondered if leaving this question of sovereignty unre-
solved might be possible through the introduction of a local ad-
ministration. As Dayan suggested in response to Vance, “Israel 
would have military posts, but these posts would not interfere in 
the daily life of the population of the West Bank.” This idea of a 
nominal occupation was presented along with the assertion that 
“settlements would also not interfere.” In Dayan’s view, the situation 
on the ground would be one of mutual interest. “Arabs could work 
in Israel or not, as they want, and Israelis could travel to the West 
Bank, as they want. Israel would not run the West Bank schools, 
providing the schools were not used for inciting terrorism,” Dayan 
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remarked. He assured the Americans he would ask West Bankers 
“what kind of autonomy they themselves want.” “A Palestinian state 
is out of the question,” Dayan concluded, “but otherwise we would 
consider their desires.”120

U.S. ambassador to Israel Samuel Lewis sensed the inconsis-
tencies in this approach and pushed Dayan farther. The perceptive 
diplomat posed a hypothetical scenario of a terrorist attack on an 
Israeli military installation in the mountains of the West Bank that 
was found to be the work of a terrorist cell based in Nablus. “What 
would Israel do?” Lewis asked. Dayan responded that Israel would 
search for the cell and get them. “This means Israelis retaining se-
curity responsibilities?” Lewis replied. “Theoretically if the local 
forces would do it we would leave it to them,” Dayan responded, 
“but in practice they won’t. It would be farfetched to think that they 
would.”121 The Israeli delegation was suggesting a different modus 
vivendi for the West Bank, neither a Palestinian state nor control by 
Jordan. This would provide Israel with de facto control over secu-
rity, a position that would serve to solidify a non- national outcome 
for Palestinians in the occupied territories.

In Carter’s subsequent discussion with Dayan about these is-
sues, the president reaffirmed the U.S. view that settlements were 
illegal. At the same time, he acknowledged that Dayan’s promise of 
limited expansion in only six existing settlements would be pref-
erable to Israeli minister of agriculture and settlement czar Ariel 
Sharon’s plan for more extensive building.122 This back- and- forth 
discussion, which characterized so much of the Israeli- American 
meetings over the course of 1977, never fully resolved the status 
of the territories themselves.123 As Carter’s questions and follow- 
ups to Dayan made very clear, the Israeli foreign minister sought 
to defer any real consideration of the future of the West Bank. In-
stead Dayan suggested models of splitting off the territorial ques-
tion from joint discussion of the refugees or returning to the status 
of the West Bank at a later date.

William Quandt, in his role as NSC analyst on this issue, pre-
pared a short study for interim rule in the West Bank and Gaza that 
highlighted the risk of not addressing their future directly.124 The 
American concern about the status of the territories remained con-
sistent in broad policy discussions as well as private meetings with 
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the Israelis. Before concluding his meeting with Dayan, Carter again 
raised the problem of Israeli settlement policy: “How the settle ment 
issue is handled in public causes me concern. If Hussein and Sadat 
want peace, and I assume that they do, it is hard for them to listen 
to your talk about thousands of new settlers, about no foreign sov-
ereignty over the West Bank, and about the West Bank being part of 
Israel.” In Carter’s view, this approach “almost forecloses the chance 
of a Geneva Conference.” The president told Dayan, with great frus-
tration, “I was really angry watching [Ariel] Sharon on television say-
ing that there would be hundreds of settlers, maybe in the millions. 
That is not what Prime Minster Begin had told me, or what you have 
said.”125 A rift had opened between the United States and Israel on 
the road to Geneva and pointed to more systemic differences over the 
fate of the territories and the Palestinians themselves.

The opaque nature of Israeli policy on the question of sover-
eignty within the territories was clear to Carter and members of his 
administration, as well as Arab interlocutors. In conversations that 
Secretary Vance held with senior Jordanian diplomats some days 
later, Dayan’s proposal of continued Israeli control in the territories 
was heavily criticized. “It would amount to helping Israel achieve 
its goal of staying in the West Bank,” argued Abdul Hamid Sharaf, 
the minister to the Royal Jordanian Court.126 Sharaf suspected the 
Palestinians would therefore come to Jordan, since they held Jor-
danian nationality and would not want to stay in the West Bank. 
The Israelis, in Sharaf ’s view, would talk about negotiations being 
open, but they would never be prepared to seriously talk about the 
fate of the territories.

Menachem Begin’s ascent to power in 1977 threw a wrench in 
Car ter’s plans for a comprehensive peace. The United States had 
worked to promote a revival of the Geneva Conference, meeting 
with key Arab leaders, and even tried to secure PLO acceptance 
of UN resolution 242. But there was a fundamentally different 
 political vision offered by the Begin government, predicated on con-
tinued Israeli settlement in the occupied territories and adamantly 
opposed to the PLO or Palestinian statehood. The Israeli prime 
minister had a very different idea for limited Arab autonomy, which 
was rooted in his view of the Palestinians as a national minority 
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rather than a self- determining collective, a vision that was clearly 
at odds with the Carter administration’s view of self- determination.

The failure to address these differences regarding self- 
determination meant that the status of the occupied territories 
themselves remain unresolved. The rhetoric of the Israeli leader-
ship toward the 1967 land acquisitions, first under Rabin and then 
under Begin, was in clear opposition to foreign sovereignty in the 
occupied territories. The Israeli position stood in direct contrast 
to the U.S. stance and Arab demands, and it was clear and consis-
tent throughout Begin’s time in office, specifically when it came to 
the West Bank, Gaza Strip, and East Jerusalem, where territorial 
withdrawals were precluded from the start. The return of the Sinai 
Peninsula to Egypt was a different case, as the turn to bilateral 
 negotiations with Egypt would soon underscore.
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Egypt’s Sacrificial Lamb

“PeoPle call me a Politician,  but I am a revolutionary— a real-
ist who believes in facts,” PLO chairman Yasser Arafat told a visit-
ing journalist in the summer of 1977. “There is a limit to my mod-
eration,” the Palestinian leader continued. He was willing to make a 
deal with the American government, but not without certain guar-
antees. “Please tell [Roy] Atherton and [William] Quandt I have 
a red line,” Arafat instructed his guest, referring to Carter’s Middle 
East advisors. In comments that Arafat knew would be conveyed 
back to American officials, he spoke of the PLO’s legitimacy and 
willingness to accept 242, as long as it dealt with Palestinians “as a 
people with national rights and aspirations,” not simply as refugees. 
This was an alternative vision to that of the Israeli government, 
which was premised on the denunciation of the PLO and the sup-
pression of Palestinian nationalism that had intensified in the wake 
of Menachem Begin’s victory. Arafat was cautious of U.S. entreat-
ies to concede diplomatic recognition of Israel without securing 
something in return, just as the Palestinian national movement was 
consolidating its diplomatic strategy. “Maybe Carter can solve the 
problem,” Arafat surmised, “but settling the problem without the 
Palestinians is like cooking something without leaving it to stew.”1

The PLO leader spoke just months after the thirteenth gather-
ing of the organization’s highest policymaking body, the Palestine 
National Council (PNC). Meeting in Cairo, the PLO’s legislative 
arm had explicitly called for an “independent national state” for 
the first time. This crucial March 1977 declaration did not refer to 
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“total liberation,” signaling a major advance in the acceptance of 
the idea of national independence in only part of historic Pales-
tine.2 Factional infighting about the form and content of possible 
political configurations for the future reflected a dramatic inter-
nal transformation within Palestinian nationalism. The PLO was 
gradually accepting the reality of partition and giving up on  earlier 
commitments to a singular democratic Palestinian state, suggesting 
a “growing readiness to come to terms with Israel.”3 Such a shift can 
easily be obscured by a sole focus on terror attacks in the late 1970s, 
which were often carried out by dissident factions who rejected this 
move toward accommodation. Without ignoring the violence, it is 
possible to highlight a strategic rethinking of Palestinian national 
aims and motivations that was underway on the eve of crucial 
Arab- Israeli negotiations.

At the end of 1977, this diplomatic effort within the Palestinian 
national movement was thwarted as the PLO’s political project hit 
up against countervailing forces. Backlash by Cold War conserva-
tives and pro- Israel American Jews over a joint communiqué with 
the Soviet Union halted the U.S. advance toward a comprehensive 
peace at Geneva, while Egyptian unilateralism and Sadat’s surprise 
visit to Jerusalem severely undercut the PLO’s advances. These twin 
developments were formative in halting Palestinian efforts at a na-
tional solution to their plight, underscoring their precarious global 
position and the need for support from external parties,  including 
the United States and Arab allies.

Secret Talks with the PLO
Arafat’s message to the visiting American journalist indicated that 
while the earlier effort undertaken by Secretary Vance and the 
Saudis to engage the PLO through an agreement on UN  Security 
Council Resolution 242 had not succeeded, there was still room 
for further negotiation. The U.S. secretary of state continued to 
pursue PLO recognition via a secret back channel with the Pal-
estinian leadership in August, this time through the mediation 
of Walid Khalidi, a prominent Palestinian academic.4 Vance con-
veyed that Carter had spoken openly of his support for a Palestin-
ian “homeland,” in effect recognizing “that the Palestinian question 
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is not just a refugee issue but one involving the political status of 
the Palestinians.” The secretary of state wanted Khalidi to com-
municate to the PLO that the U.S. government was committed to 
self- determination, and that even with the reservations over 242’s 
elision of the Palestinians, the United States would open official 
contacts if the PLO accepted the resolution. Vance also warned 
Khalidi of the consequences of inaction. If the PLO did not accept 
242, “it will risk seriously overplaying its hand and may end up with 
nothing and find itself on the outside looking in while the negotiat-
ing process goes forward.”5

PLO officials remained deeply hesitant about the acceptance of 
242 without a guarantee of substantive promises in return. At the 
same March 1977 PNC meeting in which they had endorsed an in-
dependent state, the PNC members had also rejected 242 and any 
diplomatic action taken on its basis, declaring that “Security Coun-
cil Resolution 242 ignores the Palestinian people and their inalien-
able rights.”6 Alongside U.S. pressure to reconsider, the PLO was 
also navigating the demands of several other parties. Saudi Arabia, 
Egypt, and the Soviet Union were pushing the leadership to accept 
242, while the Syrians were strongly advising against such a move. 
The Palestinians, Arafat argued, had already demonstrated a great 
deal of moderation by agreeing to establish their national authority 
on a small piece of land, “23 percent of Palestine.”7 What would they 
get in return for Vance’s offer? Although endorsing 242 would allow 
the PLO to talk with the United States, it would still leave their po-
litical future up in the air. In mediating between the United States 
and the PLO, Khalidi tried to clarify the specifics of Vance’s promise. 
Would there be the possibility of American support for a Palestinian 
state? In response, Khalidi was told that the United States would 
not endorse a particular solution, although Carter had spoken of his 
commitment to the principle of Palestinian “self- determination.”8

After debating Vance’s offer a second time— only a few days 
after he had made his first attempt from Saudi Arabia— the PLO 
Executive Committee decided against acceptance of 242 for the 
time being.9 Rather than countenance Begin’s offer of limited au-
tonomy without collective political identity, Arafat was insisting 
on the assertion of national rights of Palestinians. The PLO leader 
still wanted to pursue avenues with the United States, even with 



egyPt’s sacrificial l amb [ 83 ]

his lingering suspicions of American diplomatic intentions, but he 
had very little room to maneuver. Internally, there were disagree-
ments between Fatah factions who wanted to begin a dialogue and 
other factions who were opposed, often fueled by external Syrian 
pressure.10 Yet attempts to meet the American requirements were 
ongoing, and Carter remained informed of the PLO’s internal dis-
cussions.11 The U.S. administration still hoped that movement on 
242 might provide an opening toward Palestinian representation at 
a Geneva Conference.12

The administration’s secret talks with the PLO continued in Sep-
tember, this time via Landrum Bolling, another trusted back chan-
nel between the Carter White House and Arafat. Bolling had been 
a journalist and president of Earlham College, a Quaker institution 
in Indiana. He held extensive conversations with the PLO leader-
ship in Beirut, sending summaries and full notes back to Washing-
ton.13 In one meeting with Arafat and senior PLO  leaders at the 
apartment of Arafat’s secretary, Um Nasser, Bolling was told that 
the organization did not reject UN resolution 242 but that there 
had been a great deal of pressure to do so.14 The Palestinian leader-
ship voiced frustration at the shifting U.S. position on a Geneva 
Conference, first offering a dialogue and participation on the basis 
of support for the creation of a Palestinian state, then promising 
only dialogue and a trusteeship “over a disarmed, vague Palestinian 
‘entity.’ ” The Palestinian leadership viewed such a plan as a “scheme 
to destroy rights [sic] of Palestinians.”15

Bolling’s mediation made clear that Arafat was being pulled in 
multiple directions. When the American intermediary pushed Ara-
fat in this meeting to publicly support 242, the PLO chairman gave 
a “lengthy” and “tortured” explanation, admitting that he was “suf-
fering from Arab blackmail.” He was referring to Syrian and other 
hard- line pressures, fearful that he would be denounced for mak-
ing concessions by leaders who try to be “more Catholic than the 
Pope . . . more Palestinian than Arafat.”16 The PLO leadership was 
working on a new formulation to satisfy the Americans and prom-
ised to report on developments to Bolling. As one of his “moderate” 
contacts, who was close to Arafat, told Bolling, “If only the Ameri-
cans will promise they will give their support to our claim to a state, 
we will give them anything they want from us.”17
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Arafat’s own position focused on the vagueness of the U.S. 
assurance to the Palestinians and the shifting language being 
 employed. “What do the terms mean: ‘homeland,’ ‘national rights,’ 
‘self- determination,’ ‘entity?’ ” Arafat asked. “The United States 
should make up its mind what its policy is on the question.”18 
He also wanted Bolling to understand the pressure of navigating 
 critics who denounced any move toward the recognition of Israel 
and raised the possibility that some Arab leaders might go it alone 
with the Israelis. The PLO leader doubted this, having spoken with 
Sadat and Assad and King Khalid of Saudi Arabia: “The truth is the 
Arab governments are stuck with us and they cannot leave us if they 
wanted to. That, of course, is the scheme the Israelis are counting 
on, but it won’t work.”19

PLO exclusion from international diplomacy in the late 1970s 
was not solely the result of external pressure from Israel or fitful 
American promises. There was also a great deal of internal in-
consistency within the national movement, as the range of voices 
hampered the emergence of a unified PLO stance on negotiations. 
Among the most revealing aspects of Bolling’s meeting with the 
PLO was the window offered into the fierce contestation inside 
the organization, which Arafat described as a “true democracy.” 
There was room for many different views, including moderates 
like Issam Sartawi, who had reached out to Jewish progressive 
forces with PLO authorization. Sartawi, who was later assas-
sinated by the virulently anti- PLO Abu Nidal organization, was 
bitterly  attacked by more extreme members of the PLO and cer-
tain Arab states. “Certainly,” Arafat told Bolling, “we have our re-
jectionist elements in the PLO and they are free to express their 
views. I do not try to suppress them, but they do not control the 
PLO.”20 The exchange highlighted an inherent problem with PLO 
operations, as Bolling pointed out to Arafat: “If you allow such 
glaring contradictions to be expressed with regard to crucial policy 
matters, you should not be surprised if you are misunderstood.”21 
The multitude of voices served in part to undermine Palestinian 
policy formulation.

Bolling worked to convey this internal complexity to the Carter 
administration. “A great deal of Arafat’s time and energy goes into 
efforts to keep everybody on the reservation,” Bolling wrote. “An 
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outsider has to wonder: Why bother? By the very structure of the 
P.L.O, the assorted extremist groups get representation in the vari-
ous organs of the P.L.O. out of proportion to their numbers. By the 
free- wheeling ‘democratic’ tradition of the P.L.O., each faction has 
extraordinary freedom to go its own way in setting policy, commit-
ting acts of violence, and interpreting the P.L.O. to the world. It is 
a mad, mad situation.”22 There was not a viable alternative to the 
organization, Bolling explained, and there were also doubts and ap-
prehensions voiced among some Palestinians, who “fear that Arafat 
and his team may not be quite up to the leadership role that would 
be required of them if independence should come.” These critics 
worried that “extremists attached to the P.L.O. will do more foolish 
things that will produce consequences for the Palestinians under 
Israeli occupation,” Bolling concluded, while at the same time they 
“doubt that the Israelis will ever willingly leave the West Bank on 
any terms whatever.”23 The limits and strategic missteps of the 
PLO were clearly evident in the secret dialogue with the United 
States, but so were the very real constraints and contradictions of 
the Carter administration, especially regarding the true meaning of 
self- determination.24

Domestic Pressures and the U.S.- Soviet Joint Communiqué
Alongside the unsuccessful U.S.- PLO secret discussions over the 
adoption of 242 and the organization’s inclusion in Geneva, domes-
tic American pressures were also mounting from two influential 
constituencies at great odds with the Carter administration’s pur-
suit of comprehensive peace. The first was the leadership of the 
American Jewish community, which remained anxious about the 
administration’s policy toward the Middle East while moving de-
cisively closer to supporting the Begin government. The second 
were Cold War conservatives, who bitterly opposed détente and 
dismissed Carter’s new focus on human rights in his foreign policy. 
This latter group railed against the inclusion of the Soviet Union 
in U.S. negotiations, a stance that bolstered the growing migration 
of hawkish Democrats into the Republican camp and fueled the 
strength of an emerging neoconservative ideology in foreign policy 
circles.25 Preparations for the Geneva Conference lay at the crux of 
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this dual- fronted domestic opposition and highlighted the degree 
of political capital that Carter was expending in his efforts.

From the moment the results of the Israeli election had been 
announced in May 1977, the leadership of mainstream American 
Jewish political institutions grappled with the question of whether 
to support Menachem Begin as prime minister. After the early 
ambivalence of many American Jews toward Zionism, communal 
organizations aligned with Israel’s Labor- led governments, espe-
cially in the aftermath of the 1967 and 1973 wars. American Jewish 
leaders felt comfortable with Golda Meir and Yitzhak Rabin at the 
helm of the Israeli state, as their worldviews seemed to underscore 
the linkage between domestic liberalism in the United States and 
the kibbutz- inflected Zionism of the Israeli state’s early years. Even 
with the evolution of American Jewish politics in response to up-
heaval in the Middle East during the late 1960s and early 1970s, the 
affinity for a liberal politics remained intact.26

This balance was upended by the rise of the Likud and Men-
achem Begin to power, as more particularistic communal instincts 
took hold. Through a process of extensive internal deliberation, a 
decision was made to support Begin and rally behind his govern-
ment as a means of bolstering American Jewish support for Israel 
regardless of who was in power. Rabbi Alexander Schindler, the 
leader of the Reform movement and chairman of the Conference of 
Presidents of Major American Jewish Organizations, explained this 
rationale. “We were never pledged to a Party as American Jews,” 
Schindler told an interviewer in 1977. “We were not members of 
the Labor alignment by any manner of means. We were pledged to 
a cause— the cause of Israel’s security. We were motivated by a love 
for the people of Israel. But it is impossible to express that support 
by fighting the leader of that country. At that point Begin was the 
only Prime Minister Israel had.”27

The clear shift to support Begin was a risky move, bound to 
alienate more liberal voices within the community. As one author-
ity on the history of American Jewish politics explained, “Instead of 
publicly differing with Begin’s policies, they [Jewish leaders] began 
to circle the wagons to defend against Jimmy Carter’s policies.”28 
Alongside contrarian voices in the wider public, several leaders of 
major Jewish institutions were also critical of this move, signaling a 
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growing fracture in the nature of domestic support for Israel.29 The 
approach of supporting the ruling government at any cost emerged 
in the late 1970s as the blueprint for American Jewry’s future rela-
tionship with both Israel and the U.S. executive branch.30 It was 
part of a pattern that led communal politics in more conservative 
political directions into the 1980s.31

Frustration among American Jewish leaders toward the adminis-
tration’s Middle East policy had been mounting over the summer. In 
a September memo for Carter’s chief of staff Hamilton Jordan and 
White House Counsel Robert Lipshutz, two Jewish leaders warned 
of a “growing crisis over Israel policy which is boiling just below the 
public political surface.”32 The primary concern was the attempt by 
the Carter White House to reach a formula with the PLO and initiate 
contacts with the organization. Invoking the 1975 Kissinger agree-
ment, critics worried that there had been too much movement to-
ward a possible official dialogue: “The Palestinians appear to be far 
more popular in the Administration than in the country at large.”33 
Furthermore, these critics argued, the administration was too vocal 
on the settlement issue and was developing “an image of harshness 
towards Israel.” “Starkly put,” the authors concluded, “despite its 
rhetoric on human rights, [the Carter administration] is seen as less 
friendly to the Israeli democracy than its predecessors.”34

The simmering discontent gave way to visceral outrage over a 
joint U.S.- Soviet Communiqué intended to guide the Geneva Con-
ference, which was issued in New York City on October 1, 1977. In 
Cold War terms, given the broader geopolitical landscape of the 
1970s, such a communiqué was a very significant departure for 
both the United States and the Soviets. It was the first joint state-
ment on the Middle East by the two powers. While it had been 
suggested that the Soviet Union would be kept out of pre- Geneva 
discussions, Brzezinski felt they should be consulted to launch the 
Geneva Conference before the end of the year. Vance echoed this 
sentiment, reporting to Brzezinski that the Soviets had moderated 
their position and were not insisting on a separate Palestinian state 
but rather something closer to the vague political entity the Ameri-
cans had in mind.35

Most of the language in the communiqué emanated from resolu-
tion 242, but it went farther in articulating a future for Palestinians.
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The United States and the Soviet Union believe that, within the frame-
work of a comprehensive settlement of the Middle East problem, all 
specific questions of the settlement should be resolved, including 
such key issues as withdrawal of Israeli Armed Forces from territories 
 occupied in the 1967 conflict; the resolution of the Palestinian ques-
tion, including ensuring the legitimate rights of the Palestinian people; 
termination of the state of war and establishment of normal peaceful 
relations on the basis of mutual recognition of the principles of sover-
eignty, territorial integrity, and political independence.36

For the first time, the United States was officially calling for Israeli 
territorial withdrawal while asserting the importance of the “legiti-
mate rights of the Palestinian people.” It also stressed the need to 
deal with sovereignty, which was at the heart of a resolution to the 
Palestinian question, even as the particular mechanism for fulfill-
ing self- determination remained vague.

Arab states reacted rather favorably to the joint communiqué. 
Advocates for engagement like Egypt saw the implied reference to 
the legitimacy of the Palestinian claims of sovereignty as a move 
by the Carter administration toward “recognition of a Palestinian 
state.”37 The PLO expressed genuine excitement over the commu-
niqué and its bearing on Geneva, across political factions.38 There 
was even hope of a new resolution that might be passed by the UN 
Security Council, one that would combine the main points of 242 
with renewed demands for Palestinian self- determination.39 Crit-
ics, like Syria and Iraq, remained skeptical of the possibility that 
Israel would ever participate in a Geneva Conference given what 
the content of the declaration implied.

The Israeli government was extremely displeased with the an-
nouncement.40 The opposition extended well beyond Begin’s Likud 
party. Yitzhak Rabin, who was now a Knesset member in the opposi-
tion, told an Israeli interviewer that the statement reflected a shift in 
gravity between the United States and Israel that “we have not expe-
rienced since the end of the 6- Day War.”41 He felt Israel was being co-
erced into a political solution, undermining all the diplomatic efforts 
since 1967. Rabin blamed both the Carter administration and the 
Likud government for policies that would lead to the imposition of 
an external solution, denouncing a move to Geneva on these terms.42
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An advance copy of the statement was provided to Israel’s for-
eign minister, Moshe Dayan, who did not immediately raise any 
criticisms. In his memoirs, Dayan argues that Carter had assured 
him that he would be careful to use the term “entity” and not “state” 
in the context of addressing the future of the Palestinians.43  Neither 
term was used, but the formulation exceeded the limited Israeli vi-
sion for the conference. In talks with Carter a few days after the 
statement, Dayan focused on Israeli opposition to a Palestinian 
state, again revealing the extent of his government’s ongoing claim 
to sovereignty in the occupied territories. “For us it is unthinkable 
to withdraw from the West Bank and Gaza, and turn those areas 
over to the Palestinians, even if they are in federation with Jordan,” 
Dayan explained. “We must come to terms with the Palestinians 
who live there, and we must keep some of our military installations 
and some of our settlements, and we must continue to be able to 
buy land.”44 For Dayan, even the most flexible arrangements with 
the Palestinians were predicated on the continuation of an Israeli 
presence in the same geographic space.

In reacting to the communiqué, Dayan invoked the language of 
security to justify Israeli fears of a PLO presence on its borders. He 
impassionedly sought Carter’s guarantee not to endorse a national 
outcome for the Palestinian question: “We do not say the Palestin-
ians have nothing to say about their future. We have to come to-
gether. But if we have to pull out our military installations, that 
would be unacceptable. We will not negotiate over a Palestinian 
state.” Dayan opposed pulling out of the territory and yet claimed 
he was not asking for Israeli control or annexation. “We want to live 
together in the territories and we don’t want to give them back.”45 
He was both telling the Americans that Israel’s basis for negotia-
tions at Geneva rested on the fundamental premise of continuing 
de facto control over the very space that was being contested and 
seeking an American endorsement of such a position. Like the tac-
tical avoidance of negotiating the fate of the territories after 1967, 
Israeli  leaders were in fact proffering comprehensive negotiations 
as a means to maintain indefinite political sovereignty over the 
territories.

The Israeli position on the communiqué was mirrored by an 
outcry among American Jewish leaders. AIPAC widely distributed 
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a scathing critique of the document, claiming it disregarded U.S. 
commitments to Israel and undermined prospects for a negoti-
ated settlement.46 Mark Siegel, the White House liaison with the 
American Jewish community, wrote of its “devastating effect” and 
told Hamilton Jordan that it had “driven Jimmy Carter’s stock 
in the American Jewish community substantially below any U.S. 
President since the creation of the State of Israel.”47 During discus-
sions with Vice President Mondale and Hamilton Jordan, Hyman 
Bookbinder, the Washington representative of the American Jew-
ish Committee, targeted the phrase of “legitimate rights,” which 
had until then not been part of the formal American foreign policy 
lexicon. “Obviously you do not apparently really understand what 
those words mean,” Bookbinder told the administration officials. 
“The mistake you make is you go to the dictionary to ask what those 
words mean. That’s not where you look up that phrase. That phrase 
is not in the dictionary. The individual words are. Those words in 
context are: Palestinian rights means to the Jewish community the 
destruction of Israel. And by being willing to leave those words in 
the document you betrayed an insensitivity and a lack of awareness, 
and you’ve just got to make up for it.”48

Bookbinder’s insistence that the articulation of rights for Pales-
tinians signaled the destruction of Israel formed the core of a deeply 
rooted fear of Palestinian nationalism among American Jews. Such 
an instinctive inability to see the Palestinians as anything other 
than a threat to Jewish national interests was bolstered by succes-
sive incidents of Palestinian militancy in Israel and abroad in the 
1970s. But it also tapped into a more pervasive cultural  milieu of 
suspicion and existential fear that propagated myths that denied 
Palestinian existence as a collective. Communal anxieties, as ex-
pressed by Bookbinder, also fit within the idiom of Cold War na-
tional security concerns, linking Jewish political interests with neo-
conservative priorities in the Middle East. One Jewish Democratic 
activist remarked that Jews feel Carter is “using Israel as a barter-
ing tool to get concessions from the Soviet Union on much broader 
issues, like arms limitations and trade and so on. At this moment, 
most Jews hope he’ll be a one term President.”49

The joint communiqué outraged American conservatives as 
well, who decried a shift in U.S. policy to include the Soviets in 
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negotiations. The right flank of the Democratic Party, along with 
their Republican colleagues, saw the statement as an indication 
of détente’s weakness. It signaled a partial reentry of the Soviets 
into the Middle East. These critics included Eugene Rostow, a 
founder of the anti- Soviet Committee on Present Danger, which 
opposed Soviet military expansion.50 The communiqué seemed of 
a piece with Carter’s broader policies around arms reduction, which 
Rostow and his colleagues discussed with the president over the 
summer.51 The group suspected they were being “used” to bolster 
Carter’s claim of speaking with hawks, and they were not favorably 
impressed by the president’s performance. “The President[’]s per-
sonality and style came through as pathetic, almost pitiful,” Rostow 
wrote in a personal account, referring to the meeting as “claptrap.” 
This lingering perception that Carter was soft on communism and 
was staffed “almost entirely by pronounced doves” would trail the 
president in the midterm elections and into the 1980 campaign.52

In spite of these criticisms from American Jewish leaders and 
Cold War conservatives, the joint statement of the United States 
and the Soviet Union underscored the fundamental difference be-
tween Carter’s foreign policy and that of previous administrations. 
It also fit with Carter’s May statement about a Palestinian “home-
land” and sustained attempts to reformulate U.S. policy toward 
 Israel and the Palestinians. Given the domestic ramifications, these 
were bold moves with serious electoral repercussions. But they did 
not always remain in place. With time, and political heat, Carter’s 
statements on the Palestinians became more “circumspect,” eventu-
ally replacing vocal support for a homeland with opposition to an 
independent Palestinian state.53

Sadat’s Unilateral Move and the Demise of Geneva
During the UN General Assembly in New York in late September 
1977, Secretary Vance continued to hash out the points of contention 
over the possibility of Geneva in negotiations with the Arab states 
and Israel.54 In a discussion with Dayan, Vance reiterated the U.S. 
belief in a Palestinian entity (not a state) preferably linked with Jor-
dan as the best option, a position still at odds with  Israel’s. To find a 
way out of this contradiction, Dayan suggested that parties refrain 
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from defining the specific political formation under consideration: 
“The subject can be mentioned . . . and each side can interpret it as 
it sees fit.” Vance agreed this was a constructive idea. Such a tactical 
move on Dayan’s part deferred discussion of the most divisive issues 
to a meeting in Geneva itself, which was the opposite of the prior 
agreement that Egyptian president Sadat had hoped for.55

Dayan’s Geneva working paper, developed in meetings with 
the Americans on October 5, 1977, called for the “negotiation and 
completion of peace treaties” between Israel and Egypt; Israel and 
Jordan; Israel and Syria; and Israel and Lebanon. The language 
for the territories, however, signaled a move away from political 
treaties: “The West Bank and Gaza issues will be discussed in a 
working group to consist of Israel, Jordan, Egypt and the Palestin-
ian Arabs.”56 The paper quickly secured Israeli cabinet approval.57 
Rather than seek to resolve the fate of the territories, they would 
be subject to a discussion, which deferred the West Bank and Gaza 
territorial question from consideration. The mechanics of diplo-
macy had already begun to prevent the possibility of settling the 
Palestinian question in political terms.

Sadat watched these maneuvers with growing frustration. Ever 
since his country’s acceptance of the Rogers Plan for Arab- Israeli 
peace in 1970, Egypt’s leader had been looking to the United States 
as a regional patron. Carter’s active interest in securing a compre-
hensive settlement had encouraged Sadat, and the two had devel-
oped a close working relationship. But the Egyptian president did 
not like the petty procedural debates around Palestinian represen-
tation and format of a hopeful summit. His apprehension over the 
preparatory discussions about Geneva between Carter, Begin, and 
the Arab leaders mounted in the wake of the joint communiqué.58 
Wary of jeopardizing the possibility of peace with “endless bicker-
ing over procedural issues,” Sadat proposed an international sum-
mit for peace in the Middle East to be held in Jerusalem in Decem-
ber, before the meeting in Geneva.59 This gathering would include 
the Soviet Union, China, France, the United Kingdom, the United 
Nations, and Yasser Arafat as the head of the PLO. Such an inter-
national effort, Sadat believed, would constitute the bold gesture 
that was needed for peace. Carter disagreed, expressing his concern 
that it would lead to a public rejection.60
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Instead of making an announcement about a new summit, 
 Sadat’s speech to the People’s Assembly in Cairo on November 9 
contained an altogether different yet no less dramatic promise. The 
Egyptian leader vowed in emotional terms to “go to the Knesset it-
self ” in order to secure Israeli withdrawal from the territories and 
legitimate rights for the Palestinians.61 PLO chairman Yasser Ara-
fat, whom Sadat described as the “sole legitimate representative of 
the Palestinian people,” was sitting in the audience next to Vice Pres-
ident Hosni Mubarak. It was a stunning and unexpected remark.62 
As U.S. ambassador to Egypt Hermann Eilts wrote from Cairo, 
Sadat’s offer to go to the Knesset was the first for an Arab leader, 
but should be seen “as his way of dramatizing lengths to which he 
prepared to go to achieve peace, not as a serious possibility.”63 The 
Americans had fundamentally misread Egyptian motivations.

Sadat’s rationale for a dramatic announcement about his will-
ingness to travel to Jerusalem is not easy to discern. In part, it re-
flected the decisive strategy he had pursued since the early 1970s. 
By moving away from the Soviet orbit toward the American sphere 
of influence, the Egyptian president sought out Western backing 
for internal reforms and the modernization of Egypt’s economy. 
He was also navigating an internal rivalry with the military, which 
had consumed Egypt since the 1952 revolution. At the same time, 
he carried the mantle of serving as Nasser’s successor, projecting 
Egypt’s regional strength and continued patronage of the Palestin-
ian cause.64 This required decisive regional action, most notably 
achieved with the launching of the 1973 War. But it also required 
diplomatic follow- up like the convening of a regional peace con-
ference under American guidance. Without movement in this 
 direction, the U.S. ambassador to Egypt argued, “Sadat may find he 
has gotten out uncomfortably far beyond his Arab brothers.”65 In 
this light, Sadat’s decisive shift away from the Geneva Conference 
and the international protections it offered was a risky gambit that 
under mined his stated aims and left the Palestinian question vul-
nerable to Israeli designs.66

Ten days later, Sadat defied the expert assessments and mount-
ing criticism with an unprecedented trip to Jerusalem. The official 
visit, which began on Saturday evening November 19, came after 
Begin extended a formal invitation.67 In breathless American and 
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Middle Eastern media coverage, Egypt’s leader was praised for 
boldness on the one hand but accused of betraying the Arab world’s 
stance toward Israel on the other. Sadat’s trip generated tremen-
dous internal dissent in Egypt, leading to the resignation of  Foreign 
Minister Ismail Fahmy and his deputy, Mohammad Riad.68 The 
visit was met by wide disapproval across the Arab world, with 
 especially strident opposition emerging from Syria. The PLO 
view, as reflected in the organization’s Beirut- based mouthpiece, 
was to condemn Sadat’s decision. Officials believed it would only 
strengthen Begin’s hand, “a useless step which will give the Israelis 
prestige and recognition.”69 Beyond the symbolism, critics won-
dered, what exactly would Sadat be able to secure from Begin?70

The sheer visual power of an Arab leader landing at Ben Gurion 
airport, greeted by a retinue of Israeli officials— including redoubt-
able military rivals— captured global attention. An honor guard 
carried Egyptian and Israeli flags, both national anthems were 
played, and Sadat even interacted warmly with former prime min-
ister Golda Meir.71 Sadat’s entourage was driven up to Jerusalem, 
where the Egyptians spent the evening in the King David Hotel. 
After attending Eid al- Adha prayers in Jerusalem’s Al- Aqsa mosque 
on Sunday morning, Sadat made his way to the Church of the Holy 
Sepulchre and then joined Begin for a visit to the Holocaust memo-
rial of Yad Vashem.

In a remarkable speech delivered in Arabic in front of the Knes-
set that afternoon, Sadat spoke of a “durable and just peace.” While 
he did not mention the PLO by name, he stressed “there can be no 
peace without the Palestinians.”

The cause of the Palestinian People and their legitimate rights are no 
longer ignored or denied today by anybody. . . . Even the United States, 
your first ally which is absolutely committed to safeguard Israel’s secu-
rity and existence, and which offered and still offers Israel every moral, 
material and military support— I say— even the United States has opted 
to face up to reality and facts, and admit that the Palestinian People 
are entitled to legitimate rights and that the Palestinian problem is 
the core and essence of the conflict and that, so long as it continues 
to be unresolved, the conflict will continue to aggravate, reaching new 
dimensions.72
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In focusing so centrally on the Palestinian question, the Egyptian 
leader had reintroduced the concept of a permanent home into 
 Israeli and broader public consciousness.73

Alongside the public gesture toward comprehensive peace, 
the trip did not yield a substantive indication of how it would be 
achieved.74 During their working meetings in Jerusalem, Sadat 
reiterated Egyptian impatience with procedural issues around 
 Geneva and evinced a desire for substantive talks with the Israelis. 
Both the Egyptian and Israeli delegations worked on a joint com-
muniqué that was issued at a press conference by the two leaders 
at the Jerusalem Theatre. Praising Sadat’s “sincere and courageous 
move,” the statement proposed further dialogue between the two 
countries and movement toward negotiations, “leading to the 
signing of peace treaties in Geneva with all the neighboring Arab 
states.”75 As Sadat described the main motive of his visit, it was “to 
give the peace process new momentum and to get rid of the psycho-
logical barrier that, in my opinion, was more than 70 percent of the 
whole conflict, the other 30 percent being substance.”76 Looking at 
the content of Sadat’s private conversations with Begin, however, it 
is clear that the differences in Israeli and Egyptian positions on the 
purpose of Geneva and the prospects for peace were no less contra-
dictory than they had been before Sadat landed in Israel.

Tensions remained between Sadat’s stated desire for a compre-
hensive peace and his unilateral actions, which undercut the sup-
port of other Arab states and shifted political developments in more 
troubling directions. During a meeting after Sadat’s visit with Prime 
Minister Begin and Foreign Minister Dayan, U.S. ambassador Sam-
uel Lewis asked for a report of their conversations in  Jerusalem. 
Both Begin and Dayan stressed Sadat’s disinterest in the procedural 
issues around Geneva, at the same time claiming he did not want 
to reach a separate deal. For Sadat, “the Palestinian question comes 
first,” Dayan explained.77 The Egyptian motivation for boldly com-
ing to Jerusalem, Dayan continued, was not the return of the Sinai 
Peninsula and the city of Sharm el- Sheikh. “Sharm is desert and it 
won’t change the economy of Egypt. Their real target is to improve 
the economy of the country. In this connection much depends on 
America.” Begin concurred, and added what Sadat told him in pri-
vate about the state of the Egyptian economy: “He said the problem 
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was horrible and he complained about the military expenditure.”78 
In light of these concerns, the Israelis anticipated that plans for a 
comprehensive peace might actually be falling to the wayside.

Part of the Israeli assessment on shifting priorities relied on a 
reading of the regional atmosphere toward Egypt. Dayan explained 
to the U.S. ambassador that for Sadat, diplomatic momentum “does 
not lead directly to Geneva.” “I feel,” Dayan continued, “that Sadat 
is less anxious to go to Geneva with Syria, the Russians and the 
PLO. He is obviously very hurt by their attitude. They call for his 
blood.”79 Lewis, in his report to Carter, concurred that from Begin’s 
account “it looks as though our Geneva scenario has been consid-
erably modified and the new track has, obviously, a heady odor of 
Israeli- Egyptian bilaterals.”80 The Americans nevertheless decided 
to stick with their more ambitious plans for a comprehensive peace, 
even as a conference in Geneva looked increasingly unlikely.81

Amid all the global attention given to Sadat’s trip to Jerusalem, 
there was mounting concern that the Palestinian question could 
fall to the diplomatic wayside. Sadat conceded as much privately 
very soon after he returned to Cairo. He told Ambassador Eilts 
that he sensed “the concept of an independent Palestinian state did 
not appeal to Begin or [Defense Minister Ezer] Weizman.” As a 
compromise, Eilts reported, the Egyptian president was “toying” 
with the idea of turning the West Bank over to the United Nations 
Emergency Force (UNEF) established after the 1956 Suez Crisis. 
It could be for a period of five years, and a plebiscite could be ar-
ranged “for self- determination.” Alongside the West Bank, Sadat 
proposed that the Gaza Strip become the “main weight” of a Pales-
tinian state, to which he would even give part of the Sinai, includ-
ing Egyptian Rafah and the settlement of Yamit.82 Subsequently, 
while explaining what self- determination would mean in this con-
text, Sadat said “merely a plebiscite on the question of federation or 
confederation with Jordan.” Upon further reflection, he said West 
Bankers “should also be given the option of independence,” but it 
was not a real option as the PLO was losing ground.83

This stark retreat of the Egyptian leader from a staunch position 
as defender of a Palestinian state drew fury from other Arab coun-
tries. Leaders from the PLO, Libya, Syria, Algeria, and Southern 
Yemen met in Tripoli on December 2 to take action after Sadat’s visit. 
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Rather than enact economic and diplomatic sanctions, the group 
formed a “resistance front,” issuing the Tripoli Declaration of Decem-
ber 5. Egypt, in response, broke diplomatic relations with the four 
states.84 The major sticking point in this roiling internal Arab debate 
was Sadat’s seeming willingness to cede the West Bank in favor of a 
bilateral peace. Egypt, it seemed, had sold out the Palestinians for 
Sadat’s internal gain. Ismail Fahmy, who had resisted Sadat’s Jeru-
salem trip from the start, later remarked that it was a “shock to the 
Egyptian people, the Arab world and the Palestinians.” In Fahmy’s 
view, the trip “certainly destroyed Egypt’s crucial role in helping the 
Palestinian people to regain their own land and statehood.”85

These fears were not overstated, given the signals that were being 
conveyed in private diplomatic discussions. In reports from various 
Middle Eastern capitals, a number of U.S. ambassadors spoke of this 
sudden shift toward bilateralism and the threat to the Palestinians 
in light of Israeli aims.86 Ambassador to Israel Samuel Lewis ex-
plained that “the key obstacle to moving beyond a bilateral agree-
ment with Egypt is the current Israeli position regarding the West 
Bank.”87 In the opinion of the U.S. ambassador to Lebanon, Richard 
Parker, “something well short of the PLO maximum demands could 
eventually be sold to Palestinians,” but Parker saw “no signs that the 
Israelis [were] going to meet even minimalist demands.”88 As part 
of a bid to help Sadat face his mounting critics, Carter actually urged 
Begin to make a public statement showing Israeli willingness to 
withdraw in principle from lands occupied in 1967 and to resolve the 
Palestinian question.89 Begin was of course unwilling to offer such a 
statement, but he was thinking about an entirely different plan for 
the West Bank. It had started to emerge in Dayan’s meetings with 
the Americans throughout 1977 and was reiterated in  Morocco dur-
ing a secret conversation with Sadat’s confidant, Dr. Hassan Tuhami. 
There would not be an Israeli withdrawal, Dayan told Tuhami, but a 
new proposal was being prepared in Jerusalem.90

The Autonomy Offer
This proposal, Menachem Begin’s “home rule for the Palestinian 
Arabs,” was officially unveiled on December 16, 1977. Begin person-
ally presented the plan to Carter in Washington after mentioning 
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it to Secretary Vance in Jerusalem a few days earlier. “I hope the 
President will accept my plan,” Begin told Vance. “It is not a Pales-
tinian state but it is a dignified solution for the Palestinian Arabs. 
It is home rule of the inhabitants, by the inhabitants, for the in-
habitants.”91 Begin’s plan was a sophisticated piece of statecraft, 
perfectly timed to neutralize the Palestinian issue after Sadat’s trip 
had called into question the ambitious U.S. approach to a compre-
hensive peace. There was a diplomatic vacuum that the Israelis 
were eager to fill on more favorable terms, and the presentation 
of autonomy fully reflected the political aims of the Begin govern-
ment.92 It stemmed from ideas about limited individual rights for 
“Arab inhabitants of Judea and Samaria” that Begin had been con-
templating ever since the 1967 War.

Begin’s approach was distinct from a collective or national solu-
tion to the Palestinian predicament and would not require Israel to 
relinquish control over the territory itself. He prefaced his presen-
tation to Carter by reiterating that he envisioned an Administrative 
Council representing Arab inhabitants that “will be able to deal with 
all the problems of daily life.”93 Israel, however, would have to have 
the “right to deal with public order.” He acknowledged the open- 
ended question of sovereignty and Sadat’s rhetorical safeguarding 
of Palestinian rights, even as the Egyptian leader had privately sac-
rificed them. “We do claim sovereignty over Judea,  Samaria and 
Gaza. We think this is the right of our people but Sadat says that 
the Arabs also claim sovereignty. So there are two claims and we 
will leave the issue open. It cannot be solved for now.”94 This was 
a formidable innovation in his negotiating tactic, helping to stymie 
Palestinian national demands.

In Begin’s mind, it was better not to contest sovereignty in ne-
gotiations, for neither side would budge. Rather, Israel should offer 
ideas to make peace a possibility, which in his view could deal with 
“human beings.” He saw that Arab populations were living under 
oppressive conditions and believed Israel was poised to allevi-
ate their situation, a shift that he thought could be achieved with 
mechanisms of local rule. In terms of citizenship, Begin proposed 
that inhabitants could have freedom of choice where the situa-
tion remained unclear, like Jerusalem. “In Judea and Samaria, the 
Palestinian Arabs are already Jordanian citizens. This will not be 
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changed.” Begin, like Dayan, framed his position into terms of secu-
rity. “If there are Arab guns on the green line, all of our civilians will 
be in mortal danger.”95 The ingenuity of the offer was to portray 
restrictive designs in a benevolent light.

The evening before Begin’s presentation, Vance and Quandt rec-
ommended that Carter not endorse such a proposal but rather tell the 
Israelis to introduce it during formal negotiations as their opening 
position on the Palestinian issue.96 Begin nevertheless read out the 
twenty- one articles of his proposal to Carter (see box on page 100).

In his proposal, the prime minister was promising local author-
ity for elected Arab officials to guide decisions in areas like com-
merce, education, health, and transport. But Israel would maintain 
control of security over the territory, and residents within Israel 
would be “entitled to acquire land and settle in the areas of Judea, 
Samaria and the Gaza district” as well. In a direct challenge to 
the PLO’s political vision and the claims of Palestinian national-
ists,  Begin’s plan was predicated on Israel retaining the territories 
acquired in 1967 rather than returning them in the context of a 
negotiation.

President Carter responded in detail to Begin’s extensive pre-
sentation. He invoked UN Security Council Resolutions 242 and 
338, which called for Israeli withdrawal from occupied territo-
ries in exchange for secure borders and permanent peace. While 
 acknowledging the Israeli view that withdrawal was not a total 
withdrawal, the president understood that Begin was intent on 
keeping the West Bank and Gaza Strip. He therefore asked the 
 Israeli leader three questions. The first dealt with Israel’s commit-
ment to withdrawal from the West Bank, even with minor adjust-
ments. The second question dealt with Palestinian Arabs from 
other countries, and the third question with sovereignty.

Begin responded by repeating his concern about security and 
the incompatibility of the Green Line as a defensible border. “If we 
withdraw to the 1967 lines, there will be permanent bloodshed,” the 
prime minister insisted. “The 1967 line did not constitute a bor-
der.” Begin intimated that Israeli state sovereignty would end at the 
1967 line, but security would extend to the Jordan River.97 Brzezin-
ski, sensing the political problem that this position caused, then 
addressed the question of sovereignty. Begin insisted that it was 
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Proposal 
 December 15, 1977
Proposal Subject to the Confirmation of the Government of Israel

HOME RULE, FOR PALESTINIAN ARABS, RESIDENTS OF JUDEA,  
SAMARIA AND THE GAZA DISTRICT

 1. The administration of the Military Government in Judea, Samaria and the Gaza 
district will be abolished.

 2. In Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district administrative autonomy of the residents, by 
and for them, will be established.

 3. The residents of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district will elect an Administrative 
Council composed of eleven members.

 4. Any resident, 18 years old and above, without distinction of citizenship, or if stateless, 
is entitled to vote in the election to the Administrative Council.

 5. Any resident whose name is included in the list of the candidates for the 
Administrative Council and who, on the day the list is submitted, is 25 years old or 
above, is entitled to be elected to the Council.

 6. The Administrative Council will be elected by general, direct, personal, equal and 
secret ballot.

 7. The period of office of the Administrative Council will be four years from the day of its 
election.

 8. The Administrative Council will sit in Bethlehem.
 9. All the administrative affairs of the areas of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district, will 

be under the direction and within the competence of the Administrative Council.
 10. The Administrative Council will operate the following Departments:

 a. The Department of Education;
 b. The Department of Religious Affairs;
 c. The Department of Finance;
 d. The Department of Transportation;
 e. The Department for Construction and Housing;
 f. The Department of Industry, Commerce and Tourism;
 g. The Department of Agriculture;
 h. The Department of Health;
 i. The Department for Labor and Social Welfare;
 j. The Department of Rehabilitation of Refugees;
 k. The Department for the Administration of Justice and the Supervision of the 

Local Police Forces;

and promulgate regulations relating to the operation of these Departments.

 11. Security in the areas of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district will be the responsibility 
of the Israeli authorities.

 12. The Administrative Council will elect its own chairman.
 13. The first session of the Administrative Council will be convened 30 days after the 

publication of the election results.
 14. Residents of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district, without distinction of citizenship, 

or if stateless, will be granted free choice (option) of either Israeli or Jordanian 
citizenship.
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merely a legal issue to be sorted out and that a local administra-
tive council could manage complex questions like land expropria-
tion and immigration. These issues, as Begin saw them, were also 
caught up with security: “We could only accept new immigrants up 
to the point where our own security would not be affected.” Vance 
interjected: “So this would be dealt with by the Administrative 
Council, subject to Israel’s view on possible security problems. The 
Council would not have total authority.” Begin agreed.

The Israeli attorney general, Aharon Barak, interceded on the 
question of sovereignty, arguing that the military governor of 
the West Bank and Gaza would “delegate authority to the Council 
in order for it to act,” rather than the Israeli state, to avoid impli-
cations that Israel claimed sovereignty. Vance followed up, asking 
if the military governor reserved the right to revoke these powers. 
Barak said “in principle, yes.” Brzezinski responded that this would 
then mean Israeli sovereignty (“at least, de facto,” Vance added). 
Barak defended Begin’s position, saying that the military gover-
nor was “not the sovereign authority,” a position the U.S. delega-
tion sought to clarify further. From a legal standpoint, the attorney 

 15. A resident of the areas of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district who requests Israeli 
citizenship will be granted such citizenship in accordance with the citizenship law of 
the State.

 16. Residents of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district who, in accordance with the right 
of free option, choose Israeli citizenship, will be entitled to vote for, and be elected to, 
the Knesset in accordance with the election law.

 17. Residents of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district who are citizens of Jordan or who, 
in accordance with the right of free option will become citizens of Jordan, will elect 
and be eligible for election to the Parliament of the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan in 
accordance with the election law of that country.

 18. Questions “arising from the vote” to the Jordanian Parliament by residents of Judea, 
Samaria and the Gaza district will be clarified in negotiations between Israel and 
Jordan.

 19. Residents of Israel will be entitled to acquire land and settle in the areas of Judea, 
Samaria and the Gaza district. Arabs, residents of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza 
district will be entitled to acquire land and settle in Israel.

 20. Residents of Israel and residents of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district will be 
assured freedom of movement and freedom of economic activity in Israel, Judea, 
Samaria and the Gaza district.

 21. These principles may be subject to review after a five- year period.

Reproduced from Attachment to FRUS, Doc. 177.
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general’s argument rested on the notion that the territories were not 
occupied in the first place, undermining any claim that Arab resi-
dents would be under military rule. It was a tautological position, 
one that enabled Israel to claim both control and non- annexation 
of the territories, a position that had been refuted by Israel’s legal 
counsel in the wake of the 1967 War.98

Begin planned to present his autonomy proposal in full to Presi-
dent Sadat during an impending trip to Sadat’s private residence 
in Ismailia, Egypt. He added that autonomy’s success depended on 
collective Egyptian, American, and British concession that there 
would be no Palestinian state. Before adjourning for the Sabbath, 
Begin provided hard copies of his plan to Brzezinski, Carter, and 
Vance.99 Brzezinski asked Begin why Bethlehem and not East Jeru-
salem would be the seat of the Legislative Council. Begin’s response 
revealed the ideological certitude that animated his plans and the 
contradiction of claiming to resolve the Palestinian question along 
more equitable lines. “It cannot be East Jerusalem, because Jerusa-
lem is the capital of Israel,” Begin explained. “And it cannot be Nab-
lus either. Bethlehem is the best. There cannot be two capitals in 
Jerusalem. They should have their own proper capital. Bethlehem 
is the center of communications.”100 Begin’s approach to Jerusa-
lem, like his view on settlements and Jewish claims to sovereignty, 
remained consistent. Palestinians were not viewed as a collective 
people seeking national rights but a minority population in need 
of individual attention, with adaptable outcomes that the Israeli 
prime minister believed could placate more robust demands for 
self- determination. It explains why the U.S. government found 
Begin to be a frustrating negotiator, as he rarely retreated from 
these views in his baseline assertions.101

Israel’s definitive attitude toward the Palestinians concerned 
Carter, who wanted to protect Sadat diplomatically in the wake of 
his Jerusalem trip and the breakdown of Geneva. If the autonomy 
plan were misread in the public sphere, Carter felt, it would under-
mine all of Sadat’s goodwill. He told Begin after the Sabbath that 
the plan could appear positive but also it could very well appear 
empty, given Begin’s comments about the military governor and re-
storing Israeli control at will. “We believe that how these proposals 
are cast, and how your well- constructed ideas are interpreted, will 
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be crucial.”102 The intimation that Israeli state sovereignty would 
be limited to the 1967 borders, for example, with security extend-
ing up to the Jordan River, seemed promising to Carter. It could 
be subject to negotiations between Jordan, Egypt, and Palestinian 
Arabs “on a time scale commensurate with your development of a 
sense of security and trust in the Arabs.” Carter was “gratified” by 
Begin’s apparent “flexibility” on this matter.103 But the president 
remained concerned that the interpretation of Begin’s plan could 
be negative and jeopardize Sadat’s reputation.

Broader regional engagement was a necessity in light of the re-
action to Egypt’s sudden shift. In Carter’s view, if Begin and Sadat 
could agree, King Hussein would join the discussions, but Syrian 
president Assad only much later. The Palestinians themselves re-
mained excluded from the possible negotiations over their fate. De-
spite the secret back channels, Carter was deeply skeptical of the 
PLO in his comments to Begin, remarking that they had been “ab-
solutely negative, and I see no role for them to play in the present 
peace negotiations.”104 Although they did not agree to 242, the PLO 
was still integral to Sadat’s legitimacy, so the president’s remarks 
may have assuaged Begin but they denoted a newfound hostility 
toward the organization.105

The autonomy proposal that Begin brought to Carter was a 
highly consequential blueprint for Israel’s diplomatic strategy to-
ward the Palestinians, and its imprint extended far beyond the 
1970s. Several areas helped set in motion dynamics that perpetu-
ated the condition of statelessness Arafat had feared. Most notably, 
Begin was inflexible on the status of the West Bank. He would not 
agree to foreign forces, like the United Nations, guaranteeing pro-
tection in the territories as Sadat had suggested in November. He 
invoked the German Jews of the Middle Ages, Schutzjuden, who 
paid for external protection. “We do not want to be protected Jews,” 
Begin declared. “We are disciples of Jabotinsky. We don’t want to be 
a Schutzjuden- Staat. We want to sustain our independence and to 
end the persecution of Jews. People used to pity Jews. We want to 
live as a normal nation.”106 In linking his foreign policy to maudlin 
readings of Jewish history, Begin codified Israeli national priorities 
in existentially woeful terms. Ideologically, such a view echoed the 
Likud’s long- standing attachment to the “Greater Land of Israel.” 
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The position was absolute when it came to the West Bank, even if 
there was more willingness on the return of the Sinai Peninsula.

In a further indication of how clearly the autonomy plan would 
undercut Palestinian claims, Begin reiterated Israel’s dismissal of 
the Palestinian refugee question. For the Israeli leadership, the re-
turn of refugees into the territories would threaten Jewish claims 
on the land. “Israelis have the right to go to the territories. It is 
inconceivable that we can give the same right to the others,” ex-
plained Attorney General Barak.107 As for the question of settle-
ments, Begin did not see them having a special status, as Arabs 
lived in Israel and Jews lived in the territories. “There is no prob-
lem. Of course, there are settlements, but we have a principle of 
symmetric justice. The residents of Israel can buy land in Judea, 
Samaria, and Gaza, and Arabs can get land in Israel. There will 
be reciprocity. They can come to Tel Aviv and buy land and build 
homes.”108 These logics of exchange, functioning on a basis that ac-
cepted the population transfers of 1948 and 1967 and equated them 
with Jewish settlement in the territories, cohered in Begin’s mind as 
a just solution to the political reality that had taken root in the West 
Bank and Gaza. Begin was shaped by his intellectual mentor, Ze’ev 
Jabotinsky, in propagating a distinct view of the Arabs as a minority 
with rights living under the dominance of Jewish- majority rule.109

The Carter administration’s reaction to the autonomy plan 
seemed to embolden Begin, and he remained buoyant about his 
reception during a stop in the United Kingdom on his way back 
to  Israel. At the Chequers Estate in Buckinghamshire, the Israeli 
prime minister met with Prime Minister Callaghan and Foreign 
Secretary David Owen. He boasted to them that his plan for the 
West Bank had met with “wholehearted, even enthusiastic accep-
tance.” Although Carter had initially been hesitant, after a tête- à- 
tête, Begin reported, he “accepted the plan for Judea and Samaria 
without qualification, except for a few problems with its judicial 
aspects.” Several senators and congressmen, ex- president Ford, Sec-
retary Kissinger, and leading members of the Jewish community all 
supported the Israeli plan, Begin asserted.110 After he had  reiterated 
the main points of the proposal, Callaghan told Begin that his ap-
proach was “remarkable and imaginative.” While disagreeing with 
Begin’s positions on security, and explaining that Sadat could not 
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accept it straightaway, the British prime minister and his advisors 
saw it as a good starting point to the negotiations over the Palestin-
ian question. This flexibility highlights the Callaghan government’s 
sympathy toward Begin, a clear departure from previous British 
policy and an indication of a permissive stance that may have actu-
ally enabled Israeli actions in the West Bank.111

Inwardly, U.S. government officials were skeptical of the Israeli 
plans, but they too entertained the possibility of building on some 
of these ideas in addressing the Palestinian issue. In his memoir, 
Secretary of State Cyrus Vance reflected on the emergence of the 
Israeli negotiating model, which deferred this possibility of Pales-
tinian self- determination: “Despite our differences with the Israelis 
on how to solve the Palestinian problem, the president and I shared 
their concerns about a radicalized Palestinian state. We concluded 
that some form of transitional arrangement was needed so that the 
Palestinians could demonstrate whether they were prepared to gov-
ern themselves and live peacefully besides Israel, while remaining 
under international supervision to ease Israel’s fears.” Vance’s own 
initial ideal was transitional, a “UN trusteeship under joint Israeli- 
Jordanian administration, leading to a plebiscite and Palestinian 
self- determination after several years.” While such a concept was 
to undergo “considerable revision and development,” Vance wrote 
that it was “one of the roots of the Camp David arrangement for 
Palestinian autonomy during a transitional regime.”112

In outlining such a transitional agreement, Vance drew on a lon-
ger history of external powers mediating the Palestinian question. 
Like the British approach to the Arabs in the Mandate era earlier 
in the century, the United States would promote a time- bound 
solution that would have the Palestinians “demonstrate whether 
they were prepared to govern themselves and live peacefully beside 
Israel.”113 The central problem with this approach— an outdated 
colonial model that would prove ineffectual in the aftermath of 
decolonization— was the powerful hold of the Israeli state on the 
territories since 1967. Conceivably, under the Labor settlement 
plan, or even Moshe Dayan’s conception of Palestinian self- rule, it 
might have been plausible to prepare the West Bank and Gaza for a 
political solution outside the realm of Israeli control. But the stance 
of the Likud, and Begin’s clear pronouncements on continued 
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Israeli military and political dominance of the territories, ensured 
that the emergence of any autonomy arrangements would have to 
be predicated on the prevention of non- Israeli sovereignty.

Begin in Egypt
“This is perhaps the first time we sit together since Moses crossed 
the waters not very far from here,” Anwar al- Sadat proudly told his 
guest. “Let us here teach the world a new way of facing problems 
between two nations let us tell them that sincerity, honesty, good-
will and, above all, love can solve any problem.” It was Menachem 
Begin’s first trip to Egypt, and Sadat’s warm welcome underscored 
its historic nature. “When Moses took us out of Egypt, it took him 
40 years to cross the Sinai desert,” a reverent but jovial Begin told 
his Egyptian counterpart. “We did it in 40 minutes.”114 The Christ-
mas Day visit to Sadat’s presidential residence on the banks of the 
Suez Canal in Ismailia provided the Israeli prime minister with 
a chance to formally present his autonomy plan to the Egyptians 
after its announcement to American and British leaders.

figUre 3.1. “Prime Minister Menachem Begin Gives Tourist Guidance to President Sadat, 
Beer Sheva.” May 27, 1979. Sa’ar Ya’acov, courtesy of Israel’s Government Press Office.
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Begin sought out Sadat’s approval for his approach to the Pal-
estinian question, as distinct from the broader discussions over 
the Sinai Peninsula. After first laying out the Israeli position on 
withdrawal from the Sinai, the Israeli leader turned to his pro-
posal for “self- rule for the Palestinian Arabs.” He opened with the 
issue of sovereignty, which he acknowledged neither Israel nor 
Palestinians were willing to cede. Rather, by dealing with human 
beings and leaving the question of sovereignty open, Begin de-
scribed the essence of his idea. “We give the Palestinian Arabs self- 
rule and the Palestinian Jews security.” He read out the details of 
his proposal, which Sadat said he would take into consideration, 
pleased to have moved from procedural concerns to substantive 
negotiations.115

Later that evening, having reviewed the Israeli proposals, Sadat 
returned to the second meeting with the Israelis and was more crit-
ical. On the question of the Sinai, Sadat opposed any restrictions on 
Egyptian sovereignty. He rejected Begin’s suggestion to keep air-
fields or Jewish settlements behind after a withdrawal. “If I tell my 
people that my friend Begin said there will be settlements in Sinai 
and some defense force to defend them, they will throw stones at 
me.” As for the Palestinian question, Sadat continued, it was “a step, 
a real step. . . . But it is not sufficient as yet.” He went on to describe 
the aspirations of Palestinian moderates for independence and the 
tight spot Egypt found itself as their defender in the Arab world 
given all the opposition to his trip to Jerusalem. The two leaders 
agreed this difference was a “problem.” In revising the joint state-
ment to the public about their meeting, Begin raised the issue of 
invoking 242 and withdrawal from the territories, which he could 
not sign onto given his divergent interpretation of the resolution. 
He also objected to the word “self- determination,” if it signified a 
state. “This is the mortal danger of which I speak. We can use the 
word ‘self- rule.’ ”116

Despite Sadat’s rhetorical support for the Palestinians, his talks 
with Begin revealed a great deal of Egyptian antipathy toward the 
PLO and Palestinian nationalists. Begin expressed fears about se-
curity and the growing influence of the PLO on Israel’s borders, 
framing his explanation in Cold War terms and appealing to Sadat’s 
hostile view of the Soviet Union. “Some of the PLO men are Soviet 
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agents,” Begin remarked. “All of them,” Sadat replied. The Egyp-
tian president nevertheless upheld his commitment to representing 
Palestinian aspirations. “Still I must lead the Arab world. It is the 
leadership of Egypt historically that has always prevailed. It is in 
your interest as well as ours.” 117

The symbolic claims of leadership belied Sadat’s narrower inter-
ests and willingness to concede to Begin in private, which Egypt’s 
newly appointed foreign minister later criticized.118 In concluding 
their talks, both leaders returned to the concept of self- rule, and 
Begin reiterated his opposition “to a Palestinian state of Arafat and 
[Fatah leader] Kaddumi.” Sadat agreed, “As you know I have always 
been in favor of a link with Jordan— a federal or a confederal— 
would be decided before Geneva.” It was a startling and crucial 
admission, paving the way for significant concessions in future 
 negotiations.119 Begin was relieved to hear it, and insisted the 
final Ismailia declaration only mention “self- rule” from the Israeli 
point of view. “We will not wound them by saying anything else,” 
Begin added. “Self- determination means a state and that we can-
not  accept.” Sadat again agreed, “But tomorrow I will be accused of 
having sold the Palestinian Arabs to Mr. Begin.” Begin assured him 
it would not happen. “We must have the courage of decision,” the 
Israeli prime minister concluded.120

Both the Israelis and the Egyptians were flatly dismissive of 
the Palestinian national movement and the existing leadership in 
the occupied territories. Dayan stressed that neither side wanted a 
Palestinian state, nor were there existing leaders in the territories 
that could make one. If either side committed in public to state-
hood, Dayan emphasized, Arafat would seek to come back to the 
territories, and the refugees would be transferred to Jericho, “a first 
stage for an attack on Israel.” Sadat again concurred, having his 
own doubts about elements within the PLO: “I quite agree with you 
about the question of security and that the extremists should not be 
permitted, since they will cause trouble for all of us, especially after 
the Tripoli Conference. There is Arafat and that fanatic [George] 
Habbash [sic]. He has declared himself a Marxist- Leninist.” In 
the same breath as he dismissed Palestinian hard- liners, like the 
head of the Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine, Sadat 
was clearly conflicted given his role as a nominal protector of 
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Palestinian rights. “The difficulty is for me that I have to solve the 
Palestinian problem by self- determination.”121

Aware of Egypt’s discomfort with the PLO, the Israelis saw an 
opening. They pressed Sadat to negotiate the Palestinian problem 
independently with the Jordanians and the “Palestinian Arabs” 
in a manner that avoided self- determination. “We always speak 
with candor,” Begin remarked. “All of us understand that self- 
determination means a state. Therefore, we shall suggest self- rule 
or home- rule or autonomy.” In the context of a first official visit to 
Egypt, the Israeli prime minister was seeking out an alliance on 
the Palestinian question. He wanted Sadat to agree to a statement 
“in general terms about a just settlement of the Palestinian Arab 
problem” without specifying further.122 Dayan added that Sadat 
could tell the Palestinian Arabs that Egypt would fight for self- 
determination as a face- saving mechanism. After further consulta-
tions, a decision was ultimately made to announce two different 
views of the Palestinian problem at the closing press conference 
and hold further meetings in Cairo and Jerusalem led by Egypt’s 
new foreign minister, Mohammed Kamel.

Sadat’s acquiescence to Israel’s firm agenda for dealing with 
the Palestinians at Ismailia was a telling indicator of his overall 
approach to the elements of the negotiations that did not con-
cern Egypt’s bilateral interests. His mirroring of Israeli language 
and open use of Begin’s term for the West Bank was clear in the 
public statements the next morning: “The position of Egypt is that 
in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip a Palestinian state should 
be established. The position of Israel is that Palestinian Arabs in 
Judea, Samaria and Gaza should enjoy ‘self- rule.’ We have agreed 
that because we have differed on this issue it should be discussed 
in the political committee of the Cairo Preparatory Conference.”123 
In settling the Palestinian question via committee, while preparing 
bilateral Egyptian- Israeli negotiations at a subsequent conference 
in Cairo, the two parties had agreed to disagree on the question of 
Palestinian self- determination, deferring a decision but also giving 
Begin effective room to push forward with his own plans. Sadat’s 
own advisors were appalled at the discussions, as well as Begin’s re-
lentless style. In his memoirs, Kamel later wrote with disdain how 
he watched the Israeli prime minister “bargaining and bartering 
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(like a petty shopkeeper), dealing with things that did not belong 
to him in the first place, just as if the offer of a comprehensive, just 
and lasting peace were a passing summer cloud!”124

The Egyptian diplomat may not have liked his style, but Begin 
was deeply committed to his vision for the Palestinians. Return-
ing to Jerusalem, he announced “Israel’s Peace Plan” to the entire 
Israeli Knesset on December 28, 1977.125 Begin’s final version, like 
the earlier “home- rule” proposal presented to the Americans, Brit-
ish, and Egyptians, was nonterritorial, stressing autonomy through 
the election of administrative councils by Arab inhabitants of the 
territories. Begin was steadfast in his belief that such a vision would 
provide a solution in its own right, unlike American and Egyptian 
conceptions that imagined autonomy as a means to some greater 
form of Palestinian self- determination.

In his Knesset speech announcing the plan, Begin implored, 
“We have a right and a demand for sovereignty over these areas of 
Eretz Yisrael [the Land of Israel]. This is our land and it belongs to 
the Jewish nation rightfully.” The prime minister opposed any en-
gagement with the PLO, emphasizing that “we do not even dream 
of the possibility— if we are given the chalice to withdraw our mili-
tary forces from Judea, Samaria and Gaza— of abandoning those 
areas to the control of the murderous organization that is called the 
PLO. . . . This is history’s meanest murder organization, except for 
the armed Nazi organizations.”126 Begin’s visceral opposition to the 
PLO, which was a recurring theme in all his public and private dis-
cussions, shaped his strong rejection of a Palestinian state.127 As the 
plan emphasized, foreign and military policy would remain under 
Israeli control, ensuring that any rights granted to the Arab inhabit-
ants of the territories would be of an extremely limited nature.

Begin’s pretense of providing the local population with cultural 
and economic autonomy drew on an older colonial discourse of 
limited self- determination for native inhabitants. Simultaneously, 
the prime minister asserted that Israeli citizens maintained the 
right to purchase land and settle in the occupied territories. Begin’s 
handwritten “unilateral declarations” appended at the bottom of 
his original draft plan made the collective impact of these limita-
tions very clear.
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 A) Under no circumstances will Israel permit the establishment 
in Judea, Samaria and the Gaza District a “Palestinian State.” 
Such a state would be a mortal danger to the civilian popula-
tion of Israel and a grave peril to the free world.

 B) After the end of the transitional period of five years Israel 
will claim its inalienable rights to sovereignty in the areas of 
Eretz Israel: Judea, Samaria and the Gaza District.128

These declarations contradicted the positions of both the Ameri-
cans and the Egyptians in meetings with the Israeli prime minister 
before the Knesset announcement.

For Begin, the autonomy plan was a benevolent means to curtail 
Palestinian self- determination. He believed he had found a solution 
for the challenges that emerged after the conquest of 1967, one that 
could both bypass direct annexation of the territories and uphold 
liberal claims of protecting a national minority. It was a clear politi-
cal vision, an alternative to the global struggle being waged by the 
PLO. Begin outlined his views with great conviction to Time maga-
zine. “What is wrong with a Jewish majority living together with 
an Arab minority in peace, in human dignity, in equality of rights?” 
he wrote. “I believe that we can live together. It is not an occupied 
country as people understand that horrible term. We let them live 
in their homeland.”129

From Tehran to Aswan
U.S. negotiators attempted to mediate between Sadat and Begin 
via third parties, trying to find a viable middle ground between the 
autonomy plan that Begin had articulated and a fully sovereign 
Palestinian state. Carter spent New Year’s Day 1978 in Iran, where 
he was visiting the Shah as part of a nine- day tour of six nations. 
At the Pahlavi dynasty’s Sa’dabad Palace in Tehran, he met with 
King Hussein of Jordan, who was also visiting the Iranian capi-
tal.130 Hussein was dismayed by the autonomy plan, and skeptical 
of Carter’s efforts after Sadat’s trip. He feared the emergence of a 
separate peace between Egypt and Israel, and the discussions led to 
a sharp decline in U.S.- Jordanian relations.
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Carter opened the discussion with the question of the West 
Bank, and Hussein agreed to accept “a disarmed and demilitarized” 
Palestinian entity, with possible UN presence, as part of an over-
all settlement. Carter presented the U.S. position, preferring “self- 
determination which does not involve a completely independent 
state.” Hussein said based on the territorial withdrawal and a reso-
lution to the Palestinian problem, he could agree to participate in 
negotiations, but he also stressed his increasingly isolated position 
in the Arab world. “As soon as you raise the West Bank,” one of Hus-
sein’s advisors added, “the entire Palestinian question becomes an 
issue.” “Jordan cannot absorb all the Palestinian problems,” the ad-
visor continued. “Their opponents would say that Jordan is talking 
for other Arabs without permission.”131 Signaling Hashemite fears 
of being co- opted by Israeli territorial designs, the exchange also 
underscored how the Palestinians themselves had been stripped of 
real agency to represent their own positions.

The growing disconnect between Begin’s view of autonomy and 
the limits of Egyptian and Jordanian legitimacy in representing 
the Palestinians was laid bare in Carter’s subsequent meeting with 
King Khalid of Saudi Arabia in Riyadh. Carter shared with King 
Khalid the content of his discussion with King Hussein and the 
overall progress in the Egyptian- Israeli discussions.132 The Saudi 
monarch was more receptive to the idea of a Palestinian state, even 
one with international guarantees like Cyprus, and Carter stressed 
that the views he outlined about a Palestinian homeland related to 
Jordan was just a starting point. If the parties involved negotiated 
something closer to the Saudi view, the United States would not ob-
ject. For now, Carter stressed, regional pressures constrained King 
Hussein. Since the 1974 Rabat Summit had led to a decision assert-
ing the PLO as the sole representative of the Palestinian people, 
Jordan was not in a position to contradict the official PLO leader-
ship. Carter believed the Palestinians in the West Bank and Gaza 
might accept such a plan as well but said that “he could not speak 
for the Palestinians.”133 Yet he would at least try to clarify, even 
 rhetorically, American support for their political rights and claims 
to self- determination.

On the way back to Washington, the U.S. president stopped 
in the Egyptian city of Aswan to meet with Sadat and bolster the 
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Palestinian aspect of the peace negotiations. Carter would show his 
support for the increasingly beleaguered Egyptian president and 
discuss the principle of self- determination. In his remarks to the 
press after the meeting in Aswan, Carter addressed the Palestinian 
question directly: “There must be a resolution of the Palestinian 
problem in all its aspects. The problem must recognize the legiti-
mate rights of the Palestinian people and enable the Palestinians 
to participate in the determination of their own future.”134 Relay-
ing the rationale of his remarks to Vice President Mondale, who 
was meeting with Begin in Jerusalem at the time, Vance explained 
Carter’s logic. The statement in Aswan was meant “to strengthen 
Sadat’s hand against his Arab critics,” in a manner that reflected 
both the U.S. position and some evolution in American thinking 
“without prejudging the self- determination question in any signifi-
cant way.” “It is not a viable position,” Vance wrote to Mondale, “to 
insist that the Palestinians should have no say whatsoever in their 
future status, given the general acceptance in world opinion of the 
concept of self- determination.”135

While the Aswan language was a powerful interjection on be-
half of the Palestinians, the practical implications for a solution to 
their political plight were less clear. Even while acknowledging the 
 necessity of engagement with the Palestinians in political terms, 
the Carter administration would still not speak directly with the 
PLO and was publicly critical of the organization. The efforts that 
Vance had initiated with Arafat on 242 were eclipsed by domestic 
debates over Soviet involvement, Sadat’s unilateral trip to Jerusa-
lem, and Begin’s autonomy plan. In spite of these intervening devel-
opments, Yasser Arafat was pleased with the Aswan statement and 
he attempted once more to impress upon Carter his commitment to 
diplomatic engagement. At a meeting with congressional members 
of the House International Relations Committee in Damascus, in-
cluding Congressman Paul Findley, Arafat and his PLO aides pro-
vided a message to Carter stressing a desire to maintain a moderate 
line, defending Carter’s policies against hard- liners. Although there 
was no mention of the PLO at Aswan, Arafat professed a “glimmer 
of hope” in the statement.136

In his message to Carter, Arafat underscored his wider at-
tempts at moderation within the PLO. He suggested that this was 
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happening not only at the level of the leadership “but also among 
the rank- and- file of the Palestinians.”137 The PLO leader offered 
himself as a pragmatist who could work with the United States. 
After all the pressures of the previous months, he hoped that 
Carter “will not further push me into a corner because I would like 
to maintain my moderate balance. Otherwise, I have nothing to 
lose but my Kufiyah (Arab headdress).” Arafat’s message was “self- 
serving,” Brzezinski told Carter, “but may also contain a grain of 
truth.” Either way, the NSC advisor noted, “our current posture of 
ignoring the PLO while concentrating on the Palestinian issue and 
encouraging moderate Palestinian voices to make themselves heard 
is the appropriate position for now.”138 This deliberate isolation of 
the main nationalist arm of the Palestinians was crippling for the 
Palestinian vision of statehood. In choosing to sideline the PLO, the 
United States was in effect signaling that the Israeli and Egyptian 
pursuit of bilateral peace could proceed without resolving compet-
ing claims over the occupied territories.

By the end of 1977, U.S. efforts had pivoted from the comprehensive 
vision for a regional settlement at a revived Geneva Conference to 
the much narrower bilateral negotiating track between Egypt and 
Israel. The PLO’s struggle for self- determination was sacrificed in 
the process. After intensive American efforts to engage with the 
organization via intermediaries and secret channels in order to 
 secure acceptance of UN resolution 242, barriers remained: the 
PLO was internally divided on the mechanisms of diplomacy, refus-
ing to concede recognition of Israel without guarantees of a state in 
return. The worries were well- founded, as statehood was not ever 
fully on the table, and the language of self- determination and a 
“homeland” lacked the specificity to accommodate political control. 
In turning down the American entreaties but vowing to continue 
engaging diplomatically, the PLO was both signaling a red line and 
asserting its ongoing receptivity to negotiations.

The constraints under which the PLO operated were multi-
faceted. Domestically, the backlash against Carter’s inclusion of the 
Soviet Union in the Geneva track revealed a conservative Cold War 
opposition that was unhappy with the direction of American for-
eign policy in the aftermath of détente. There was also, however, a 
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more visceral backlash from within the American Jewish political 
leadership about the possibility of Palestinian statehood. Strident 
antagonism toward the PLO was driven in part by the  organization’s 
commitment to armed struggle but also by a deeper discomfort with 
Palestinian claims to self- determination only a decade after the con-
quest of 1967. The American Jewish alignment with the Likud gov-
ernment fueled the hostility toward the PLO, given Begin’s refusal to 
recognize Palestinian collective rights. His alternative commitment 
to the limited individual rights of “Arab residents of Judea and Sa-
maria” was premised on a very different conception of Israel’s pres-
ence in the territories, which was legitimated on ideological and na-
tional grounds as the exclusive purview of the Israeli state.

To mitigate critics who demanded action on the Palestinian ques-
tion, Begin instead presented a sophisticated autonomy scheme as a 
benevolent solution. In reality, it was premised on continued Israeli 
control of the West Bank and Gaza Strip, as well as the assertion 
of a right to build settlements in the same space Palestinians were 
claiming self- determination. This was a clear repudiation of legal 
jurists who had explicitly advised the Eshkol government that these 
settlements were illegal under international law.139 Yet the Israeli 
government’s introduction of autonomy, and the somewhat benign 
reaction of American and British interlocutors who accepted that it 
could be a starting point for negotiations over the territories, served 
to embolden Prime Minister Begin in his pursuit of an alternative 
vision for the Palestinian future.

Crucially, Begin’s advance would have been impossible without 
the concessions of Egyptian president Anwar al- Sadat. More than 
the other factors, Sadat’s unilateral trip to Jerusalem— whether for 
domestic economic reasons, strategic interests, frustration with 
 Geneva, or a desire for the grand gesture that would secure the re-
turn of Sinai once and for all— served as a major stumbling block 
for the PLO. Beyond the clear embrace of a bilateral track with 
 Israel, Sadat’s opening of a dialogue without clarity on the fate of 
the Palestinians set in motion a process of their political exclusion. 
His hostility toward the PLO and indication of support for a federa-
tion with Jordan in conversations with Begin at Ismailia encour-
aged Israeli designs in the West Bank and undercut Arafat at a cru-
cial juncture in the Palestinian struggle for national independence.
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President Carter’s own approach to Palestinian aspirations was 
not always clear. While he had an aversion to outright statehood, 
he was sympathetic to the realization of Palestinian political rights 
and wanted to find a middle ground that could accommodate a 
comprehensive peace. Even as the PLO was marginalized, Carter’s 
trip to Aswan indicated a commitment to adjudicating Palestinian 
demands with promises about “the legitimate rights of the Palestin-
ian people.” This could be clarified along divergent lines, however, 
from outright territorial self- determination to transitional arrange-
ments that assumed Palestinians were not quite ready to govern 
themselves, as Secretary Vance had suggested.140

While Sadat’s turn to bilateral talks with Israel had come as a 
surprise to the Americans, Carter continued to believe that a re-
gional peace deal was possible and felt the United States was the 
ideal broker between the parties. In his memoir, the president noted 
that Egypt and Israel could not independently resolve basic prob-
lems like the Palestinian question, Israeli territorial withdrawal, 
and regional peace without American assistance. “The process was 
breaking down again,” Carter wrote, “it remained necessary for the 
United States to continue playing a leading role in resolving the 
basic Middle East questions.”141 This U.S. role as mediator would 
reach its height with the emergence of the Camp David talks a few 
months later. But well before the summit had even begun, Ameri-
can aims at evenhandedness had already been compromised. With 
the introduction of autonomy, Sadat’s concessionary negotiating, 
and the U.S. sidelining of the PLO, Palestinian aspirations were 
swiftly losing out to Israel’s alternative vision for the territories.
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Camp David and  
the Triumph of 

Palestinian Autonomy

on marcH 11, 1978,  Palestinian commandos from Yasser Arafat’s 
Fatah wing of the PLO landed on the shore north of Tel Aviv. They 
had planned to seize a luxury hotel in Israel’s coastal city and take 
hostages, but the arrival boats had missed the original destination. 
After killing an American photographer, the militants hijacked a 
taxi and then an Egged bus along the coastal highway.1 The ensuing 
gunfight led to the killing of over thirty civilians, including thirteen 
children, and was characterized at the time as “the worst terror-
ist attack in Israel’s history.”2 The attack, known in Israel as the 
“Coastal Road Massacre,” had been planned by Fatah leader Khalil 
al- Wazir (known as Abu Jihad) and was aimed in part at scuttling 
the peace talks between Sadat and Begin and retaliating for the 
Mossad assassination of PLO leaders in Lebanon in 1973.3 Fatah’s 
actions were also partly intended to assert the centrality of the na-
tional movement as it was being marginalized, with the ebb and 
flow of militant action highlighting deep struggles within the PLO 
over its diplomatic strategy.4

In response to the Coastal Road Massacre, the Israeli govern-
ment launched Operation Litani three days later.5 The Begin gov-
ernment targeted PLO bases in South Lebanon with over 25,000 
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soldiers, subjecting a large area up to the Litani River to heavy 
bombardment with shelling and air strikes. The incursion led to 
the deaths of at least 1,000 Palestinian and Lebanese civilians.6 The 
Carter administration, seeking to limit regional escalation, pushed 
back against this operation, but the damage was extensive.7 Aside 
from civilian casualties, Israel’s actions pushed the PLO north-
ward from their bases and increased tensions in the Lebanese civil 
war that had started three years earlier. It also led to the inter-
nal displacement of at least 100,000 people from South Lebanon 
and the establishment of a “security zone” in the south patrolled 
by the South Lebanon Army (SLA). Carter was deeply involved in 
ending the violence in Lebanon by spearheading a UN resolution 
that led to the establishment of the UN Interim Force in Lebanon 
( UNIFIL). The violence served as a precursor to the much larger 
invasion of Lebanon that would follow in 1982 and signaled Israel’s 
intention to fight the PLO across border areas.

Both the terror attack and the Litani incursion coincided with a 
difficult period of U.S. engagement with the wider region. A series 
of domestic debates had erupted over aircraft sales to Egypt and 
Saudi Arabia in February, part of a “package deal” that ultimately 
passed through Congress. Carter expended a great deal of political 
capital to push these deals forward, resulting in weakened domes-
tic support and reduced chances for a comprehensive peace in the 
Middle East.8 With a midterm election approaching in November, 
it would not be easy for the Carter administration to confront the 
unresolved questions raised by Sadat and Begin’s bilateral talks.

After clashing directly with Begin on the issue of settlements in 
late March, Carter struggled through the summer to advance ne-
gotiations over the Middle East. Through internal discussions, the 
president decided to invite the Israeli and Egyptian leaders to join 
him for a presidential summit in September, hoping that a bilateral 
framework could provide an opening toward a comprehensive re-
gional peace. The agreements reached at Camp David fell short of 
these aims. While successfully negotiating the first treaty between 
Israel and an Arab state, the summit also enabled the Begin gov-
ernment to secure Israel’s hold over the occupied Palestinian ter-
ritories with the formalization of a separate autonomy track. The 
concurrent expansion of the settlement project and the onset of 
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negotiations over self- rule for the Palestinians (without their par-
ticipation) signaled the triumph of an influential idea that would 
halt any political or diplomatic progress toward meaningful self- 
determination for the Palestinian people.

The Emergence of Camp David
The Begin government had argued for months that UN resolution 
242 did not apply to the West Bank. On the eve of a trip that Begin 
was making to the United States in March, his minister of agri-
culture and settlement czar, Ariel Sharon, announced an increase 
in the number of settlements. The move ignited fierce domestic op-
position in Israel. Defense Minister Ezer Weizman, visiting Wash-
ington ahead of Begin, telephoned the prime minster and threat-
ened to resign. “If you do not stop those settlements,” Weizman 
shouted, “I will personally come back and do so.”9 Weizman had 
been engaged in a bitter fight with hard- line members of the ruling 
party, who were suspicious of his diplomatic efforts with Egypt.10 
Even some American Jewish leaders spoke out about the settle-
ment announcement, as divisions inside the Jewish community 
deepened around the Lebanese incursion. One prominent Jewish 
philanthropist, Laurence Tisch, criticized the Israeli government’s 
policy publicly. “If Begin insists on pressing the settlements issue, 
he will lose every last American. There is no justification for this 
position,” Tisch remarked.11

On March 22, a heated meeting between Begin and Carter at the 
White House underscored the growing policy differences between 
the two leaders.12 The Israeli prime minister’s dismissive attitude 
toward UN resolution 242 particularly angered the Americans, 
and “Carter was clearly in a fighting mood.” The president deliv-
ered scathing remarks to Begin, telling him that he was “not willing 
to stop expansion or the creation of new settlements.” In private 
meetings, pro- Israeli senators like Jacob Javits and Clifford Case 
wholeheartedly agreed with the president that Begin should be 
taken to task for his irresponsible policies in the occupied territo-
ries.13 Even with the forceful reaction, Carter had limited capital to 
expend on a direct confrontation with the Israeli government over 
settlements. Vance described the tension that framed the meeting, 
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and the impact of the terror attack, which strengthened Begin’s 
hand. “The possibility of getting Begin to alter his positions on the 
West Bank and Palestinian questions,” Vance later wrote, “was vir-
tually eliminated.”14 Instead, Begin promoted his autonomy plan, 
insisting once again that UN resolution 242 did not apply to all the 
territories.

While Sadat had broken off negotiations with Begin in January 
1978 over this very issue, his stance began to soften by the spring. In 
a weekend meeting between Presidents Carter and Sadat and their 
wives, Rosalynn and Jehan, at Camp David in February, the begin-
ning of a significant shift in priorities had become evident to Amer-
ican officials. Rather than work toward a comprehensive peace that 
would include the Palestinian issue, Sadat appeared increasingly 
willing to settle for a bilateral agreement to ensure the return of 
the Sinai. Despite the rhetoric and appearance of defending the 
Palestinian right to self- determination, there was little substantive 
Egyptian commitment to offering clear alternative pro posals on the 
future of the West Bank and Gaza.15

This was a stark departure from the approach articulated in 
Sadat’s November 1977 Jerusalem speech. An overriding desire to 
secure U.S. backing for arms and economic aid, as well as an aver-
sion to detail in countering Begin’s restrictive autonomy proposal, 
chipped away at the Egyptian leader’s firm position on resolving 
the Palestinian question and left officials in the United States con-
sidering new avenues to break the diplomatic stalemate between 
the two countries. As one NSC official explained to Carter in May, 
“The central idea that he [Sadat] is now working with involves a 
virtual abandonment on his part of the concept of Palestinian self- 
determination or Palestinian statehood in return for an explicit 
 Israel commitment to withdraw from the West Bank/Gaza.”16 This 
sidelining of substantive discussions over the meaning of Palestin-
ian self- determination generated a great deal of internal dissent 
among Sadat’s advisors, as well as wider Arab anger.17

The Egyptian president’s flexibility impressed the Americans, 
who gradually understood that Sadat would moderate his demands 
in order to achieve a viable settlement with Israel. Carter’s legal 
counsel, Robert Lipshutz, had long been questioning the insistence 
of Sadat and fellow Arab leaders on Palestinian statehood. “They all 
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fully recognize that it’s in their worst interest to see that happen,” 
Lipshutz told an interviewer in February 1978. “I think their public 
posture is in their judgment required for the time being because 
of their own inter- Arab relationships.”18 In his own private assess-
ment, Carter’s counsel argued that “the best outcome of all that is 
to end up in a federation of some type with Jordan.”19 While other 
U.S. officials focused on a transitional regime in the West Bank and 
Gaza, there was clear movement toward the deferral of a decision 
on the fate of the territories “while the parties experimented with 
self- rule in the West Bank and Gaza.”20 The United States would 
gauge the respective positions of Egypt and Israel, and then con-
sider introducing specific parameters for negotiations.

In July 1978, Vance hosted the Egyptian and Israeli foreign min-
isters at Leeds Castle in Kent. This was a critical meeting on the 
road to Camp David, as the U.S. secretary of state reframed the 
nature of the American role. Rather than mediate between the par-
ties, the Carter administration would offer a proposal “for a com-
prehensive settlement, including arrangements for peace between 
Egypt and Israel and an autonomy process of the West Bank.” As 
Vance later explained, U.S. officials drafted a document that even-
tually became “the basis of the Camp David framework.”21 In a bid 
to break the Egyptian- Israeli negotiating impasse, Vance then flew 
to the Middle East to privately invite both leaders to the United 
States on behalf of the president.22 Sadat and Begin readily ac-
cepted Carter’s invitation, hoping to cobble together a mutually 
beneficial agreement for Egypt and Israel. Preparations were made 
for a September summit, which would attract a great deal of global 
and domestic attention.

Immediately after the summit was announced, White House 
advisors began to reconfigure their comprehensive peace plan in 
order to focus on specific aspects of an agreement between Egypt 
and Israel. They still spoke, however, of tackling interrelated issues 
like the West Bank and Gaza, the status of the settlements, UN res-
olution 242, and the fate of the Palestinians. In his formulation of 
a negotiating strategy for Camp David, National Security Advisor 
Brzezinski told Carter that he would “have to persuade Begin to 
make some substantive concessions, while convincing Sadat to set-
tle for less than an explicit Israeli commitment to full withdrawal 
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and Palestinian self- determination.”23 Beyond an agreement be-
tween Israel and Egypt, Brzezinski stressed the need for “general 
self- government for the Palestinians.”24 Brzezinski also urged the 
president to get both leaders to accept the “Aswan language on Pal-
estinian rights,” a reference to Carter’s statement in Egypt that Jan-
uary recognizing “the legitimate rights of the Palestinian people” 
and calling for “Palestinians to participate in the determination of 
their own future.”25

American preparatory memos for Camp David clearly estab-
lished the desire for Israeli territorial withdrawal from the West 
Bank and Gaza Strip, a genuine settlement moratorium, and an 
adjudication of the Palestinian question. By combining the Aswan 
formulation with other priorities, U.S. officials worked to solidify 
a viable approach to resolving regional conflict, but it promised 
considerably less than the comprehensive elements of the February 
1977 position laid out soon after Carter entered office. Alongside 
the reality of the Begin election and Israel’s vision for autonomy, 
Sadat’s trip to Jerusalem had served to undercut those ambitious 
plans. Washington had not fully abandoned the rhetorical commit-
ment of securing a wider settlement, but the impact of the preced-
ing months was unmistakable. Just before leaving for the United 
States, Begin reiterated his precondition for negotiating, which in-
cluded “no withdrawal to the 1967 borders” and continued Israeli 
“military control of the West Bank and Gaza under any interim 
agreement.”26 It was clear that his vision for a settlement remained 
aimed at Egypt alone.

The Meaning of the Accords
Thirteen days of meetings took place between the Egyptian and 
 Israeli delegations in the presidential retreat at Catoctin Mountain 
Park in Maryland from September 5 to 17, 1978. While shielded 
from the public eye, there are numerous accounts of the dramatic 
proceedings and the fraught moments of tension from a wide array 
of participants.27 At its core, however, Camp David’s objectives 
were cast before it even began, and were broadly in line with Israeli 
strategic thinking. Vance and Brzezinski both hoped that “Carter 
could persuade Begin to make some concessions on the Palestinian 
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question” in order to secure Sadat’s agreement on peace with Israel. 
In the view of NSC advisor William Quandt, the American president 
actually had in mind the narrower objective of reaching an Israeli- 
Egyptian agreement, “with or without much of a link to the Pales-
tinian issue.”28 Rather than seek the restoration of the 1967 borders, 
Carter and his team focused on the return of the Sinai Peninsula to 
Egypt. This “more Israel- friendly objective,” as one recent account 
explains, ultimately brought together “a Sinai agreement with an 
understanding over the West Bank and Gaza that built on Begin’s 
autonomy scheme.”29 It may not have looked that way on the eve of 
the summit, Quandt later reflected, but Carter understood what ani-
mated Sadat. Despite his vocal insistence on a comprehensive peace, 
Sadat “would not continue to insist on much for the Palestinians, at 
least not at the expense of recovering Egyptian territory.”30

The announcement of the final Camp David Accords, after 
nearly two weeks of discussion, reflected the bottom line of each 
party. While Begin first stonewalled on the demilitarization of the 
Sinai Peninsula and the return of Jewish settlements to Egyptian 
control (nearly derailing the negotiations as Sadat rushed to leave), 

figUre 4.1. “Anwar Sadat, Jimmy Carter and Menachem Begin at the 
Camp David Accords Signing Ceremony.” September 17, 1978. White 
House Staff Photographers Collection at the Jimmy Carter Library.
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the Israeli prime minister conceded on relinquishing Israeli air-
fields and agreed for the Knesset to vote on the evacuation of Sinai 
settlements. This yielded A Framework for the Conclusion of a Peace 
Treaty between Egypt and Israel, the second of the two core pro-
visions signed at the summit’s conclusion. It laid out the path to 
a bilateral peace agreement premised on the phased return of the 
Sinai Peninsula to Egypt in exchange for the normalization of rela-
tions with Israel as well as the opening of the Suez Canal to Israeli 
ships. This was the core of the final agreement signed in March 
1979, providing Sadat with the territory Egypt had lost in 1967, 
but also securing the U.S. backing he had long sought to achieve. 
For Israel, the first formal recognition from an Arab state was a 
milestone achievement, and it neutralized any military threat from 
the southwest. Since it was not dependent on broader linkage with 
progress on other fronts, it also provided the Begin government 
with an opportunity to consolidate Israel’s territorial hold on the 
remaining areas acquired in 1967: East Jerusalem, the West Bank, 
the Gaza Strip, and the Golan Heights.

The first of the two agreements, A Framework for Peace in the 
Middle East, built directly on Begin’s autonomy plan and focused 
on the West Bank and Gaza Strip. Largely sidestepping broader 
regional relations, the framework called on “Egypt, Israel, Jordan 
and the representatives of the Palestinian people” to “participate 
in negotiations on the resolution of the Palestinian problem in all 
its aspects.”31 Exactly what this meant in political or territorial 
terms was left intentionally vague, instead calling on the parties 
to decide on a process guaranteeing full autonomy to Palestin-
ians within a period of five years.32 In the interim, the framework 
contained a provision for negotiations to establish an autonomous 
Self- Governing Authority (SGA) in the West Bank and Gaza Strip. 
What sort of entity might emerge was unclear, as was the extent 
of an Israeli withdrawal from the territories. Rather than restore 
the pre- 1967 borders in line with Carter’s comprehensive plans of 
1977, the Americans had turned away from a fight over broader 
territorial withdrawal at Camp David. Under severe pressure from 
Begin and his negotiating team during the talks, the United States 
backed down from a confrontation over the precise application of 
UN Security Council Resolution 242 to the West Bank and Gaza 
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Strip.33 Through deliberately ambiguous language in crafting this 
text, Carter and his advisors were able to secure Sadat’s and Begin’s 
support in the waning hours of the summit.34

Begin kept his eye firmly on the red lines he had outlined 
throughout his talks in 1977 and 1978: there would be no with-
drawal from the West Bank and Gaza Strip, and no Palestinian 
state. While the first of the two frameworks included specific lan-
guage to “recognize the legitimate rights of the Palestinian people 
and their just requirements,” this lacked substantive meaning.35 
Explicitly, the accords did not include any reference to self- 
determination: the result of the diplomatic effort Begin and his 
advisors had made to secure the term’s exclusion. He also did not 
have to accept the application of UN resolution 242 “to all fronts of 
the conflict,” and he did not retreat on Israel’s claim to sovereignty 
in Jerusalem. The autonomy provisions that Begin had introduced 
as a “solution” to the Palestinian issue in 1977 were incorporated in 
the final Camp David framework as a necessary concession to safe-
guard the success of a bilateral agreement and preserve Israel’s hold 
on the territories. While Sadat had spoken openly of a resolution of 
the Palestinian question in the West Bank, Begin and his advisors 
successfully dislodged the issue from the agreement on bilateral re-
lations. In this manner, the pursuit of a peace deal with Egypt had 
also become a means to avoid peace with the Palestinians.36

Critics of the Camp David Summit gradually recognized this 
outcome, speaking out forcefully against Sadat’s perfidious behav-
ior toward the Palestinians.37 His own advisors dissented from the 
final accords, with his foreign minister, Mohammed Kamel, boy-
cotting the signing ceremony and resigning from office.38 In brief 
remarks prior to the official signing on September 17, President 
Carter reiterated the importance of an agreement on some form of 
Palestinian self- determination. He reminded his audience “of the 
hopes and dreams of the people who live in the West Bank and Gaza 
Strip.”39 During his warmly received address before a special joint 
session of the U.S. Congress on September 18, Carter expanded on 
the “painful human question of the fate of the Palestinians,” sug-
gesting another way forward. “The Camp David agreement guaran-
tees that the Palestinian people may participate in the resolution of 
the Palestinian problem in all its aspects,” Carter told the assembled 
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lawmakers. “Israel has agreed, has committed themselves, that the 
legitimate rights of the Palestinian people will be recognized.”40 But 
how exactly would those rights be secured? What did the phrasing 
mean in practical terms?

While the Camp David Accords represented the first moment 
since the establishment of Israel that Palestinians were promised 
some form of “rights,” the specifics were never spelled out. In the 
context of the PLO’s wider struggle for global recognition, Carter’s 
promise could be viewed as a great rhetorical advancement for the 
perennially stateless people.41 But while this semantic recognition 
of Palestinian “rights” seemed a mark of progress, it did not in any 
practical way satisfy Palestinian aspirations for independence. This 
gap between the rhetoric of a political solution and a reality on the 
ground was acutely apparent to the Palestinians themselves. The 
PLO Executive Committee announced its “total rejection” of the 
accords soon after they were signed, and leaders from the territo-
ries declared that the idea of autonomy was an “open plot” against 
Palestinian rights, especially self- determination.42 PLO chairman 
Yasser Arafat warned that any supporters of Sadat would “pay a 
high price,” later describing the autonomy idea as “no more than 
managing the sewers.”43

The PLO had reason to worry about Camp David. As had been 
the case before the summit, neither the Israelis nor the Americans 
would support a PLO- run Palestinian state or self- determining 
entity. This called into question the tangible outcome of the peace 
agreement beyond Egyptian- Israeli normalization. While the sig-
nificance of such a bilateral agreement should not be diminished— it 
served to neutralize regional hostilities and the immediate threat of 
war, inaugurating a new era of relations between Israel and Egypt— 
the peace came at a great cost. Sadat had sacrificed Palestinian 
rights, which he had so vocally defended months earlier. U.S. offi-
cials understood the “free hand” Israel had gained over the occupied 
territories. In his assessment of Camp David, NSC advisor William 
Quandt suggested that while Israel gave up territory captured from 
Egypt in 1967, they secured retention of the West Bank: “For Begin, 
Sinai had been sacrificed, but Eretz Israel had been won.”44

One of the major sources of friction to emerge in the immedi-
ate aftermath of the summit confirmed Palestinian fears. This was 
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the status of settlement building in the occupied territories, which 
Carter had assured the joint session of Congress would end. “After 
the signing of this framework last night and during the negotiations 
concerning the establishment of the Palestinian self- government,” 
Carter told the assembled lawmakers, “no new Israeli settlements 
will be established in this area.”45 Contrary to Carter’s assertion, 
settlements would burgeon soon after. Prime Minister Begin, in-
sisting he only agreed to a three- month freeze, had never actually 
conceded the Israeli “right” to build in the West Bank.46

Several days after the signing of the Camp David Accords, the 
 Israeli prime minister proclaimed on American television that 
 Israel would remain in the West Bank indefinitely and would con-
tinue its settlement program. This declaration flew in the face of 
the proposed five- year transition period and attempts to reach a 
settlement moratorium discussed in an early draft of the agree-
ment. But Begin had only agreed to a more limited side letter. At 
the time, Carter saw the settlement setback as a secondary prob-
lem in light of the agreement that had been achieved. He therefore 
largely bowed out of a confrontation with the prime minister over 
this matter, declaring it “just an honest difference of opinion.”47 
Two weeks later, the president was asked about the inflexibility of 
the Israelis, and he reaffirmed that the settlements were indeed “il-
legal” and “an obstacle to peace.” He did not believe that “this one 
issue, if unresolved expeditiously, would prevent the peace treaty 
between Israel and Egypt.”48

Forging an Egyptian- Israeli Peace
In the six months that followed the September summit, diplo-
mats from Egypt and Israel worked toward the implementation 
of the Camp David Accords. Sadat tried to secure a linkage be-
tween Egyptian- Israeli peace and movement on Palestinian au-
tonomy, but the Israelis were not amenable to his proposals. The 
Egyptian leader was the subject of caustic anger and boycott from 
Arab states, including Syria, Iraq, and Libya.49 Carter was under 
increasing pressure to finalize the negotiations, especially as the 
Iranian Revolution had broken out in January 1979. The turmoil 
led to the downfall of Mohammad Reza Shah, Carter’s close ally, 
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and the rise of Grand Ayatollah Ruhollah Khomeini to power in 
February. It was not a hospitable time for continuing the Middle 
East negotiations.

It was also not the time for direct engagement with the Palestin-
ians. At a White House cabinet meeting in January 1979, Secretary 
Vance raised the possibility of establishing relations with the PLO 
to generate substantive movement in the talks. Zbigniew Brzezin-
ski recounted that Vice President Walter Mondale, a strong ally of 
Israel, was furious, while “[political advisor] Ham[ilton] Jordan— 
always mindful of the influence of the Jewish community in U.S. 
domestic politics— cheerfully quipped that perhaps one of us might 
want to be the first U.S. Ambassador to the West Bank, because in 
two years we would all be unemployed.”50 When two administra-
tion officials mentioned offhandedly to a congressional subcommit-
tee that the United States might seek to engage with the organiza-
tion, Begin drafted a cable to Vance denouncing the idea: “I would 
naturally assume, that the United States Government, even without 
consulting us, would wish to refrain from having any contact with 
this terrorist organization whose method is the murder of innocent 
civilians, women and children, and whose purpose is the destruc-
tion of the state of Israel.”51

Regional upheaval in 1979 compounded the difficulties facing 
implementation of the peace treaty. Brzezinski, who focused on 
this unfolding geopolitical context, voiced concern that a broader 
strategy had been lost in the negotiations. Carter’s National Secu-
rity Advisor concluded that peace negotiations should relate more 
directly to the unfolding developments in Iran and new alignments 
in the Arab world, which included a weakening Saudi Arabia.52 
For Egypt, these new alignments added to Sadat’s troubles. In-
creasingly isolated and besieged by Arab denunciations of Camp 
David, the Egyptian president sent his prime minister, Mustafa 
Khalil, to the White House. In a meeting with President Carter and 
 Israeli foreign minister Dayan on February 25, Khalil warned of 
the delay in the implementation of the accords: “Unless we con-
clude an agreement now it will be difficult to do so in a month and 
impossible in two or three. Our region is threatened.” The spec-
ter of an Arab summit before the conclusion of a peace treaty was 
worry ing to Sadat and his advisors. Their concern over Iranian and 
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Arab reaction had further minimized the Palestinian issue. “We 
cannot isolate ourselves from the Arab world,” Khalil remarked in 
the White House. Carter agreed, and pushed for swift action on the 
peace treaty with Israel. “Once it is done the other Arab countries 
cannot reject Egypt.”53

The Israelis were also mindful of regional tensions. On March 
2, Israeli prime minister Begin met with President Carter at the 
White House to discuss the final stages of the negotiations with 
Egypt. “The world is in turmoil and the Soviets are taking over by 
proxy,” Begin told the U.S. president, referring in part to the Ira-
nian Revolution. Begin also pointed to internal military develop-
ments in Iraq and the presence of Soviet advisors in Damascus, 
which he claimed had put Israel in a precarious position. “We see 
this as an awakening of Islamic fanaticism, just as in the Middle 
Ages. It could be contagious,” Begin exclaimed. The Israeli prime 
minister, invoking a refrain that would be repeated with increas-
ing frequency in the 1980s, continued, “The United States has only 
one stable ally in the Middle East, and this is Israel, whose stabil-
ity is inherent because it is a democracy.” By appealing to his U.S. 
interlocutors as the guarantors of regional stability, Begin linked 
Israeli strategic aims with American regional interests. “Israel can 
do whatever is necessary to prevent Saudi Arabia from being taken 
over by Communism,” the prime minister promised. “We cannot 
lose Saudi oil to Communism.”54

Turning his attention to the substantive disagreements over the 
negotiations with Egypt, Begin also emphasized the central role 
of Palestinian autonomy in the treaty’s delay. The provision over 
Palestinian self- rule had become a point of disagreement between 
Egyptian and Israeli negotiators, and remained the core obstacle to 
Begin’s movement on the implementation of a bilateral peace treaty 
with Sadat. Israel’s prime minister stressed his fear that a Palestin-
ian state might emerge from the autonomy provisions he himself 
had introduced. “People go around in Judea and Samaria and say 
to the Arabs that they should accept autonomy since it is only a 
first step towards a Palestinian state,” Begin explained to Carter. 
“We know this from reliable sources. Had we thought that out of 
autonomy a Palestinian state would arise we would never have sug-
gested it. We will not accept a Palestinian state.” Instead, after a 
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five- year interim period, the prime minister argued, “we shall claim 
our sovereign right over those areas.”55

Begin also invoked broader regional changes as a basis for his 
deep opposition to statehood. The PLO had openly backed the Ira-
nian Revolution, which was a direct blow to Israel’s long- standing 
alliance with the Shah. Arafat and a large delegation flew to Tehran 
soon after the revolution, and in a welcome ceremony they were 
handed the keys to the former Israeli Embassy, remade as the local 
office of the PLO. Prime Minister Mehdi Bazargan’s cabinet broke 
off relations with Israel, ordering diplomats and citizens to leave 
the country.56 “What is a Palestinian state?” Begin asked Carter 
rhetorically. “Arafat was in Tehran. He took over our embassy. He 
raised a flag. He said: ‘I feel now I am near Jerusalem.’ ” This de-
velopment was a nonstarter for the prime minister. “We must have 
ironclad guarantees that there will be no Palestinian state. I believe, 
Mr. President, that you have said so in public.”57

In Begin’s reading of the Camp David Accords, the notion of 
autonomy was never intended to apply to the territory itself. The 
Israeli leader was deeply concerned that the United States would 
attempt to secure territorial control for Arabs in the West Bank 
and Gaza Strip by agreeing to a more expansive view of autonomy. 
“If the self- governing authority provides full autonomy to the West 
Bank, this means that the territory has full autonomy, and Israel 
will have no right to be there. But we do have that right, because 
this is the land of Israel.”58 A heated back- and- forth ensued be-
tween Israeli negotiators and their U.S. counterparts in the White 
House Cabinet Room over the exact meaning of the accords. “No 
one is trying to trick Israel by slipping in a word here or there,” an 
exasperated Carter replied. “We are not scheming against  Israel; 
we are not trying to hurt you; and neither is Sadat.”59 The negotia-
tions over Camp David’s regional framework had hit up against 
two divergent views of the territory on which to enact some pro-
vision of self- rule for the Palestinians. In Israel’s configuration, 
which Begin worked to reify, the land itself was reserved for 
Jewish settlement and therefore separated from any autonomy 
arrangement.60

As part of a final effort to secure the peace treaty with Egypt, the 
U.S. president traveled to Cairo and Jerusalem several days later. 
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Carter’s March 11 discussion with Begin and Ariel Sharon under-
scored his growing concern that Israel’s concept of Palestinian au-
tonomy provided cover for burgeoning settlement expansion in the 
occupied territories. Sitting in the prime minister’s  office, Carter 
told the Israelis of his worry that the discussions over  autonomy 
were advancing without Palestinian or Jordanian participation, 
which signaled, “in effect, that almost in perpetuity Israel can re-
tain complete control over the West Bank area.” He added the con-
cern that Sharon, with Begin’s explicit support, indicated he would 
put “a million Jewish settlers on the West Bank,” which would make 
it “impossible” for the Palestinians to participate in the discus-
sions. “I have no way of looking into your hearts and souls and see 
how deeply you want to proceed with the self- government that the 
Prime Minister himself proposed,” Carter told Sharon and Begin. 
“But something has to be done to assure those who live on the West 
Bank and Gaza.”61

The Israeli prime minister responded with a robust defense of his 
vision for autonomy, reinforcing the notion that it was compatible 
with settlement expansion and insisting it could not lead to a state. 
“I believe it is one of the most beautiful, human ideas ever proposed 
by Zionism and Judaism, because we were a persecuted people and 
we understand another people, and we want not to interfere in their 
daily affairs.” In using this rhetoric, Begin posited the quotidian 
needs of Palestinian residents as apolitical, in contrast to the more 
politically expansive, temporally dynamic, and developmental needs 
of Israel. These needs also rested on an argument of security, which 
cohered in Begin’s mind with Jewish settlements: “What we need is 
security, and may I respectfully say that if my friend, the Minister of 
Agriculture [Ariel] Sharon spoke about a million Jews in Judea and 
Samaria, he didn’t mean any wrong, Mr. President. The number of 
Jews living in Judea and Samaria is not an obstacle to the autonomy 
for the Arab inhabitants.” By invoking a benevolent image of co-
existence, Begin sought to justify Israeli national dominance over 
Palestinians. “Why can’t Jews and Arabs live together?” Begin asked. 
“In Haifa they live together; in Nazareth they live together. This is 
the idea: to live together. But the Arabs will have autonomy. We will 
not interfere with their affairs. We want to make sure that there is 
security and there is no Palestinian state.”
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Sharon, the architect of Israel’s settlement expansion in the 
Likud government, reinforced Begin’s point. Drawing on a long- 
standing trope that denied Palestinian national identity in a par-
ticular geographic space, Sharon asserted that Jordan was the Pal-
estinian state. “We want the autonomy; we are ready to go very far, 
but there will never be a second Palestinian state, and I think it is 
important to make it clear now, in order to prevent misunderstand-
ing in the future.”62 Equating the settlers with Palestinian Arabs 
in Israel, Sharon asked Carter how he could prevent Jews from 
settling beyond the 1967 borders, given the number of Palestinian 
Arabs within Israel itself. “Altogether in this part of the world, I 
don’t see any possibility whatsoever to draw any geographical line 
which can divide between Jewish population and Arab population, 
because we live here together.” Such logic of equivalence between 
settlers and the Palestinian citizens of Israel suggested a retroactive 
justification of population exchange and the simultaneous denial of 
an inter- state occupation beyond the 1967 borders.

As the driver of the settlement project, Sharon did not shy away 
from his boastful prediction of one million Jewish settlers in the 
territories: “Believe me, Mr. President, when I use this figure of one 
million, saying that in 20– 30 years I hope that one million Jews 
will live there, Mr. President, I can assure you, they will live there. 
There’s nothing to do about it.” Sharon did not distinguish between 
areas of the West Bank or East Jerusalem either. “They will live 
there and if we said that we believe that in Jerusalem, what we call 
the Greater Jerusalem, it is a crucial problem for us, to have one 
million Jews, they will live there. . . . We were very careful to settle 
Jews,” Sharon concluded, “and that is what we are doing now.”63 
The exchange of views highlights how Israel successfully delineated 
the limits of its position on Palestinian autonomy while asserting 
the centrality of settlement expansion in the context of negotia-
tions over a peace treaty with Egypt. Carter had long opposed these 
settle ments but also sought to avoid confrontation with Israel in 
order to secure the signing of the treaty. In part, the pressure to 
complete the deal amid a difficult domestic and regional context 
served to leave these boasts unchallenged.

The American president understood that the Egyptian- Israeli 
negotiations had exposed two competing political projects and that 
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the Israeli view was far more restrictive when it came to auton-
omy. Yet he reminded Begin and Sharon that the Americans had 
played a mediating role that had worked in their favor. “I think you 
would agree that we have never put any pressure on Israel. We have 
never forced or encouraged Israel in any way to sign an agreement 
that was detrimental to the best interests of your own country.”64 
With these words of assurance, Carter warned Begin not to drag 
out the Knesset debate about the final language of the treaty or to 
get bogged down in the autonomy issue, because it would weaken 
Sadat. In the president’s words, “My belief is that the whole agree-
ment might very well come apart.”65

On the following morning, Carter was offered the chance to 
meet the full Israeli cabinet to secure approval for the peace deal. 
Begin, flanked by his ministers, used the opportunity to reiterate 
his narrow view of autonomy: “It should be clear to everyone that 
a so- called Palestinian state is out of the question for us. What we 
decided on at Camp David is autonomy, full autonomy for the Arab 
inhabitants.” Once again, the prime minister portrayed his support 
for autonomy as a benevolent act. “I will say today in the Knesset to 
my colleagues and my opponents that I believe it is a fine concept 
of Judaism and Zionism, which proves our liberal approach to the 
problems of another national group.”66

This “liberal” approach rested on a very particular definition of 
Palestinian Arabs. “We recognize the Arab nationality in our coun-
try, as you know,” Begin explained. “In our identity cards, it is writ-
ten Nationality: Jew, or Arab. We recognize the Arab nationality as 
such. And therefore it is no problem for us to recognize the rights of 
the Palestinian Arabs.” At the same time, Begin was quick to assert 
Israeli Jewish rights “in Judea and Samaria and the Gaza Strip,” 
adding “this is what we wrote in the Camp David agreement.”67 For 
Begin, there was no Palestinian identity specific or indigenous to 
historic Palestine. Rather, Palestinians (“Arab inhabitants”) were a 
minority group in an Israeli nation that was entirely sovereign over 
all the territory between the Mediterranean and the Jordan River. 
Israel’s occupation would both expand its borders and serve as the 
definitive means to prevent the emergence of a Palestinian state.

Carter soon flew to Egypt and got Sadat’s agreement on the final 
language of the treaty. Many of the Egyptian leader’s initial demands 
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on Palestinian self- rule were scuttled or ignored, with little substan-
tive protest. The decision was made to ratify the peace agreement 
and fulfill its comprehensive aspects regarding the Palestinian issue 
by starting autonomy negotiations within one month. This was af-
firmed in a side letter negotiated in Jerusalem before Carter’s depar-
ture and eventually signed by Begin and Sadat.68 While Carter was 
in Egypt, Begin gave an interview with Israel Radio on the evening 
news expressing his optimism about the signing of a treaty and the 
prospect of autonomy, reminding his listeners of his long- standing 
position: “There will be no border through Eretz Israel.”69

On March 26, Carter hosted the peace treaty signing between 
Sadat and Begin in Washington on the White House lawn. It for-
malized the bilateral peace agreement between Egypt and Israel and 
reiterated the language for autonomy talks. Egypt had secured U.S. 
backing and left the orbit of the Soviet Union, flush with American 
military and economic aid and no longer bogged down in regional 
discord with Israel. While the deal was welcomed across the United 
States and in Israel, the PLO leadership was bitterly opposed. Speak-
ing to a group of military recruits in Beirut’s Sabra refugee camp on 
the day of the signing, as effigies of the three  leaders burned in front 
of him, Arafat vowed to loud applause to “chop off the hands” of 
Carter, Sadat, and Begin.70 The PLO’s official statement noted that 
Sadat “sold Palestine to the Israelis under the cover of ‘self- rule’ for 
the Palestinians living under occupation while neglecting the Pales-
tinians living in the refugee camps for 30 years. Sadat sold himself, 
his people, the Palestinian People and the Arab lands in return for 
a mere 1.8 billion U.S. dollars. . . . It is in fact not a peace treaty at 
all but a military pact between Egypt, Israel and the USA which has 
endeavored to recognize the region after the loss of Iran.”71 Drawing 
loud applause in his Beirut speech, Arafat declared, “I shall finish off 
American interests in the Middle East.”72

The Egyptian- Israeli peace agreement spurred a wider geo-
political realignment. There was widespread Arab denunciation, 
and the Arab League severed relations with Egypt and moved their 
headquarters from Cairo to Tunis.73 The Soviet Union, which had 
moved closer to the PLO in the aftermath of Camp David, was also 
furious with the signing of the treaty. In a personal letter to the 
U.S. president, Soviet leader Leonid Brezhnev outlined in some 
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detail his deep antipathy toward the separate settlement between 
Israel and Egypt. Part of the reaction related to Cold War rivalry, as 
Brezhnev accused Carter of “solving questions on the sly, bypassing 
the Soviet Union.”74 But Brezhnev’s most pointed criticisms con-
cerned the fate of the Palestinians.

Let us face the truth. All what is happening now means an actual depar-
ture from a solution of the Palestinian problem. It was simply drowned 
in various political maneuvers which may appear subtle to someone but 
in fact are not in any way tied— neither from political nor from humane 
viewpoints— to the legitimate demands of the Arab  people of Palestine. 
What kind of peace is that if more than three million people who have 
the inalienable right to have a roof over their heads, to have their own 
even a small state, are deprived of that right. This fact alone shows how 
shaky is the ground on which the separate agreement between Israel 
and Egypt being imposed by the United States is built.75

Brezhnev’s warning indicated a more assertive stance on behalf of 
the Palestinians, which reflected the consolidation of Soviet sup-
port for a range of PLO factions, along with existing backing for 
Syria and Iraq. The expanding role of the Soviets and their special 
relationship with the PLO alerted Cold War hawks, who viewed the 
deepening relationship as a threat to U.S. interests in the Middle 
East, particularly the Gulf.76

After concluding the treaty, the Israeli- Palestinian conflict 
moved out of focus while Carter’s foreign policy team tried to man-
age the debilitating crisis that had stemmed from the overthrow of 
the Shah in Iran. The president sent his advisors to Saudi Arabia 
and Jordan to try to smooth over criticism of the Egyptian- Israeli 
agreement, and he reduced his visibility in Arab- Israeli affairs con-
siderably by appointing Democratic operative Robert Strauss as his 
lead negotiator for the upcoming autonomy talks.77 The president 
did not want to suffer through more of the gritty debates on the 
Middle East or expend further domestic political capital, already 
in short supply.

Secretary of State Vance was bothered by the diminished atten-
tion given to the region and Strauss’s new role. At a foreign affairs 
breakfast with his top advisors later that summer, Carter suggested 
that Strauss take full control in implementing the Camp David 
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treaty in order to mitigate political fallout and reduce Vance’s di-
rect involvement. Vance’s angry response conveyed a sense that 
the president had largely given up on his comprehensive vision 
for Middle East peace: “There is Lebanon, there is the Palestinian 
question, there is the question of the U.N. Do you want me literally 
to do nothing? Mr. President, I am not going to be a figurehead for 
you. If you don’t want me to do this, I am going to resign as Secre-
tary of State.”78 Carter rebuffed the resignation threat, telling Vance 
that he needed Strauss up front “as a political shield” to counter 
 domestic pressures on the administration.79 Vance remained in 
 office, and the autonomy talks were launched at a distance from 
direct White House involvement.

Preparing for Autonomy Talks, Expanding the Settlements
The completion of the peace treaty in March 1979 did not slow 
 Israeli settlement expansion, which continued even as preparation 
was underway for the start of the autonomy talks that May. Several 
days after the peace treaty was signed, the head of Begin’s govern-
ment office replied on his behalf to a critic of Camp David from the 
northern city of Safed. “The Prime Minister believes that we have 
the right of sovereignty over Judea, Samaria and Gaza and to fulfill 
that right. We left this question open to allow for the completion 
of the Peace Treaty,” Begin’s advisor Yechiel Kaddishai explained. 
“Our stance is that our army will remain in Judea, Samaria and 
Gaza,” Kaddishai added. His final line underscored the Israeli gov-
ernment’s position on settlements: “We acknowledge that we will 
expand existing settlements and establish new settlements. We are 
standing on this promise.”80

A series of secret meetings were convened at the Israeli Defense 
Ministry in Tel Aviv to formalize the government’s position on Pal-
estinian autonomy in the weeks after the accords were reached.81 
Several defense officials and Begin’s highest- ranking aides worked 
on an implementable autonomy plan, which excluded the possibil-
ity of a Palestinian legislative body and maintained Israel’s military 
government in the territories. The Washington Post reported on the 
emerging formula, which stressed the overriding principle that au-
tonomy “not include the right to eventually create an independent 
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Palestinian state.”82 The Post explained how Israel was claiming 
special water, land, and settlement rights, and emphasized that the 
plan followed Begin’s precept that “individual Arabs on the West 
Bank and Gaza Strip should be given autonomy, but that the areas 
themselves should not be allowed to become collectively autono-
mous in the sense of constitutional democracies.”83

There were also extensive back- door negotiations within the 
Israeli government to secure settlement expansion plans in the 
West Bank and Gaza Strip. These new settlements were planned 
in a manner that would ensure Israeli control of the territories re-
gardless of any peace deal or agreement on Palestinian autonomy.84 
Ostensibly held to devise bargaining positions on the future of the 
1967 lands, the settlement committee (also known as the “Ben- 
Elissar Committee” after the leading role played by Begin’s direc-
tor general, Eliyahu Ben- Elissar) made several recommendations 
to Prime Minister Begin that evolved into actual policies imple-
mented in 1979 and the early 1980s.85 These included the territorial 
retention of 250,000 acres of “state land” in the West Bank, contin-
ued control of underground water resources, and special jurisdic-
tion for Jewish settlers in the territories.86

In the week before the first autonomy meeting began in late 
May, the Israeli ministerial committee in charge of negotiations 
deliberated on its opening position paper. This report, approved by 
the full cabinet, stated explicitly that sovereignty for any proposed 
autonomous council should “derive from the Israeli military gov-
ernment in the occupied territories.”87 The position paper included 
two declarations that mirrored Begin’s first draft of the autonomy 
plan from 1977: (1) no establishment of a Palestinian state, and 
(2) an Israeli claim to sovereignty over the territories at the end 
of the period of autonomy.88 While Egypt and the United States 
hoped to use autonomy as an interim means and transition period 
to more permanent negotiations over borders and sovereignty, the 
Israelis clearly signaled that autonomy was an end in itself and 
 sovereignty would ultimately rest with the State of Israel.89 Begin 
also mandated that the military government in the occupied ter-
ritories would remain the source of any authority, assuring settler 
leaders that expansion would continue after the ninety- day freeze 
he had promised Carter at Camp David.
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Ben- Elissar, who would soon become Israel’s first ambassador to 
Egypt, later confirmed Begin’s dedication to personal rather than 
territorial autonomy in the Camp David process. He explained 
that both the Egyptian and Israeli leaders got what was “most im-
portant” to them. “One got Sinai, and the other got the exercise 
of single sovereignty, Israeli sovereignty, over the territory between 
the Mediterranean and Jordan.”90 As the articulation of the offi-
cial Israeli position, Ben- Elissar’s statement is a testament to the 
underlying intentions and outcomes of the autonomy negotiations. 
It reveals how the conception of limited individual Arab rights by 
Israel was incongruous with the national sovereignty of Palestin-
ians in the West Bank and Gaza Strip, cementing de facto Israeli 
control and effective sovereignty beyond the Green Line as a central 
component of the Camp David Accords. This contradiction was the 
core reason for the stalled negotiations over Palestinian autonomy, 
which extended from 1979 until 1982.

British and American Premonitions
Members of the British Foreign Office and officials at the U.S. State 
Department closely observed Israeli planning in the early months 
of 1979. The British ambassador in Tel Aviv wrote to his colleagues 
that while many in Israel believed the West Bank and Gaza were 
“inalienably their heritage,” some had recognized that they were 
“operating a hated colonial regime in the West Bank and Gaza, and 
that the hatred is likely to grow.”91 At the same time, the ambassa-
dor explained, “four months after Camp David, there is today virtu-
ally no one in this country [Israel] of any political persuasion who 
believes that the autonomy plan agreed there either could or should 
be implemented on the West Bank.”92 Britain’s consul general in 
 Jerusalem reported on the popular reaction among Palestinians, 
who viewed autonomy as a “threat” rather than a political solution. 
“The dismal fact is when Presidents Sadat or Carter speak com-
fortable words about the Palestinians and autonomy, their voices 
sound impotent and far away,” he wrote to the Foreign Office. 
“When Begin speaks the Master’s voice is clear, and as far as the 
West Bankers are concerned, his police and soldiers seem all too 
soon to arrive and carry out his threats.”93
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British sentiments signaled a deeper recognition of the passage of 
decolonization in the 1950s and 1960s, suggesting an inevitable reck-
oning with Israel’s language and practice of colonial expansion well 
into the 1970s.94 In the view of the head of the Near East  Directorate 
of the Foreign Office, Begin “rejects the whole concept of a Pales-
tinian people precisely because the existence of such  people would, 
if acknowledged, call into question some of the moral ground for 
Zionism.”95 He therefore doubted that the Palestinian issue would 
be resolved through territorial compromise.96 The consul general in 
Jerusalem noted the dejection of Palestinians, who “gloomily take 
refuge in the feeling that the Jews are rowing against the tide of his-
tory and that someday they will be carried off downstream like Rho-
desia, Taiwan, Iran and so on.”97 Although under no illusion that 
Israel would end its territorial occupation without external pressure, 
Foreign Office officials still concluded that the Camp David Accords 
might give the United States “a better lever to apply to Israeli policy” 
and help start a move toward multilateral negotiations.98

UK diplomats were not alone in voicing concerns about the fate 
of the Palestinians after Camp David. A series of cables from the 
American embassy in Tel Aviv were sent to officials in Washington 
and diplomats stationed throughout Europe and the Middle East, 
analyzing the Israeli objectives ahead of the autonomy talks. The 
first, just after the Egyptian- Israeli agreement was signed in March, 
tackled the Israeli position on water. “There is little inclination here 
to share even partial control of water sources with West Bankers,” 
wrote Richard Viets, a political officer at the U.S. Embassy.99 Viets 
recounted past efforts of Palestinians to drill new wells, which were 
summarily refused. “Pre- 1967 Israel has continued to expand its 
exploitation of the aquifer layer shared by Israel and most of the 
West Bank. While Arab water use in the West Bank has been frozen 
by Israeli authorities. . . . The GOI [Government of Israel] conve-
niently ignores the fact that Israeli occupation policy for the last 12 
years prevented West Bankers from expanding their utilization.”100 
It was possible, Viets argued, that joint decision making could lead 
to joint control of water sources, or some form of Israeli custodian-
ship over water sources during the proposed transitional period, 
but such a body “must be more than a sham which the Israelis use 
to cover their sole control of decisions.”101
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The core issue of contention in the autonomy talks would not be 
water, however, but a dispute over the proprietorship of land and 
settlements in the West Bank and Gaza Strip. American diplomats 
were fully aware that the settlement project had become a central 
component of the Likud government agenda and had no expecta-
tion of a complete moratorium on building at the onset of nego-
tiations.102 Instead they outlined the “optimum compromise” they 
believed could be achieved:

— Retention of almost all existing settlements, with a heavy price 
for removal of a symbolic few;

— De facto freeze on new settlements;
— Settlements to be exempt from jurisdiction of SGA [Self- 

Governing Authority] and directly linked to GOI [Govern-
ment of Israel];

— In order to permit thickening of existing settlements some 
sort of shared GOI- SGA responsibility for allocation of public 
lands, with the Israelis having the final say.103

Such a low ceiling toward the outcome of the negotiations did not 
augur well for the possibility of an agreement on Palestinian au-
tonomy that might ensure sovereignty and self- determination for 
the Arabs in the occupied territories, which the Israelis had in any 
case already neutralized.

The overarching U.S. view of the settlement project under-
scored the challenge over territory that awaited the participants in 
the autonomy talks. During the ten- year phase of Labor’s settle-
ment building after the 1967 War (1967– 1977), government coali-
tions had established thirty- eight settlements in the West Bank and 
four in the Gaza Strip.104 On the grounds that a Jewish communal 
presence existed in parts of the West Bank before 1948, the Etzion 
Bloc and Kiryat Arba (Hebron) were included as areas marked for 
settlement growth. But the government had opposed settlements 
in areas of “dense Arab population,” which Labor politicians ar-
gued would be returned to Arab sovereignty under a final peace 
deal. The Likud victory had changed the calculus for Israel. As 
Viets explained, Begin and his ministers saw the conquest of the 
West Bank and Gaza Strip “as a fulfillment of Israel’s historic des-
tiny.”105 Undeterred by the heavy Arab presence in the West Bank 
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highlands, the Likud sought to solidify the territorial gains even 
further. In its first nine months in office, the government set up 
fourteen new settle ments in the West Bank, mostly in the “Heart of 
Samaria,” which had hitherto been off limits, and two in Gaza. De-
spite a year’s break (as the American diplomat described, “to catch 
its breath”) and a three- month settlement freeze after Camp David, 
planning and building quickly resumed.106 While many Israelis op-
posed settlement in the heart of the West Bank, and even Labor 
leader Shimon Peres hinted that if his party were negotiating over 
autonomy, it would be prepared to abandon the settlements in the 
West Bank highlands, U.S. officials asserted that there would still 
be “strong public reaction to removing them.”107

Israel’s mastermind behind this new phase of settlement ex-
pansion was Ariel Sharon, the minister of agriculture in the Begin 
government. In his reporting on the unfolding Israeli plans, Rich-
ard Viets made it clear that Sharon intended to increase building 
substantially.108 The World Zionist Organization, which had a set-
tlement department working alongside official government chan-
nels, submitted its own “master plan” for a similar model of expan-
sion along these lines.109 Viets noted in his cable to Washington 
 superiors at the State Department that the Gush Emunim settler 
movement and its allies in the National Religious Party (NRP) were 
pressuring Prime Minister Begin to provide “iron- clad assurances 
that settlement activity would continue during negotiations and 
under autonomy” as a means of securing their support for the peace 
treaty with Egypt.110

In addition to maintaining the right to expand settlements and 
control water resources, the Israeli negotiating position was further 
premised on the maintenance of Israeli troop presence in the West 
Bank.111 This derived from stated security concerns about the ex-
ternal threats of Arab countries across Israel’s eastern border and 
the internal threat of Palestinian nationalist groups.112 The opening 
Israeli negotiating position in the autonomy talks, Viets surmised, 
required “the legal right of Israeli security forces to operate in the 
West Bank and Gaza.” Such a prerequisite was premised on Isra-
el’s “ultimate control over public order, political activity, political 
 assembly and censorship . . . control over immigration . . . control 
of the prisons; and control over the return of refugees.”113 In taking 
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this approach, the Israeli government linked its claims of sovereign 
control with the necessity of developing the territory itself. As Viets 
expanded in another cable, Begin’s point of departure in the talks 
“conceives of autonomy as a permanent regime for territories under 
Israeli control, if not sovereignty.”114 Sharon, Viets concluded, “is 
committed to the permanent retention of Israeli control over the 
West Bank and Gaza, which he believes can only be assured by im-
mediate and massive settlement of those territories.”115

British diplomats confirmed and expanded on Viets’s conclu-
sion, explaining the mechanism by which Israeli sovereignty would 
operate in the settlements that Begin and Sharon were developing: 
“Jewish settlements are to have police force of their own. Jewish 
residents with license to carry arms will be able to do so through-
out the autonomous region. The Ministry of Communication is to 
control entire communications infrastructure: the administrative 
council will not be authorized to set up radio or television stations 
or to issue stamps.” These were critical vestiges of sovereignty that 
Israel would extend to areas settled beyond the Green Line. “Over-
all planning and control of water resources in whole area west of 
the Jordan will be in Israeli hands,” the Foreign Office explained.116 
Like their American counterparts, British diplomats were fully 
aware that the Israeli version of autonomy would necessitate the 
retention of full political sovereignty in the territories. Such an out-
come would cement Israeli control and undercut the possibility that 
Palestinians would achieve any real sovereignty on the ground.117

Settlement Legality
Israel’s consistent position on settlement expansion and continued 
sovereignty in the territories was bolstered by the advice of a leading 
U.S. legal scholar, Eugene Rostow. Rostow, a neoconservative who 
had criticized the Carter administration for its Soviet policy and 
would later join the Reagan administration as its highest- ranking 
Democrat, was the Sterling Professor of Law at Yale University.118 
In publications that provided ongoing justification for Israeli con-
trol of the territories, Rostow repudiated U.S. acceptance of the 
Fourth Geneva Convention in the case of the West Bank.119 The 
arguments were in complete alignment with earlier presentations 
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of this issue to the Carter administration in 1977 by Israeli attorney 
general Aharon Barak.

Like Barak, Rostow argued that the original postwar provisions 
against occupied territory were only intended for the case of Ger-
many and its neighbors, but “Israeli administration of the areas 
[West Bank and Gaza] has involved no forced transfer of popula-
tion or deportations.”120 In Israel’s— and Rostow’s— view, the West 
Bank and Gaza Strip were “still unallocated territories of the Pales-
tinian Mandate,” and “Israel’s legal position with regard to its right 
of settlement in the West Bank is impregnable.”121 Rostow had a 
personal investment in these questions, at one point dismissing the 
Carter administration’s “enthusiasm for the so- called ‘Palestinian’ 
cause.”122 The rationale he provided on the legal question of settle-
ments sustained an alternative argument for expansion that would 
shape Israeli and American policy for decades.123

American diplomats who were preparing for the autonomy ne-
gotiations in May conceded from the outset that a longer settle-
ment freeze was unlikely. Under the best of circumstances, they ad-
mitted, the negotiations would still give Israel final say on retaining 
the right to expropriate disputed land from Arab owners. Charac-
terizing the views of local West Bank residents, career diplomats at 
the American Consulate in Jerusalem expounded on growing local 
fears. “Many Palestinians look at the future through the experience 
of the past and see the possibility of these Jewish settlers slowly 
transforming the West Bank bit by bit into Jewish controlled entity; 
first the Jerusalem suburbs, Jordan Valley, Etzion Bloc and Kiryat 
Arba, then the other close- in planned towns like Givon, Ma’aele 
Adumim, Ofra,” foreign service officers explained. These residents 
envisioned “a process of nibbling away at the remaining bedrock of 
Arab Palestine, splitting it with Israeli- built roads connecting Tel 
Aviv with the Jordan Valley, engulfing the area from Bethlehem to 
Ramallah and half way to Jericho, and eventually ghettoizing the 
Arab population centers such as Nablus and Hebron.” “This may in-
deed be a far- fetched fear,” the diplomats continued, “but such fears 
and paranoia are rampant and affect the general mood of the West 
Bank.” Lamenting that for twelve years the United States had been 
opposing settlement activity as “illegal” and “an obstacle to peace,” 
the consulate reported that this was “ignored or rejected” by Israel. 
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“The Palestinian Arab instead sees the U.S. as apparently unwilling 
or unable to put the force of our policy behind these strong words 
and, to the contrary, pouring more and more economic and military 
aid into the country which flaunts our strictures.”124

There were also leading Israeli politicians who looked upon this 
expansion in the West Bank with dismay. In discussing the views 
of Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan, the U.S. Embassy in Tel Aviv 
described his insistence that negotiations should not be a period 
of “grab” to establish settlements “where we do not think a perma-
nent settlement is necessary,” but rather they should enable a final 
policy to be determined on those existing settlements already built. 
 Dayan’s vision, however, was not in alignment with the dominant 
view of the Begin government, and he was excluded from the au-
tonomy negotiating team.125

Despite the systemic problems that they outlined, U.S. diplo-
mats offered little in the way of an alternative. Officials in Jeru-
salem reminded Washington “there is no Palestinian negotiating 
partner.” The Camp David process, in their view, would remain 
subject to strong opposition by West Bankers, along with the PLO, 
Jordan, and the wider Arab world.126 Even the most cooperative 
Palestinian leaders remained skeptical of the autonomy negotia-
tions. In an interview with the New York Times columnist Anthony 
Lewis, Gaza mayor Rashid al- Shawa noted deep reservations about 
the process that was unfolding. “Mr. Begin tells the world that the 
state land must be theirs, that they can settle wherever they want, 
that the autonomy is of people and not land, that there will never 
be a Palestinian state. With all this, what am I going to negotiate 
about?” the Gaza mayor told Lewis. “I understand going and talk-
ing about details if the principle is right. But when you deny me the 
principle— self- determination— what is there to discuss?”127

As a preview of what negotiations ultimately wrought, al- Shawa’s 
concerns— along with other premonitions— underscored a funda-
mental incompatibility: the negotiation over Palestinian autonomy 
was bound to exclude meaningful sovereignty and would be tied up 
with the Israeli retention of land and the expansion of settlements.128 
The Israeli position put forward at Camp David had provided a clear 
road map for territorial consolidation. In articles attacking Begin’s 
promotion of administrative autonomy, Israeli journalist Amnon 
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Kapeliouk argued that “South African Bantustans have more pre-
rogative and wider margin of maneuver.” Kapeliouk criticized his 
government for establishing administrative councils exclusively for 
the settlements, enshrining occupation and separation.129

The First Round
Egyptian and Israeli delegations met in the southern Israeli city 
of Beersheba on Friday afternoon May 25, 1979, for the first round 
of autonomy talks. Early that morning, the Israeli army evacu-
ated the northern Sinai town of El- Arish in coordination with the 
Egyptian army, completing an agreement to begin negotiations one 
month after the exchange of the instruments of ratification of the 
Egyptian- Israeli peace treaty.130 Dr. Joseph Burg, Israel’s minister 
of interior, and General Kamal Hassan Ali, the Egyptian defense 
minister, led their respective delegations in the talks, held at Ben 
Gurion University. King Hussein of Jordan did not accept the in-
vitation to participate, as Jordan was fiercely critical of the Camp 
David Accords.131 U.S. secretary of state Cyrus Vance and Carter’s 
special envoy to the Middle East, Robert Strauss, headed the Amer-
ican delegation.

Strauss, who had been chairman of the Democratic National 
Committee and successfully completed the 1973– 1979 Tokyo Round 
of Multilateral Trade Negotiations as U.S. trade representative, was 
a political figure deeply sympathetic to Israel.132 According to an 
internal Israeli memo, Strauss’s belief in Israel’s conception of its 
own security would ensure his loyalty on matters as sensitive as 
the fate of Jerusalem: “He is the man who will go to the President 
[Carter] close the door behind him and say the city will not be 
divided into two, and we must find an acceptable solution to the 
problem. He will do this, of course, after he hears and discusses 
Israel’s position and feeling on the topic.”133 Burg, the leader of Is-
rael’s National Religious Party, was selected in part to safeguard 
Begin’s coalition allies but also as a signal that the prime minister 
viewed the autonomy issue as an internal Israeli domestic problem, 
not a matter for the Foreign Ministry to deal with.134

Moshe Dayan, stung by his exclusion from the committee, ten-
dered his resignation in October. His resignation letter cited Israel’s 
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relations with Arabs in the territories as the cause. For the final 
two years of his life, Dayan worked to promote unilateral autonomy 
for Palestinians while ending Israeli military control in the West 
Bank.135 As Dayan recalled in his memoirs, “I . . . did not believe 
that Israeli sovereignty could be imposed on these Arabs against 
their will.”136 Dayan’s preference was not territorial compromise 
or the creation of a Palestinian state but a more robust definition 
of full autonomy for Arabs than Begin was offering, in connection 
with either Israel or Jordan. He refused to advocate for Israeli an-
nexation of the territories and disagreed with members of the gov-
ernment who supported the appropriation of Arab land.137 It was 
a curious position for the general who had convinced Israelis after 
the 1967 War that they could somehow retain the territories with-
out compromising the democratic character of the state.

Speaking on behalf of Egyptian prime minister Mustafa Khalil, 
who was unable to attend, General Ali opened the meeting. He in-
voked President Sadat, who “has emphasized repeatedly that the 
Palestinian problem is the heart and crux of the entire conflict.” 
Ali articulated guidelines to underpin the talks, emphasizing the 
need for Palestinian participation in determining their own future: 
“Only the Palestinians themselves can make such a decision, for 
self- determination is their God- given right. Our task is merely to 
define the powers and responsibilities of the self- governing au-
thority with full autonomy and the modalities for electing it.”138 
In a method parallel to the Israeli use of autonomy, the Egyptians 
thereby deployed an abstract concept of self- determination, which 
was emptied of politically decisive meaning.139 This tactic served 
their immediate agenda as benevolent protectors of Palestinian 
rights, even as Sadat had all but cast the Palestinians aside in sign-
ing a bilateral treaty with Israel.

The absence of Palestinian participation in the autonomy meet-
ings, which continued until their conclusion in 1982, was noted 
from the inception.140 U.S. diplomats, despite their continuing 
public pronouncements on the importance of Palestinian economic 
and political rights, in fact privately supported Palestinian exclu-
sion from the negotiations. In one secret conversation between 
Israeli minister Burg and U.S. ambassador Strauss, the two men 
agreed to proceed without Palestinian representation.
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bUrg: Sadat said perhaps we can go ahead for the moment without 
Palestinians. In the world Palestinians means PLO and this is 
 poison for us . . . 

straUss: As far as we are concerned we agree that for the moment, 
for the next few months, we can get along without Palestinians. . . . 
We must put the dowry together and assume that we will find the 
bride.141

Although Vance stressed the American belief that “governments 
derive their just powers from the consent of the governed,” such 
consent was markedly absent in the case of the occupied Palestin-
ians. “We believe that the Palestinian people must have the right for 
themselves and their descendants to live with dignity and freedom, 
and with the opportunity for economic fulfillment and  political ex-
pression,” Vance had remarked in his opening speech. He had also 
accounted for the Palestinian diaspora. “We must make a start to 
deal with the problem of Palestinians living outside the West Bank 
and Gaza. They too must know that an accepted and respected 
place exists for them within the international community.”142 Like 
much of the Carter administration’s rhetoric and approach to 
human rights, it was, in the words of one critic, “more apparent 
than real.”143

As vacuous as the Egyptian and American endorsements of Pal-
estinian self- determination may have been, they were met with an 
overwhelmingly negative Israeli response. In his opening speech, 
Burg remarked that at the heart of autonomy “lies the conviction 
that the Palestinian Arabs should and must conduct their own 
daily lives for themselves and by themselves.” But he stressed a 
conceptual distinction. “What I must make clear and what must 
be understood from the outset is that autonomy does not and can-
not imply sovereignty . . . we must, by definition, reject a- priori 
an independent Palestinian statehood. Israel will never agree, and 
indeed, totally rejects the propositions, declarations or establish-
ment of a Palestinian state in Judea, Samaria and the Gaza Dis-
trict.”144 Israel’s overarching priority, as successive rounds made 
clear, was to keep the talks in motion and embed a hegemonic 
definition of autonomy without enabling Palestinian sovereignty 
or statehood.
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Burg’s position throughout the talks rested on a dramatic narra-
tive of Israel’s security needs: “No hostile element or agent or force 
dare control the heartland of this land to threaten the lives of its 
city dwellers and villagers and thereby hold a knife to the jugular 
vein of Israel.”145 In Israeli diplomatic parlance, Palestinians often 
denoted the PLO, and as Begin himself would tell Strauss, “The 
PLO is beyond the pale of human civilization.”146 Until the conclu-
sion of the negotiations, then, no Palestinians would participate in 
a discussion about their own future, nor would a joint Jordanian 
delegation that might mitigate concerns about PLO involvement. A 
confidant of Burg at the time, American Jewish leader Henry Sieg-
man, later recalled discussions during which the Israeli minister of 
interior admitted the mere existence of the talks was a mechanism 
for “shooting the dog” of Palestinian autonomy.147

Egyptian Enablement
Israel’s views of autonomy were well known and unsurprising, un-
like the critical legitimacy conferred on the talks by Egypt. To mark 
the one- year anniversary of the signing of the Camp David Accords, 
the Egyptian government sent its vice president, Hosni Mubarak, to 
Washington to meet with President Carter and Israeli representa-
tives. In a private conversation, Mubarak and Egyptian ambassador 
Ashraf Ghorbal gathered with President Carter, Secretary Vance, 
National Security Advisor Brzezinski and Ambassador Strauss to 
discuss Egypt’s economic, military, and political concerns. Mubarak’s 
priority was economic; in light of Egypt’s isolation from the Arab 
world since Camp David, the country was relying on the United 
States for hard currency and extensive wheat imports. Listing items 
like maize, animal fats, rice, and chicken, the Egyptian vice president 
outlined a “crisis” facing his country, which was now dependent on 
American aid. “It is the food of the people. If Egypt could buy it else-
where it would do so, but it can’t,” Mubarak stressed.148

Cognizant of resurgent Cold War concerns, the Egyptian leader 
was clear in emphasizing allegiance to the United States and an-
tipathy toward Egypt’s former Soviet patrons. Mubarak warned of 
the growing threat from Soviet influence in the Middle East and 
the attendant risks of Egypt’s marginalization in the wake of Camp 
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David. The country needed more military equipment, including 
Phantom jets, to ensure continued stability against neighbors like 
Libya. Mubarak also asked for destroyers and more naval equip-
ment to bolster his country’s power and the position of its primary 
patron: “Egypt is keen to keep the image of the United States in 
good shape . . . a worsening image would be detrimental to both 
of us.” Linking Egypt’s fate with America’s regional influence, 
Mubarak then turned to the ongoing autonomy talks, imploring the 
Americans to reach a “precise conclusion.” In Mubarak’s view, Sadat 
felt the United States had to convince Begin to move, “so that the 
Arab world (the Saudis and other moderates) would know some-
thing is being done.”149

Carter was mindful of Israel’s dominance over the autonomy 
talks and stressed to Mubarak the need for a more coordinated 
Egyptian position. “Sometimes it is difficult . . . to be more forceful— 
[as in] protecting Palestinian rights, promoting the autonomy talks, 
preventing settlements— than [is] Sadat. It is hard when we take a 
strong position, and Sadat is more accommodating.” It was clear 
from Carter’s remarks that the Egyptian stance in the negotiations 
had demanded even less from Israel than the United States. “Begin 
is stubborn and courageous. He will say no if he means no; yes if he 
means yes. On several occasions, we [the United States] have been 
more forceful in carrying out the Camp David accords than has 
Egypt,” Carter warned. On the difficult issues like the fate of Jeru-
salem, settlements, and the Palestinian question, Carter felt Egypt 
and the United States had to align their approach. “We both need 
to be forceful, in public and in private. Jews in America constantly 
say: why are we tough when Sadat doesn’t care?” Egypt, in Carter’s 
view, seemed to abdicate responsibility on a number of the broad 
issues emanating from Camp David. Referring to a recent Israeli 
cabinet decision permitting Israelis to buy Arab land in the West 
Bank, Carter turned to Mubarak. “What is the Egyptian position? 
We don’t know.” Mubarak simply agreed.150

Egypt’s acquiescence on the central issues confronting the future 
of the Palestinian question extended to the level of more minute 
debates in the autonomy negotiations. During the sixth round of 
talks held at the San Stefano Hotel in the Egyptian coastal city of 
Alexandria in September 1979, Prime Minister Mustafa Khalil got 
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into a disagreement with his Israeli interlocutors over the mecha-
nisms for implementing autonomy on the ground. Egypt believed 
that any Self- Governing Authority should have legislative, execu-
tive, and judicial powers, while the Israeli position was limited to 
budgetary and regulatory powers. The Israelis also insisted on in-
serting language that emphasized autonomy was only for inhabit-
ants of the West Bank and Gaza “and not to territory.” Khalil knew 
this was a ruse to strip autonomy of all meaning, arguing that in the 
Camp David Accords “it was never mentioned that it [will] apply to 
inhabitants and not territory.” Yet despite his reservations, Khalil 
acceded to the Israeli interpretation of Camp David, particularly 
on the question of Palestinian statehood. “We have to be careful 
in our phrases,” Khalil remarked to Burg. “I cannot come and say 
 powers and responsibilities that could lead to forming an indepen-
dent Palestinian state.” Burg quickly replied, “On this I would go 
along with you. This is the point.” It was a clear indication that even 
for Egypt, the outcome of the autonomy talks cohered with Israeli 
and American priorities to avoid the possible emergence of a Pal-
estinian state.151

Khalil was aware of the perception his acquiescence would gen-
erate outside the negotiating room. “We don’t like that this will 
grow out and leak and then the Palestinians will say, well you have 
already accepted the thesis that the Self Governing Authority and 
the responsibilities and so on will apply only to the inhabitants and 
not to the land.”152 This acknowledgment that autonomy would 
preclude the creation of a Palestinian state matched the position 
of Sol Linowitz, the lead U.S. negotiator who replaced Ambassa-
dor Strauss in later rounds of negotiations. In a private letter to 
one critic of the ongoing talks, Linowitz stressed, “Both Egypt and 
the United States have emphatically stated to Israel that they (and 
we) view such an autonomy as precluding the creation of an inde-
pendent Palestinian state.”153 Notwithstanding Sadat’s strong talk 
about self- determination at Camp David, the bilateral treaty with 
Israel was more important than investing the political and diplo-
matic capital necessary for a viable outcome to the autonomy nego-
tiations that followed. This lack of commitment explained why so 
many of Sadat’s advisors had already resigned and why there was 
growing protest in Egypt over the outcome of Camp David.154
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The PLO and American Jews Respond
For the PLO leadership, following the talks from a distance in Leb-
anon, the implications were distressingly clear. Arafat conveyed 
his views to the U.S. government via a secret back channel, like he 
had with the debate over UN Security Council Resolution 242.155 
The PLO chairman described the Camp David Accords as nothing 
more than “meaningless negotiations about some permanent co-
lonial status for the Palestinians under Israeli rule.” Arafat warned 
of the “massive build- up of U.S. arms to both Israel and Egypt, and 
preparations for another Arab- Israeli war which Begin is doing 
every thing to provoke through his attacks on South Lebanon. That 
is not a treaty for peace— it is a treaty for war.”156

Arafat was equally dismissive of autonomy, which he called “a 
farce,” instead suggesting an alternative path. “If there is a clear 
platform for serious, comprehensive peace negotiations,” Arafat re-
marked to U.S. officials, “we will of course take part.” In Arafat’s 
view, that platform should include three major points.

 1) Human rights for the Palestinians;
 2) The principle of the right of return for the Palestinians;
 3) The right of the Palestinians to have our own state.157

In the wider context of an emerging discourse on human rights 
in the 1970s, the PLO demands echoed similar political struggles 
around the globe. The organization’s attempts at a diplomatic track 
with the United States had continued after the setback of Camp 
David. American congressman Paul Findley, an Illinois Republican 
and critic of U.S. failures to negotiate with the PLO, met frequently 
with Arafat to try to parlay the organization’s views into a diplo-
matic opening. His attempts were unsuccessful, not quite crossing 
the threshold to reverse the 1975 ban on dialogue.158

As a means of furthering inroads beyond the United States, the 
PLO also turned to engagement with Europe. On July 6, 1979, Ara-
fat arrived in Vienna for extensive meetings with Austrian chancel-
lor Bruno Kreisky and West German chancellor Willy Brandt. The 
PLO leader asserted that Camp David had destroyed the possibility 
of a regional peace conference or any chance for a comprehensive 
settlement.159 Israeli foreign minister Moshe Dayan told Kreisky, 
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who was Jewish, that the meeting was “a demonstrative act against 
the State of Israel and the Jewish people,” and the Israeli cabinet 
pulled its ambassador from Austria.160 But the Arab League wel-
comed the Kreisky talks, and the PLO issued a bulletin stating that 
the meeting “represents an increasing European awareness of the 
failing of U.S. policy in the Middle East.”161 Arafat’s diplomatic suc-
cess in Austria bolstered his international standing, and reports of 
the PLO chairman’s “cheerful and hopeful mood” circulated in the 
Carter White House.162

U.S. officials were not entirely unsympathetic to Arafat’s criti-
cism of the Camp David process and the ongoing autonomy dis-
cussions. There was a desire to soften the PLO’s opposition to the 
talks, which would also alleviate pressure on the Egyptians. While 
the PLO did have allies inside the administration, efforts to reverse 
Kissinger’s ban on engagement that summer ended badly. State 
Department officials had explored a UN resolution that would 
re affirm the applicability of 242 to the territories and assert Pal-
estinian self- determination, which they hoped might elicit PLO 
acceptance and satisfy conditions for opening a dialogue. Carter 
approved the UN initiative and through intermediaries managed 
to secure a Palestinian delay in bringing a more adversarial text to 
a vote in the General Assembly. But as a result of dueling pressures 
from Saudi Arabia and Israel, as well as Egyptian opposition, he 
soon revisited his plans.163

Andrew Young, Carter’s ambassador to the United Nations and 
a prominent African American civil rights leader, had been part of 
the attempt to delay the PLO’s harsher text. The United States was 
hoping “to explore a compromise that could encourage Palestinian 
participation in the Camp David peace process” and sought out a 
more amenable draft resolution.164 At the apartment of the Ku-
waiti ambassador to the United Nations, Young met secretly with 
the PLO representative to the organization, Zehdi Labib Terzi, to 
discuss it. The Mossad leaked a transcript of the brief meeting to 
Begin, and the details were published more widely, contradicting 
Young’s initial statements on the meeting and forcing his resigna-
tion from the post. The ambassador had breached standing U.S. 
policy on non- engagement, and had not secured prior permission 
from the State Department, angering Vance.165
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Carter’s press secretary “wept” when he read the resignation let-
ter to the media. Carter himself was sympathetic to Young, writing 
in his diary that it was “absolutely ridiculous that we pledged under 
Kissinger and Nixon that we would not negotiate with the PLO.”166 
Young’s untimely departure was particularly delicate because of 
his track record as a prominent civil rights leader, widening an un-
pleasant schism between American Jews and African Americans.167 
Vernon Jordan, then the president of the National Urban League in 
New York, felt that Jewish institutions had rashly criticized Young, 
unfairly contributing to his firing.168 Young was an iconic symbol 
within the black community, and feelings of despair over his un-
timely departure ran deep. An African American cleaning lady in 
Jordan’s building tearfully exclaimed, “I just do not understand. I 
don’t understand diplomacy and I don’t understand foreign policy 
or international relations. But the one thing I do understand is that 
we always get screwed. And Andy Young got screwed because he 
was black.”169

The impression that Israel’s supporters in America “had gotten 
him, you know, had gotten black America’s spokesman in Ameri-
can government,” gained a lot of currency among those critical of 
the Jewish community’s influence on U.S. policy toward Israel and 
the Palestinians.170 Mark Siegel disputed the assertion made by 
Carter’s press secretary, Jody Powell, that “it’s going to be terrible 
how this is going to affect blacks and Jews in America, how blacks 
are going to blame Jews for getting rid of Andy Young.”171 American 
Jewish leader Hyman Bookbinder, however, did see a link between 
Jewish outrage over Young’s communication with the PLO and his 
immediate release. “Even though there was no explicit Jewish re-
quest or demand that he go,” Bookbinder explained, “the decision 
to let him go at this time in honesty technically requires that we ac-
knowledge . . . that the Administration said, ‘My God, we are going 
to have a lot of trouble with the Jews on this one.’ ”172

Young’s untimely departure underscored the trap of non- 
engagement with the PLO at the very moment it was seeking out 
(and securing) international legitimacy. Each time U.S. diplomats 
spoke openly about the possibility of reform or engagement with 
the organization, the Israelis invoked Henry Kissinger’s com-
mitments not to recognize or negotiate with them, and domestic 
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supporters of Israel followed suit. It was a diplomatic straitjacket 
that constrained U.S. officials throughout the 1970s. Carter later 
explained that “accepting the resignation of Andrew Young was one 
of the most heart wrenching decisions I had to make as president. 
He was a close and intimate friend, and the prohibition against 
meeting the PLO was preposterous, as this group was a key to any 
comprehensive peace agreement.”173

Carter’s constrained position on autonomy was compounded by 
the looming 1980 U.S. election and heightened American Jewish 
communal concerns about the direction of the autonomy talks.174 
In his chairman’s report to the Conference of Presidents of Major 
Jewish Organizations, the umbrella group of American Jewish 
 political life, Theodore Mann voiced concerns about the Begin gov-
ernment’s rigid stance. He noted the signs of an “annexationist cab-
inet” coming to power, one whose ultimate goal would be extending 
Jewish sovereignty in the occupied territories. Mann voiced worry 
that this would divide American Jewry, spawning fights over settle-
ments, “essentially a peripheral issue.” Rather, Mann wrote, “Jews 
should— must— debate fundamental religious and moral  issues, 
and issues that bear on their survival as a people . . . the issue on 
which all other issues hinge, is whether Jews regard sovereignty 
over Judea, Samaria and Gaza as being in their interest.”175

In Mann’s view, which he shared with other Jewish leaders, this 
was not a question of Israel’s right to sovereignty in the West Bank: 
“I think most of us— all of us— would agree that Israel’s right is as 
good or better than anyone else’s . . . the issue rather is whether it 
is good for the Jewish people . . . to attempt to achieve such sover-
eignty.” The chairman was rather open to the competing positions 
on sovereignty, with many Jews invoking a religious right to the ter-
ritories, while others felt it should be “abjured because of the equally 
deep religious view that Jews should not rule over 1,200,000 Arabs 
who do not wish to be ruled by them, no matter how benignly.” The 
underlying hesitancy voiced by Mann concerned the wisdom of air-
ing such a divisive debate in public, which he felt would be taken 
advantage of “by the President, the State Department, and Con-
gressmen who are critically important to Israel.”176

The decisive choice of the American Jewish leadership to avoid 
a public conversation over Israel’s occupation of the territories 
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stemmed from its potential impact on the autonomy negotia-
tions: “Our very success in having helped to create such a remark-
able ally for that beleaguered nation of Israel, is what imposes 
restraints upon us in speaking out.”177 Ultimately, the calculus of 
Mann and his fellow communal leaders contributed in part to a 
silencing of dissent and the rightward shift already distinguishing 
American Jewish political life at the end of the 1970s. This trend 
directly affected the Palestinians and the fate of their possible self- 
determination in subsequent years.

Autonomy into the 1980s
Ambassador Linowitz continued to work diligently to reconcile the 
central divisions between Egypt and Israel in a bid to achieve some 
tangible results for the Palestinians.178 During a meeting in Cairo 
in January 1980, the Egyptian and Israeli delegations presented 
Linowitz with varying models of autonomy to break the deadlock 
over the permissible degree of Palestinian self- rule. Israel’s model 
was entirely functional—  the establishment of what was called a 
“Self Governing Authority (Administrative Council)” for Palestin-
ians to deal with shared issues, while residual sovereignty remained 
with Israel. This functionalism reflected a persistent employment 
of autonomy as a political and discursive tool to diminish the pos-
sibility of sovereignty. Egypt’s autonomy model, however, was based 
on the mode of civil administration used by the Israeli military 
government and was intended to provide Palestinians with actual 
power for self- rule, in the form of exclusive authority over land and 
inhabitants. Conceptually, the Egyptian model was akin to a man-
date for the development of an eventual independent state after an 
interim waiting period.179

Linowitz selected the Israeli model as the basis for continuing 
negotiations, and the Egyptians reluctantly agreed. Secret docu-
ments reveal prior meetings between the U.S. and Israeli delega-
tions to prepare and adopt the Israeli position paper, with U.S. 
 ambassador James Leonard telling Israeli representatives, “We will 
ask you, and even suggest to you, some formulations in conformity 
with what you gave to us.”180 Egypt’s acquiescence reflected Sadat’s 
underlying personal trust in the U.S. ability to extract concessions 
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from Israel during the course of the negotiations. Leading mem-
bers of Sadat’s delegation at Camp David had, however, attacked 
this confidence. Egypt’s foreign minister, Mohammed Ibrahim 
Kamel, warned Sadat about the autonomy provisions of Camp 
David just before resigning in protest on the final day of the Sep-
tember 1978 summit: “We are only deceiving ourselves if we say 
this project will end in the realization of a just solution to the Pal-
estinian cause, for Israel will use it as an instrument and a source 
of support to liquidate the issue in accordance with its expansion-
ist intentions.”181

Kamel’s warnings evoked the skepticism of other critics like 
Brezhnev, but in the months after Camp David, Sadat was pri-
marily concerned with achieving a peace deal with Israel and with 
securing U.S. backing for internal reforms in his country. He be-
lieved Egypt in the post- Nasser era was “encumbered with worries 
and problems” and that its public utilities were “in a state of col-
lapse.”182 These domestic concerns fueled Egypt’s turn away from 
Soviet patronage in the wake of the 1973 War and culminated in 
Sadat’s decision to pursue the bilateral agreement with Israel. The 
Egyptian president did become increasingly vocal about Begin’s 
 intransigent stance toward implementing the Camp David Accords. 
In conversations with Carter during the summer of 1980, Sadat de-
manded the Israeli prime minister agree that “Jerusalem is nego-
tiable, stop the settlements, and take care of the human rights of 
the Palestinians.” Recording this conversation in his diary, Carted 
noted: “I don’t believe he [Begin] will do any of these things, and 
has dug himself a hole very damaging to Israel.”183 Sadat was not 
entirely honest in defense of the Palestinians. As declassified CIA 
analysis of his evolving position on autonomy reveals, “Sadat does 
not want a fully independent Palestinian state in the West Bank. 
He fears such a state would be pro- Soviet and a threat to regional 
stability.”184 As had been clear from Sadat’s approach when nego-
tiations with Carter first began, Egypt could not plausibly defend 
the interests of Palestinian nationalists.

While the autonomy talks continued that spring, it was clear 
that Israeli de facto control in the territories had been secured. 
Moreover, U.S. negotiators were often present and participating in 
discussions with the Israeli leadership when this jurisdiction over 



[ 158 ] cHaPter foUr

settlements and the wider West Bank was boldly asserted.185 This 
tense diplomatic environment and Sadat’s domestic preoccupa-
tions contributed to a feeble Egyptian stance in the negotiations. 
In a further indication of the increasingly asymmetrical nature of 
the autonomy talks, the Egyptians were often excluded from key 
meetings between the Israeli and American delegations. Records 
of these bilateral meetings highlight a pattern by which Palestin-
ian concerns were rendered subsidiary to Israeli priorities. Among 
these priorities was ensuring that negotiations over possible Pal-
estinian autonomy did not undermine the physical expansion of 
settlements in the occupied territories.

One example of what this linkage enabled was revealed in a 
meeting between U.S. ambassador Linowitz and the full Israeli del-
egation in Jerusalem on September 2, 1980. Turning to the rapid 
expansion of Israeli settlements in the occupied territories, Lino-
witz asked Ariel Sharon to explain the status of settlement develop-
ment and the rationale of expansion in light of their sensitive role 
in the autonomy talks. “We are finishing the skeleton,” Sharon an-
swered, anticipating the announcement of four further settlements. 
In one of the clearest expressions of what these settlements were 
intended to achieve, Sharon then outlined his aims:

You have to take into consideration, and again I am saying why I be-
lieve we have to hurry, why I believe that we have to finish it before the 
coming elections in Israel: the facts that were created in the areas, the 
skeleton, the map that exists practically in the area now does not allow 
any more and will not enable in the future any territorial compromise. 
I don’t see any possibility of territorial compromise. There are many 
possibilities of political answers or, let’s say modifications, but I cannot 
see any territorial compromise. I don’t see now any area that can be 
handed to anybody having this skeleton practically in the area.186

The “skeleton” Sharon helped design and implement on occupied 
Palestinian land was a means to ensure none of the territory could 
ever be ceded to the Palestinian inhabitants. This framework of the 
settlement project, and its deployment as a prerequisite even for 
diplomatic discussion of autonomy, was explicitly meant to pre-
vent any cession of territory by Israel, or the creation of a Pales-
tinian state. Throughout the autonomy talks, PLO representatives 
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watched these developments with biting criticism: “The Palestinian 
people are not in a hurry. We waited thirty- one years and we can 
wait more. They can continue building settlements with U.S. dol-
lars, they can set for their Judaization schemes for the Palestinian 
cities and towns as they are doing now in Hebron; but Palestine 
will remain ours.”187

Carter’s Defeat
Succumbing to foreign policy missteps and economic troubles at 
home, Carter lost the 1980 presidential election to former Califor-
nia governor Ronald Reagan.188 Clashes with the American Jew-
ish community over Israel and the Palestinian question, which had 
contributed to Carter’s defeat in the New York Democratic primary 
against Edward Kennedy, drove a larger number of Jewish voters 
than ever to the Republican Party.189 Carter’s campaign staff was 
immensely frustrated by this abandonment of the president, a re-
version to the suspicions that many American Jews had harbored in 
1976.190 Events in the Middle East had also contributed to Carter’s 
defeat, including the hostage crisis in Tehran and the outbreak of a 
major war between Iraq and Iran in September.

Linowitz, with the encouragement of both Carter and president- 
elect Reagan, returned to Israel in December 1980 for another 
round of talks over autonomy. He held several private meetings 
with Begin, imploring the Israeli prime minister to work harder for 
a resolution, but there was no progress.191 In a final report on the 
state of the negotiations, Linowitz assessed the prospects of their 
success in a new administration. He told Carter that much had 
been achieved in the talks, aside from five core issues: “1) Source 
of power; 2) Water and land rights; 3) Jewish settlements; 4) Se-
curity; and 5) East Jerusalem.”192 Given the effort that had been 
expended in dozens of meetings, this extensive list underscored the 
effectiveness of Israeli tactics in negotiating autonomy along such 
narrow lines. There was a slim possibility that these issues would 
be tackled anew in the shifting ideological context of the Reagan 
White House.

Carter, who had sacrificed a great deal of political capital by of-
fering limited support for some form of Palestinian self- rule during 
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his tenure, was bitterly disappointed with the failure of the auton-
omy talks. During his final meeting with Israel’s ambassador to the 
United States, Ephraim Evron, the outgoing president lamented 
the state of affairs: “I don’t see how they [Israel] can continue as an 
occupying power depriving the Palestinians of basic human rights, 
and I don’t see how they can absorb three million more Arabs into 
Israel without letting the Jews become a minority in their own 
country. Begin showed courage in giving up the Sinai. He did it to 
keep the West Bank.”193 It was a clear- eyed assessment, borne out 
by the rhetoric and policies of the Israeli government throughout 
the negotiations, both of which had been condoned by the acquies-
cent mediation of Carter’s own administration.

The emergence of the Camp David Accords and the negotia-
tions over peace with Egypt that followed reflected the triumph of 
Begin’s vision for the post- 1967 era. The territory captured from 
Egypt could plausibly be returned for peace and recognition, neu-
tralizing the possibility of Arab aggression in the southwest and 
satisfying some form of resolution 242’s premise of “land for peace.” 
Even while Begin drew criticism from the more extreme elements 
of his government who did not want to withdraw Jewish settle-
ments from the Sinai Peninsula, he never had to compromise on 
his claims to the West Bank, the Gaza Strip, East Jerusalem, and 
the Golan Heights. The progress toward a peace treaty with Egypt 
went hand in hand with settlement building elsewhere, deliberately 
planned and protected by legal cover provided in part by conserva-
tive American allies.

Begin’s visceral hostility toward the PLO, bolstered by visible 
attacks like the Coastal Road Massacre, further marginalized Pal-
estinian nationalists at the very moment Arafat was seeking to im-
prove relations with Europe and the United States. The conflict-
ing impulses of Palestinian factions, which shifted between armed 
struggle and diplomacy, in part reflected the rhythm of Egypt’s 
inroads with Israel and the recognition that a bilateral peace had 
emerged at the expense of Palestinian self- determination. Efforts 
within the Carter administration to engage the PLO were con-
strained by the strictures of Kissinger’s 1975 ban but also by the 
need for a diplomatic success in the Egyptian- Israeli negotiations 
and the growing domestic pressures on Carter that in part guided 
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his strategy at Camp David. The president understood the limits of 
Begin’s willingness to negotiate beyond Egypt and Sadat’s flexibility 
in achieving a bilateral peace at the expense of the Palestinians.

Even while the accords themselves contained provisions for 
launching autonomy negotiations and addressing broader regional 
concerns, the autonomy talks that began in May 1979 reflected the 
Israeli interpretation of autonomy for individuals but not sovereign 
control over the territory itself. The exclusion of the PLO was a 
natural outcome of this architecture, given the elision of any provi-
sion for “self- determination” and the conceptual and legal limits of 
Israeli views on autonomy. More surprising was the American role 
in these talks, which shifted from mediation to effective collabora-
tion as the talks extended into 1980. The enabling behavior of the 
Egyptians helped fuel this dynamic, and there was little political 
capital that Carter or his administration expended to reverse the 
drift toward Begin’s favored outcome. The attempts to bring the 
PLO back in, as the Andrew Young affair demonstrated, only ex-
acerbated domestic tensions in the months before Carter’s critical 
reelection campaign.

The election of Ronald Reagan solidified many of the trends al-
ready unleashed by Camp David, particularly Begin’s political vic-
tory over the PLO. Like the revival of Cold War concerns already 
evident in American defense strategy under Carter, a growing neo-
conservative influence on U.S. policy in the Middle East marked the 
start of the 1980s. Israel was cast as a strategic ally and the PLO as 
a Soviet proxy, paving the way for a deadly military intervention in 
Lebanon. What began largely as a political battle to defeat Palestin-
ian nationalism— one that Begin had waged successfully through the 
Camp David Accords and the autonomy talks— would move to the 
streets of wartime Beirut. The restraining role of the United States in 
the late 1970s, whether fitfully promoting a resolution of the Palestin-
ian question through diplomacy or speaking against the settlement 
project and Begin’s restrictive autonomy, gave way to a more permis-
sive White House and a new way of thinking about the Middle East.
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cH a Pter fi v e

Neoconservatives Rising
re aga n a nD tHe miDDle e ast

“i’ve believeD many tHings in my life,  but no conviction I’ve 
ever held has been stronger than my belief that the United States 
must ensure the survival of Israel.”1 When it came to the Middle 
East, as his memoirs reflect, President Ronald Reagan’s abiding 
affinity was for Israel. During an early campaign meeting about 
the Middle East, one participant remembers the candidate talking 
fondly about Exodus, a wildly popular movie based on the novel 
by Leon Uris that celebrated the miraculous victory of Israel over 
the Arabs in 1948. Reagan’s approach during the campaign was an 
extension of this worldview.2

His speeches and the election pamphlets distributed by the 
newly organized pro- Israel Coalition for Reagan- Bush focused on 
the missteps of Jimmy Carter’s Middle East policy for American 
Jews.3 On September 3, 1980, Reagan addressed a Jewish Ameri-
can group at the B’nai B’rith Forum in Washington, D.C. His re-
marks that day were revealing as a harbinger of Middle East policy 
in the initial months of his administration: “While we have since 
1948 clung to the argument of a moral imperative to explain our 
commitment to Israel, no Administration has ever deluded itself 
that Israel was not of permanent strategic importance to America. 
Until, that is, the Carter administration, which has violated this 
covenant with the past.”4 Reagan’s extensive repudiation encom-
passed his predecessor’s pursuit of a comprehensive settlement 
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between Israel and the Arabs, the inclusion of the Soviet Union in 
the negotiations, and U.S. arms sales to Jordan and Saudi Arabia. 
He took aim at the “ambiguities” of the autonomy talks that fol-
lowed the Camp David Accords between Egypt and Israel, suggest-
ing that Jordan should act as a sovereign state to oversee the imple-
mentation of Security Council resolutions 242 and 338 rather than 
allow for indigenous Palestinian self- determination. This criticism 
was reflected in the pages of the staunchly pro- Israel Commentary 
magazine, an intellectual home for many of Reagan’s foreign policy 
advisors. The magazine characterized Carter’s hands- on approach 
to resolving Israel’s conflict with the Arab world as appeasement.5

In positioning his administration’s foreign policy as an antidote 
to his predecessor’s struggle in the wider Middle East, Reagan and 
his advisors reverted to a Cold War vision of the region as a primary 
site of a global power struggle with the Soviet Union. To win this 
struggle, Reagan officials believed, a doctrine that combined a fight 
against terrorism and Soviet proxies and the bolstering of tradi-
tional allies was necessary. The intensification of a strategic alliance 
with Israel was at the heart of this shift, and it would be formal-
ized with a Memorandum of Understanding between the two allies 
shortly after Reagan entered the White House. In the early months 
of the new administration, the PLO was cast as both a hardcore 
terrorist group and an agent of Soviet influence, which fit well with 
the suppression of nationalist movements in the Global South dur-
ing Reagan’s time in office. A newly permissive approach to Israeli 
settlements indicated a change in legal thinking that empowered 
the Israeli government to substantially expand building in the West 
Bank and Gaza Strip. This was linked with greater alignment be-
tween U.S. diplomats and the Begin government on the pursuit of 
restrictive autonomy for Palestinians, thereby enshrining Israel’s 
vision for political state prevention.

The Reagan Revolution
The specter of a Cold War revival was at the heart of Reagan’s pro- 
Israel leanings, with the country seen as part of an anti- communist 
struggle that would keep Soviet influence in the Middle East at bay. 
In preparing to run for the presidency, Reagan described Israel as 



[ 164 ] cHaPter five

an asset against the Soviet Union. “Without this bastion of liberal 
democracy in the heart of the area,” the former governor of Cali-
fornia wrote in the Washington Post in 1979, “the Kremlin would 
be confined to supporting militant regimes against pro- American 
conservative governments which would not be able to divert the 
attention and energy of the radicals away from themselves by using 
the ‘lightning rod’ of the ‘Zionist state.’ ” Reagan’s approach would 
therefore end up supporting “conservative” governments like Saudi 
Arabia, apartheid South Africa, and Latin American dictatorships, 
framing an initial sharp turn away from Carter’s rhetoric of human 
rights. Explaining this policy in the Middle East, Reagan wrote that 
“our own position would be weaker without the political and mili-
tary assets Israel provides.”6

Reagan’s November 1980 victory over Carter signaled a trans-
formation in American domestic politics, one that had been roil-
ing the Republican Party since Barry Goldwater’s 1964 presidential 
defeat.7 But in addition to staking out his successful campaign in 
staunch opposition to big government, Reagan vowed to renew the 
American fight against communism.8 Conservatives had seized on 
the expansion of Soviet influence, especially their December 1979 
invasion of Afghanistan, as proof of the Cold War’s full- blown re-
vival, targeting Jimmy Carter in the campaign and drawing com-
mitted advocates of anti- communism away from the Democratic 
Party. A large part of the growing unease with existing foreign 
policy stemmed from the heated debates over the lessons of the 
Vietnam War, with liberal Democrats arguing that it had been 
needlessly prolonged, and critics on the right seeing the American 
withdrawal and subsequent collapse of South Vietnam as an “indi-
cation of  détente’s cowardice.”9

Alongside more muscular Democrats like Senator Henry 
“Scoop” Jackson and a retinue of budding neoconservatives that in-
cluded Paul Wolfowitz and Richard Perle, President Reagan “trans-
formed détente from a badge of honor to a political expletive.”10 
Liberal Democrats succumbed to these charges of weakness from 
the right, ultimately leading to the destruction of a centrist Ameri-
can foreign policy and the intensification of military interven-
tion that would soon follow.11 This “Return to Militarism” in U.S. 
 foreign policy, which in part grew out of Carter’s defense budgeting, 
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had implications that extended well beyond the 1980s and the end 
of the Cold War.12 A rethinking of U.S. economic policy alongside 
deep- seated social and cultural shifts marked the 1980s as a decade 
of conservative resurgence at home, while Reagan’s stance abroad 
inaugurated interventionist policies in the Middle East.

The president and his advisors began to promote a global strug-
gle against communism, recasting regional conflicts as proxies of 
the Cold War. Democratic hawks like Elliot Abrams and Jeane 
Kirkpatrick joined the new administration, disillusioned with Cart-
er’s perceived weakness when it came to foreign policy.13 On the 
Israeli- Palestinian front, Israel would now be positioned as an ally 
in contrast to the Soviet- backed Palestinians.14 Such an approach 
appealed to Reagan, especially after the humiliation of the Iranian 
hostage crisis, which had generated a desire for leadership that 
could speak out forcefully against threats to U.S. interests. Under 
the growing influence of these staunch anti- communists, Reagan’s 
worldview reconstituted the Middle East as a site of contestation 
between the United States and the Soviet Union.

Strong ideology, however, did not always make for good gov-
ernance. Allies and critics alike have described Reagan’s White 
House and his foreign policy team as “dysfunctional” during the 
first six years of the administration.15 Early concerns about in-
fighting between advisors were often papered over by Reagan’s 
admirers, but in the view of one expert on the National Security 
Council, “when it came to the management of the foreign policy 
apparatus of the U.S. government, Reagan’s record is almost cer-
tainly the worst of any modern President.”16 Among the initial 
group of foreign policy aides appointed in 1981, Richard Allen 
was chosen to lead the National Security Council but was soon 
replaced by Judge William P. Clark Jr., a trusted confidant of the 
president. General Alexander Haig, who had been chief of staff in 
the Nixon White House and Supreme Allied Commander of NATO 
in Europe, was chosen as the first secretary of state, and Caspar 
“Cap” Weinberger, a former vice president of the Bechtel Corpora-
tion and Nixon appointee, was named secretary of defense.17 Rea-
gan preferred a backseat approach to policymaking and trusted 
this inner circle to articulate his views on inter national affairs. 
Yet they often disagreed on questions relating to the Middle East, 
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with Haig voicing consistent support for Israel, while Weinberger 
pushed for engagement with moderate Arabs and resisted the use 
of military force as a tool of foreign policy.18 These divisions would 
prove to be a serious impediment to decision making early on in 
Reagan’s tenure.19

As secretary of state, Haig pursued a radical rethinking of Amer-
ican priorities in the Middle East, which he called “strategic con-
sensus.” To address concerns about the Soviet Union and the “fear 
of Islamic fundamentalism” in the wake of the Iranian Revolution 
and the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan, he argued that the United 
States should pursue policies with the dual aim of fighting commu-
nism and bolstering moderate Arab states, while upholding Israel’s 
security.20 The logic of Haig’s new order necessitated that the U.S. 
government oppose Soviet allies like Syria and the PLO.21 Haig’s 
policy was a piece of the larger “Reagan Doctrine,” an overarch-
ing statement of U.S. foreign policy aims that abetted a  revival of a 
global Cold War struggle. Through military interventions and the 
arming of anti- communist resistance movements in the effort to 
“roll back” Soviet- supported government in Latin America,  Africa, 
and Asia, the Reagan White House embarked on what one scholar 
of the period has called an “anti- revolutionary offensive in the 
Third World.”22

In the Middle East, this approach played a central role in the 
administration’s retreat from dealing with the question of Pales-
tinian self- determination. Hermann Eilts, the U.S. ambassador to 
Egypt at the time, explained how this “different sense of priorities” 
affected regional diplomacy. “The whole idea of autonomy talks 
that flowed from Camp David was given short shrift,” Eilts later 
recalled, “and the Reagan administration, it seemed, really didn’t 
care. It had strategic consensus and the Soviets on its mind.”23 For 
career officers in the State Department, this was troubling. Nicho-
las Veliotes, Reagan’s assistant secretary of state for Near Eastern 
and South Asian Affairs, remarked that there was “a determination 
to globalize everything in the Middle East.” “In part,” Veliotes ex-
plained some years later, “if your analysis of the Middle East always 
started from the East- West focus, you could obscure the regional 
roots of the problem.”24 In oversimplifying regional complexi-
ties and positioning Israel as a key asset early on in the first term, 
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Reagan represented a clear departure from Carter’s approach to 
comprehensive peace in the region.

Israel: A Strategic Ally
To strengthen the U.S.- Israeli relationship along Cold War lines, 
Alexander Haig made his first trip to Egypt and Israel as secre-
tary of state in April 1981. Reports had already surfaced of Reagan’s 
plans for a military presence on the ground in the Persian Gulf and 
the prevailing view in Washington that “subordinates the regional 
quarrel between Arabs and Israelis to the global rivalry between 
the Soviet Union and the United States.”25 At his opening meeting 
with Israeli prime minister Menachem Begin and senior advisors, 
Haig articulated such an approach in addressing the rising tensions 
in the Lebanese city of Zahle, close to the Syrian border. Syrian 
 aggression against the Christians living in the town, a subset of the 
civil war that had been raging throughout the country since 1975, 
was portrayed as part of a broader Soviet struggle for increased 
influence in the region.26

This worldview was not limited to regional struggles but shaped 
discussions over the Palestinian question as well. Begin was eager 
to draw on the Cold War framework as justification for enshrining 
his well- developed views about limited autonomy, reminding Haig 
that he had already spoken on several occasions of a promise of 
“autonomy, not sovereignty.” Haig agreed. Begin then reminded the 
secretary of state of Israel’s deep opposition to a Palestinian state, 
invoking Soviet influence elsewhere in the region. “It would be a 
mortal danger to us,” Begin implored. “It would be a Soviet base in 
the Middle East, after all the Soviets achieved: Mozambique, South 
Yemen, Ethiopia, invading Afghanistan,” the prime minister em-
phasized. “Unavoidably the Judea, Samaria and Gaza District and 
those settlements would be taken over by the PLO and the PLO 
is a real satellite of the Soviet Union.”27 The inclusion of the PLO 
into the Soviet orbit solidified the link between Palestinian state 
prevention and shared U.S.- Israeli foreign policy goals in the Cold 
War. Secretary Haig’s official toast at a dinner that evening under-
scored this interdependence. Turning to his Israeli hosts at Jerusa-
lem’s King David Hotel, Haig praised the country for playing “an 
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essential role in protecting our mutual strategic concerns against 
the threats of the Soviet Union and against the threats of its many 
surrogates.”28

Such mutual interest between the United States and Israel was 
encapsulated by Haig’s effort to initiate a strategic dialogue beyond 
existing military channels. The secretary of state presented this idea 
during his meeting the next morning, part of an effort to develop a 
regional strategy in the Middle East. Haig suggested that key State 
Department personnel, including Robert McFarlane and General 
Vernon Walters, act as liaisons with the Israelis.29 They would meet 
with their Israeli counterparts in Washington and Jerusalem, under 
the cover of relations with other local and European powers. Haig 
said that the “interrelationship” must be “carefully guarded, but it 
must be launched with an attitude of mutual confidence between 
the two of us.”30 These meetings, which continued throughout the 
summer and fall of 1981, culminated in the formalization of a stra-
tegic alliance between the two countries.31

The start of formal discussion about this alliance coincided with 
Begin’s first official visit to the Reagan White House in September 
1981. At the welcome ceremony on the South Lawn, Reagan de-
livered solicitous opening remarks that echoed the new approach 
of his administration. “We know Israelis live in constant peril. But 
Israel will have our help. She will remain strong and secure, and 
her special character of spirit, genius, and faith will prevail,” the 
president assured his guest. “The security of Israel is a principal 
objective of this administration,” Reagan concluded, telling Begin 
“we regard Israel as an ally in our search for regional stability.”32 
Since taking office, Reagan had also courted domestic supporters 
of Israel, outwardly embracing the same constituency he courted 
during the election.33 The Office of Public Liaison, led for several 
years by future senator Elizabeth Dole, expended considerable 
energy reaching out to Jewish communal leaders and listening to 
their concerns. Dole outlined a “Jewish Strategy” for the adminis-
tration and sought to capitalize on the historically disproportionate 
number who voted for Reagan in the election.34

Some observers cautioned Reagan not to embrace the Likud 
government in pursuing pro- Israel policies. In the lead editorial on 
the morning of Begin’s visit, the Washington Post warned Reagan 
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to be wary of an “endorsement of [Begin’s] evident goal of annex-
ing the West Bank.”35 A New York Times editorial earlier that week 
spoke of the forgotten promise of the Camp David Accords to pro-
vide self- rule for Palestinians: “Guaranteeing Israel’s security is not 
the same as underwriting an annexation of the West Bank.”36 Both 
newspapers pushed for engagement with the Palestinian question 
and greater political rights in the occupied territories. The political 
leadership in Israel and the United States, however, was disinclined 
to focus on what they deemed an internal Israeli matter.

During their first extended meeting on September 9, the Ameri-
can and Israeli delegations agreed to launch a written document 
outlining strategic cooperation. The remarks by Defense Minister 
Ariel Sharon reflected an expansive vision of Israel’s Cold War stra-
tegic value to the United States in the Middle East: “Israel can do 
things, Mr. President, that other countries cannot do. We have the 
stability of a real democracy. We are on the Mediterranean. Israel 
is a country positioned from which we can both act in the Mediter-
ranean theatre and in Africa. We are capable of embarking upon 

figUre 5.1. “President Ronald Reagan and Prime Minister Menachem Begin  
Sharing a Laugh at the White House in Washington.” September 10, 1981.  

Sa’ar Ya’acov, courtesy of Israel’s Government Press Office.
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cooperation immediately.” Sharon also invoked covert Israeli actions, 
including the raid on Entebbe Airport in July 1976 to free hostages 
and the  secret June 1981 airstrike on Osirak, an Iraqi nuclear reactor 
that was being built near Baghdad. “We have American equipment 
which we can put at your disposal in the shortest time. We have the 
needed infrastructure, including military industry, other industries, 
airfields and so forth. We have a long arm strategic capability, as for 
example, Entebbe and Baghdad,” Sharon added.37

One American participant recalled seeing Secretary Weinberger 
“blanch visibly” at Sharon’s presentation, which outlined Israeli 
military assistance as far east as Iran and as far north as Turkey. 
Weinberger had pushed for engagement with moderate allies in the 
region and was wary of any sign that the United States was turning 
away from key Arab states, particularly the Gulf countries. “Every-
one on the American side was shocked by the grandiose scope of 
the Sharon concept for strategic cooperation,” observed U.S. am-
bassador to Israel Samuel Lewis. “It even included use of Israeli 
forces to assist the U.S. in case of uprisings in the Gulf emirates.”38 
The gap between the Israeli concept of strategic cooperation and 
the tempered enthusiasm of some U.S. officials was linked to com-
peting interests across the Middle East. One of the primary ben-
eficiaries of U.S. Cold War strategy in the region was now Saudi 
Arabia, a country that defense officials like Weinberger hoped 
would move closer toward the West as Egypt had done at Camp 
David. This duality bred a great deal of tension. Israeli leaders and 
American Jewish organizations vocally opposed the sale of F- 15 
fighter jets and Airborne Warning and Control Systems (AWACS) 
to  Riyadh, threatening to undermine an emerging regional constel-
lation of power. Reagan insisted to Begin that Saudi Arabia could 
be “brought around” to the U.S. orbit, fearing that they would oth-
erwise turn to the Soviet Union. The president promised that he 
had Israel’s interests in mind while pursuing the arms sales. “If not,” 
he added, “we will take corrective action.”39

Against the backdrop of these strategic discussions, Israeli 
 leaders gave a great deal of thought to their presentations in Wash-
ington that dealt with autonomy. Begin’s advisors encouraged those 
traveling to the United States to refrain from dealing with debates 
over sovereignty in the West Bank or Jerusalem: “The United States 
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should be urged (only for the purpose of deferring these difficult 
matters) to adopt positions consistent with those of Israel.”40 Dur-
ing a breakfast meeting between the two delegations on Septem-
ber 10, the Israelis followed this line precisely. Dr. Joseph Burg, the 
head of the Israeli autonomy delegation, told Reagan about the 
“philosophy” of the autonomy talks, which ranged between two ex-
tremes. “We do not want to be absolute rulers of more than one 
million Arabs and secondly, we cannot afford a Palestinian state. It 
would be a communist state, irredentist, and a danger to our lives.” 
Burg recounted the Israeli conception of self- government and the 
progress on technicalities in the talks he convened with the Egyp-
tians. “We did not make progress on one important matter and I 
can put that into a mathematical formula,” Burg explained to the 
U.S. president. “Autonomy is not sovereignty. Sovereignty minus 
x is autonomy. Our problem was to determine the size of x. For 
Egypt, autonomy was seen as a corridor to an Arab state and for 
us, instead of an Arab state, a substitute for an Arab state.”41 In 
presenting the Israeli view of progress on autonomy, Burg invoked 
the U.S. role in facilitating an advancement of the talks. Haig re-
marked that he found Burg’s presentation “very helpful,” and that 
“what Dr. Burg has said is very close to our thinking.”42

On the PLO, Begin’s advisors voiced concern about possible 
indirect U.S. engagement on matters relating to Lebanon and en-
couraged the idea that the links between the organization and the 
Soviet Union be emphasized: “P.L.O. statements promising Soviet 
bases in a Palestinian state, supporting Soviet positions, and at-
tacking the United States, cannot be repeated too often.”43 It was 
an opportune moment to push the line of greater Soviet- Palestinian 
cooperation, as the diplomatic links between the two had grown in 
the wake of Camp David, with the Kremlin on the verge of upgrad-
ing the PLO’s diplomatic status to allow for an embassy in Mos-
cow.44 This alignment was framed in a manner that would high-
light Israel’s role as an ally in the global anti- communist struggle, 
which appealed to Reagan’s own thinking. Concluding his talks 
with the Israelis, Reagan summed up the American view on the 
Palestinians: “We will never negotiate with them until they recog-
nize the right of Israel to exist and abandon the present position. 
Until then, we shall never negotiate with the Palestinians.”45 This 
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position reflected the ascendant view at the White House, pleasing 
Israeli diplomats immensely.46

On November 30, 1981, Reagan officials signed a U.S. govern-
ment Memorandum of Understanding with Israel, promoting stra-
tegic cooperation to deal with the Soviet threat. It encompassed 
joint military exercises and preventative threat measures, empha-
sizing the importance of a unified front against communism.47 
While leading supporters of Israel like Secretary Haig were pleased 
to formalize a strategic relationship, conservative critics like Wein-
berger worked to strip it of real content. As Lewis recalls, “Wein-
berger managed to have it signed in the basement of the Pentagon 
without any press present, so that it didn’t get any attention. The 
 Israeli press was fully briefed and made a big thing out of it, but 
there were no photographs of Weinberger signing this document 
with Sharon— they might have been used in the Arab world to 
under mine his position.”48

In forging this alliance, the Reagan administration turned a blind 
eye to the more troubling aspects of the Begin government’s agenda, 
such as ongoing settlement expansion in the West Bank. They also 
put aside strident arguments that had emerged over  Israel’s bomb-
ing of Iraq’s Osirak nuclear reactor that summer.49 But not long 
after the signing of the memorandum, a major crisis erupted in De-
cember. Prime Minister Begin decided to extend Israeli law to the 
Golan Heights through implicit annexation.50 Critics of Israel in 
the administration were furious, with Weinberger exclaiming, “How 
long do we have to go on bribing Israel? If there is no real cost to the 
Israelis, we’ll never be able to stop any of their actions.”51 Reagan 
took decisive action by suspending the agreement and the millions 
in potential arms sales, infuriating the Israeli prime minister. Begin 
responded directly to Ambassador Lewis. “Are we a state or vassals 
of yours? Are we a banana republic?” he exclaimed. “You have no 
right to penalize Israel. . . . The people of Israel lived without the 
memorandum of understanding for 3,700 years, and will continue 
to live without it for another 3,700 years.”52 This angry reaction did 
in fact reveal the existence of some underlying tension in the U.S.- 
Israeli relationship in the early Reagan years.53

Despite these disagreements, Israel emerged in the early 1980s 
with a new strategic rationale to entrench its global Cold War 
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standing and solidify its regional position in the Middle East.54 
This bilateral alliance also helped the Begin government counter 
Palestinian demands for self- rule by dismissing the PLO as a Soviet 
proxy and denying them political standing in the process. Further-
more, the relationship enabled intensified settlement building in 
the occupied territories, solidifying Israel’s internal hold over the 
West Bank and Gaza Strip.

Excluding the PLO
In January 1980, Jimmy Carter’s National Security Advisor, Zbig-
niew Brzezinski, had commissioned an in- depth study titled “US 
Relations with the Radical Arabs.” The top- secret document was 
sent to select officials in the Carter White House, including the 
president and Secretary of State Cyrus Vance. Written in the wake 
of the Iranian Revolution and at the time of the Soviet invasion of 
Afghanistan, the memo outlined the ways in which America could 
improve its relations with the Islamic world. The Brzezinski study 
pointed out that U.S. “relations with the radical Arabs are in large 
measure a function of our attitude toward the Palestinians and 
their most widely recognized representative, the PLO.” Carter’s ad-
visors argued that “as long as we maintain our present position on 
the PLO and as long as the Palestinians do not see an independent 
state in their future, progress on these other fronts is likely to be 
limited.”55

The new administration was not receptive to this stance.56 
When Reagan was asked during the campaign whether he thought 
the PLO was a terrorist organization, he answered affirmatively 
while also making an important distinction: “I separate the PLO 
from the Palestinian refugees. None ever elected the PLO.”57 His 
views were connected to broader conservative antipathy toward the 
violence of anticolonial movements in the 1960s and 1970s. “We live 
in a world in which any band of thugs clever enough to get the word 
‘liberation’ into its name can thereupon murder school children 
and have its deeds considered glamorous and glorious,” Reagan 
had said in his B’nai B’rith speech. “Terrorists are not guerrillas, 
or commandos, or freedom- fighters or anything else. They are ter-
rorists and should be identified as such. If others wish to deal with 
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them, establish diplomatic relations with them, let it be on their 
heads. And let them be willing to pay the price of appeasement.”58 
He vowed to uphold the 1975 U.S. agreement with Israel concern-
ing PLO non- engagement until the organization met conditions for 
a dialogue and became “truly representative of those Arab Palestin-
ians dedicated to peace and not to the establishment of a Soviet 
satellite in the heart of the Middle East.”59

Although the PLO was shifting from military resistance to a dip-
lomatic track in the 1970s, there were still important fissures within 
the constituent factions of the Palestinian national movement. Sev-
eral terror attacks in the early 1980s reaffirmed the administration’s 
belief that there was no negotiating partner among the Palestin-
ians. European governments, in contrast, saw a complex organiza-
tion under going an internal transformation and challenged such a 
broad indictment by advocating engagement with the official arm of 
Palestinian nationalists. In one meeting with Jewish leaders, British 
foreign secretary Lord Carrington noted that he “personally opposed 
terrorism but for the past two years has spent more time negotiat-
ing with ‘so called’ ‘terrorists’ (or ‘freedom fighters, depending on 
who is describing them’) than he has with non- terrorists.”60 It was 
rejectionist factions and splinter groups the Europeans deemed re-
sponsible for persistent violence. One such group, the notorious Abu 
Nidal organization, was formed in 1974 after a split in the PLO. The 
faction was supported by Baathist Iraq in a highly visible and de-
structive terror campaign against Israel and western targets, as well 
as PLO members who pursued a diplomatic track. Officials in the 
Reagan White House often blurred this distinction.61

Richard Allen, Reagan’s National Security Advisor, was a cen-
tral figure in articulating the administration’s policy toward the 
PLO and was vocal in dismissing countervailing influences within 
the organization. During an interview on the ABC news program 
20/20, Allen labeled the group a “terrorist organization” until “it 
provides convincing evidence to the contrary.”62 According to Allen, 
moderate factions within the organization had little bearing on the 
administration’s overall stance: “I’ve heard descriptions that identi-
fied Arafat as a moderate. But we’re certainly wanting in hard proof 
that this is the case. One man’s moderate is another man’s terrorist.” 
Asked about Soviet influence in the region, Allen remarked, “It’s 
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difficult to assess the relationship with the PLO because there are 
various component parts. . . . But, overall, I think it’s fair to say the 
Soviet Union is supporting the main aims of the PLO.”63

Douglas J. Feith was another ideological opponent of the PLO 
working in the National Security Council. In a largely redacted 
memo concerning U.S. relations with the Palestinians, Feith sug-
gested an uncompromising approach that aligned with the ad-
ministration’s global Cold War aims. The administration should 
take action that would demonstrate the “coherence” of three “chief 
 foreign policy promises and themes: 1) to combat international ter-
rorism; 2) to counter the Soviet Union’s use of subversive proxies; 
and 3) to bolster our friends and stand down our enemies.”64 Feith 
pointed to a section of Secretary of State Alexander Haig’s Sen-
ate confirmation testimony, where Haig singled out the PLO as a 
“pretty tough hardcore group of terrorists.”65 An unsigned memo 
appearing alongside Feith’s analysis recommended a “multifaceted 
campaign against the PLO,” including diplomatic marginalization 
of the organization through a campaign to “ostracize” the group, 
an emphasis on the Soviet connection, and the closure of the PLO 
information office in Washington. The second suggested element of 
an American campaign against the PLO was labeled “Force,” with 
the first recommendation suggesting a “ ‘Green light’ to Israel to 
destroy the PLO’s military capabilities.”66

There were White House officials who understood that the situ-
ation was complex and attempted to offer more nuanced assess-
ments. Raymond Tanter, an NSC staffer focusing on Middle East 
issues, wrote to Richard Allen in November, “The President should 
not brand all of the PLO organizations as terrorists since the PLO 
includes a number of social and political institutions.”67 He cited 
the CIA’s Palestinian Handbook, which recognized non- terrorist 
entities like the PLO Research Center and the Palestine Red Cres-
cent Society. Tanter composed a primer on this issue for a presi-
dential press conference, highlighting the distinction between 
individual humanitarian agencies and the PLO as a whole. In it, 
he emphasized that there would be no negotiations until relevant 
UN resolutions were accepted alongside an affirmation of Israel’s 
right to exist.68 Congressman Paul Findley, who had pushed for en-
gagement with the PLO under Carter, continued to argue that the 
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long- term interests of American policy in the region necessitated 
a dialogue with the PLO, but officially the administration stood its 
ground.69

Unofficially, there is ample evidence of direct low- level contact 
between the American government and moderate members of the 
PLO. A series of newspaper articles in the summer of 1981 revealed 
ongoing talks since Henry Kissinger’s time in office, which Reagan’s 
contacts primarily facilitated through the CIA and the American 
embassy in Beirut.70 The administration also had less formal con-
tacts with PLO members through interlocutors like John Mroz, the 
director of Middle East Studies at the International Peace Academy 
in New York. Mroz’s congenial relationship with Isam Sartawi, a 
leading Palestinian voice of engagement, is clear from letters pro-
vided directly to Geoffrey Kemp, senior director for Near East and 
South Asia Affairs at the National Security Council. Sartawi had 
passed along to Mroz official PLO documents distributed by Arafat, 
which were then given to Kemp at the White House in their origi-
nal Arabic.71

Internal executive branch discussions further reveal a more 
nuanced understanding of the PLO and its moderating elements 
than Allen’s public remarks or Feith’s internal recommendations 
would imply. In an August memo to Kemp, Landrum Bolling out-
lined a more realistic view of the complicated Palestinian situa-
tion. Bolling, who was the important back channel contact with 
the PLO under Carter, underscored the growing rift between Pal-
estinians in the West Bank and the PLO in Beirut. He noted that 
the sense among West Bankers was that “there is still no coherent, 
unified Palestinian strategy for ending the occupation and bring-
ing peace.”72 They blamed a quarreling leadership in Lebanon for 
stunting political progress and criticized cross- border terrorism 
because it provided justification for the ongoing Israeli occupation. 
There was, however, a consensus position that backed the PLO as 
the legitimate voice of the Palestinian people, seeing it as the kernel 
of an independent state. Bolling, unlike Allen, stressed these posi-
tive developments: “Palestinians accept Israel as a permanent fact 
in the Middle East. They know that Israel is here to stay, and they 
are prepared to live with it. Almost no Palestinian thinks or talks 
anymore about the abolition of the State of Israel.”73
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Palestinian factions in Beirut took note of the hostile atmo-
sphere in Washington, which was reflected in the active Arabic 
press at the time. One leading weekly, Al- Hadaf (The Target), was 
unrelenting in its critique of what it characterized as American 
neoimperial aspirations in the Middle East, as well as the failure of 
Arab states that were seen as having sold out the Palestinian cause. 
The newspaper, founded by the acclaimed Palestinian writer Ghas-
san Kanafani, was the mouthpiece of the Marxist- leaning Popular 
Front for the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP).74 The PFLP served as 
a strong counterweight to the dominant Fatah party of Yasser Ara-
fat; the sentiments expressed in its official publication reflected the 
view of many grassroots leaders in Lebanon who remained wary of 
calls for engagement along U.S.- dictated lines.

Reagan himself, in the eyes of Al- Hadaf, was restoring the use of 
force as the primary tool of American foreign policy in the region. 
Along with Secretary of State Haig, the president was portrayed as 
a radical departure from Carter and the U.S. human rights agenda 
with his strident anti- Soviet approach.75 From the perspective of 
Palestinian activists in the Global South, Reagan offered little hope 
for improving America’s standing abroad. The reports in Al- Hadaf 
reflected the atmosphere of Reagan’s first few months in office, 
when attention to regional conflict was replaced by a reinscription 
of Cold War strategies. By mid- February 1981, the paper was force-
fully attacking the new president for ratcheting up military pres-
sure in the region and resorting to ideological positions that situ-
ated the Soviet Union as the prime antagonist in the Middle East.76 
The brunt of Al- Hadaf’s fury, however, was directed at Israel and 
Prime Minister Menachem Begin. Under a grotesque cartoon of 
Begin, face deformed, blood dripping from his hands, and a dagger 
at the ready, the paper attacked Israeli settlement policy in the West 
Bank and Begin’s undermining of Palestinian national identity.77

Enabling Settlements
The linkage between Begin’s settlement expansion and the Reagan 
administration was evident in the changing U.S. position toward the 
legality of ongoing building projects in the West Bank. Throughout 
Carter’s presidency, U.S. policy on the settlements had been “clear 
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and consistent.”78 They were considered illegal under international 
law and detrimental to the peace process, and the administration 
opposed both new settlements and expansion of those already built. 
During the 1980 campaign, Reagan took a very different stance. In 
an interview with Time magazine on June 30, 1980, the California 
governor was asked whether he would “try to persuade Israel to 
stop settling on the West Bank.” His response under scored a clear 
difference with Carter. “Frankly, I don’t know the answer to that. 
Under U.N. Resolution 242, the West Bank was supposed to be 
open to all, and then Jordan and Israel were to work out an agree-
ment for the area.” In light of these terms Reagan argued, “I do not 
see how it is illegal for Israel to move in settlements.”79

In the week after his inauguration, Reagan would expand on 
this new position after lawmakers in Jerusalem approved three new 
West Bank settlements. When asked about the expansion during a 
press conference, Reagan replied: “As to the West Bank, I believe 
the settlements there— I disagreed when the previous administra-
tion referred to them as illegal, they’re not illegal. Not under the 
UN resolution that leaves the West Bank open to all people— Arab 
and Israeli alike, Christian alike.” Reagan was drawing on an argu-
ment promoted by neoconservatives within the administration who 
disputed the prevailing interpretation of UN resolution 242, but 
the international community was in agreement that the text clearly 
deemed the settlements illegal. The president admitted, however, 
that further building was not astute: “I do think now with this rush 
to do it and this moving in there the way they are is ill- advised be-
cause if we’re going to continue with the spirit of Camp David to try 
and arrive at a peace, maybe this, at this time, is unnecessarily pro-
vocative.”80 While recognizing that settlement expansion might be 
detrimental to fully implementing Camp David, the president was 
careful not to preclude Jewish presence in the area. A congressio-
nal letter requesting clarification of Reagan’s exact policy received 
a noncommittal note of appreciation.81 A more pointed inquiry 
about the policy shift from the chairman of the Palestine Congress 
of North America was shuffled to the Office of the Public Liaison.82

Egyptian officials were furious that the Israeli government was 
claiming to negotiate a solution to the Palestinian question while 
pursuing a “ruinous policy” of “settlements and more settlements.”83 
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Israel’s expansion into the territories in early 1981 directly affected 
the fate of the autonomy talks, drawing the ire of the Egyptian 
minister of foreign affairs, Kamal Hassan Ali. In a letter to Isra-
el’s minister of foreign affairs and future prime minister Yitzhak 
Shamir, Ali invoked the understanding reached at Camp David 
about a settle ment moratorium while negotiations were ongoing. 
In Ali’s view, it was both “illegal and inconceivable to use this ille-
gitimate and trumped up anachronism in the name of so- called Is-
raeli  security, as a pretext to cover up Israel’s policy of annexation.” 
As the lead Egyptian diplomat explained, this was “an incitement 
to  hatred, a provocation, and an added source of tension among 
the Palestinian and Arab population.”84 In such an atmosphere, the 
shift in the American position away from long- standing assertions 
of settlement illegality proved to be damaging and consequential.

The Begin government pushed the Americans to endorse their 
expansion by asserting the settlements as part of a broader security 
arrangement for Israel. During Secretary Haig’s April 1981 visit to 
Israel, Ariel Sharon laid out his conception of Israel’s security needs 
in a series of slides. His explanation was rooted in the retention of 
the occupied territories for defensive purposes. “I want to empha-
size that the West Bank, the Judean and Samarian mountains and 
the Golan Heights are the backbone of the State of Israel as far as its 
defense is concerned, not only for the deployment of troops but for 
its early warning capability, command and control capability and 
anti- air defense system,” Sharon told Haig. “As long as we have our 
military troops posted there we can adopt a defensive strategy.”85 
Haig was sympathetic to this argument, and it contributed to the 
administration’s legitimizing stance on the question of legality.

At the National Security Council, Middle East advisor Raymond 
Tanter wrote a vigorous defense of the Reagan administration’s new 
approach in August 1981.

The settlements are legal, but the issue is properly a political ques-
tion, not a legal question. The USG [United States Government] has 
recognized no country’s sovereignty over the West Bank since Britain 
controlled the area under the Palestine Mandate. The issue of sover-
eignty is open and will not be closed until the actual parties to the con-
flict formally consent to a peace agreement. In the meantime, there is 
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no law that bars Jews from settling in the West Bank. No one should 
be excluded from an area simply on account of nationality or religion. 
An ambiguous response concerning the legality of settlements inadver-
tently causes more press interest than either: 1) a finding that settle-
ments are legal or 2) a statement that the legal question is irrelevant.86

Tanter’s position reflected the rationale of the earliest statements 
that Reagan made about settlements during the campaign. The 
justification was formulated several months after the president 
took office, by which time government officials had become fully 
aware of the extensive damage caused by the settlements and yet 
“remained mute” on the matter.87

Despite mounting evidence of the settlements’ detrimental ef-
fects, there was a strong neoconservative influence on the political 
and legal approach to the issue in the White House. Douglas Feith 
had previously denounced Carter’s insistence that settlements were 
an obstacle to peace, arguing that the problem was Arab intransi-
gence. “If the Jews have a claim to Judea- Samaria at least as right-
ful as that of the Arabs and if the purpose of the Israeli settlements 
there is to stake this claim,” Feith wrote in the Heritage Founda-
tion’s journal Policy Review, “then it may be that Israel’s stand 
on the West Bank is not irrational after all.”88 Significantly, Feith 
deliberately used the biblical names for the occupied territories, 
“Judea and Samaria,” the default parlance of religious nationalists 
and Likud party politicians in Israel. This united a strategic argu-
ment with a neoconservative legal one.

When it came to prevailing discourse around the Israeli- 
Palestinian conflict, a rightward turn had suffused the intellectual 
currents of American politics and foreign policy during the late 
1970s and early 1980s.89 It was a time when the Democratic sen-
ator from New York, Daniel Patrick Moynihan, publicly rejected 
the application of the Geneva Conventions to the settlements. In 
a noted article for Commentary at the beginning of 1981, Moyni-
han lambasted the United Nations for its condemnation of Israel. 
 Singling out U.S. support for a Security Council resolution that had 
reaffirmed the applicability of the Geneva Conventions to the West 
Bank, Moynihan argued that the treaty was intended to criminal-
ize deportation and territorial occupation in Nazi Germany, and its 
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invocation in this case “played, of course, perfectly into the Soviet 
propaganda position.”90 Moynihan’s formative role in emboldening 
neoconservatives with his activism around anti- Zionist resolutions 
at the United Nations in the mid- 1970s set the stage for these de-
bates in the early 1980s.91

This rightward drift also took hold in Israeli political life. Begin 
narrowly won a second election on June 30, 1981, with forty- eight 
seats going to the Likud, forming the nineteenth government of 
Israel. As demonstrated in his earlier interactions with Carter and 
Sadat, the Israeli prime minister had a very clear and consistent 
view of continued territorial control by Israel on all the land west 
of the Jordan River. He never hid his views from the public, speak-
ing about them at an annual ceremony held at the gravesite of Ze’ev 
 Jabotinsky on the day of his second electoral victory: “Western Eretz 
Yisrael is all under our control. She is no longer divided. No piece of 
territory will pass to non- Jewish control, to foreign sovereignty.”92 
Begin’s position on continued sovereignty and settlement expan-
sion was bolstered by the writings of vocal defenders like Moynihan 
and the advice of Eugene Rostow, who had already published legal 
arguments along these same lines as a faculty member at Yale and 
was serving in the Reagan administration as the newly appointed 
director of the Arms Control and Disarmament Agency. The con-
sequence of this semantic and legal shift was borne out in practi-
cal terms by the rapid pace of Israeli expansion through the 1980s. 
Since the Likud victory in 1977, the settler population outside of 
the Jerusalem area had quadrupled from about 5,000 to 20,000, 
and in the Gaza Strip the number of settlements had doubled. In 
the summer months of 1981 alone, 7,000 settlers had moved into 
the West Bank.93

In February 1982, Reagan’s ambassador to Israel Samuel Lewis 
cabled an urgent memo about these developments to Washing-
ton and more than a dozen American embassies and consulates 
throughout the Middle East and Europe. He wrote a detailed ac-
count explaining how “settlement activity goes on at an accelerated 
pace, although in new and potentially more serious directions.”94 
In a sober and matter- of- fact style, Lewis recounted the method 
of land appropriation that had taken over nearly a third of the 
West Bank, describing the process by which Jerusalem’s municipal 
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boundaries were being extended southward over the Green Line 
toward Gush Etzion, now one of the largest settlement blocs in the 
West Bank. He also outlined the manner in which Israel’s Minis-
try of Defense “pre- settlements” were transformed into permanent 
 civilian settlements, a process that bypassed any earlier pledge of a 
slowdown by Begin. Lewis reported on plans by the World  Zionist 
Organization to increase the Israeli settler population to 130,000 
within five years by expanding existing settlements rather than 
building new ones from scratch. He highlighted how such an in-
crease was being organized in a cost- effective manner to create 
urban communities where settlers would work in Israeli cities 
and live in cheap spacious homes over the Green Line. Lewis also 
pointed to an important demographic transformation taking place, 
with the newest settlers moving for economic rather than ideologi-
cal reasons.95

The most glaring section of the cable was the American ambas-
sador’s insights into the act of territorial acquisition itself, explain-
ing how thousands of acres were being declared state- owned or 
Jewish- owned private land and “taken over de facto for settlement 
purposes.” Encouraged by the exorbitant demands of settlers who 
had recently been evacuated from the Yamit region settlements 
in the Sinai as part of the Israeli- Egyptian peace deal, West Bank 
 settlers were caught in a “land rush,” often resorting to questionable 
methods in order to purchase land parcels. Few officials in Israel 
really knew the exact area under Israeli control, although the gov-
ernment had built a “massive infrastructure” of roads, power lines, 
military installations, and power systems “thoroughly locked into 
Israeli grids” that was intended to create a system of dependence 
on Israel proper.96

Lewis captured the ultimate aim of this entire settlement en-
deavor in his cable. “The goal has been to create a matrix of  Israeli 
control in the West Bank so deeply rooted that no subsequent  Israeli 
government would be able to relinquish substantial chunks of that 
territory, even in exchange for peace,” the ambassador explained. 
Concluding with an assessment of the growing support for these 
settlements among Israelis, Lewis decried the lack of protest and 
explained how announcements of new expansion are “met with vir-
tual silence” and how “the majority of Israelis have come to accept 
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the settlements in the occupied territories as a fact of life.” Finally 
placing these developments alongside the stalled autonomy talks, 
the ambassador explained how the presence of a large number of 
Israeli settlers undermines the possibility of a “self- governing au-
thority developing into an embryo government of an independent 
PLO- state- in- the- making.”97 It could not be more evident to U.S. 
officials that any resolution of the Palestinian question was impos-
sible under these circumstances.

Reagan himself was personally aware of the consequences of this 
expansion. In his diary entry on February 14, 1983, the president 
wrote: “Valentine’s Day. Had a brief on the West Bank. There can 
be no question but that Israel has a well thought out plan to take 
over the W.B. [West Bank].”98 In his memoirs, Reagan later wrote 
that settlements were a “continued violation of UN Security Coun-
cil Resolution 242.”99 This was contrary to his statements during 
the campaign and at odds with his actions while in office. As late 
as 1988, upon hearing that Israel was planning new settlements, all 
Reagan could muster was “We are going to try and talk them out 
of that.”100 In actuality, the Reagan administration played a crucial 
role in enabling expansion, and the Israelis were acutely aware of 
this permissive approach.

In the course of a fact- finding meeting with Israeli officials on 
January 28, 1982, Secretary of State Haig raised the matter of land 
acquisition directly with Israeli minister Joseph Burg and the au-
tonomy committee in Jerusalem. He invoked the suspicions mount-
ing in the Arab world and among Palestinians “that what is under-
way is de facto annexation,” proffering the possibility of thickening 
existing settlements rather than building new ones: “Camp David 
does not say that annexation is the objective, just as it does not say, 
very clearly, that there is any hope or any objective of a Palestinian 
state. But you can’t have it both ways.” Israeli officials countered 
with a deep commitment to settlement building both as a secu-
rity mechanism to safeguard Israel proper and as a long- standing 
right inherent in the Zionist return to the land in their response. 
For Burg, the head of the autonomy committee, Israeli settlements 
were an insurance policy “to prevent partition of this country.” Lim-
iting growth, Burg argued, would lead to a process of “degenera-
tion” and “national despair.” He disputed Haig’s characterization 
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of Jewish settlements as annexation, invoking his own experience 
living in Prague during the German annexation of Sudetenland. “I 
know what is annexation [sic]. Living in part of Eretz Israel is not 
annexation.”101

Other Israeli officials pushed back against Haig from alternative 
directions. Yitzhak Shamir, the minister of foreign affairs, argued 
that the status of territory could be separated out from the politi-
cal rights of the individual. This arrangement, in practice, yielded 
a reality where territorial sovereignty was transformed while the 
inhabitants remained disenfranchised.102 In the fall of 1981, con-
fronting an earlier political impasse during the autonomy talks, 
Shamir explained his government’s position during an interview 
with Israeli radio: “The purpose of the autonomy scheme, that we 
have proposed, is not to create a state for a stateless people, and not 
to give a home to a homeless people.” Shamir was adamant that Pal-
estinians were not entitled to self- determination. “The Palestinian 
Arab people is not a stateless people and is not a homeless people. 
They already have their state, they already have their home and their 
country— it is called now Jordan. Jordan is a Palestinian Arab state. 
Its population is of Palestinian origin. Its culture, language and its 
mentality are all Palestinian.”103 For Shamir, like Begin, autonomy 
served as a mechanism to deal with the Palestinian Arabs in the ter-
ritories of the West Bank and Gaza along non- national lines.

Ariel Sharon, the leading architect of the expansion, focused on 
conveying the importance of security to Haig by depicting the settle-
ments as integral to Israel’s defense. “Settlements have been always 
part of our national security concept, and I am a great believer in 
this concept, being born myself on one of those settlements, and I 
can tell you that my mother— she is 82 years old— still sleeps with 
a gun under her pillow and that’s normal here. Everyone knows 
exactly his task. That is the immediate contribution of the settle-
ments to Israel’s security.” Sharon also justified building across the 
1967 borders as a natural outcome of displacement and migration, 
while linking settlements directly with Palestinian state prevention. 
“These settlements are perhaps the strongest barrier that we have 
against any possibility of forming in the future a second Palestin-
ian state, and by doing that, by having these settlements, that is the 
contribution, as I said, to the rest of the world.” He also added his 
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Cold War concerns about Soviet expansion in the Middle East, de-
picting the settlements as a solution both to the Soviet “danger” in 
the long term and in short- term confrontations with Arab states.104

More than all his colleagues, Prime Minister Begin offered Rea-
gan’s secretary of state the definitive Israeli response. He excitedly 
told Haig and his delegation that the legal debate over settlements 
was “finished.” Begin recalled the first time he met President Carter 
in the Cabinet Room, and Carter told Begin “we consider your 
settle ments to be illegal and an obstacle to peace.” He had seen 
Carter more than ten times, and at each meeting, Carter repeated 
the message, “illegal and an obstacle to peace.” But Begin disagreed. 
“I answered: legal and not an obstacle to peace. He didn’t tire; I 
didn’t tire.” As Begin asserted, “Mr. Ronald Reagan, put an end to 
that debate. He said, the settlements are not illegal. A double nega-
tive gives a positive result. In other words, they are legal or legiti-
mate.” For Begin, who had long championed the expansion of the 
Jewish presence beyond the 1967 borders, settlements were not an 
obstacle to peace with the Palestinians. “On the contrary,” he added, 
“they are a great contribution to peaceful relationships between the 
Jews and the Arabs in Judea and Samaria and the Gaza District.” 
Without them, PLO fighters would come down from the mountains 
to the plains of Israel and carry out attacks on Jews. “If there are no 
settlements there, they can just come down.”105

Haig had been informed that the situation in the West Bank 
was generating “paranoia” among Palestinians. “I can tell you the 
paranoia is just mind- boggling,” the secretary of state replied to his 
Israeli counterparts. “Mostly they are fed incorrect facts and they 
get that from the PLO . . . but one thing they say they know, and one 
thing they fear is that this is a formula— autonomy under the cur-
rent arrangements, as they believe them to exist— that the land will 
all be gone.”106 Yet Begin painted an idealistic view of Palestinian 
relations with the settlers. “They visit each other. They help each 
other. There’s never been a problem. The only place in which there 
are clashes from time to time is in Hebron— the only place.” Invok-
ing a mythological trope about the lack of cultivation before the ar-
rival of Zionist pioneers, the prime minister recalled the rocky land 
in which settlements were built. “It was desert, untilled for so many 
years, but, of course, you can do something and we do something, 
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in the pioneering spirit which you know so well from your own his-
tory and, therefore, sometimes the grey color turned into green.” 
Sharon deceitfully added that these areas had little or no inhabit-
ants, “the population is very small or doesn’t exist at all.” It was also 
the case, Sharon noted, that these hilltops were state- owned land. 
“I had tremendous difficulties when I tried to expropriate private 
land,” Sharon told the Americans, in light of the Begin’s govern-
ment’s legal dispute over certain areas of the West Bank.107 As for 
the issue of credibility around the world, Sharon concluded, “If I 
will have to choose— I know it is a hard decision— between cred-
ibility and security— I will take security.”108 In articulating their 
positions in such a direct and forceful manner, Israeli officials took 
full advantage of sympathetic American interlocutors and the for-
giving attitude of the Reagan administration. The U.S. secretary of 
state expressed his appreciation for the substantive talks, admitting 
that he spoke with “uncharacteristic bluntness,” a function of the 
“mutual confidence” between both Israel and the United States.109

Autonomy’s Demise
Haig traveled to Jerusalem to seek a way out of the impasse 
around autonomy, as the United States continued to mediate suc-
cessive rounds of discussions between Egypt and Israel into early 
1982. After the successful implementation of the Egyptian- Israeli 
peace treaty, the focus on the Palestinian dimension of the Camp 
David talks received far less attention. This was compounded by 
a  political transition in Cairo. Egyptian president Anwar al- Sadat 
was gunned down on October 6, 1981, during the annual Egyptian 
victory  parade to mark the Egyptian army’s performance in the 
1973 War. The assassins, led by the Egyptian army officer Khaled 
Al- Islambouli, were members of Egyptian Islamic Jihad. Their mo-
tivations grew out of domestic unrest in Egypt and disaffection over 
Sadat’s treatment of Islamists inside the country.110 While Sadat’s 
passing did not jeopardize the Camp David Accords (his vice presi-
dent, Hosni Mubarak, worked to safeguard them), it did highlight 
the increasingly deadlocked discussions over autonomy.

In a final attempt to advance these discussions, Haig convened 
a meeting of Israeli officials in Jerusalem that January, nearly two 
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years since Sol Linowitz had made the last serious effort under 
Carter. Among the topics that had bedeviled the talks was the de-
bate over sovereignty, with the Egyptians demanding the relinquish-
ment of Israeli control and Israel asserting it should be maintained. 
Elyakim Rubinstein, Israel’s legal advisor, offered the official view: 
“The source of authority, legally speaking, is sort of in the shadows 
but is under us in the five years, and, of course, it would have some 
practical implications with the security things, with the Jewish 
settle ments and so on.” He did not want to bother with international 
agreements or treaties. “Who needs them? This is something which 
just would waste the time and there is no problem, real problem, 
that necessitates it.” Likewise, Rubinstein argued, there should not 
be a separate Palestinian currency or other symbols of sovereignty. 
Haig, who was sympathetic to the Israeli point of view, could not see 
why the Egyptians raised objections. “I must say, I don’t feel that we 
have a problem with this thing [autonomy]. It’s sort of an airbag; 
the more you punch it, the less is there.”111

Although sovereignty had been at the heart of the debate over 
the Palestinian political future at Camp David, it was now an after-
thought. Dr. David Kimche, the director general of the Israeli Min-
istry of Foreign Affairs, agreed that it was a “non- issue”: “I mean, 
on no account are the Palestinian Arabs going to be represented by 
anybody in the UN or in foreign capitals, neither by us or anybody 
else.” For Kimche, the real practical issue was security, and that was 
worth the effort of continuing the negotiations. Without the partic-
ipation of Egyptian diplomats, let alone the Palestinians affected by 
new arrangements in the territories, Haig expressed sympathy for 
securing Israeli military guarantees. He envisioned a police force 
that would deal with day- to- day law enforcement, while wonder-
ing about the introduction of arms into the territories. The discus-
sion foreshadowed future debates over security control in the West 
Bank and Gaza Strip, which would confront Palestinian negotiators 
seeking an independent hold over the territory themselves. Israeli 
officials would not cede the right to operate freely in these areas. 
“The fight against terrorism would be our responsibility, whatever 
it would include,” one Israeli official explained, underscoring the 
commitment to maintaining full control as the security forces saw 
fit. “We are not going to freeze things,” added Rubinstein.112
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State Department and NSC officials who accompanied Haig to 
Jerusalem later reported to the director of the CIA that there was 
no “give” on the Israeli position, including the size of Israeli military 
presence in the territories.113 There was also no substantive push 
by the Americans toward the baseline position of Egypt or even the 
minimum of what Palestinians would demand, with the secretary 
of state merely gauging Israel’s position without leveraging pres-
sure in return. Just as Begin had laid out years earlier in his original 
autonomy plan to Carter, reiterated once again to Reagan admin-
istration officials, it was a clear vision to ensure a system of control 
whereby Arab inhabitants in the West Bank and Gaza Strip might 
accrue more individual rights, but in which sovereign control over 
their territory remained with the Israeli government.

In concluding his discussions with Ariel Sharon, Haig voiced 
concern with the ultimate fate of the autonomy talks, about which 
he was “pessimistic.” There was a growing feeling in both Egypt and 
Israel that autonomy was unachievable, and this was a “very dan-
gerous attitude to develop.” Haig again specified Egyptian criticism, 
namely “that things are happening on the West Bank and continue 
to happen that are creating a de facto annexation.” While the secre-
tary of state himself did not believe it, he told Sharon, “I think we 
have to be very, very sensitive to it . . . I would urge you to look very 
carefully on whether or not you could take some additional steps.” 
These steps related to free transit in the West Bank, particularly 
with mayors and journalists. The Egyptians were hearing concerns 
from local Palestinians about a “deterioration” and Haig wanted 
Sharon to alleviate the pressure. “I think you ought to have a look 
and see what you could do in good conscience, without unaccept-
able risks, that will improve the climate . . . I am offering this advice 
as good offices, not claiming to know better than you do.” But at the 
same time, Haig assured Sharon that the Israeli model would suc-
ceed in the end. “I must tell you that my discussion in Cairo on the 
subjects of security led me to believe they are very comfortable with 
what I think your own thinking is,” Haig remarked to Sharon, “and 
I don’t think it will be a problem in [the] autonomy category.”114

Sharon understood the favorable environment in which auton-
omy was being negotiated. He assured Haig he was ready to present 
the Israeli view and was impatient to secure a deal. “I believe one 
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can achieve autonomy,” Sharon asserted, “to every American repre-
sentative who came here to this country, I have repeated again and 
again that we could have achieved that already.” Sharon was eager 
to see the autonomy talks advance on Israeli terms and told Haig he 
had taken steps to enable implementation, including the replace-
ment of military personnel in the territories with a more amenable 
civilian administration. The primary concern, as Israeli officials 
had long warned, was anything resembling statehood. “We will not 
allow a situation that in Judea, Samaria and Gaza there will be a 
second Palestinian state or a corridor to a second Palestinian state, 
and we will not accept terrorist activity,” Sharon emphasized. “If I 
could have advocated to the Arabs, I would have told them: people, 
take this autonomy; you have never been offered anything better 
than that.” He underscored the benevolent advantage of  Begin’s 
concept: “You were under first Iraqi occupation, then Jordanian 
and Egyptian, for 19 years. You were never offered anything like 
that, take it, you are going to run your own lives.” To bolster his 
argument, Sharon even pointed to dissenters who sought coopera-
tion with Israel, suggesting that autonomy was a wedge to break 
the PLO’s hold over the territories.115 In the Israeli view, reiterated 
throughout Haig’s visit, autonomy was a means both to accommo-
date alternatives to the PLO and to avoid self- determination.

On the morning of his departure from Jerusalem, the U.S. secre-
tary of state attempted to summarize the status of the negotiations 
and reach a conclusive end before the imposed April 1982 deadline. 
While the discussions were restricted to U.S. and Israeli officials 
without any Arab participation, they clearly reflect the trajectory 
of diplomatic efforts in the wake of Camp David and the triumph 
of Israel’s political vision for the occupied territories. “I recognize 
that this is the real autonomy group,” Haig humorously said to the 
large room of participants, “and as somebody said when we came 
in, it appears to be becoming the largest industry in Israel.” He re-
viewed the status of the talks since the departure of Carter’s envoy 
Sol Linowitz, and the stops and starts that followed on the heels 
of Sadat’s assassination. Egypt had hardened its position, Haig ex-
plained, demanding that any agreement be “acceptable” to the Pal-
estinians and the Arab world. In practice, this signaled a return to 
the principle of self- determination, which Sadat had first presented 
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when the discussion of the Palestinian question was raised in 1977. 
Haig told the Israelis that he had rejected this, since “Camp David 
and the Peace Treaty were not arrived at under such a conception.” 
Sadat’s successor, Egyptian president Hosni Mubarak, eventually 
agreed to abandon his position “in practice” and renew efforts on 
the talks.116

Haig shared Israel’s desire to keep the autonomy talks in motion 
and conclude an agreement, while cognizant of the regression that 
had set in after Sadat’s death. There were practical reasons that the 
issue had come to a stalemate, but also deep- seated cultural differ-
ences between the two parties that had made it difficult to see eye 
to eye. He urged his Israeli hosts “to remember the differences in 
society” between Israel and Egypt. “You have a very sophisticated, 
educated, enlightened, communicative society. Everybody knows 
and understands what is going on. They may not draw the same 
conclusions from this fact. But that is not true in Egypt; never has 
been; never will be.” Haig’s was a derisive view of the Egyptians, 
reflecting the secretary of state’s internal biases and greater comfort 
with the Israelis, but also the natural manifestation of a U.S.- Israeli 
relationship under Reagan that was rooted in perceived shared in-
terests and a sense of common values. The secretary of state hoped 
the Israel would adapt accordingly, even with the reservations that 
had been expressed. “We are not looking for concessions. What we 
are looking for is ingenuity, to enable us to settle questions,” Haig 
explained. “We have been at this for years. There isn’t an awful lot 
that is mysterious and I basically believe it is doable.”117 Such an ap-
proach captured the prevailing atmosphere of permissiveness and 
mutuality that shaped American engagement with autonomy under 
the new administration.

In a follow- up letter to Reagan after Haig had departed, Begin 
stressed his compliance with the Camp David Accords but rejected 
any possibility that self- determination for Palestinians would be 
on the table. He recalled Sadat’s contravening attempts during the 
Camp David negotiations and again invoked Carter’s acquiescence 
that it would be “totally unacceptable” to the United States. “There 
is no ‘self- determination’ there, there is no Palestinian state there, 
there is no participation of the PLO there. There is autonomy, full 
autonomy, for the Arab inhabitants of Judea, Samaria (generally 
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but mistakenly called ‘West Bank’) and the Gaza District.” The 
Egyptians were trying to return to the pre– Camp David model, and 
this was “impossible” for Begin. If such a position had succeeded, he 
told Reagan, “there would not have been a Camp David Accord.”118

Begin’s view derived from his clear understanding of the agree-
ment signed with Sadat in September 1978, which remained con-
stant and had been reiterated to all U.S. officials who had attempted 
to negotiate on the Palestinian question since that time. There were 
clear limits to the Israeli position, which even Middle East analysts 
at the CIA understood.

Prime Minister Begin asserts that the CDA [Camp David Agreements] 
rule out the emergence of a Palestinian state. In Begin’s view the agree-
ments “guarantee that under no condition” can a Palestinian state be 
created. In practice, Begin affectively rules out any exercise of Pales-
tinian self- determination except one that continues Israel’s perma-
nent position in the West Bank. . . . Begin’s view is that the SGA [Self- 
Governing Authority] should be a solely administrative authority 
regulating the affairs of the Arab inhabitants and leaving control of the 
territory and all key security issues with Israel. In sum, autonomy is for 
people not territory and therefore does not prejudice Israel’s territorial 
claims to the West Bank.119

This distinction between autonomy for people as opposed to ter-
ritory undergirded the entire Israeli approach to the Palestinian 
question in the late 1970s and early 1980s, whether in discussions 
with Robert Strauss, Sol Linowitz, or Alexander Haig. The auton-
omy talks did not represent a diplomatic dead end for Israel but 
rather served as an integral means of enshrining the Camp David 
Accords along Begin’s lines. In Egypt’s feeble response and explicit 
countenancing of the Israeli notion that autonomy would preclude 
rather than facilitate Palestinian statehood, Cairo had enabled the 
breakthrough on bilateral peace at Camp David to thwart a political 
solution for the Palestinians.

U.S. diplomats understood that the autonomy negotiations they 
were tasked with mediating had buried the possibility of meaning-
ful Arab sovereignty in the occupied territories. In his memoirs, Sol 
Linowitz reflected on how Begin’s rationale drove the underlying 
logic of the negotiations: “Part of the problem with the concept of 
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‘full autonomy,’ which was his, was the fact that it was only a con-
cept, a large and principled gesture that would have to be limited, 
of course, by the reality of Israeli interests.” In Linowitz’s account, 
those interests were predicated on the distinction between Pales-
tinian inhabitants and the sovereign status of the territories. “The 
philosophical roots of the concept,” Linowitz explained, “lay tangled 
in Begin’s distinction between autonomy for inhabitants of the land 
(which was what he claimed he meant) and autonomy on the land 
itself.”120 These inconsistencies were immediately apparent, yet 
they inhered in the U.S. approach to successive rounds of negotia-
tions. Fully aware of Israeli intentions on settlements, security, and 
other key aspects of life in the occupied territories, American dip-
lomats went into the autonomy talks thinking they might be able to 
mediate between the parties. But instead, U.S. involvement served 
to legitimize a profoundly consequential political discussion about 
the fate of Palestinian self- rule in the territories while the possibil-
ity of their territorial rights and sovereignty had already been ruled 
out by Israel.

Reagan’s victory over Carter heralded a new alignment between 
U.S. neoconservatives and the Likud government in Israel. The 
tenor of the presidential campaign and the ideological influences 
on the new administration’s foreign policy underscored that an 
alternative framing of events in the Middle East was ascendant. 
After repeated confrontations over the possibility of a comprehen-
sive peace and the meaning of a political solution to Palestinian 
demands in the late 1970s, the revival of a Cold War footing in the 
early 1980s was a boon to the Begin government. It led directly to 
the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding to formalize the 
strategic alliance between the United States and Israel, while Pales-
tinian nationalists were marginalized as agents of Soviet influence. 
In the fight against communism, Israel could position itself as pro-
viding necessary assistance to the United States while the Pales-
tinians were seen as an impediment, abetting terror and threating 
the “Strategic Consensus” that Secretary Haig sought to implement. 
Some defense officials understood the risks of such an approach 
to wider U.S. regional strategy, especially in the Gulf, recoiling at 
contentious decisions like Israel’s 1981 Golan Heights Law and the 
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bombing of Iraq’s Osirak nuclear reactor. But Reagan grafted his 
global view onto local events, eager in these early months to accom-
modate a stalwart friend in the region.

At this decisive juncture in the international history of the 
 Middle East, following the Iranian Revolution in 1979 and the out-
break of the Iran- Iraq War in 1980, Reagan’s policies aggravated 
Arab attitudes toward the United States and further underscored 
the troubling consequences of Camp David for the Palestinians. 
The stinging critique of the accords among neoconservatives within 
the new administration inaugurated a new U.S. approach to inter-
national law with regard to settlement building in the West Bank 
and Gaza Strip. For Israeli leaders in Jerusalem, this welcome shift 
enabled the continuation of a robust expansion plan in the occu-
pied territories, while also empowering Israel to assert sovereignty 
in the context of the autonomy talks. As the final series of those 
discussions in 1981 and early 1982 made clear, the transition from 
Carter to Reagan had accelerated the erosion of a diplomatic so-
lution to the Palestinian question. By rejecting Carter’s approach 
to self- determination and acquiescing to the restrictive interpre-
tations of Israel, the new U.S. administration sealed the fate of 
the Palestinian autonomy talks in Begin’s favor. While Egyptian 
diplomats protested this pattern, they had in fact legitimated the 
 discussions, serving as rather poor and undesignated agents of Pal-
estinian demands while countenancing an outcome that precluded 
statehood and further marginalized the PLO.

Collectively, these developments fit with a broader ideological 
shift away from the human rights emphasis of the late 1970s to-
ward the global Cold War revival of the early 1980s. In practical 
terms, the link between Reagan’s worldview and the intentions of 
the Begin government served to deny the Palestinians substan-
tive political standing. It also presaged more explicit support for 
 Israel’s military aims across its northern border. There were already 
murmurings of a large- scale military operation against the PLO in 
Lebanon. The means of Palestinian state prevention were moving 
swiftly to a military track, and a deadly battle to destroy Palestinian 
nationalism was now headed for Beirut.
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The Limits of Lebanon

on friDay sePtember 17, 1982,  four Israeli soldiers in full battle 
dress knocked on the door of the Beirut home of Shafiq al- Hout, 
the PLO’s official representative in Lebanon. Al- Hout was in hid-
ing, a target of several assassination attempts for his leadership of 
the Palestinian resistance inside the country. The soldiers forced 
their way into the residence and began questioning Shafiq’s wife, 
Bayan, while searching for valuable documents. One officer found 
al- Hout’s old Palestinian passport, from his childhood in Jaffa, 
where he was born and raised during the British Mandate. The 
soldiers were amazed as they looked through its pages. “Your re-
action is no surprise to me. I am sure you have never seen such a 
document,” Bayan told them. “As you can see, the text is written in 
all three languages: Arabic, English, and Hebrew. It comes from 
the time when Palestine had enough room for everyone, regard-
less of his religion or sect.” The soldiers confiscated the cherished 
passport, despite Bayan’s attempts to get it back, as she recounted 
tearfully to her husband when they were reunited some days later. 
In his memoirs, al- Hout recounts the incident with obvious pain, 
conveying a message from the story, “that the Zionists’ perpetual 
objective is the elimination of Palestinian national identity. Why 
else would they insist on continuing to eradicate all physical, spiri-
tual, and cultural trace of our presence in Palestine?”1

Coming on the heels of political efforts to prevent Palestinian 
self- determination in the autonomy negotiations with Egypt, the 
1982 Israeli war against the PLO in Lebanon was understood by 
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Palestinians as an outright assault on their national identity. Under 
the leadership of Prime Minister Menachem Begin and Minister 
of Defense Ariel Sharon, the Israeli government launched an inva-
sion in June under the pretext of stopping militant rocket fire on 
the Galilee region. The PLO had relocated to Lebanon from Jordan 
after armed confrontation with King Hussein’s army in 1970. This 
shifted the center of nationalist politics to the Palestinian refugee 
camps in Lebanon. Israeli leaders were increasingly anxious about 
the power of the PLO and the growing links between Palestinians 
inside the occupied territories and in the Arab diaspora. By target-
ing the PLO inside Lebanon and forcing its withdrawal, strategic 
thinkers in Israel believed Palestinian national aspirations for a 
homeland could be quashed and a pliant Maronite state could be 
established as an ally to the north.2

Surveying the plausible outcomes of the Israeli invasion soon 
after it began, American intelligence suggested that the fighting 
would likely weaken the PLO. At the same time, the war would 
under mine U.S. relations with moderate Arab states and strengthen 
Begin’s hand in the autonomy negotiations. Egypt had temporarily 
withdrawn from these discussions after the invasion, removing the 
pressure on Begin to be more conciliatory to the Palestinians. If au-
tonomy talks were restarted, U.S. analysts wrote, “Begin will press 
hard for the resumption of the talks on his terms, in part because 
he believes that the demise of the PLO as a military force in Leba-
non will reduce pressures on West Bank and Gaza Palestinians to 
refuse to ‘cooperate’ with the Israeli administration there.”3

Israel’s hope that newly sympathetic figures in the West Bank 
and Gaza Strip would materialize was misplaced. Instead, events in 
Lebanon strengthened the call for self- determination in the occu-
pied territories. As it turned out, internal divisions in Lebanon were 
far more complex than Israeli leaders grasped, and the decision to 
intervene militarily led to a large- scale war that quickly drew in the 
United States. The ensuing violence resulted in the death of at least 
five thousand Lebanese and Palestinian civilians in the midst of a 
brutal civil war.4 Even after the heaviest fighting ended, a prolonged 
Israeli occupation of the south of the country lasted until 2000, 
reshaping regional politics well into the twenty- first century. The 
fighting in Lebanon fundamentally undercut Israeli and American 
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influence in the Middle East, while transforming perceptions of 
both Zionism and Palestinian nationalism around the globe.

Despite the war’s longevity and broader impact, historical treat-
ment of it remains sparse. Most of the extant writing has been left 
to journalists and the partisan memoirs of participants.5  Scholarly 
accounts of the war are largely sequestered within national or 
quasi- national frames, alternating between a critique of Israeli 
overreach,6 a focus on PLO actions during the summer siege of 
1982,7 the Phalange- led massacre in the Sabra and Shatila Pal-
estinian refugee camps,8 and the shattering of American naiveté 
with the bombings of the U.S. Embassy and Marine barracks in 
Lebanon’s seaside capital.9 Few studies have managed to synthesize 
these various perspectives by situating the war in its local, regional, 
and international contexts.

Part of the reason these disparate elements have not easily been 
drawn together is a wider legacy of willful amnesia. For the Leb-
anese, the events of 1982 are a subset of a broader civil war that 
extended from 1975 to 1990. The lack of a unified narrative about 
this period stems from an aversion to implicating segments of the 
ruling political class in the violence or in facilitating the Israeli in-
vasion. “We should recognize the traumas that we experienced and 
inflicted upon each other during the war,” explained one scholar of 
contemporary Lebanon, “and the traumas that we continue to ex-
perience through the imposed silence of the ‘post civil war’ era.”10 It 
is largely to the credit of an entire generation of postwar Lebanese 
artists and filmmakers— rather than historians— that the silence 
has been challenged.11 Among Israeli scholars, the 1982 War is also 
described in traumatic terms, with one historian noting that many 
of his fellow citizens “prefer to deal with it by suppressing and for-
getting it.”12 The Lebanon War exists as a cultural touchstone but 
also a historical black box, lacking the sustained scholarly attention 
that marks other aspects of the Israeli past.13 This view was some-
what altered during the thirtieth anniversary, as newspapers, con-
ferences, and TV coverage offered more critical examinations of the 
war. But there exists a deep silence and denial around the events in 
Lebanon. It is an exonerated war, and for some who selectively re-
member a formative military experience of early youth, it has even 
become a war of pride.14
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With the availability of new sources on 1982, it is possible to 
challenge this amnesia by examining the important linkages be-
tween diplomatic efforts at preventing Palestinian sovereignty and 
the impact of the war itself. While the Camp David Accords had ob-
structed the quest for Palestinian statehood in political terms, they 
helped pave the way for a military intervention after Reagan took 
office. Against the backdrop of PLO marginalization and the deep-
ening U.S. alliance with Israel, Lebanon emerged as a nexus of Cold 
War contestation in the Middle East. The convergence would chal-
lenge U.S.- Israeli relations and dominant regional politics, leaving 
the Palestinians vulnerable in dramatic new ways.

The Palestinians in Lebanon
After the 1967 War, Palestinian nationalists had used Jordan as a 
base for attacks against Israel, threatening the stability of the Hash-
emite Kingdom and leading to the outbreak of the Jordanian civil 
war in 1970.15 In the wake of the violence, the PLO leadership sought 
to regroup under more favorable circumstances. Lebanon was an ob-
vious choice. Yasser Arafat and the Lebanese army had brokered the 
Cairo Agreement in November 1969, which authorized actions on 
behalf of the Palestinian national liberation struggle and guaranteed 
Palestinian civic rights in Lebanon.16 Through mass mobilization, 
paramilitary training, and the control of services, the PLO bolstered 
its local standing in their new host country and effectively created 
a “state within a state.”17 It was not a welcome development among 
many Lebanese factions, who were balancing demographic and po-
litical considerations to maintain control in a young and weak con-
fessional democracy. External powers had long sought influence in-
side the country, from French colonial rulers to neighbors like Syria. 
The United States was also heavily invested in the country, and a 
brief but formative intervention by President Eisenhower in 1958 
had demonstrated the precarious nature of local Lebanese control.18

Growing PLO influence on the ground in the 1970s encroached 
upon Lebanese sovereignty, and a weak Lebanese army was eventu-
ally forced to renounce its control of certain areas in the country. 
These developments increased tension between the Lebanese and 
the Palestinians, with the PLO solidifying its hold in south Lebanon, 
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venturing outside refugee camp strongholds and creating alliances 
with various Muslim groups. In 1975, open clashes with Lebanese 
Christian forces broke out in the southern city of Sidon and quickly 
spread all over Lebanon, helping to ignite a fifteen- year civil war.19 
The fighting involved an array of factions that pitted Christians 
against Muslims, Palestinians and Lebanese leftists against right- 
wing Christian Phalangist militias, and various Christian and Mus-
lim factions against one another. There was also a crucial external 
role played by Syria, which first intervened militarily in 1976.

For the Shia Muslim population in the south of Lebanon, the 
dual impact of the PLO presence and the rise of cross- border skir-
mishes with Israel was profoundly dislocating. Many had borne the 
brunt of the earlier 1978 incursion by Israel up to the Litani River 
in south Lebanon, fleeing the countryside to cities farther north. 
Long impoverished and politically disenfranchised, the Shia found 
their land appropriated by Palestinian refugees and the entire re-
gion transformed into a land bridge for the “reconquest of Arab 
Palestine” as the Palestinian liberation struggle swiftly took prece-
dence over local concerns.20 Unable to cope with the Palestinian 
presence, growing Shia discontent fomented the rapid rise of the 
Amal Movement, which formed the basis for the subsequent emer-
gence of Hezbollah.21

The violence in the south also affected border towns in northern 
Israel, with the exchange of rocket fire from PLO members leaving 
residents in Israel’s Galilee region exposed. UN mediation in 1978 
had led to the establishment of the UN Interim Force in Lebanon 
(UNIFIL), which acted as a peacekeeping entity to restrain these 
cross- border skirmishes.22 Violence broke out again 1981, and a 
cease- fire was put in place via the mediation of President Reagan’s 
Special Envoy in Lebanon, Ambassador Philip Habib.23

Prime Minister Begin and Defense Minister Sharon both sought 
to take advantage of the new Cold War mind- set in Washington. 
An emerging decision to militarily target the PLO grew out of the 
stalled Palestinian autonomy talks that had been ongoing since the 
spring of 1979. In Sharon’s view, the lack of a diplomatic solution 
to the Palestinian question after the Camp David Accords invited 
a display of force that would somehow defeat Palestinians in their 
Lebanese stronghold. More ambitious than Begin, the defense 
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minister aimed to destroy the PLO military infrastructure through-
out Lebanon and undermine the organization as a political entity 
in order to “break the backbone of Palestinian nationalism” and 
facilitate the absorption of the West Bank by Israel.24

With members of the Reagan administration viewing the PLO 
as a Soviet proxy, there was greater support for Israeli desires to 
target the Palestinian national movement militarily than had ex-
isted under Carter. To garner Reagan’s support in reviving Israel’s 
military agenda in the border area, Prime Minister Begin promoted 
a strategic Cold War argument while emphasizing humanitarian 
dimensions as well. Drawing on decades of a close Zionist alliance 
with the Maronite Christian community of Mount Lebanon, Begin 
saw himself as the savior of a besieged minority and promoted the 
view that the Maronites were the “Jews of the 1980s.” As he told 
the Israeli cabinet in April 1981, “Israel will not allow genocide to 
happen.”25 In his sweeping presentation, Begin was referring to ac-
counts of Christians killed and threatened by Palestinian groups, 
like the notorious 1976 massacre in Damour. He promised to act as 
a protector to his Maronite interlocutors.

In a meeting with Ambassador to Israel Samuel Lewis, Begin 
expanded on his approach to Lebanon. “Under no circumstances 
will Israel allow the Christians of Lebanon in the 80s [to] become 
the Jews of Europe in the 40s. We cannot countenance it because 
we are a Jewish state.” Appealing to the protection of religious free-
doms, Begin stressed, “The Maronites are one of the most ancient 
Christian groups in the Middle East. It is inconceivable that we 
would stand by and allow the Christians to be destroyed.” Asserting 
his own leadership role against a historical backdrop of Jewish per-
secution, Begin remarked, “Today I am a proud Jew. We were once 
helpless and massacred and now by divine providence we have the 
means to help other people whose destruction is being connived by 
a brutal enemy.”26

A U.S. Green Light
As defense minister, Ariel Sharon was eager to move beyond Begin’s 
rhetoric with substantive action and developed the plans needed 
to implement Israeli war aims. Convinced of Lebanese Christian 
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political strength, based on Israel’s Mossad intelligence, Sharon 
sought to establish a Maronite- led government in Lebanon, headed 
by the Lebanese Phalange party leader Bashir Gemayel.27 Sharon 
envisioned the eventual signing of a peace treaty between the two 
countries, as well as the expulsion of the Syrian army from Leba-
non.28 To achieve these aims, Sharon conceived two military plans 
with the code names of “Little Pines” and “Big Pines.” The former, 
intended for the Israeli army to go up to forty kilometers inside 
Lebanon, would target PLO installations. The latter was predicated 
on an invasion up to the Beirut- Damascus highway, just outside the 
capital, linking Israel’s troops with Maronite forces.

Prime Minister Begin first presented “Big Pines” to the Israeli 
cabinet on December 20, 1981, but the majority of ministers rejected 
it. Sharon and the army’s chief of staff, Rafael Eitan, realized that 
there was no chance of persuading the cabinet to approve a large- 
scale operation. Instead, they adopted a tactic to implement an op-
eration in stages by securing a smaller incursion first.29 This avoided 
the need to persuade lawmakers, whom Begin and Sharon felt were 
“weak- kneed, lily- livered faint hearts,” as Ambassador Samuel Lewis 
later recounted. Instead, Sharon reframed the operation, convincing 
Begin “that the Israelis needed only to project their force fifty kilo-
meters into Lebanon to clean out the PLO artillery and Kaytusha 
rockets.” This led the cabinet to discuss “a much smaller and less 
frightening operation,” Lewis explained, appearing merely as “an in-
cursion, slightly larger than the one that took place in 1978.”30

Sharon did not hide his broader ambitions in conversation with 
American allies. The Israeli defense minister first revealed the ex-
tent of his military plans during a meeting with Ambassador Habib 
in December 1981 at the Israeli Foreign Ministry. Habib’s assistant, 
Morris Draper, recalled this meeting during a ten- year retrospec-
tive on American involvement in Lebanon. U.S. officials hoped to 
solidify a “de facto cease- fire” in the south, but Sharon “rather lost 
his temper and threw cold water over the plans.” He described a 
much wider incursion, alarming the Americans, who warned Presi-
dent Reagan when they returned to Washington. Habib described 
“in graphic detail” to Secretary of State Haig and other State De-
partment officials what would happen. “We were going to see 
American- made munitions being dropped from American- made 



tHe limits of lebanon [ 201 ]

aircraft over Lebanon, and civilians were going to be killed, there 
was going to be a hell of a big uproar, and the United States— which 
didn’t look very good in the Middle East anyway at the time, for 
being so inactive— was going to take a full charge of blame,” Draper 
recalled.31

Samuel Lewis corroborated Draper’s recollections, adding that 
“Habib and everybody else was thunder- struck by Sharon’s plan, 
although I think our Embassy staff were not quite as surprised, ex-
cept for the fact that Sharon was being so open about his views.”32 
Habib reportedly asked Sharon what Israel would do with the thou-
sands of Palestinians in the country, and Sharon allegedly replied, 
“We’ll hand them over to the Lebanese. In any case, we expect to be 
in Lebanon only for a few days. The Lebanese Christians will take 
care of them.”33

Sharon’s revelation of expansive war aims, as Lewis noted, was 
intended “to prepare the Reagan administration for a large Israeli 
operation in Lebanon which was likely to occur.”34 It did not take 
much convincing. A few days before the invasion, Sharon came to 
Washington and explained in greater detail to Secretary Haig what 
he was planning. The notebooks of Charles Hill, a top State De-
partment aide who attended the meeting, clearly indicate that an 
American “green light” was given for Israel’s actions.35

Tuesday May 25
ariel sHaron: Lebanon: . . . We see no alternative to entering and 

destroying terrorist bases. Don’t want war with Syria. Don’t want 
you to be taken by surprise. Tomorrow or three weeks, we just 
don’t know . . . I see no alternative.

alexanDer Haig: On Lebanon, we understand your difficulties. I 
thought you intended deep, lasting attack. Now I sense a depar-
ture from that. We can’t tell you not to defend your interests. But 
we are living with perception. Must be a recognizable provocation. 
Once a resort to force, everything changes. Like the Falklands. 
Hope you’ll be sensitive to the need for provocation to be under-
stood internationally.

So we have to work this Lebanon problem. Make every effort 
to avoid it. We want Syria out of Lebanon more than you. It is a 
Soviet proxy. . . . 
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sHaron: We are aware of your concern about size. Our intent is not a 
large operation. Try to be as small and efficient as possible.

Haig: Like a lobotomy.
[C. H. notation: A GREEN LIGHT FROM HAIG ON LIMITED 

OPERATION]36

While Israel waited for a “recognizable provocation” to begin a mil-
itary incursion, Charles Hill noted that Haig had given a “green 
light” for a “limited operation” denoting clear American support for 
such action before the war began.37

“Operation Peace for Galilee”
Leaving the side door of the Dorchester Hotel across from Lon-
don’s Hyde Park on the evening of June 3, 1982, Israeli ambassador 
Shlomo Argov strolled down Park Lane toward his waiting car. As 
he bent to enter the back seat, an assassin’s bullet hit him in the 
head. The attack, which would leave him brain- damaged and con-
fined to a hospital bed for the remaining twenty- one years of his 
life, provided the final pretext for Israel’s invasion of Lebanon three 
days later.38

Israeli intelligence had information that the violently anti- PLO 
Abu Nidal group was behind the attack, but this distinction was 
inconsequential as Prime Minister Begin proceeded to order an 
attack on the PLO in Beirut.39 The Argov assassination attempt 
provided the internationally recognized provocation that Haig had 
insisted Sharon needed to initiate military action against the orga-
nization. Even before Israeli troops crossed the border, the Israeli 
air force had attacked PLO targets in Beirut and southern Lebanon. 
After securing Israeli cabinet approval for operation “Little Pines” 
on June 5, Israeli troops moved into Lebanon across the northern 
border and made sea landings near the southern coastal city of 
Sidon.40

“Operation Peace for Galilee” formally began on Sunday, June 6, 
1982. The Begin government’s official war aim was to ensure the 
immediate cessation of cross- border violence.41 But the invasion 
quickly expanded well beyond the forty- kilometer line Sharon had 
suggested in his operation “Little Pines,” as Israeli troops headed 
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toward Beirut, linking up with Maronite forces. The Israelis prom-
ised the Americans that they had no intention of staying in Leba-
non and occupying the country, simply asserting they would not 
tolerate a return to the status quo of PLO shelling in the Galilee 
region.42

While condoned by Haig, Israeli actions were not fully accepted 
by the U.S. administration. On June 8, two days after the invasion, 
Prime Minister Begin and Ambassador Habib met to discuss Israeli 
war aims. Habib was one of the U.S. diplomats most concerned 
with Israel’s mounting bombing campaign in Beirut. Along with 
Ambassador Samuel Lewis, the Americans argued with Begin that 
the PLO was not responsible for the assassination attempt against 
Argov and that the Israelis were exceeding the promise to stop at 
the forty- kilometer mark of the invasion.

Habib: I have received a message from our embassy in Beirut. The city 
has no electric power, no gas. Men without uniforms are moving 
about with arms. It is a city of two million people. What I wish to 
ask is, can you stop the bombing of Beirut?

begin: Did we bomb Beirut?
Habib: Yesterday.
begin: We bombed the PLO headquarters and we do not know if 

Arafat survived it. He is a little Hitler. Those days are gone forever. 
Now we rely on our own strength.

Habib: What I am suggesting is that the bombing in that area be 
stopped. I know you bombed the headquarters but people get hurt 
and damage to property is inflicted. I know how you feel about 
hurting civilians.43

Begin’s rhetoric, invoking comparisons between the PLO and the 
Nazis, isolated the Palestinian question in a larger historical frame 
of global anti- Semitism. This conflation, an inaccuracy that the 
Israeli prime minister would repeat throughout his time in office, 
served to exclude Palestinian lives as a dehumanized entity only ca-
pable of evil toward Jews. By targeting the Palestinian question in 
this way as a problem to be solved militarily, the Israeli government 
dismissed any viable claim the Palestinians might have to national 
self- determination. Yet, as Habib’s protestations made clear, some 
officials were beginning to recognize that their close alignment with 
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Israel posed problems for U.S. Middle East policy more broadly. 
There was a growing fear in Washington that the Arab world would 
view American silence as a sign of complicity, or even a signal that 
the United States had helped initiate the Israeli violence.44

Restraining an Ally
In the days immediately following the invasion, American officials 
continued to debate the extent to which the administration should 
endorse Israel’s “lobotomy.” Secretary Haig and Reagan’s ambassa-
dor to the United Nations, Jeane Kirkpatrick, felt that Israel should 
be left to destroy the PLO, which they saw as a proxy of the  Soviet 
Union. The more cautious trio of Secretary of Defense Caspar 
Weinberger, White House Chief of Staff James Baker, and National 
Security Advisor William Clark favored holding Israel to a more 
limited operation.45 Despite Begin’s assurances in the Knesset that 
Israel was not seeking a war with Syrian troops inside Lebanon, a 
major clash erupted on June 9. More than a hundred Israeli jets 
swept over the Bekaa Valley, attacking surface- to- air missile instal-
lations and shooting down Syrian MiGs. The conflict had grown 
considerably.46

The Israeli prime minister was fully aware that U.S. support for 
his country’s actions was subject to internal debate, and the dis-
agreements intensified on the eve of Begin’s preplanned visit to 
Washington in June 1982.47 President Reagan’s first meeting with 
Begin about Lebanon was a tense forty- five minutes in the White 
House on June 21 with just the two leaders and their note- takers 
present. The meeting opened with the U.S. president’s assertion 
that the invasion, with its incursion toward Beirut, had exceeded 
its stated goals of responding to PLO attacks. America, Reagan im-
plored, could not offer unconditional support to a “military opera-
tion which was not clearly justified in the eyes of the international 
community.” Even in light of the terrible attack on the Israeli am-
bassador in London, Reagan argued, “Israel has lost ground to a 
great extent among our people. . . . They cannot believe that this 
vile attack— nor even the accumulation of losses that Israel has suf-
fered from PLO terrorist activity since last summer— justified the 
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death and destruction that the IDF brought to so many innocent 
people over the past two weeks.”48

Within his overarching anti- Soviet agenda, Reagan believed— 
correctly or mistakenly— that the United States could simultane-
ously manage its long- standing friendship with Israel and its im-
portant alliances with wealthy anti- communist Arab states. But 
to succeed, Reagan and his advisors needed Israel’s cooperation. 
“Your actions in Lebanon have seriously undermined our relation-
ship with those Arab governments whose cooperation is essential to 
protect the Middle East from external threats and to counter forces 
of Soviet- sponsored radicalism and Islamic fundamentalism now 
growing in the region,” Reagan told Begin. “U.S. influence in the 
Arab world, our ability to achieve our strategic objectives, has been 
seriously damaged by Israel’s actions.”49

Begin, using the same Cold War logic he deployed before the 
invasion, responded that America would benefit if Israel drove the 
PLO out of Lebanon. Detailing the stockpiles of Soviet weaponry 
found in the south of the country, Begin told Reagan, “We now real-
ize that this area has been turned into a Soviet base, the principal 
center of Soviet activities in the Middle East. It was a true interna-
tional terrorist base.” Reagan, however, pushed Begin to account for 
the civilian casualties, which Begin replied were an exaggeration by 
a media “biased against Israel.” The meeting between the leaders 
ended abruptly, a clear signal that the two countries’ interests were 
diverging and that America would not remain silent in the face of 
Israeli aggression.50

The Israelis soon lost a close ally after Alexander Haig was 
forced to resign in the midst of the June fighting in Lebanon.51 
The secretary of state had overextended his reach inside the ad-
ministration, undercutting Reagan. George Shultz, a former Nixon 
cabinet official and executive at the Bechtel Corporation, replaced 
Haig on July 16. Growing tension in the U.S.- Israeli relationship 
increased markedly in late June and July 1982.52 As Ambassador 
Samuel Lewis explained, “The sympathy of the administration, 
which up to early July, had been strongly pro- Israel, increasingly 
shifted towards the Palestinians.”53 Primarily, the shift was a re-
sponse to the Israeli siege on Beirut, intended to “eradicate the PLO 
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quasi- government” from the capital. Combining powerful military 
force and psychological warfare, Israeli forces inflicted heavy casu-
alties in the city, bombarding Palestinian positions from land, sea, 
and air, while occupying the international airport.54

Reagan was intensely disturbed by the barrage of TV images 
coming from Beirut as the Israeli army heavily shelled the Lebanese 
capital. As he wrote in his diary one evening in late July, “Calls and 
cables back and forth with Lebanon. U.N. with us supporting voted 
15 to 0 for a ceasefire and U.N. observers on the scene. Israel will 
scream about the latter but so be it. The slaughter must stop.”55 De-
spite the president’s personal revulsion and mounting international 
criticism, the Israelis ignored the cease- fire and the bombardment 
of Beirut intensified during the first week of August.

Secretary Shultz sent Philip Habib to Beirut to negotiate an end 
to the fighting and facilitate a peaceful evacuation of PLO fight-
ers from the city to neighboring Arab states. Yasser Arafat had sig-
naled that he and his men were willing to withdraw with requisite 
guarantees of security for Palestinian civilians and Lebanese sup-
porters who remained behind.56 Habib worked on an arrangement 
whereby Palestinian and Syrian forces would withdraw and the 
Lebanese government would take back control of Beirut. Through-
out the summer of 1982, the PLO leader had stood his ground in 
Lebanon, longer than was expected. In early July, as he shared with 
his close colleague Shafiq al- Hout the letter he had drafted for the 
PLO’s exit, Arafat sounded a wistful note about the departure: 
“Beirut has given Palestine what no other Arab capital has. It has 
given and given, without asking for anything in return. And it never 
would ask. Nor should we make it ask. We should pay it back of our 
own free will.”57

On Wednesday morning, August 4, the entire U.S. National 
Security Council convened in the White House Situation Room. 
Present at the meeting were Reagan, Vice President Bush, Shultz, 
Secretary of Defense Weinberger, CIA director William Casey, the 
members of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, UN ambassador Kirkpatrick, 
Ambassador to Israel Samuel Lewis, Assistant Secretary of State 
for Near Eastern Affairs Nicholas Veliotes, and a retinue of West 
Wing advisors.58 An all- out Israeli assault on West Beirut had 
begun the night before, and Shultz was concerned with the claim 
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of de- escalation being made publicly by the Israelis in comparison 
to what Special Envoy Philip Habib was actually witnessing on the 
ground.

Shultz recommended drafting a Security Council Resolution 
that might condemn Israel, while developing a strongly worded 
letter to Prime Minister Begin expressing anger over the lack of 
cooperation, possibly suspending arms shipments and enacting 
unilateral sanctions. Weinberger clarified that Israel had acted first 
against the PLO, and Lewis reported that the air assault was even 
worse than the ground incursion in terms of damage. But Kirk-
patrick dissented sharply: “The group should not lose sight of the 
fact that the PLO is not a bunch of agrarian reformers. They are 
international terrorists who are working against U.S. interests and 
committing acts of violence throughout the world, supported by 
the Soviet Union. We want them out and the U.S. should not throw 
away the possibility of getting rid of the PLO by taking measures 
against Israel which will inhibit, if not eliminate, the prospects of 
achieving our objectives. Clearly, once we have removed the PLO 
from Lebanon we can make fast progress in the peace process.”59

Kirkpatrick’s impassioned views resonated partially with the 
president, who was inclined to see events in the Middle East 
through such a Cold War lens, but at the same time he was viscer-
ally affected by the impact of the violence. Weinberger was a cau-
tious realist, and he “agreed with Ambassador Kirkpatrick regard-
ing just who the PLO is.” But, he argued, “the U.S. must let Israel 
know of the cost to Israel of its nightly activities.” In recounting 
the meeting, Nicholas Veliotes remembered how “Jeane Kirkpatrick 
said to President Reagan that the Israeli victory in Lebanon repre-
sented the greatest strategic turnaround in the West since the fall of 
Vietnam. And the meeting broke up shortly after because she had 
successfully pressed Ronald Reagan’s buttons.”60

As the meeting ended, a decision was nevertheless made to draft 
a strongly worded letter to Begin, which the president worked on 
for several minutes. Reluctantly agreeing to change the language 
from his customary “Dear Menachem” to “Dear Mr. Prime Min-
ister,” Reagan concluded, “There must be an end to the unneces-
sary bloodshed, particularly among innocent civilians. I insist that 
a cease- fire in place be reestablished and maintained until the 
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PLO has left Beirut. The relationship between our two nations is 
at stake.” The president instructed his assembled advisors that the 
PLO should receive equal emphasis in public statements of blame 
and implored them not to “tee- off only on Israel.” At 10:02, Rea-
gan closed the meeting, “stating that he was extremely tired of a 
war whose symbol had become a burn baby [sic] with no arms.” As 
Nicholas Veliotes recalls, “Reagan wasn’t a simpleton. Reagan was 
going to defend Israel’s right to defend itself. Reagan was violently 
anti- terrorist. He was very sympathetic to Israel. But he also ab-
horred senseless bloodshed.”61

On August 10, Israel received a draft agreement from Habib sig-
naling that American and multinational forces would help super-
vise the PLO evacuation. Sharon had grander plans for a politi-
cal agreement in Lebanon “and was fearful that American soldiers 
would get in his way.” He therefore ordered a “saturation bombing” 
of Beirut.62 On August 12, an intense daylong bombing of West 
Beirut by the Israelis inflicted over five hundred casualties in what 
would be the last day of the summer siege on the Lebanese capi-
tal.63 Reagan’s diary reveals the depth of his anger and a growing 
rift between two stalwart Cold War allies.

Met with the news the Israelis delivered the most devastating bomb 
& artillery attack on W. Beirut lasting 14 hours. Habib cabled— 
desperate— has basic agreement from all parties but can’t arrange 
details of P.L.O. withdrawal because of the barrage. King Fahd called 
begging me to do something. I told him I was calling P. M. Begin im-
mediately. And I did— I was angry— I told him it had to stop or our 
entire future relationship was endangered. I used the word holocaust 
deliberately & said the symbol of his war was becoming a picture of a 
7 month old baby with its arms blown off. He told me he had ordered 
the bombing stopped— I asked about the artillery fire. He claimed the 
P.L.O. had started that & Israeli forces had taken casualties. End of call. 
Twenty mins. later he called to tell me he’d ordered an end to the bar-
rage and pled for our continued friendship.64

Alongside the growing strain between the American and Israeli 
leaders, Begin’s trust in Sharon eroded significantly as a result of 
the escalation, and the Israeli cabinet stripped the defense minister 
of key powers.65
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Ambassador Habib eventually negotiated a cease- fire, and PLO 
leader Yasser Arafat agreed to the withdrawal of PLO combatants 
from Lebanon.66 The first contingent of men left on August 21, 
and Arafat and leading PLO officials departed on a Greek ship-
ping vessel to Tunisia on August 30. Over ten thousand fighters 
departed Lebanon by sea and land routes, launching the PLO into 
exile once more.67 Israeli troops remained in Beirut, with Sharon 
determined to forge a peace treaty with the Lebanese government. 
In side letters to Arafat during the arduous negotiation, Habib had 
guaranteed the protection of Palestinian civilians remaining behind 
after the armed PLO guerilla fighters were evacuated.68 But these 
promises were blatantly ignored— with calamitous results— in the 
weeks that followed.

The Reagan Plan
As part of the agreement brokered between the Government of 
Lebanon, Israel, and the PLO, a multinational force (MNF) was 
to be deployed to assist in the PLO’s evacuation.69 On August 25, 
eight hundred U.S. Marines began to arrive in Beirut as part of this 
MNF, equipped for a non- combat role of assisting the Lebanese 
Armed Forces alongside French and Italian military personnel to 
aid in the withdrawal. The mandate of the MNF was limited in 
scope, not intended to last more than thirty days. Reporting on the 
deployment to congressional leaders, President Reagan wrote, “I 
want to emphasize that there is no intention or expectation that 
U.S. Armed Forces will become involved in hostilities. . . . Our 
agreement with the Government of Lebanon expressly rules out 
any combat responsibilities for the U.S. forces.”70 Acutely aware of 
domestic political pressure and congressional opposition to mili-
tary deployments abroad, the president was wary of overextend-
ing the Marine mission and firmly rejected Israeli ambitions for 
grander designs in Lebanon.71

Events in Lebanon had forced a reckoning with the very ques-
tions that Reagan had sidestepped when entering office. Secretary 
Shultz encouraged him to launch a diplomatic initiative to deal 
with the Palestinian question. On September 1, 1982, the president 
announced a formal peace plan from his “Western White House” in 
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Santa Barbara, California. This was Reagan’s first and only major 
speech on the Arab- Israeli conflict during his eight years in office. 
Building on Jimmy Carter’s Camp David framework, Reagan ac-
knowledged that movement on implementing the Camp David 
 Accords had been slow even as Israel had completed its withdrawal 
from the Sinai. Noting that the “opportunities for peace in the Mid-
dle East do not begin and end in Lebanon,” Reagan recognized that 
“we must also move to resolve the root causes of conflict between 
Arabs and Israelis.” In the president’s view, the central question 
was “how to reconcile Israel’s legitimate security concerns with the 
 legitimate rights of the Palestinians.”72 Secretary Shultz had already 
underscored the importance of a “solution to the Palestinian prob-
lem” in a meeting with Defense Minister Ariel Sharon several days 
before Reagan announced his plan.73

To expand on the foundations of Camp David, Reagan called 
for a transitional period of Palestinian self- government in the West 
Bank and Gaza to prove that autonomy posed no threat to Israeli 
security. Reagan’s plan, like Carter’s at Camp David, still fell short 

figUre 6.1. U.S. Marines leave a utility landing craft during landing operations  
at the port. Beirut, September 1, 1982. Courtesy National Archives,  

photo no. 330- CFD- DN- SN- 83- 05661.
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of statehood for Palestinians, but it explicitly countered Israeli 
claims of sovereignty. As the president remarked, “It is clear to me 
that peace cannot be achieved by the formation of an indepen-
dent Palestinian state in those territories, nor is it achievable on 
the basis of Israeli sovereignty or permanent control over the West 
Bank and Gaza.”74 Rather, Reagan called for negotiations based 
on the principles of land for peace enshrined in UN resolution 
242. The president added a guarantee that “the United States will 
oppose any proposal— from any party and at any point in the ne-
gotiating process— that threatens the security of Israel. America’s 
commitment to the security of Israel is ironclad. And, I might add, 
so is mine.”75

In one of the most surprising elements of the speech, Reagan 
singled out the expansion of Israeli settlements over the Green 
Line. It was an issue that would emerge as the most contentious 
element of his proposal. “The United States will not support the 
use of any additional land for the purpose of settlements during the 
transitional period,” the president clarified. “Indeed, the immedi-
ate adoption of a settlement freeze by Israel, more than any other 
action, could create the confidence needed for wider participation 
in these talks. Further settlement activity is in no way necessary 
for the security of Israel and only diminishes the confidence of the 
Arabs that a final outcome can be freely and fairly negotiated.”76 
The president made it clear that while the United States would “not 
support the establishment of an independent Palestinian state in 
the West Bank and Gaza . . . we will not support annexation or 
permanent control by Israel.” When it came to Israeli settlements, 
Secretary Shultz later explained, “Their ultimate future must be de-
termined in the course of the final negotiations. We will not support 
their continuation as extraterritorial outposts.”77

This middle ground— between the curtailment of Israel sover-
eignty and the prevention of Palestinian statehood— reflected the 
new U.S. position on the fate of the settlements. In explanatory 
cables to world leaders, Shultz expanded on the central elements 
of the plan, particularly the issue of Palestinian autonomy. “The 
term ‘self- determination’ has, in the Middle East context, become 
a codeword for the formation of a Palestinian state,” explained the 
secretary of state. “We will not support this exclusive definition of 
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self- determination. Nevertheless, the President is totally commit-
ted to the proposition that the Palestinians must have a leading role 
in determining their own future.” Rather than statehood, Ameri-
can policymakers envisioned a joint association of the West Bank 
and Gaza with Jordan, “a realistic and fair solution.”78 One of the 
architects of the Reagan plan, Assistant Secretary of State Nicho-
las Veliotes, later explained that no career experts working on it 
believed the Begin government would accept the plan; rather the 
hope was to get PLO- Jordanian acceptance and put pressure on 
Israel to face an election and bring a more amenable Labor govern-
ment to power.79

Growing directly out of Carter’s diplomatic blueprint, the Rea-
gan Plan was a startling departure for a president who had so 
strongly opposed his predecessor’s approach. The shift betokened 
recognition that there would be a price to pay for a lack of engage-
ment on the Israeli- Palestinian front. Israel’s invasion of Beirut 
was viewed as a turning point. As Reagan himself concluded, “If 
we miss this chance to make a fresh start, we may look back on this 
moment from some later vantage point and realize how much that 
failure cost us all.”80

Israeli Reactions
Menachem Begin was on a rare vacation in the north of Israel 
when Ambassador Samuel Lewis hand delivered a draft of Rea-
gan’s speech.81 Lewis viewed Reagan’s initiative as a return to Camp 
David but found it abysmally timed.82 He recalled the prime min-
ister’s anger as he read the new peace agenda issued by the White 
House. With little time to savor his victory over the PLO after their 
expulsion from Lebanon, Begin was shocked as he read through the 
plan. Beyond Lebanon, the prime minister recognized its implica-
tions for the Israeli interpretation of Camp David, in particular the 
questions of autonomy and settlements. While agreeing to consult 
with his cabinet about the U.S. initiative, the prime minister “be-
came increasingly angry as he talked. . . . He took on an aggrieved 
mood of bitterness and of being treated unfairly.”83 Begin’s hope 
for a regional transformation along expansive Likud lines had been 
dashed.
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In a furious reply to Reagan’s speech, Begin lambasted the presi-
dent’s characterization of settlements.

What some call the West Bank, Mr. President, is Judea and Samaria 
and the simple historic truth will never change. . . . Millennia ago, there 
was a Jewish kingdom of Judea and Samaria where our kings knelt to 
God, where our prophets brought forth a vision of eternal peace, where 
we developed a rich civilization which we took with us in our hearts 
and in our minds on our long global trek for over eighteen centuries 
and with it we came back home. King Abdullah [of Jordan] by invasion 
conquered parts of Judea and Samaria in 1948 and in a war of legiti-
mate self defense in 1967 after having been attacked by King Hussein 
we liberated with God’s help that portion of our homeland. . . . The 
Palestinian state will rise itself the day Judea and Samaria are given 
to Jordanian jurisdiction; then, in no time, you will have a Soviet base 
in the heart of the Middle East. . . . For Zion’s sake, I will not hold 
my peace, and for Jerusalem’s sake, I will not rest. (Isaiah, chapter 62) 
— Menachem84

Begin convened his cabinet on September 2, and they adopted a 
formal resolution that detailed several major points of opposition to 
Reagan’s speech. Israeli officials categorically rejected the Reagan 
Plan, offering a limited return to the moribund autonomy talks.85 
The grounds on which they would reconvene these autonomy ne-
gotiations disputed the rights of Palestinians in East Jerusalem to 
vote in any West Bank or Gaza election and precluded the possibil-
ity of Palestinian autonomy over land and water resources.86

American intelligence officials had already warned that any ini-
tiative by the administration to revive the autonomy component of 
Camp David would be met by Israeli rejection.87 The talks had run 
aground earlier in the year, after Alexander Haig’s visit to Israel. 
Egyptian and Israeli differences over Palestinian self- determination 
were too entrenched and the events in Lebanon had further buried 
the discussions. Egypt, like much of the Arab world, was shocked 
by the scope of Israeli actions in Lebanon and would recall their 
ambassador from Tel Aviv, freezing the process of normalization in 
preference for a “cold peace.”88

The Reagan administration was much firmer in its stance on 
Camp David with the announcement of the Reagan Plan. While 
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outlining the features of the September 1 address for Prime Min-
ister Begin, Reagan had Lewis reiterate U.S. support for the Camp 
David Accords while also expanding on transitional measures that 
the American government would now directly support. These mea-
sures, intended to transfer authority from Israel to the Palestin-
ian inhabitants of the territories, included a definition of full au-
tonomy “as giving the Palestinian inhabitants real authority over 
themselves, the land and its resources.” Such a position on the issue 
of autonomy went well beyond the ceiling imposed by Begin’s inter-
pretation of Camp David’s autonomy provisions.89 The Americans 
also articulated support for Palestinian participation in the elec-
tions of a West Bank– Gaza authority, a real settlement freeze, and 
Palestinian responsibility for internal security.

Israel’s contrary effort to curtail Palestinian political sovereignty 
was twinned with the continued insistence on settlement build-
ing on the territory itself. In rejecting the Reagan Plan, the Israeli 
ministers argued that the Camp David Accords had only prevented 
expansion of settlements during a three- month transition period 
with Egypt that ended on December 17, 1978. “Since then,” Israeli 
cabinet ministers argued, “many settlements have been established 
in Judea, Samaria and the Gaza District without evicting a single 
person from his land, village or town. Such settlement is a Jew-
ish inalienable right and an integral part of our national security. 
Therefore, there shall be no settlement freeze. We shall continue to 
establish them in accordance with our natural right.” The officials 
closed by citing President Reagan himself, who “announced at the 
time that ‘the settlements are not illegal.’ ”90

This defiant stance on settlements persisted throughout the 
1980s, without any direct or substantive American intervention after 
the announcement of the Reagan Plan. The Carter administration 
had faced similar intransigence after the Camp David Accords, and 
Begin and Sharon had elicited sharper words from U.S. officials over 
settlement expansion. But the gap between the rhetoric in Washing-
ton and the reality on the ground in the West Bank underscored the 
weak nature of the opposition to what by the early 1980s had become 
an “irreversible” phenomenon of settlement expansion.91

U.S. officials tried to coax Begin into a more amenable stance on 
sovereign control of the occupied territories. The official directive 
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that Lewis delivered to Begin re- stated American opposition to the 
dismantling of existing settlements but also outlined clear opposi-
tion to Israeli control of the territories: “It is our belief that the Pal-
estinian problem cannot be resolved through Israeli sovereignty or 
control over the West Bank and Gaza.” At the same time, Lewis as-
sured Begin that statehood was not in the cards for the Palestinians 
and clarified the meaning of self- determination along narrower 
lines: “We believe that the Palestinians must take the leading role 
in determining their own future and fully support the provisions in 
Camp David providing for the elected representatives of the inhab-
itants of the West Bank and Gaza to decide how they shall govern 
themselves consistent with the provisions of their agreement in the 
final status negotiations.”92

This fine line between an outright endorsement of Palestinian 
statehood and the restrictive Israeli approach to Palestinian au-
tonomy was the direct by- product of the struggle over the Camp 
David negotiations. The announcement of the Reagan Plan threat-
ened the Israeli position on the accords, with officials in Jerusalem 
worried that the United States had “jeopardized” its earlier stance. 
Ambassador Lewis defended his government’s more assertive ap-
proach. The United States, he explained, “is no longer a mediator, 
to broker ideas back and forth. We are now asserting our own ideas 
anchored in what we believe in the Camp David Accords. Even at 
Camp David we were not a broker. We had our own ideas.” Israeli 
officials were dismayed with this apparent turn. Elyakim Rubin-
stein, a leading Israeli diplomat who was present at Camp David, 
told Lewis that his more expansive understanding of the accords 
“pushes up the Palestinian issue, and we do not like it.”93

The Sabra and Shatila Massacre
The prospects of the Reagan Plan’s success were short- lived, as a re-
sult of both Israeli opposition and the unfolding events in Lebanon. 
After meeting Begin to present the contours of the Reagan Plan, 
Ambassador Lewis did not know that the Israeli prime minister de-
parted for a secret rendezvous with Bashir Gemayel, the Lebanese 
president- elect and close ally of the Israeli government. Still furious 
over the Reagan Plan, the Israeli prime minister greeted Gemayel 
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“brusquely” and began to demand the signing of a peace treaty 
between Lebanon and Israel. As Lewis was told later, “Begin told 
Gemayel that Israel had now won him the Presidency and had rid-
den his country of the PLO fighters; it was therefore time to sign a 
peace treaty.” The Israelis believed that Gemayel would comply, but 
his domestic position was precarious. He tried to tell Begin “that 
such a treaty would need time” and that “he had to proceed cau-
tiously” given all the “political fence mending that he had to under-
take.” As Lewis later recounted, this position “got under  Begin’s 
skin; he became furious.” Begin spoke to Gemayel “in very demean-
ing and authoritarian terms; he was obviously very upset that his 
Lebanese allies were not being compliant.” The Israeli prime min-
ister felt “betrayed” given what Israel had done for the Phalangists 
and the Christians. “That session in Nahariyya changed Gemayel’s 
views of the Israelis,” Lewis explained. “He viewed them as much 
more sinister than he had before. All the Lebanese were shocked by 
Begin’s behavior to their new President.”94

Bashir Gemayel’s time as president- elect did not last very long. 
On September 14, Gemayel was assassinated in a massive bomb 
explosion at the Phalange headquarters in East Beirut’s Ashrafieh 
neighborhood. The man who detonated the bomb, Habib Shar-
touni, was affiliated with the Syrian Social Nationalist Party 
(SSNP). Shartouni and the SSNP saw Gemayel as a traitor who had 
sold their country to Israel. The close involvement of the Syrian 
intelligence services in the assassination shattered any remaining 
Israeli grand plans for the emergence of a Lebanese state remade 
under the leadership of a strong Christian ally. Syrian involvement 
in the civil war had further complicated the Israeli goals, as Syria 
had maintained the support of important Lebanese factions after 
intense fighting in the early weeks of the war. These alliances were 
deftly employed against the Israelis and the United States in 1982, 
generating opposition to the prolonged occupation of the country.

Defense Minister Sharon, a close confidant of Gemayel’s, reacted 
to his assassination by pushing forward into West Beirut with IDF 
units. Although the PLO had already departed Lebanon for other 
Arab countries, Israeli troops had remained and were now enter-
ing the capital. Prime Minister Begin explained to the Americans 
that this was a limited precautionary measure and that “the main 
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order of the day is to keep the peace. As long as peace is kept, the 
people can be brought together to talk. Otherwise, there could be 
pogroms.”95 That same afternoon, in Washington, Israeli ambassa-
dor to the United States Moshe Arens was called to meet with Sec-
retary of State George Shultz about Israeli actions in West Beirut. 
With information that had been procured by Charles Hill, Shultz’s 
executive assistant, the Americans had intelligence that Sharon had 
moved his troops into the city. Shultz told Arens that this “appears 
to be a provocative act” and “is counterproductive.” U.S. credibility 
was “being eroded,” and the secretary concluded “we are upset but 
we have been quiet until now.” Arens insisted the Israelis did not 
want to deceive the Americans and that these were merely precau-
tionary measures, as Israel “did not have ambitions in Beirut, not 
in the West, not in the East, and not in Lebanon at all.” Shultz re-
sponded tersely: “Your activity in West Beirut will engender a situ-
ation where Israel is controlling an Arab capital.” There would be 
“psychological” consequences.96

Arens, toeing the line of military strategists in the field, replied 
that Israel was already in control of Sidon and Tyre without such 
consequences: “What is the alternative to our actions?” The U.S. 
secretary of state was adamant that Israeli control over a city like 
Beirut was a “major” issue. “We know that for you [Bashir’s] as-
sassination is painful, perhaps more than it pains us, but you are 
obligated to act for the quiet of Beirut.” To avoid the appearance 
of a “provocation,” Shultz demanded from Arens that the Israelis 
“pull your forces back . . . the Lebanese have to deal themselves with 
their problems.” But as Arens insisted, “In West Beirut there are 
2,000 militants from al- Murabitun,” referring to a left- wing militia 
that had helped defend the PLO, “it seems that there also remains 
the murderers of Bashir.”97 The Israelis were convinced that the 
Lebanese army was not capable of acting in their place to keep the 
peace. Shultz was not moved, adding that PLO members were no 
longer posing a challenge in Beirut and reiterated his strong senti-
ments to Arens.98

With Shultz meeting Philippines president Ferdinand Marcos 
the next day, September 16, U.S. undersecretary of state Lawrence 
Eagleburger continued the tense discussions with the Israelis over 
their consolidation of forces in West Beirut. Eagleburger read from 
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talking points that described Israeli behavior as “contrary to a se-
ries of assurances” made by the Begin government, stressing that 
“ Israel’s credibility has been severely damaged here in Washing-
ton by recent Israeli actions in West Beirut.” Eagleburger told the 
 Israelis that they must pull back and conveyed U.S. support for a 
Security Council resolution opposing Israel’s actions: “I want to re-
iterate strongly that the occupation by Israel of an Arab capital is a 
grave political mistake with far- reaching symbolic and concrete im-
plications of the most dangerous sort.” Arens contested the Ameri-
can claim of Israeli deception and defended the IDF’s moves as a 
prerequisite for maintaining order after Gemayel’s assassination. 
“Our common objectives are attainable,” Arens stressed, “but we’ve 
got to work together and not at cross- purposes. We should avoid 
this openly confrontational mode. If you think this will scare us, 
you’re wrong.”99

For the Israeli ambassador, the U.S. approach to the Middle East 
was only conflating Lebanon’s complexities with the Palestinian 
question. “Before the Palestinian problem can be addressed we’ve 
got to clear up the situation in Lebanon. First things first! Rather 
than tying these two things in a package we should take them one 
by one,” Arens insisted, attempting to disentangle the two. “Cou-
pling the Lebanese situation with the future of Judea, Samaria and 
Gaza may get you some short- run success, but in the long run we 
won’t get anywhere.100 In situating the events in Beirut as distinct 
from Reagan’s approach to the peace process, Arens was hoping to 
isolate the Palestinian question, when in fact the invasion centered 
on a military solution to the power of the PLO.

Immediately after the PLO’s departure, Secretary of Defense 
Weinberger had ordered the U.S. Marines back to their ships, as 
he had been anxious for the military to leave the country. Deeply 
cautious in the wake of the Vietnam War, the U.S. defense estab-
lishment resisted wars with no definitive end, a central tenet of 
Weinberger’s Pentagon leadership.101 The departure of the Marines 
also precipitated the rapid withdrawal of French and Italian forces, 
both of which had intended to stay longer. In this ensuing vacuum, 
Christian Phalangist militias— reeling from the assassination of 
their leader Bashir— were free to terrorize Palestinian civilians who 
remained behind after the PLO’s evacuation. The United States 
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had guaranteed the safety of the civilians as part of the withdrawal 
agreement and yet was unwittingly complicit in the massacre that 
followed.

Between the evening of September 16 and the afternoon of Sep-
tember 18, Christian Phalange militiamen launched an attack on 
defenseless Palestinian civilians in the Israeli- controlled Sabra and 
Shatila refugee camps. Marshaled at the Beirut airport, a major 
 Israeli staging point, these forces were ushered through Israeli lines 
into the camps, which were surrounded by Israeli forces. Under the 
command of Elie Hobeika, the Phalange militiamen raped, killed, 
and dismembered at least eight hundred women, children, and el-
derly men while Israeli flares illuminated the camps’ narrow and 
darkened alleyways.102 The Israeli cabinet had met on the evening 
of September 16 and officials were informed that Phalange fighters 
were entering the Palestinian camps. Israel’s deputy prime minis-
ter, David Levy, worried aloud about the consequences of Phalange 
actions in the wake of Gemayel’s assassination: “I know what the 
meaning of revenge is for them, what kind of slaughter. Then no 
one will believe we went in to create order there, and we will bear 
the blame.”103 Sharon himself told cabinet members of the Pha-
lange movements, stressing that “the results will speak for them-
selves . . . let us have the number of days necessary for destroying 
the terrorists.”104 This insistence that only “terrorists” were to be 
found in the camps belied the actual reality of those who had re-
mained after the PLO evacuation.

News of civilian deaths in the camps began to filter out to  Israeli 
military officials, politicians, and journalists overnight. The follow-
ing day, on September 17, Israeli foreign minister Yitzhak Shamir 
hosted a meeting with Habib’s assistant Morris Draper, Sharon, 
and several Israeli intelligence chiefs. Shamir reportedly heard 
of a “slaughter” in the camps that morning, but he did not men-
tion it to those assembled. Instead, the discussion focused on the 
Israeli insistence that “terrorists” who stayed behind in Beirut 
needed “mopping up.” Sharon browbeat Ambassador Draper, who 
demanded the IDF pull back from the areas it occupied in West 
Beirut so the Lebanese National Army could take over. Sharon ex-
ploded at  Draper’s suggestion: “I just don’t understand, what are 
you looking for? Do you want the terrorists to stay? Are you afraid 
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that somebody will think that you were in collusion with us? Deny 
it. We denied it.” Draper was insistent and pushed for definitive 
signs of an Israeli withdrawal. Sharon cynically told him, “Nothing 
will happen. Maybe some more terrorists will be killed. That will be 
to the benefit of all of us.”105

Draper warned Sharon that this prolonged presence would en-
able the Lebanese to “go and kill the Palestinians in the camps.” 
Sharon replied: “So, we’ll kill them. They will not be left there. You 
are not going to save them. You are not going to save these groups 
of the international terrorism [sic].” Draper, swept up in Sharon’s 
rhetorical onslaught, responded, “We are not interested in saving 
any of these people.” Mr. Sharon declared, “If you don’t want the 
Lebanese to kill them, we will kill them.” Draper caught himself 
and backtracked, reminding the Israelis that the United States had 
painstakingly facilitated the PLO exit from Beirut “so it wouldn’t 
be necessary for you to come in.” He told Sharon, “You should have 
stayed out.” Sharon exploded again: “When it comes to our security, 
we have never asked. We will never ask. When it comes to exis-
tence and security, it is our own responsibility and we will never 
give it to anybody to decide for us.” Draper acquiesced to a delayed 
withdrawal after a forty- eight- hour period, since the Jewish holi-
day of Rosh Hashanah was starting that evening. U.S. diplomats 
effectively provided Israel cover as the Phalange fighters remained 
in the camps, slaughtering civilians until the following morning.106

According to the transcripts of the once secret conversations, 
which took place after the PLO withdrew from Beirut and guaran-
tees had been made to protect the civilians left behind, there was 
an unceasing denunciation by Israeli military strategists of “terror-
ists” circulating in Beirut’s refugee camps. Like Begin’s invocation 
of the Nazis when speaking of the PLO, a similar pattern of de-
humanization had surfaced with the Sabra and Shatila massacre. 
The transcripts demonstrate how the Israelis misled the U.S. dip-
lomats about the events in the city with deceptive claims about the 
nature of those remaining behind, even as the Americans knew that 
the armed militants had been evacuated and there were civilians in 
the camps. As the Sharon- Draper exchange underscores, imprecise 
language helped forestall the deployment of Lebanese forces to the 
refugee camps, enabling a prolonged massacre to continue.107
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The rhetoric of terrorism and security had long underpinned the 
Israeli justification for taking direct military action against Pales-
tinians, with no distinction made between PLO fighters, who had 
already been evacuated, and innocent civilians who remained in the 
camps. In the broader sweep of Israel’s approach to the Palestin-
ians, the 1982 invasion served to blur this distinction even further, 
linking a diplomatic approach to sidelining the Palestinian ques-
tion that had taken hold at Camp David with the military approach 
of quashing Palestinian identity in a more permanent fashion. 
America’s role in abetting this process, as the new evidence from 
1982 now reveals, was both a moral stain and a strategic disaster, 
undercutting U.S. influence in the region and precipitating further 
military involvement in the Lebanese civil war.108

Implications of the Massacre
Sabra and Shatila was a turning point in the war, and it radically 
altered global perceptions of Israeli and U.S. actions in Lebanon, 
and the very nature of the Palestinian question. Many supporters 
of Israel abroad were paralyzed by the invasion of Lebanon and 
its aftershocks, and Sabra and Shatila intensified these feelings. 
Begin had described the invasion as a “war by choice,” which was an 
anathema to the defensive ethos of the dominant Zionist narrative 
that animated Jewish support for Israel abroad.109 “It was shame-
ful, it was shocking,” explained Rita Hauser, a prominent lawyer 
and Republican Jewish activist who had served as U.S. ambassador 
to the UN Human Rights Council. “People were really horrified, 
they were shocked at it. Many Israelis were. It’s simply something 
that Jews, Israelis are not supposed to do.”110

Other leaders of the Jewish community rallied to Israel’s de-
fense. “The history of the Jewish people is too full of massacres and 
pogroms, and the injunctions of Jewish law are too powerful a force 
in Jewish consciousness to have permitted or even countenanced a 
Jewish role in this awful incident,” wrote Julius Berman, the chair-
man of the Conference of Presidents of Major Jewish Organiza-
tions, in a press release soon after the massacre. “Any suggestion 
that Israel took part in it or permitted it to occur must be categori-
cally rejected.”111 This defensive stance fit within a post- 1967 frame 
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that absolved Israel of agency in instances of diplomatic or military 
overreach, especially in connection with the Palestinians.112 But 
for some modern Jewish historians, as well as revisionist  Israeli 
 scholars, the global reaction to the war raised piercing questions 
about the nature of Jewish power and the meaning of political 
 Zionism in the modern age.113

The war also affected the broader context in which the Pal-
estinian question was viewed. The Palestinian quest for self- 
determination was in fact rendered visible once again on a global 
scale, despite Israeli hopes that it would disappear.114 In the view 
of one Fatah activist close to Yasser Arafat, Sabra and Shatila was 
a “wake up call.” It was a reminder “that you are dealing with a 
people. You are not dealing with a bunch of terrorists.”115 Strate-
gically, it also served to bolster Palestinian politics. An authority 
on Palestinian security affairs later observed that the massacre sig-
naled “a crack in the shield of Israel’s moral authority, a crack in the 
shield of Israel’s military prowess.” In the wider sweep of Palestin-
ian national politics, “the net result was a liberation for the PLO.”116 
This shifting perception was evident in the American media, where 
Israel found itself derided for overstepping a moral red line. The 
major Jewish organizations registered complaints with the White 
House about the use of Nazi imagery in U.S. newspapers to criticize 
Israeli behavior, including cartoons of Begin plotting a “final solu-
tion” to end the Palestinian refugee problem.117

Internally in Israel, public anger at the government’s involve-
ment in Lebanon and role in Sabra and Shatila brought four hun-
dred thousand demonstrators to rally in Tel Aviv on September 
25.118 Begin was accused of a lackluster response to the violence, 
and he appointed a commission to investigate Israeli responsibility 
in the massacre. Yitzhak Kahan, the Chief Justice of Israel’s Su-
preme Court, was appointed to lead the independent board of in-
quiry. The Kahan Commission issued its findings in early February 
1983, exonerating the Israeli government of immediate responsibil-
ity but finding particular leaders indirectly responsible for allowing 
the Phalangists into the camps.119 Begin, Shamir, and Chief of Staff 
Rafael Eitan were censured, and Defense Minister Ariel Sharon, 
as well as the director of Military Intelligence Yehoshua Saguy and 
the Division Commander in charge of Beirut, Amos Yaron, were 
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either forced out of their posts or briefly removed from operational 
roles. The Kahan Commission report excoriated Sharon’s conduct 
in Lebanon, in particular his negligence in the massacre, a criticism 
that Sharon bitterly contested for the rest of his life.120

Sharon insisted that his actions were in line with long- standing 
Israeli policy toward the Christians in Lebanon. He told a meet-
ing of the Defense and Foreign Affairs Committee of the Knesset 
on September 24 that it was hypocritical to blame him for Sabra 
and Shatila when the Labor government knew about a Christian 
massacre of Palestinians in the Tel al- Zaatar camp in 1976 and still 
supported them in 1982. “We (the Likud party) did not criticize 
you (Labor) for supporting the Christians. I am talking about the 
moral aspect. You kept on supporting (the Christians) even after 
the (Tel Za’ater) massacre. The information about the massacre 
and its cruelty was in everybody’s possession,” Sharon told mem-
ber of the Knesset Yitzhak Rabin. “We had already known what 
they have done with the weapons we supplied and the forces we 
helped them build. However, we did not criticize you.” He turned to 
 Shimon Peres, the opposition Labor party leader, and told him that 
after Tel al- Zaatar, “you have no monopoly on morality.” “The Pha-
langists murdered in Shatila and the Phalangists murdered in Tel 
Za’ater. The link is a moral one: should we get involved with Pha-
langists or not. You supported them and continued to do so after 
Tel Za’ater.”121 Sharon’s primary defense was to blame the Phalange 
militiamen, and not the IDF, who remained outside the camps dur-
ing the massacre. But new evidence from the Kahan Commission 
report, drawn from its unpublished appendices, paint a more in-
criminating picture of Sharon and wider Israeli official eagerness 
to invite the Phalange militia into Beirut. This was part of Israel’s 
long- standing discussions with Maronite leaders to “clean the city 
out of terrorists” as part of the political agenda in Lebanon.122

Critically, these plans were not limited to PLO fighters, as evi-
dent from statements concerning Palestinian refugees as well. The 
refugees were first discussed at the end of a secret meeting with 
Bashir Gemayel, Chief of Lebanese Military Intelligence Johnny 
Abdu, and leading Israeli and Lebanese officials at  Sharon’s 
Negev ranch late on the evening of July 31. Sharon explained that 
he would be insisting on a peace agreement with the Lebanese 
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government and had to address the question of the Palestinian 
refugees left behind in Beirut. Bashir told the Israelis, “We’ll take 
care of everything and we’ll let you know soon.” Yehoshua Saguy, 
the Israeli intelligence chief, responded, “The time has come for 
Bashir’s men to prepare a plan to deal with the Palestinians. I 
under stand you are getting ready to deal with it and you need to 
prepare a plan.” Sharon added a final note: “The Jews are weird 
but you must agree about the issue— we don’t wish to stay there 
and take care of the issue.”123

By discussing the fate of Palestinians in such a manner, Sharon 
and the other Israeli officials invited Gemayel and the Phalange to 
do Israel’s bidding in the refugee camps of Beirut. This pattern of 
countenancing violence and even possibly instigating a refugee exo-
dus by destroying their homes extended back to early July, when, 
during a meeting between Sharon and Bashir Gemayel at the Leb-
anese Forces headquarters in Beirut, Gemayel asked the Israelis 
“whether we would object to him moving bulldozers into the refu-
gee camps in the south, to remove them, so that the refugees won’t 
stay in the south.” According to notes on the meeting, “the DM 
[Sharon] responded by saying that it was none of our business. We 
do not wish to handle Lebanon’s internal affairs.”124 Yet such open 
talk of driving out Palestinians through violence and expulsion re-
curred in discussions just before the massacre. In a crucial meeting 
with Gemayel on September 12, two days before his assassination, 
Bashir told Sharon that “conditions should be created which would 
lead the Palestinians to leave Lebanon.”125

Excerpts from the restricted testimonies of the Kahan Com-
mission underscore that members of the Israeli military and in-
telligence organizations knew in advance what the Phalange were 
intending to do to the Palestinians. According to the testimony of 
Colonel Elkana Harnof, a senior Israeli military intelligence of-
ficer, the Phalange revealed that “Sabra would become a zoo and 
Shatila Beirut’s parking place.” Harnof added details about acts 
of brutality and massacres relayed to Defense Minister Sharon 
as early as June 23.126 On that same day, a report was passed to 
 Foreign Minister Shamir and Defense Minister Sharon attesting 
to the Christians “terminating” five hundred people in the evacu-
ation of West Beirut. Mossad director Nahum Admoni and others 
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met with Bashir Gemayel and the description of the meeting con-
tains harrowing evidence of what was intended for the Palestinians 
throughout Lebanon.

According to the notes of the meeting, “Bashir [Gemayel] adds 
it is possible that in this context they will need several ‘Dir Yas-
sins,’ ” referring to the notorious massacre of Palestinians by Jew-
ish Irgun fighters in the 1948 War that sowed fear and dispersal. 
But, the meeting notes continue, “N.[ahum] Admoni stresses that 
as long as the IDF is around, the Christians will have to refrain 
from this type of action. Bashir explains once again that he will act 
at a later stage since a Christian state would not be able to survive 
if the demographic aspect will not be dealt with.”127 As Admoni 
explained to the Kahan Commission, “Bashir had a very sponta-
neous speaking style. He was preoccupied with Lebanon’s demo-
graphic balance, and discussed it a lot. When he (Bashir) talked in 
terms of demographic change— it was always in terms of killing and 
elimination.”128

The invocation of Deir Yassin was an apt metaphor for the be-
havior of those who disliked the Palestinian presence in Lebanon 
and wanted to see them disappear. From the evidence available, 
Sharon and other Israeli military and intelligence officials may 
have assumed Gemayel’s forces would circulate through the refugee 
camps to engage in some form of indiscriminate violence, resulting 
in the exodus of Palestinian civilians from the camps and the razing 
of their dwellings to the ground. It is unclear whether the scale of 
the violence intended was even greater than what actually occurred, 
or where these refugees were expected to go, if they survived such 
an onslaught. Jordan was one clear destination, and Sharon him-
self had voiced hopes to see the Hashemite Kingdom collapse and 
turn into a Palestinian state as a result of an influx of Palestinians 
from Lebanon, relieving pressure on Israel to withdraw from the 
West Bank.129 An indication of Phalange intentions was offered to a 
staff member of the Kahan Commission by the father of one militia 
member involved in the massacre who testified that before entering 
the camps the fighters were briefed by Elie Hobeika and “the men 
understood that their mission was to liquidate young Palestinians 
as a way of instigating a mass flight from the camps— in accordance 
with Bashir’s vision of the final act of the war in West Beirut.”130



[ 226 ] cHaPter six

A closer focus on Sabra and Shatila sheds light on a line of 
thinking about Palestinian identity that extended from the late 
1970s through the autonomy negotiations, reaching tragic ends 
through the destruction wrought in Beirut. Israeli officials were 
attuned to the link between internal concerns over the Palestin-
ian question and the external struggle for regional influence. But 
they did not want to pay the moral price for a strategic alliance 
with the  Maronites. When pressed by Chief Justice Kahan about 
Phalange intentions with regards to Palestinian civilians, Mossad 
chief Yitzhak Hofi explained the Israeli reply to Gemayel: “We told 
him we thank him very much, but that we have no intention that 
the solving of the Lebanese Palestinian problem would be made 
at the expense of the State of Israel.”131 In light of these testimo-
nies, and the nature of Israeli- Phalange relations during the war, 
the events of 1982 fit within a much wider attempt to vanquish the 
Palestinians, diplomatically and militarily, since the planning of 
Camp David.

An Ephemeral Peace
Even after the violence of September was revealed, American and 
Israeli officials continued efforts to claim victory in Lebanon. De-
fense Secretary Casper Weinberger’s critics blamed him for enabling 
the violence by withdrawing the Marines, and Ambassador Habib 
would later admit that the United States had failed to keep its word 
in not protecting Palestinians left behind following the PLO’s evacu-
ation.132 The situation had turned into the quagmire Reagan’s advi-
sors initially feared. In the aftermath of the massacre, an acute sense 
of moral obligation spurred an immediate shift in the president’s 
view, and he was newly willing to intervene with a more substantive 
MNF force.133 Sabra and Shatila had compelled the American gov-
ernment to redeploy U.S. Marines to Beirut, leaving them exposed 
without a clear mission in the midst of the civil war.

Notwithstanding the deteriorating events on the ground, the 
Israeli security establishment maintained its belief that a peace 
agreement with the Maronites was possible. Before his resignation, 
Sharon spoke often of normalization with the Lebanese and of 
free Israeli civilian entry into Beirut. Ambassador Habib protested 
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these suggestions as unseemly given the context of the war. “I know 
you want to go to the Hotel Commodore and have a cup of coffee,” 
he told the minister of defense, referring to the buzzing journalist 
mainstay in West Beirut. “It’s a lousy hotel, but you want to go there 
and have a cup of coffee, and I say wait a little while, please. This 
is not a time for tourism.”134 Sharon’s efforts at normalization built 
on a longer history of secret Israeli- Maronite negotiations, which 
continued throughout Israel’s military invasion of Lebanon.

David Kimche, an Israeli diplomat and Mossad recruitment of-
ficer, traveled to the Gemayel family compound in the Bikfaya hills 
in January 1983 to meet with Sheikh Pierre Gemayel. Pierre was 
the father of both the slain Bashir and his brother Amin, the new 
Lebanese president. Pierre had founded the Phalangist party after 
his participation in the 1936 Summer Olympics in Berlin, where he 
was heavily influenced by German and Spanish fascism, serving as 
a strange counterpart to his Mossad visitor. But the elder  Gemayel 
was optimistic that a new Lebanon could still be built with their 
help. He told Kimche to “tell Mr. Begin and Mr. Sharon that the 
 relations between you and us are like marriage bonds. This is a deep 
bond for a lifetime, like a Maronite wedding.” Gemayel explained 
the analogy: “You have physical power and we have political power. 
We can open doors on your behalf in the Middle East.”135

In spite of the setbacks of the war, and the assassination of his 
elder son, Gemayel maintained confidence in his cause: “Once we 
thought we would not be able to build Lebanon like we dreamed of. 
But today that looks possible. The Muslims are beginning to under-
stand us and we are a bit optimistic. We have the possibility to now 
build a new Lebanon and begin to live together like we want and 
hope. Give us time.”136 Like Begin’s rhetoric defending the Maroni-
tes, Gemayel’s assurances fueled unrealistic expectations about the 
possibilities opened up by the war, with disastrous results for the 
country and its inhabitants. During an interview decades after his 
own involvement as the Israeli government’s coordinator in occu-
pied Lebanon, the former diplomat Uri Lubrani acknowledged this 
overreach. Lebanon is like a “piano,” Lubrani remarked, and “one 
has to play all the various octaves.” “Some of the Mossad were cap-
tivated by the Maronites, who played on their egos with nice food 
and hospitality.” But they also knew how to manipulate their Israeli 
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interlocutors, who failed to account for competing forces. The leg-
acy of the invasion, Lubrani concluded, is that “Israel had no busi-
ness trying to manage the internal affairs of the Lebanese.”137 It was 
a lesson learned too late.

During the early part of 1983, the United States continued to 
back secret Israeli negotiations for a peace treaty with the Lebanese 
government.138 The talks were held while Lebanon was subject to 
both Israeli and Syrian occupation, and U.S. diplomats often so-
licited Israeli negotiating positions before seeking approval from 
Beirut.139 The Israelis wanted open borders with Lebanon and 
the establishment of diplomatic missions that would lead to a full 
peace. Lebanese negotiators were far more circumspect, initially at-
tempting to limit the discussions to military matters. They viewed 
the negotiations as a joint effort with the United States, imposed as 
the only means of securing Israel’s withdrawal.140

There were also broader political aims driving Israeli efforts to 
force an unsustainable treaty on a reluctant and shaky Lebanese 
government.141 In a declassified CIA intelligence analysis prepared 
for the agency’s director, William Casey, on February 9, 1983, the 
CIA’s Near East and South Asian experts provided the rationale 
for these negotiations: “Beirut believes— probably correctly— that 
Tel Aviv is deliberately dragging them out to scuttle the Reagan 
initiative.” The regional analysts surmised that a peace treaty 
with Lebanon would divert American attention from pushing the 
president’s September 1982 peace plan, which had directly chal-
lenged the narrow Israeli view of Camp David and the Palestinian 
issue, eliciting so much anger from Prime Minister Begin. The CIA 
 analysts also took stock of the domestic consequences of the inva-
sion, which had driven the negotiations: “Israeli political leaders, 
including Prime Minister Begin, probably have more reason than 
ever to secure major concessions on security and normalization 
now that the Sabra- Shatila massacre report is in. They need to 
prove the Lebanese invasion was a profitable political gamble for 
Israel.”142

Lebanon’s government, led by Amin Gemayel, signed the peace 
agreement with Israel on May 17, 1983.143 Primarily, as a leading 
study explains, the agreement declared an “end to the state of war 
between Lebanon and Israel, forbade the presence of forces hostile 
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to one in the territory of the other (implicitly, Syria and the PLO in 
Lebanon), established an American- led ‘Joint Liaison Committee’ 
to oversee the normalization of relations; and called for a ‘security 
region’ along the shared border.”144 Gemayel was a weak leader and 
was compelled to sign in order to end Israel’s military intervention. 
Yet Israel did not achieve the full normalization it sought, and its 
efforts via a side letter from the Americans to link the IDF with-
drawal with a Syrian pullout “explicitly” handed Syrian president 
Hafez al- Assad an “unexpected veto.” He had opposed the Israeli 
peace agreement from the start and was unwilling to give up any of 
Syria’s newfound regional influence gained during the war. Habib, 
who had negotiated the agreement on behalf of the United States 
as Reagan’s trusted lead regional diplomat, did not attend the sign-
ing ceremony and later remarked the accords “weren’t worth the 
paper they were written on.”145 He swiftly lost the confidence of the 
 Syrians after the negotiations and resigned from his post.

Begin’s Departure
The Israeli public continued to debate the efficacy and morality of 
the Lebanon War, with the peace movement growing in strength 
after the massacre at Sabra and Shatila.146 Begin’s initial effort 
to present the military intervention in humanitarian terms— 
appealing to the rescue of Israel’s Christian brethren— had also 
linked Israel’s Cold War foreign policy with the reassertion of Jew-
ish power and a highly nationalist interpretation of communal 
solidarity. This approach implicated support for Israel with a right- 
wing Likud worldview.147 During the war, Begin was widely ma-
ligned for yielding to Sharon’s aggressive agenda and for the moral-
izing tone in which he presented Israeli aims.148 The Israeli prime 
minister, whose own parents were killed by the Nazis, invoked the 
Holocaust and the suffering of Jews as a justification for his actions 
in Lebanon.149 In response, the Holocaust scholar Ze’ev Mankowitz 
excoriated Begin for his misuse of Jewish history. In a scathing let-
ter to the Israeli liberal daily newspaper Haaretz, Mankowitz wrote 
that “Begin has lost touch with reality and is punishing phantoms 
born in the greatest tragedy that ever befell our people. Whatever 
its final outcome, the epitaph to be place upon the war in Lebanon 
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will read: Here lies the international stature and moral integrity of 
a wonderful people. Died of a false analogy.”150

Beset with grief over the recent death of his wife, Aliza, and the 
terrible outcome of the Israeli invasion, Begin resigned from office 
in August 1983. Reagan, in a most gracious cable to his dear friend 
“Menachem,” wrote the departing leader that “few men have so 
rightly worn the mantle of peacemaker as you . . . a half a century at 
the center of history is an extraordinary achievement.”151 The Israeli 
leader— a fixture of public and political life since before the birth of 
the state in 1948— was rarely seen in public again.152 The Likud 
Central Committee selected Yitzhak Shamir to succeed Begin as 
prime minister. Shamir was also a disciple of the Revisionist Zionist 
Ze’ev Jabotinsky and a former leader of the Stern Gang, who had 
a “reputation for extremism and violence.” Shamir was even more 
intransigent than Begin, having opposed the Sinai withdrawal, and 
was “generally unreceptive to the idea of bargaining and compro-
mise.”153 Moshe Arens, the ambassador to the United States and 
also a member of the right- wing Herut party, was appointed de-
fense minister to replace Ariel Sharon.154 The new leader ship was 
even less inclined to push forward on the political front, in particu-
lar when it came to the Palestinians.

Alongside these political implications, the cultural consequences 
of Lebanon left an indelible mark on Israeli society.155 For commit-
ted Zionists, the impact of the 1982 War was devastating. “In Leb-
anon the grandeur that started in 1967 was exploded,” remarked 
the American Israeli scholar and rabbi David Hartman to the New 
York Times. “The early naiveté of the pioneers, all that is gone now. 
We have to find a way to reinstitute into Israeli society a sense of 
joy and vision now that we have gained some anchorage in reality. 
 Israelis need music,” Hartman concluded, and “there is no music 
in the air now. There is just this invasion of reality.”156 Amos Oz, a 
leading Israeli writer and public intellectual, reflected some years 
later how the experience of the war shaped the nation’s psyche.

After Lebanon, we can no longer ignore the monster, even when it is 
dormant, or half asleep, or when it peers out from behind the lunatic 
fringe. After Lebanon, we must not pretend that the monster dwells 
only in the offices of Meir Kahane; or only on General Sharon’s ranch, 
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or only in Raful’s carpentry shop, or only in the Jewish settlements in 
the West Bank. It dwells, drowsing, virtually everywhere, even in the 
folk- singing guts of our common myths. Even in our soul- melodies. 
We did not leave it behind in Lebanon, with the Hezbollah. It is here, 
among us, a part of us, like a shadow, in Hebron, in Gaza, in the slums 
and in the suburbs, in the kibbutzim and in my Lake Kinneret.157

For Oz, like many others who witnessed and wrote about the 
events of 1982 and its aftermath, the war represented a moment 
of rupture. Yet it also tended to direct attention inward, in some 
ways distancing Israeli society from reckoning with the Arab vic-
tims of state violence. The persistence of rhetoric and tactics ar-
ticulated during the war— often under the guise of humanitarian 
imperatives— continued to animate the logic of military action and 
state policy toward Palestinians living under Israeli control well 
after it ended.158

Searching for a Middle East Policy
By the fall of 1983, the debilitating lack of movement in Lebanon, 
fraying relations with Jordan, and stalled negotiations over the fate 
of the Palestinians raised major concerns within the Reagan ad-
ministration. There were serious challenges facing U.S. policy in the 
Middle East. George Shultz outlined his worries to the president: 
“We need to take a hard look at emerging signs of serious danger for 
us and for our friends in the area.” Shultz was especially concerned 
about policies “toward settlements on the West Bank, and toward 
the human condition of Palestinians both in the occupied territo-
ries and in Lebanon.”159 Shultz’s warnings coincided with a series of 
important NSC meetings and critical administration directives that 
attempted to provide a new coherent policy for the region.

The resulting strategy emphasized the prevention of Soviet 
hegemony and the protection of adequate U.S. access to Gulf oil 
reserves as the primary objectives of American policy in the Mid-
dle East.160 Another major concern was ensuring the security of 
Israel and obtaining a resolution of the Palestinian problem, and 
Reagan believed that the United States was well suited for both 
tasks. But the president’s accompanying statement on cooperation 
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with Israel once again threw into relief the inevitable dilemma that 
would result from his approach. “I acknowledge that our ability to 
defend vital interests in the near East and South Asia would be 
enhanced by the resolution of the Arab- Israeli conflict,” Reagan af-
firmed. “Nevertheless, in recognition of Israel’s strategic location, 
developed base infrastructure, and the quality and interoperability 
of Israeli military forces, we will undertake to resume cooperative 
planning with Israel expanding on the work begun earlier.”161 In 
choosing to renew strategic cooperation with Israel, Reagan under-
stood that he could further undermine America’s credibility with 
Arab states, as Lebanon had so clearly demonstrated.

The president’s National Security Advisor, William Clark, 
stressed the importance of fully restarting strategic cooperation 
with Israel and saving face with the Arab world. Under the rubric 
of collaborating to defeat Soviet aggression, Clark believed Israel 
would not question U.S. “latitude on issues where U.S. and  Israeli 
interests do not coincide,” namely equipping “moderate Arab 
states” as part of parallel strategic alliances.162 The approach dem-
onstrated the paramount importance of the Soviet threat, which 
remained the dominant prism through which Reagan viewed the 
Middle East. But the flawed logic of such an arrangement was clear 
in Lebanon, where a strengthened U.S.- Israel alliance did not co-
exist with support from Arab states. The ongoing Israeli occupation 
of the country had in fact engendered a great deal of opposition in 
the region, growing swiftly in the wake of the May 17 agreement, 
which had enabled a security region along the border.163

Any gain from the short- lived calm that had been brokered in the 
Lebanese- Israeli peace treaty soon gave way to further violence. As 
predicted, Israeli forces began to leave the Shouf Mountains above 
Beirut in the fall of 1983, triggering a power vacuum. U.S. troops re-
mained in place, exposed to attacks near the airport and drawn into 
the fighting alongside Lebanon’s Christian militias. Local opposi-
tion among Lebanon’s disaffected Shia population led to targeted 
strikes against American installations. These attacks were mostly 
the work of an emergent paramilitary group, Hezbollah. In April 
1983, a suicide bomber killed sixty- three people, including several 
key CIA operatives, soldiers, and Marines, in a targeted attack on 
the U.S. Embassy in Beirut.164
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On October 23, 1983, in the single deadliest attack against the 
U.S. Marine Corps since World War II, an enormous explosion 
ripped through the U.S. Marine barracks at the Beirut Inter national 
Airport, killing 241 American servicemen.165 Minutes later, a sec-
ond suicide bomber hit the French military barracks in the “Drak-
kar” building, killing 58 paratroopers in France’s single worst mili-
tary loss since the Algerian War. These attacks led to open warfare 
with Syrian- backed forces and, soon after, the rapid withdrawal of 
the Marines and multinational forces to their ships, accelerating 
the end of U.S. and European involvement in Lebanon. Despite 
Reagan’s pledge to retaliate against the perpetrators, and not with-
draw until the mission was complete, American troops departed 
within months.166 In the words of U.S. ambassador Samuel Lewis, 
America left the country “with our tail between our legs.”167

The possibility of Lebanese unity quickly crumbled as the Syr-
ian army filled the void left by the departing multinational forces, 
which evacuated by March 1984. Soon after, Amin Gemayel ab-
rogated the May 17 agreement that had been signed with Israel 
and turned to Syria for support. Israeli forces partially withdrew 
twenty- five miles north of Israel’s border with Lebanon, using 
General Saad Haddad’s South Lebanon Army (SLA) as a proxy to 
control the area alongside its own forces. This marked the onset 
of a “prolonged de facto partition of Lebanon” between Israeli and 
Syrian spheres of influence. The regional implications of this parti-
tion, as CIA analysts predicted in a prescient report, affected the 
Palestinians as well. Ultimately, as the CIA argued, “a prolonged 
stalemate in Lebanon will tend to detract attention from other 
 Levantine issues, particularly the Palestinian problem.”168

For Israeli leaders, despite the setbacks of the invasion, there was 
interest in keeping the Palestinian question isolated from develop-
ments in the territories themselves. But this could not prevent the 
transformation of the Lebanese occupation into a recurring source 
of violent conflict as well as political dissent within Israel. Israeli 
military forces continued to occupy a large swath of south Lebanon 
until May 2000, when Hezbollah forced a withdrawal.169 Despite 
the lofty rhetoric of Israeli leaders and the Cold War aspirations 
of the Reagan White House, the invasion of Lebanon had facili-
tated Syria’s regional ascendency and adversely impacted America’s 
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strategic position in the Middle East by inviting further Soviet in-
fluence. Syria was able to maintain direct influence over Lebanon 
for more than twenty years, only forced out by the “Cedar Revolu-
tion” in the aftermath of Lebanese prime minister Rafik Hariri’s 
assassination in 2005.

One year after the initial Israeli invasion, CIA analyst Graham 
Fuller explained the growth of such a close Syrian- Soviet alliance. 
“Syria can derive considerable satisfaction from the flow of events in 
Lebanon which strengthen Assad’s conviction that things are going 
his way,” Fuller suggested. “Syria will take efforts to avoid sparking 
Israeli attacks against itself, especially while the pace of events is 
moving strongly against national reconciliation and in favor of con-
fessionalism and partition. Syria can live happily with partition, 
confident that it remains the dominant power in Lebanese poli-
tics. The USSR’s interests are closely linked to Syria’s. The Soviets 
support Syrian opposition to any U.S.- sponsored peace plan in the 
area.”170 Given the political dynamics that have inhered since the 
Syrian army’s formal departure from Lebanon in 2005, and Rus-
sian influence in sustaining the Syrian civil war that began in 2011, 
this particular legacy of the intervention should not be ignored.171

The war in Lebanon also served as an incubator of other impor-
tant regional transformations, especially in light of the 1979 Iranian 
Revolution and its influence among Lebanon’s Shiite population. 
Hezbollah grew into a highly organized paramilitary organization 
and political force in the midst of the 1982 War, resisting the Israeli 
intervention and targeting American and European forces who had 
joined the fray. “Israel’s myopic obsession with destroying the Pal-
estinian resistance spawned a far more dangerous enemy,” one his-
torian of the period has noted. “American Cold War naiveté opened 
the door for Iran in Lebanon.”172

While the signing of a strategic agreement between Begin’s Likud 
government and the Reagan White House in 1981 may have marked 
the formal onset of a strategic alliance between the United States 
and Israel, the 1982 Lebanon War and the legacy of the Israeli and 
U.S. intervention was a crack in the dominant narrative of abiding 
friendship between stalwart allies. Israel’s leaders were motivated 
by overly ambitious regional aims, blind to the internal realities of a 
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fractured Lebanese state, and their military invasion compromised 
relations with the United States. But in enabling a new strategic ra-
tionale to underpin bilateral ties, the Reagan administration had also 
empowered Israel to intervene and shut down political horizons in 
the occupied territories. The U.S.- Israel alliance and the unchecked 
hostility toward Palestinian nationalism in Jerusalem fueled the 1982 
invasion and implicated the United States in the tragedy of the war.

The foundations of this shift were rooted, however, in Carter’s 
success at Camp David. To a large extent, it was the assurance of 
bilateral peace with Egypt and the failure of a comprehensive re-
gional settlement that paved the way for more ambitious Israeli 
intervention beyond the West Bank and Gaza Strip. In a revealing 
interview some years after the PLO expulsion, Yasser Arafat told a 
researcher in Tunis, “We knew that the invasion of Lebanon would 
not have taken place if there had been no Camp David agreement 
and without the Iran- Iraq war. Because of Camp David, Egypt 
was absent; Iraq was completely preoccupied; and the Syrians ac-
cepted the cease- fire after about four days.”173 When asked whether 
he partly blamed the United States and its support for the Camp 
David Accords for what happened in Lebanon, Bethlehem’s mayor 
Elias Freij told NBC’s Meet the Press the following: “I am blaming 
the United States for what has befell the Arab women and children 
and civilian people in Lebanon, the Palestinians and the Lebanese, 
and the destruction of West Beirut, the obliteration of the Palestin-
ian refugees’ camps in Tyre, Sidon, Damour, and other places.”174

Lebanon, and the siege of Beirut, endured as a touchstone of 
the Palestinian struggle for self- determination, drawing renewed 
global attention to the Palestinian issue and reviving the quest 
for statehood. During a historic interview in Beirut with veteran 
journalist and peace activist Uri Avnery— his first with an Israeli— 
Arafat appealed to world opinion for a greater understanding of 
the Palestinian reality.175 “I am not worried. I am not worried at all 
about the future despite this extensive invasion of Lebanon,” Arafat 
told Avnery. “I turn to every human being in the world to come 
here and see this great power, the Israeli Army, what it did against 
the Palestinians, to our refugees, to our women and children. . . . 
History is not made of battles.” The PLO leader was adamant that 
his fight was against the Israeli army, not the Jewish people. “We 



[ 236 ] cHaPter six

want to live with all the Jews. We are not against the Jews! . . . The 
Jews are a religious people, people sticking to religion. The Israeli 
military regime damages the whole course of life, and damages, in 
a very disgraceful way, the Jewish spirit.” This distinction between 
Judaism as a religion and the political impact of Zionism and the 
Israeli state had long characterized PLO writings about Israel, and 
the war in Lebanon had thrown these distinctions into greater re-
lief.176 Before Avnery left, Arafat asked if he was going back home 
the same day, which he was. “You think you have the right to go 
back there, and I don’t have the same right?” Arafat asked Avnery. 
“Simply, I am a human being! To where? Apart from my native 
country? I want to return to my homeland.”177

Throughout the summer siege, Palestinian leaders continued 
to assert the PLO’s willingness to accept binding UN resolutions 
and the possibility of a negotiated settlement. In the aftermath of 
the PLO’s evacuation from Beirut in August, ABC News hosted an 
episode of This Week with David Brinkley on the situation in the 
Middle East, inviting Bassam Abu Sharif of the Popular Front for 
the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP) to discuss the political repercus-
sions of the departure. The prominent PLO factional leader, who 
had been involved in several militant actions against Israel and was 
injured in a Mossad assassination attempt a decade earlier, was 
asked whether he would be satisfied with a Palestinian state in the 
West Bank and Gaza. Abu Sharif remarked that it was “satisfac-
tory” to have a state on “any part of Palestine.” In a follow- up, he 
was asked, “Does that mean that the Palestinians, in your view, the 
PLO, in your view, can accept the simultaneous existence of Israel 
as a Jewish state?” Abu Sharif replied, “This is the PLO program. 
It was very clear . . . it is to establish a Palestine independent state 
on any part of Palestine.” Brinkley asked if such an outcome were to 
materialize, “would that be the end of your hostility to Israel?” Abu 
Sharif replied that “this would be probably a start for simultaneous 
cooperation between Palestinians and Jews.”178

Failures among the PLO leadership were also more evident after 
the summer of 1982, as the locus of the national struggle shifted 
from the external leadership to political activists inside the West 
Bank and Gaza Strip.179 The unintended consequence was to 
strengthen calls for a national solution to the Palestinian question. 
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Contrary to Israel’s aims, the invasion had in some crucial ways 
emboldened the Palestinian cause. The fighting revealed the per-
sistence of PLO military strength and political commitment despite 
the organization’s forced departure from Lebanon.180 A special 
 National Intelligence Estimate prepared by the CIA in the after-
math of the war described this altered climate: “Israel has been 
surprised to discover that its military victory has not produced the 
expected political dividends and seems to have strengthened its 
antagonists’ political hand.”181 This analysis cohered with the view 
of one Israeli Knesset member, who remarked, “In Beirut, we cre-
ated a Palestinian state.”182 A formative link can be traced from the 
Palestinian presence in Lebanon prior to the 1982 Israeli invasion 
and the advancement of the PLO’s statist agenda after the organi-
zation’s expulsion.183

But the war in Lebanon, like the diplomacy around Camp 
David, also highlighted the danger ascribed to the Palestinian na-
tional struggle. Just as the motivation for a shift from the political 
prevention of sovereignty to military targeting of the PLO was clear 
with the invasion, the pendulum now swung back the other way. 
As the PLO leadership regrouped in exile, Israel redoubled efforts 
to solve the Palestinian question in non- statist terms. A revival of 
Palestinian nationalism ultimately forced Israel’s reluctant reckon-
ing with the Palestinian question on rather different grounds than 
the prior decade.
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cH a Pter sev en

Alternatives to the PLO?

tHe sHiP tHat carrieD yasser arafat  away from Beirut was 
called the Atlantis. Two destroyers escorted it on the journey to 
 Athens, from where PLO leaders would travel onward to Tunis. 
One of the passengers on the journey in late August 1982 was the 
Lebanese photographer and visual artist Fouad Elkoury, who was 
invited aboard by the PLO spokesman and disguised himself as a 
fighter to get on the ship. He later described the atmosphere of the 
journey as “heady with contemplation and a certain thoughtless-
ness.” In El koury’s photographs, one can see a smiling Arafat, flash-
ing a victory sign as the ship left the Lebanese port. But there are 
more intimate images, of exhausted fedayeen fighters lying on deck 
chairs, Arafat and his commanders looking out to sea, several smil-
ing children, and one passenger kneeling for the afternoon prayer. 
As the Atlantis pulled into the Athens port, the Greek prime min-
ister awaited its arrival. Elkoury’s camera captured the welcome 
ceremony on shore, including a line of onlookers dressed in tradi-
tional Palestinian embroidery, carrying the Palestinian flag along-
side Arafat’s portrait.1

Elkoury’s photographs are a jarring reminder of the split be-
tween the leadership of the national movement and the reality of 
exile; the struggle between politics on the inside and the external 
quest for self- determination that continued far away from historic 
Palestine. Arriving in Tunis, the PLO was deprived of the infra-
structure it had developed in Arab states like Jordan and Leba-
non.2 In the new headquarters that Arafat established in the Hotel 
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Salwa, his office staff gathered in silence and shock to watch an 
Italian documentary about the Sabra and Shatila massacre in Bei-
rut. Fighters living in isolated PLO camps were “demoralized and 
dispirited,” with others dispersed across Yemen, Algeria, Syria, 
Sudan, and Iraq.3 In these far- flung locations, the PLO worked to 
reconstitute the national movement in exile, having understood the 
necessity of political engagement in the wake of Lebanon.

Yet for Israel and the United States, the aftermath of the war led 
to a series of efforts to bypass the PLO and find alternative modes 
of engagement with the Palestinians. Some of these attempts built 
on the leadership within the occupied territories, while other ideas 
turned to the Jordanians as a desired address for resolving the Pal-
estinian question. These economic and political efforts ultimately 
failed, and the outbreak of the first Intifada in 1987 forced a reckon-
ing with Palestinian nationalism on its own terms. As the Reagan 
administration moved to engage diplomatically, the PLO returned 
to the center of the political stage, while still disconnected from the 
realities of life inside the West Bank and Gaza Strip. The recogni-
tion of the national movement and the onset of an official dialogue 
at the end of the 1980s was a pivotal development for the United 
States and Israel. It was also a milestone for the PLO, which had 
fully embraced a statist platform after years of an internal struggle 
over national aims.

Bypassing the National Movement
While many factions within the PLO had decisively shifted from 
armed struggle to political engagement in the 1970s, there were still 
a host of disagreements about tactics and strategy in the wake of 
the exile from Beirut. At the February 1983 gathering of the Pal-
estine National Council (PNC) in Algiers— the first PNC meeting 
after the 1982 War— the national movement took stock of the new 
reality. In his account of the gathering, the PLO’s representative in 
Lebanon, Shafiq al- Hout, offered a critical assessment of these dis-
cussions. “I was not alone in believing that we had not ‘won’ the war 
in Lebanon,” al- Hout recalled, but the meeting was “not commen-
surate with the huge blow which the Palestinian movement had 
just received. . . . The conference was hollow, celebratory.” There 
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was a central question that had not been answered, al- Hout ex-
plained. “What now after the departure from Beirut?”4

Underneath the surface appearance of a “festival of resistance,” 
Algiers represented a failure of self- criticism about the limits of 
the national struggle and where the Palestinians might be headed. 
While the events in Lebanon had emboldened the PLO’s fighting 
force, it also revealed a great deal of Arab opposition to the Pales-
tinian struggle. Al- Hout addressed these glaring issues in an acer-
bic speech, singling out the lack of national unity among various 
factions. “Each Palestinian faction has its own flag, its own spokes-
man, its own military forces and celebrations,” he told the confer-
ence. “All that’s missing is an exchange of ambassadors!” What was 
the PLO’s political strategy? How much progress could be made in 
the diplomatic realm? What of military resistance? The final con-
ference communiqué did not provide much clarity on these ques-
tions. “It was like one of those crossword puzzles where you can 
read from right to left or left to right, and from top to bottom or 
vice versa,” al- Hout wrote. “Every person could interpret it his own 
way and find nothing offensive in it.”5 On a range of issues, from a 
discussion of the Reagan Plan to compromises over relations with 
Egypt and Jordan, another senior PLO official described the coun-
cil decisions as “saying yes and no at the same time.”6

The equanimity at Algiers did not hold for very long. Dissidents 
within the Fatah movement rebelled against Arafat for what they 
characterized as his abandonment of armed struggle, given his 
openness to consider diplomatic alternatives. This newly formed 
“Rejection Front” strongly opposed a negotiated settlement with 
Israel, drawing on deeper discontent that had plagued Fatah for 
many years. Critics singled out diplomatic consideration of the 
Reagan Plan, which still did not recognize a Palestinian state, as 
well as internal discussions over a possible confederation with Jor-
dan.7 There were also further internal splits over Arafat’s meeting 
with Egyptian president Hosni Mubarak in December 1983, draw-
ing condemnation from the Popular Front for the Liberation of Pal-
estine (PFLP), the Democratic Front for the Liberation of Palestine 
(DFLP), and members of Fatah itself.8 These divisions served to 
marginalize the exiled organization as it pursued broader inter-
national initiatives, drawing attention to the activism of Palestin-
ians inside the occupied territories.
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The PLO’s marginalization was further exacerbated by the per-
sistence of violence within various corners of the national move-
ment. In October 1985, a splinter group called the Palestine Lib-
eration Front hijacked the Italian cruise ship Achille Lauro and 
carried out the cold- blooded killing of Leon Klinghoffer, a Jewish 
wheelchair- bound tourist.9 While out of sync with the political 
direction of the PLO, these factions committed highly visible and 
egregious acts of terror against Israeli and Jewish targets around 
the globe. A string of plane hijackings and deadly shootings at the 
Rome and Vienna airports further strengthened anti- engagement 
views, and outrage over Palestinian violence mounted. In the 
United States, the Reagan administration, which was confronting a 
rash of worldwide terrorist attacks throughout the 1980s, had little 
tolerance for the PLO’s violence on the international scene.10

American and Israeli officials instead undertook parallel efforts 
to find an alternative address for resolving the Palestinian ques-
tion that bypassed the national movement. The Israeli government 
remained determined to avoid the prospect of Palestinian self- 
determination inside the occupied territories. Before the autonomy 
talks had ended in April 1982, the Israeli civil administration in 
the territories had begun developing “Village Leagues” that were 
intended to provide alternative sources of leadership to the PLO 
in the West Bank.11 Officials sought out figures not aligned with 
the Palestinian national movement to head Leagues that would 
be granted a degree of authority over the Arab population. This 
was assumed to be a mechanism that would remove direct Israeli 
control over certain aspects of daily life, enabling a form of indi-
rect rule over the territories not unlike colonial models of gover-
nance in other contexts.12 The concept of local control over munici-
pal governance via pliable non- PLO Palestinian leaders had first 
emerged under Moshe Dayan’s tenure in the occupied territories. 
After  Likud’s rise to power, Begin and Sharon expanded this effort, 
looking for rural leadership to counter the political influence of Pal-
estinian nationalists. Non- urban figures were seen as more reliably 
“quietist” and “amenable to collaboration” than city dwellers, and 
the Israeli architects of the Leagues believed they could successfully 
pit the two against each other.13

Israel’s attempt to institute these Village Leagues was short- 
lived, with widespread Palestinian resistance in 1981 and 1982 
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bringing about a swift end to this effort amid riots and civil dis-
obedience, highlighting the effect of mass mobilization that as one 
important study explains “cut across class and clan.”14 The Vil-
lage Leagues also failed as a result of Jordanian opposition, which 
joined in with PLO efforts to discredit the project. This deprived 
Begin and Sharon of the possibility of finding local partners for 
their autonomy plans, alienating non- PLO and pro- Hashemite 
urban  leaders.15 When asked why he did not participate in this ini-
tiative, for example, Bethlehem mayor Elias Freij told NBC’s Martin 
Fletcher, “There are no talks going with anybody. The Israelis have 
created these creatures. They’re protecting them just as symbols. 
And these symbols or collaborators will simply sign a blank check 
for Israel.” Freij compared the efforts on the part of the Israelis to 
pursue Village Leagues as akin to the failed autonomy talks. Those 
talks, Freij explained, were devoid of content. “Israel is not giving 
us anything whatsoever. Israel wants the land. It is talking of an au-
tonomy where Mr. Begin says will never lead to self- determination, 
will never lead to statehood.” Harkening back to the language of 
Camp David, the Bethlehem mayor insisted that the real meaning 
of the agreement was “full autonomy” for Palestinians, akin to the 
Egyptian formula suggested during the autonomy negotiations, 
not the model being proffered by Israel. “We have not fought for 
60 years to accept a very limited, powerless administrative council 
without doing anything,” Freij declared.16

The Jordanian Option and Quality of Life Initiatives
A search for alternative approaches to the Palestinian question 
also featured in Washington. Reagan had won reelection handily 
in 1984, and the administration deemphasized a return to compre-
hensive diplomacy in the region during his second term. At a news 
conference in the spring of 1985, the president was asked pointedly 
about the seeming lack of interest in restarting the peace process. 
Having unveiled an ambitious peace plan in September 1982, Rea-
gan now seemed to have stepped back. He responded by insisting 
it was not a policy of “disengagement.” “Our proposal, in the very 
beginning, was that we did not want to participate in the negotia-
tions,” Reagan explained. “It wouldn’t be any of our business to do 



alternatives to tHe Plo? [ 243 ]

so but that we’d do whatever we could to help bring the warring 
parties together and, in effect, you might say, continue the Camp 
David process.”17 Instead of reviving a full- scale peace initiative, 
U.S. policymakers focused on more limited programs to alleviate 
hardships in the West Bank and Gaza Strip, repositioning the Pal-
estinian issue in humanitarian terms. Diplomatically, U.S. officials 
also explored what was known as the “Jordanian Option,” an ef-
fort to conduct peace talks with King Hussein over the fate of the 
Palestinians. This was intended to circumvent the PLO and build 
a moderate Palestinian infrastructure under the aegis of an Israeli- 
Jordanian arrangement.18

Reagan’s electoral victory in 1984 coincided with a political re-
alignment in Israel, where a standoff between the Labor and Likud 
parties had resulted in a unity coalition with a rotation in the pre-
miership. Shimon Peres, the Labor leader, served as prime minister 
until 1986, and then the Likud leader Yitzhak Shamir completed 
the term. Peres had grown in popularity for withdrawing troops 
from Lebanon and successfully managing the struggling economy. 
He too believed that diplomatic engagement with Jordan could 
perhaps lead to “a kind of condominium over the West Bank and 
Gaza at the expense of the PLO.”19 To shift the focus away from 
Palestinian nationalists, Peres launched a series of secret meetings 
with King Hussein of Jordan that began in July 1985. Israeli and 
U.S. officials agreed to move forward in stages, beginning with a 
joint Jordanian- Palestinian delegation meeting with the U.S. as-
sistant secretary of state for Near Eastern Affairs, Richard Murphy. 
This would ostensibly be followed by PLO acceptance of the U.S. 
conditions for dialogue and the start of negotiations. American of-
ficials wanted to strengthen Peres’s position against the Likud and 
Shamir. But the divisions within Israel’s national unity government 
over the inclusion of PLO members in the Murphy meeting de-
railed it from the start. Reagan backed away at the final moment, 
minimizing strains in the U.S.- Israel alliance by reiterating his re-
fusal to deal with the PLO.20

PLO leaders also debated the value of reconciling with Jordan 
from their exile in Tunis, as they sought to further ties with Pal-
estinians in the occupied territories.21 The organization opted to 
adopt an interim strategy to access the West Bank through Jordan, 
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in order to shift the center of gravity back to the West Bank. In 
a February 1985 communiqué, the PLO formulated a joint posi-
tion in support of a confederation with the Hashemite Kingdom.22 
By the fall, however, relations between King Hussein and Arafat 
had deteriorated, as the PLO’s failure to rein in violent factions 
and Hussein’s political vulnerabilities undercut the alliance.23 In 
a scathing address on February 19, 1986, King Hussein announced 
the end of the initiative with the PLO.24 He blamed the Palestin-
ian leadership for continued intransigence in not accepting UN 
resolution 242, and in the view of his biographer, the remarks sig-
naled “the end of an era in which Jordan was the leading actor in 
the search for a peaceful solution to the Middle East conflict.”25 
Reflecting on this emblematic return “to where we had started,” 
George Shultz described his “deep frustration” with the overriding 
climate of failure. “I knew that without a peace process, a danger-
ous vacuum existed that would likely be filled by violence,” the sec-
retary of state concluded. “We would need a new model. We would 
not give up.”26

Shultz’s influence in the White House had grown steadily since 
his appointment to replace Haig in the summer of 1982. He sought 
a different approach to the Middle East after the challenges of Leb-
anon, although much of Reagan’s second term was overshadowed 
by the explosive revelations of the United States trading arms for 
hostages as part of the Iran- Contra scandal.27 King Hussein vis-
ited the White House in the summer of 1986, after he had sev-
ered the PLO initiative. In a memo ahead of the monarch’s arrival, 
Shultz outlined the American commitment to a continuation of 
the strong alliance between the two countries, which Hussein was 
beginning to doubt after a failed Jordanian arms sale and lingering 
strains in the relationship with the United States in the wake of 
Camp David.28 The secretary of state saw a meeting with Hussein 
as an opportunity for reassurance, while also encouraging a “more 
active Jordanian role” in the West Bank.29 In a closed- door discus-
sion, the president told Hussein that he supported “an alter native 
Palestinian leadership” and wanted to move forward on “quality 
of life” issues in the occupied territories.30 Later that after noon, 
Reagan’s National Security Advisor John Poindexter also met pri-
vately with Hussein and reiterated his shared “frustration with 
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Arafat,” agreeing that the PLO leader was unlikely to join the peace 
process.31

In the weeks following the visit, NSC official Dennis Ross helped 
prepare the groundwork for this initiative. Ross had served under 
Paul Wolfowitz at the State Department’s Policy Planning staff, and 
was put in charge of Near East and South Asia Affairs at the NSC 
in June 1986.32 In a cable composed by Ross, Poindexter encour-
aged Secretary Shultz to help King Hussein in his effort to “close all 
doors” to Arafat and provide money to build a “moderate Jordanian 
position on the West Bank.” Poindexter sensed there could be prob-
lems with this approach. “I realize supporting the King’s efforts to 
undermine Arafat and nurture an alternative leadership may be 
controversial. Some may feel that the King will fail or that there 
can be no alternative to Arafat,” Poindexter wrote. “I am concerned 
that if we look lukewarm in our support we will guarantee his fail-
ure, and I am convinced that Arafat is incapable of ever negotiating 
peace with Israel.”33 Even though other policymakers and external 
critics had repeatedly stressed the importance of dealing with the 
PLO leadership directly, the NSC chief had other ideas. Advancing 
the notion that the PLO could be shut out of the peace process by 
going along with Jordan alone, the administration ignored many of 
its own critical assessments over the previous years.

Jordan mirrored the American approach to the Palestinians. In 
a coda to the cessation of Jordanian- PLO relations, King Hussein 
closed down the PLO office in Amman in July 1986. Prime Minis-
ter Shimon Peres and Defense Minister Yitzhak Rabin, who had 
returned to the leadership and was now responsible for the occu-
pied territories, met secretly with Hussein at his holiday house in 
Aqaba that same month. They traveled by speedboat from Eilat for 
a four- hour discussion. Hussein was deeply critical of the PLO and 
“said he would try to cultivate moderate leaders from the occupied 
territories as an alternative.” The leaders also discussed a five- year 
plan for “economic development” in the West Bank.34 In August, 
the king tried to strengthen his support among Palestinians in the 
territories by launching a West Bank Development Plan to improve 
their economic conditions. Israel expressed its support for this ini-
tiative in the hope of further undermining the PLO and possibly 
asserting its own claim to the West Bank.35
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While Jordan and Israel were in agreement to weaken the PLO 
with American help, U.S. financial support for King Hussein’s plan 
was less forthcoming than the Jordanian monarch had hoped, with 
senior policymakers reluctant to dole out funding.36 But the NSC 
continued pushing the idea of alternative leadership to the PLO. 
In talking points prepared by Dennis Ross for a discussion with 
Saudi ambassador Prince Bandar bin Sultan, Poindexter criticized 
the Saudi government for continuing to give money to Arafat, 
who “has failed every test that’s ever been put to him to show he 
is committed to making peace.” Poindexter stressed that “the King 
[Hussein] has given up on Arafat and we think for good reason. 
He is now trying to build an alternative Palestinian leadership. A 
leadership that is committed to negotiating peace, and we support 
that effort.” Poindexter, who would later be convicted for his role 
in Iran- Contra, told Bandar that “in our judgment, your contin-
ued financial support for Arafat undermines the King’s [Hussein’s] 
efforts to build a credible alternative Palestinian leadership and 
is counterproductive to the peace process.” The NSC advisor pro-
ceeded to ask Bandar to “at least reduce” Saudi support for Arafat 
if he couldn’t end it, by making payroll deductions for all Palestin-
ian workers in Saudi Arabia “optional.”37

Poindexter also outlined a more activist approach for the  Saudis, 
encouraging them to support moderates in the West Bank and con-
tribute to “developmental projects” in the territories. He sought 
“small investments— $25 to 30 million in institutional and infra-
structure projects”— as a counter to the growth of radical forces. 
This was all done “under the rubric of improving the quality of life 
for the Palestinians in the West Bank— and giving them some hope 
in the process.”38 The NSC continued pushing this idea through Oc-
tober. Reviewing an invitation list to an administration Middle East 
meeting, Ross suggested to the president’s assistant that Dr. Martin 
Indyk, a founder of the Washington Institute for Near East Policy, 
be invited. “I include Martin because he represents a think tank 
that can do much to build the intellectual underpinnings of support 
in important Jewish and political circles for increased investments 
in Jordan and the West Bank,” Ross explained.39 Having recently 
flexed their political muscle against the arms sale to Jordan, do-
mestic supporters of Israel remained opposed to any form of aid 
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for the Jordanians. Indyk and his organization could potentially 
circumvent these concerns, a sign of growing influence by outside 
lobbyists in the 1980s.

The “Quality of Life” initiative was an uphill battle. In December, 
Ross prepared a brief study of King Hussein’s West Bank develop-
ment plan for the National Security Council. Describing the bleak 
situation on the ground, he outlined several reasons for America’s 
involvement in the initiative. With 60 percent of the Palestinian 
population under the age of fifteen, the younger generation had no 
memory of association with Jordan and didn’t identify with King 
Hussein. In Ross’s view, “They have been socialized by more radical 
ideologies,” including “the imagery of radical Shiite success” when it 
came to the Israeli withdrawal from Lebanon. This ideological shift 
“convinced many that the answer to Israeli occupation is funda-
mentalism and armed struggle.”40 King Hussein, fearing the long- 
term survival of the Hashemite monarchy, was seeking to stem the 
tide of this perceived radicalism by delivering on economic relief.

The assumptions undergirding American policy drew on reac-
tions to the 1979 Iranian Revolution and an uncertainty about how 
to approach the Israeli government’s actions in the occupied territo-
ries. If extremism took root in the West Bank, Ross argued, it would 
prompt Israel to act, “making it more likely that Sharon, Eitan 
and others will gain more clout and pursue their objective of de- 
populating the West Bank of Arabs.” Sensing the threat this would 
pose to Jordan’s stability, Ross wrote, “Hashemite rule in Jordan is 
probably not sustainable in a circumstance where the Palestinians 
on the West Bank move to the East Bank and fundamentally alter 
the demographic balance in the country.” Reestablishing Jordanian 
influence in the area, Ross argued, “will ensure that Palestinians 
in the West Bank stay put, and it may in time also create a more 
moderate constituency prepared to join with the King in negotia-
tions with Israel.” Ross acknowledged that this might be a long shot 
but felt that the “Quality of Life” initiative was still well worth the 
investment of American funds and “could have a profound effect.”41

Ross concluded his assessment with a premonitory note: “The 
monies involved may not be great, but their effects could be. And 
these effects should be measured not only in terms of what they 
positively produce but also in terms of the negative developments 
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that they prevent.” The NSC staffer was paying attention to the 
rumblings in the territories themselves. “If Hussein fails,” Ross con-
cluded, “we will surely face an explosion in the West Bank— with 
long term consequences for the prospects of Arab- Israeli peace.”42 
The memo predated the outbreak of the Intifada by a year, under-
scoring U.S. recognition that the status quo was enormously damag-
ing to Palestinians in the West Bank and Gaza Strip. Yet efforts to 
address the situation were premised on the exclusion and marginal-
ization of the Palestinian national movement, an echo of the ill- fated 
Village Leagues promoted years earlier. In parallel fashion, both ap-
proaches also evoked Menachem Begin’s original autonomy vision.

Incrementalism
The administration’s disengagement from comprehensive peace 
initiatives during the mid- 1980s was framed as a logical step away 
from diplomacy that had not yielded tangible results. “We’re in-
terested in negotiations that produce outcomes,” wrote the newly 
appointed National Security Advisor Frank Carlucci in early 1987. 
“The U.S. does not need more unrealized expectations or perceived 
failures in the Middle East.43 On February 13 of that year, senior 
members of the administration gathered for a National Security 
Planning Group meeting with President Reagan in the Situation 
Room.44 Carlucci, using talking points prepared by Dennis Ross, 
presented the “Building Blocks of Strategy” for a new U.S. approach 
to peacemaking in the region. In Carlucci’s view, the “hallmark of 
our approach right now should be incrementalism. We need to de-
velop a systematic, tempered approach to rebuilding credibility. . . . 
We should move in a low- key way on the peace- seeking process.” 
The Middle East required U.S. involvement that was measured but 
substantive in nature. Frustrated with a pattern of inaction, Car-
lucci called for more “momentum” in order “to counter an image of 
drift” on the Palestinian issue.45

To assess the state of U.S. policy at the time, the president issued 
a National Security Study Directive, which was sent off to the State 
Department, the Department of Defense, and the CIA. Among the 
series of questions posed to Middle East staffers, one in particular 
concerning Jordan revealed the shift in Reagan’s thinking. “How 
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can we strengthen Jordan’s role in the peace process and its efforts 
to assert leadership on the Palestinian question? What further steps 
could we take, e.g., in the Quality of Life area or in the bilateral re-
lations, to strengthen the King’s hand?”46 Reagan, at the behest of 
his advisors, was approaching Jordan as the primary interlocutor 
for arbitrating the Palestinian issue. He was suggesting a continued 
shift away from U.S. involvement in a political solution that might 
yield self- determination, an extension of Begin’s successful efforts 
to rule out statehood at Camp David. The new Israeli government 
was only too pleased with this marginalization.

Reagan’s incremental approach was also unfolding against the 
backdrop of steady settler population growth in the occupied ter-
ritories. In February 1987, Israeli prime minister Yitzhak Shamir 
arrived at the White House for his first official meeting since taking 
over the premiership from Peres in October 1986. Shamir was a 
staunch territorial maximalist in the mold of Menachem Begin. As 
one Israeli political observer would write years later, “Shamir is not 
a bargainer. Shamir is a two dimensional man. One dimension is 
the length of the land of Israel, the second, its width. Since Shamir’s 
historical vision is measured in inches, he won’t give an inch.”47 In 
contrast to Peres and the Americans, Shamir was far less invested 
in pursuing negotiations with Jordan. Members of the administra-
tion understood their attempts with Hussein might be compro-
mised after Shamir assumed office. “How do we move ahead and 
make progress in the coming year? How do we show that moder-
ates can deliver?” aides asked ahead of a briefing between Shamir 
and Shultz. “Quality of Life is the one concrete thing we have going 
in the peace- seeking process. Settlements will undo it and again we 
want Shamir to leave with that clear impression,” Reagan’s advisors 
wrote. “We also want Shamir to leave knowing that partnership 
requires sensitivities to each other’s needs, something that means 
Israel should be mindful of our need to support Arab moderates 
resisting radicals and fundamentalists.”48 U.S. officials were clearly 
aware that the continued Israeli opposition to the arming of moder-
ate allies as well as the expansion of settlements would ultimately 
undermine American policy in the region.

There was also a domestic American context the administration 
needed to account for, in light of the earlier battles with pro- Israel 
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advocates over arms deals with Arab states. In the one- on- one 
meeting with Shamir, Reagan emphasized strengthened coopera-
tion between America and Israel but made it clear that the United 
States “will provide limited arms sales to Arab friends. Don’t expect 
you agree; but do expect no campaign against us.”49 The president 
stressed positive developments with King Hussein and then con-
cluded the brief meeting with a most astonishing compliment to 
Shamir: “Impressed you have been able to hold line on new settle-
ment activity against political pressure. Tell me your secret. New 
settlements would only undercut promising developments on West 
Bank and with Hussein and cause problems between us.”50 There 
was no big secret; the reality on the ground flew in the face of Rea-
gan’s false praise. Between 1985 and 1990, fourteen new settlements 
were built in the West Bank, and the number of total settlers dou-
bled from 46,000 to 81,600. The only decline in growth was a result 
of economic recession that adversely affected Israel’s construction 
industry rather than opposition by the Shamir government.51

Shamir himself confirmed his maximalist position in an inter-
view with the Israeli newspaper Maariv after his electoral defeat 
in 1992. “It pains me greatly that in the coming four years I will 
not be able to expand the settlements in Judea and Samaria and 
to complete the demographic revolution in the land of Israel,” the 
departing prime minister stated. “I know that others will now try 
to work against this. Without this demographic revolution, there is 
no value to the talk about [Palestinian] autonomy, because there 
is a danger that it will be turned into a Palestinian state. What is 
this talk about ‘political settlements?’ I would have carried on au-
tonomy talks for ten years, and meanwhile we would have reached 
half a million people in Judea and Samaria.”52 Despite Reagan’s 
claims to the contrary in his personal meeting, Shamir was among 
the most active agents of settlement expansion in Israeli history.

In light of the dire warnings about the consequences of settle-
ment expansion going back to the Carter White House, Reagan’s 
continued neglect of this issue was startling. The problem had been 
recurring throughout his presidency, and leading members of the 
administration had been attentive to the issue. One of the stron-
gest voices against Israeli settlement expansion in the 1980s was 
Reagan’s vice president, and the future president, George Herbert 
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Walker Bush. As early as August 1983, in a meeting with Israeli 
ambassador to the United States Meir Rosenne, Bush criticized 
 Rosenne’s claim that Jews should be permitted to live in “Judea and 
Samaria.” “You will have a hard time selling your position here,” 
Bush told Rosenne. “The U.S. is the most moderate in the world in 
its position on settlements, the President is a friend of yours, but he 
thinks settlements are not conducive to peace.”53

During this same meeting, Israel’s Deputy Chief of Mission and 
future prime minister, a young Benjamin Netanyahu, argued with 
Bush that settlements were not the real issue: “There’s a disparity 
between Arab rhetoric on settlements and the real interests of the 
Arab neighboring states. The real difficult decision that they have 
to make is to accept that Israel is a ‘fait accompli.’ ” Bush was skep-
tical of Netanyahu’s hyperbolic warnings. “Even the nuttiest Arabs 
like Kaddafi [sic] recognize that Israel is here to stay. The P.L.O. 
are dumb not to change their charter to strike out their call for the 
‘elimination of the Zionist entity.’ If they did so, we would talk to 
them. They are like those in Taiwan who still talk of liberating the 
mainland.” Netanyahu disagreed. “Israel’s survival,” he told Bush, 
“would be in grave doubt if we relinquished control of Judea and 
Samaria. The settlements there are a sign of Israel’s presence.”54

Bush was not impressed, pushing the Israelis to admit how many 
more settlements they would be establishing. Rosenne avoided the 
question and spoke of Arab mistreatment of the Palestinians. “The 
Arabs, indeed, have been brutal in their treatment of the Palestin-
ians,” Bush shot back. “The U.S. gives more aid to the Arab refugees 
than the Arab states do. Nevertheless, the settlements are not con-
ducive to peace. Is there any country in the world which supports 
your settlements policy?” he asked Rosenne. “We support the peace 
treaty, but we do oppose settlements. Don’t be under any misap-
prehension about it,” Bush continued. “You are up against a stone 
wall in trying to change the views of the President on this issue. 
The main question remains, what can be done for the Palestinians, 
for they at present have no place to go. What is the Israeli solution 
to the problem of the Palestinians?” Rosenne argued that if they 
would have “sat down and negotiated on Camp David,” Israel would 
have established an autonomy council, “but they have refused to do 
so.”55 Given Shamir’s open admission of his own views concerning 
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autonomy, it is difficult to believe that Rosenne’s stance reflected 
any genuine desire to resolve the Palestinian question beyond 
a restricted version of autonomy. Begin’s political vision still tri-
umphed, even in the face of critics who understood that its under-
lying aim was to suppress Palestinian self- determination.

Israeli Alternatives
Although Shamir continued voicing opposition to direct talks with 
Jordan, Israel’s efforts to engage the Hashemite Kingdom diplomat-
ically remained in play. King Hussein met secretly with Peres in his 
new role as foreign minister, and they finally reached an agreement 
in London on April 11, 1987. The “London Document” outlined the 
basis of an international conference to coordinate bilateral negotia-
tions between Israel and Jordan based on UN resolutions 242 and 
338, shutting out the PLO in the process.56 Shamir, excluded from 
the talks by Peres, rejected the document out of hand.57 King Hus-
sein was embittered by the internal Israeli disagreements and the 
lack of U.S. support, leading to his complete disengagement from 
diplomacy on the Palestinian question.

Ironically, Likud politicians were more willing to engage with 
the Palestinians directly than Labor party leaders. Secret discus-
sions in 1987 suggested that there were alternative voices advocat-
ing for direct contact with the PLO rather than attempting efforts 
with Jordan. Moshe Amirav, a Likud member close to Prime Min-
ister Shamir, held ten meetings with prominent Jerusalem- based 
Palestinian nationalist leaders Sari Nusseibeh and Faisal Husseini 
in his Jerusalem home in the summer of 1987.58 They were the first 
Palestinians to meet with members of the Israeli right- wing gov-
ernment. Amirav sought out the possibility of a historic agreement 
between Israel and the PLO, asserting “the right of both people to 
the land” in his report to Shamir. “The injustice done to both peo-
ples in our terrible and bloodstained history requires redress via the 
following equation: security and peace for the Jewish people, self- 
determination on part of the land and redress of the injustice done 
to the refugees of the Palestine people,” Amirav explained. “The sole 
official representative of the Palestinian people in any settlement is 
the PLO without whose participation there is no point in reaching 
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any settlement,” Amirav continued. “Likewise, in Israel there is no 
point in reaching any settlement without the Likud.”59

The Likud member’s proposal suggested the “establishment of 
a region of Palestinian self- administration” in the West Bank and 
Gaza Strip, a total of five thousand square kilometers with a capi-
tal in East Jerusalem. Amirav wrote that this “interim agreement” 
would “guarantee Israel’s security and enable it to maintain its 
settlements in Judea and Samaria at a fixed and unchanging level.” 
Suggesting that such an arrangement could advance the establish-
ment of Palestinian self- administration “which would wield powers 
approaching those of a state” within one year, Amirav also left open 
the possibility of “halting negotiations and leaving the situation as it 
stands.” His proposal for an interim solution included a Palestinian 
flag, anthem, stamps, and currency. In outlining the conditions for 
these negotiations, which were to be held in secret and hosted by 
Egypt, the Likud member’s proposal included provisions for the rec-
ognition of the right of Palestinian people “not as refugees, but as a 
people,” to statehood; recognition of the PLO “as the representative 
of the Palestinian people”; and “cessation of any further Israeli set-
tlement” in the territories. In turn, the PLO would have to recognize 
“Israel’s existence within the 1948 borders,” meaning pre- 1967, and 
call for a “cessation of all hostile or terrorist actions everywhere.”60

As a bookend to the decade- long diplomatic effort initiated 
under Carter, the Amirav Plan contained some promising ele-
ments. Primarily, Amirav recognized the centrality of resolving the 
Palestinian question with statehood: “Attempts to reach a settle-
ment that do not include the Palestinians as a major partner to 
the negotiations or whose outcome is not the establishment of an 
independent Palestinian state are doomed to failure.”61 But Amirav 
also put forward some of the more limiting principles of the au-
tonomy negotiations, like an interim arrangement and the option 
of formalizing the status quo, as well as overall Israeli sovereignty 
in the occupied territories and Jerusalem.

Amirav planned to travel to Geneva to present the working 
paper to Yasser Arafat, but on the eve of his trip, Israeli air force jets 
bombed the Lebanese Palestinian refugee camps in Saida’s Ain el- 
Hilweh district, killing fifty of Arafat’s supporters. Faisal Husseini 
was arrested for “pro- PLO activities” and jailed without trial.62 The 
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main conduit for the talks suspected that Defense Minister Yitzhak 
Rabin of the Labor Party, who favored the Jordanian initiative, was 
responsible. Amirav backed out of the trip to Geneva and a peace 
activist went in his place, but Arafat would only accept an official 
overture. The story broke in the Israeli press and upset King Hus-
sein, who believed Israel had promised to “quash pro- P.L.O. Pal-
estinians.” Several days later, masked men on Bir Zeit University’s 
campus clubbed Nusseibeh, while Husseini was re- arrested, and 
hard- line Likud members moved to expel Amirav from the party. 
In discussing the outcome of these talks, Nusseibeh told the New 
York Times that political dogmas “have become like a religion, and 
anyone who deviates from them is a heretic.”63 Efforts with Jordan 
were as futile as efforts with the PLO: a resolution to the Palestin-
ian question was simply not a necessity for the Israeli government. 
This stasis would not last much longer.

The Intifada Ignites
On December 8, 1987, an Israeli army vehicle crashed into a truck 
carrying Palestinian workers, killing four from the Gaza Strip’s 
Jabalia refugee camp. This incident set off spontaneous protests 
that spread to the West Bank. Demonstrators unfurled Palestinian 
flags, burned tires, and threw stones and Molotov cocktails at  Israeli 
cars, and the Israeli security forces responded with force. The first 
Intifada had erupted. This largely nonviolent and unarmed mass 
protest, which lasted through the early 1990s, fundamentally al-
tered the landscape of Palestinian politics and the PLO’s relations 
with Israel as well as the United States. It shattered any illusion 
that the Palestinian national movement could be sidestepped.64

After twenty years of military occupation, Palestinians had 
reached a breaking point. The situation in the Gaza Strip, in par-
ticular, was intolerable. Yitzhak Rabin, Israel’s defense minister, 
publicly sanctioned “a policy of beatings and breaking of bones,” 
and the evening news was filled with images of young Palestin-
ians savagely beaten by Israeli soldiers.65 Footage of the Intifada 
reframed the international perception of Palestinian aspirations for 
self- determination. People around the world watched in disbelief 
as the territories erupted in predominantly peaceful protest, which 
was met with a harsh Israeli military response.
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The mass protests in the occupied territories came five years 
after the Israeli invasion of Lebanon, which had considerably al-
tered the global image of the Palestinians. “If Sabra and Shatila was 
the first notice to Israel that you were dealing with a national move-
ment,” explained one PLO confidant, “then this came to remind 
them you are dealing with people who have national aspirations. 
You can break their bones, but you can’t bring them down to sur-
render their national feelings and you cannot break their spirit.”66 
The Israeli journalist Amos Elon, a leading voice of the left, de-
scribed the events this way: “Twenty years of shortsighted Israeli 
policies lie battered in the streets of the West Bank, Gaza, and East 
Jerusalem. The writing was on the wall for years, but most Israelis 
never bothered to read it.”67

PLO leaders were taken aback by the uprising, which was en-
tirely generated from within the West Bank and Gaza Strip. The 
Tunis exiles had long realized that in order to safeguard their 
leader ship role of the Palestinian struggle, they would need to do so 
through the occupied territories. Abu Jihad, the head of the Fatah 
movement’s armed wing, had argued along those lines well before 
the 1982 War. He recognized that there was no future for guerilla 
warfare or a para- state in Lebanon, and the center of gravity had 
to move to the West Bank. From his base in Amman and then in 
Tunis, Abu Jihad had worked to rebuild the infrastructure for a 
popular unarmed uprising through grassroots organizing of Fatah 
cells. His cadres exported the revolutionary movement into the oc-
cupied territories even after Israeli commandos assassinated him in 
April 1988.68 Hamas, the Islamic Resistance Movement, was also 
established with the outbreak of the Intifada to act as a counter-
weight to the PLO.69

Seeing an opportunity to capitalize on popular discontent, the 
PLO began to play an active role alongside the newly formed Uni-
fied National Command inside the territories.70 Among the four-
teen demands outlined by West Bank and Gaza Palestinian leaders 
on January 14, 1988, was a call to abide by the Fourth Geneva Con-
vention, a demand for the cessation of settlement activity and land 
confiscation, and the removal of restrictions on political contacts 
between inhabitants of the territories and the PLO, “in order to en-
sure a direct input into the decision- making processes of the Pales-
tinian Nation by the Palestinians under occupation.”71 The central 
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political platform that emerged from these protests was a call for 
self- determination and the establishment of an independent Pal-
estinian state.

Israeli leaders remained opposed to granting Palestinians politi-
cal rights and continued to undermine their collective efforts during 
the Intifada.72 Defense Minister Rabin, convinced he could end the 
uprising through military means, ordered the IDF to crack down 
even more forcefully. Thousands of Palestinians were arrested, but 
the uprising persisted. Some officials gradually began to rethink 
the government’s approach to the Palestinians. In an attempt to 
quell the unrest, Foreign Minister Peres floated a “Gaza First” idea 
to dismantle settlements and embark on a peace settlement, but 
Shamir was adamantly against territorial concessions and rejected 
the initiative.73 The prime minister later wrote in his memoirs that 
the Intifada “changed nothing in our basic situation” and “proved 
to me once more that the conflict was not over territory but over 
Israel’s right to exist.” He defended the government’s response as a 
necessary means of protection, observing that “no one in Israel was 
more aware of the moral and physical dilemmas involved than the 
young soldier patrolling the alleys of camps, interrogating fright-
ened inhabitants, subduing rioters, helping to haul thousands off 
to detention, shooting only when he had to, and facing trial himself 
if he erred and shot too soon.”74

Supporters of Israel abroad, reeling from the images on nightly 
television, struggled to articulate a unified response to the unfold-
ing events. The detrimental impact of the occupation, which had 
largely failed to penetrate the consciousness of most Israelis and 
their supporters in the United States, was now indisputably ap-
parent.75 As one Israeli journalist wrote, the occupation “has held 
1.5 million Palestinians as pawns, or bargaining chips, and as a 
source of cheap menial labor, while denying them the most basic 
human rights. The pawns have now risen to manifest their frus-
tration, their bitterness and their political will.”76 Many American 
Jews were shocked to see the proverbial David and Goliath image 
of  Israel and the Arabs turned so blatantly on its head.77

Several prominent leaders of the community spoke out against 
Israeli prime minister Yitzhak Shamir on the eve of another visit 
with Reagan in an open letter to the New York Review of Books. 
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Shamir was deeply opposed to negotiations with the Palestinians 
and remained a strong advocate of Israeli settlements in the oc-
cupied territories. Even the mounting protests did not diminish his 
commitment to this agenda. The critical language of the open let-
ter reflected an American Jewish fracturing that had started in the 
wake of Prime Minister Menachem Begin’s election in 1977: “By our 
own choice, and by the world’s insistence, we Jews are one family. 
We therefore say to you, the most highplaced of our brothers, that 
your ideology about the ‘undivided land of Israel’ is harmful to the 
Jewish people. It makes peace negotiations impossible. It casts the 
Jews in Israel, and those who care about them all over the world, 
in the impossible position that the Jewish state can live only by 
forever repressing the Palestinians.”78

Jewish leaders had hit upon the central fault line animating the 
relationship between their respective communities and the  Israeli 
state. They described a mounting division, which had a global 
reach: “We are divided at this moment between the proponents of 
ideological intransigence and those who believe in moderation. The 
majority of Jews in the world belong to the moderate camp. May 
we respectfully remind you, Prime Minister Shamir, that you are 
coming to Washington these fateful days not as party ideologue but 
as the representative of the whole house of Israel.”79 Claiming both 
membership in the “family” of the “Jewish people” and “belonging 
to the moderate camp,” these communal representatives publicly 
voiced the dissonant feelings that had been growing steadily since 
the first victory of the Likud party over Labor in 1977. Confronting 
the Intifada and the Shamir government’s intransigent reaction to 
the violence underscored the impossibility of such a position ten 
years later. How might they and their constituents reconcile sup-
port for the state of Israel with an increasingly reactionary govern-
ment and the demands of the Palestinian national movement?

Shultz’s Gamble
The political crisis around the Intifada was not limited to Israelis 
or the Jewish diaspora. U.S. policymakers were increasingly con-
cerned about the impact the uprising was having on American in-
terests in the region as well. Initially, the unrest in the territories 



[ 258 ] cHaPter seven

was met with a tempered call in Washington for reengagement with 
diplomatic negotiations. In a one- page fact sheet for the president 
on the “West Bank and Middle East Peace Process,” Dennis Ross 
wrote of the disturbances and the growing Palestinian frustration 
with Israeli occupation. “Our approach to the peace process has 
been guided by the principle that we must give the Palestinians a 
reason for hope, not despair.” In Ross’s view, “The violence in the 
territories may create a new sense of urgency and give us a reason 
to try to energize the process.”80 By February 1988, the U.S. govern-
ment began moving in this direction. In a briefing for former U.S. 
presidents, Ross explained how the administration was reengaging 
after a year of peace process discussions “dominated by arguments 
about procedure,” making it clear that “it’s time to address sub-
stance and the specific issues involved in the negotiating process.”81

Secretary of State Shultz, by this time firmly in control of Rea-
gan’s foreign policy, had also recognized the damaging nature of 
the status quo. He flew to the region several times in early 1988, 
meeting with Israeli and Arab leaders but not the PLO in a final 
bid to resuscitate America’s role as a broker to the conflict.82 The 
resulting Shultz initiative of March 4, 1988, was seen as the “most 
important” proposal since the Reagan Plan, and it attempted to ad-
dress some of the gaps in the earlier proposal.83 Drawing on the 
Camp David Accords, the Shultz initiative called for a comprehen-
sive peace through direct, bilateral negotiations. Wary of the time 
lag in Carter’s earlier attempts at a settlement, Shultz’s idea was to 
explicitly speed up the interval between a transitional period and 
final status implementation utilizing a negotiating tactic called 
“inter lock.” In order to address the Palestinian issue directly, the 
talks would be preceded by an international conference at which 
all participants would have to accept UN resolutions 242 and 338. 
Shultz expended a lot of time traveling around the region to sell 
his initiative, but he was greeted with fierce criticism from Prime 
Minister Shamir, who was adamantly opposed to an international 
conference and unreceptive to the exchange of territory for a peace 
agreement. The Palestinians were disappointed as well, sensing 
that they were being treated as appendages to the Jordanians.84

But it was King Hussein, heavily courted by Shultz to accept the 
initiative, who ultimately brought about its demise. At the end of 
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July 1988, Hussein announced Jordan’s disengagement from the 
West Bank: “Jordan is not Palestine; and the independent Palestin-
ian state will be established on the occupied Palestinian land after 
its liberation, God willing.”85 The king refused to negotiate in place 
of the PLO, relinquishing legal and administrative ties with the West 
Bank and leaving Israel to deal with the territories.86 This crucial 
development forced the United States and Israel to deal solely with 
the PLO, a prospect that had been unthinkable in the late 1970s. 
The disengagement meant that Jordan would no longer be the ad-
dress for dealing with the Palestinian issue, cutting out the fiction of 
an intermediary. For the Israelis, Hussein’s announcement signaled 
the demise of the ill- conceived “Jordanian Option” and forced an 
eventual reckoning with a national movement that had for decades 
been denied recognition.87 Jordan’s disengagement also marked the 
failure of American “Quality of Life” initiatives, reenforcing the ne-
cessity of direct engagement with the PLO leader ship, whether or 
not U.S. policymakers welcomed the idea. The half- hearted schemes 
to build a pliable alternative Palestinian leadership could not substi-
tute for political negotiations with the PLO.

Amid this opening, senior figures within the PLO publicly en-
dorsed negotiations with Israel. Bassam Abu Sharif, who was ex-
pelled from the PFLP and become an advisor to Yasser Arafat, was a 
leading voice for engagement. In a statement circulated to the Arab 
League Summit in Algiers in June 1988, and published in part as an 
op- ed in the New York Times, Abu Sharif wrote that the PLO should 
talk to the Israeli government in the context of a peace conference. 
“The Palestinians would be making a big mistake if they thought 
they could solve their problem without talking directly with Israel,” 
he wrote.88 As the paper’s foreign affairs columnist Anthony Lewis 
argued, it was “the most explicit and articulate endorsement so far 
by the Palestinian mainstream of a two- state solution: a Palestinian 
state living in peace alongside Israel.”89 Hard- line factions within 
the PLO denounced the statement, while Arafat himself did not en-
dorse or condemn it. Israeli prime minister Shamir dismissed the 
remarks as “nothing new.”90 Yet a group of fifteen prominent Amer-
ican Jews welcomed Abu Sharif ’s remarks, calling the statement 
“the clearest expression thus far, by any Palestinian official, of a 
readiness to negotiate peace between Israel and the Palestinians.”91
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Algiers- Stockholm- Geneva
As the Intifada raged on in the West Bank and Gaza Strip, local 
leaders of the uprising worried that their moment of national 
unity might pass without tangible results. They pressured the PLO 
leader ship in Tunis to formally accept the idea of a negotiated 
two- state settlement, a position that was still being challenged by 
extreme factions within the organization. But Jordan’s disengage-
ment had empowered moderates within the PLO, who recognized 
the shifting center of political gravity. “Pressed by these external 
forces,” explained one analyst of nationalist thinking, “the Palestin-
ians were galvanized to cut through their initial ambiguities and to 
move definitively beyond the struggle between what they believed 
was just and what they realized was possible.”92

The decisive move to embrace a negotiated settlement came in 
Algeria that fall. At the November 1988 Palestine National Congress 
in Algiers, Yasser Arafat won a majority of votes for the historic de-
cision to accept relevant UN resolutions 242 and 338.93 The poet 
Mahmoud Darwish crafted a Palestinian Declaration of Indepen-
dence, and it proclaimed an independent Palestinian state along-
side Israel on the basis of UN resolution 181, which had enshrined 
the idea of partition in 1947. According to a leading historian of Pal-
estinian nationalism, “this was the first official Palestinian recogni-
tion of the legitimacy of the existence of a Jewish state and the first 
unequivocal, explicit PLO endorsement of a two- state solution to 
the conflict.”94 The notion that a state of Palestine could exist side 
by side with a state of Israel, near heresy in the 1970s, had emerged 
as the preferred Palestinian position at the close of the 1980s.

In light of these developments, U.S. officials slowly entertained 
an official dialogue with the PLO. Like Reagan’s reversal when it 
came to dealing with the Soviet Union, this shift was a striking 
turn for an administration so adamantly opposed to engagement 
since its first months in office.95 The process was complicated by 
the approaching November election and Reagan’s imminent de-
parture from office. It was also subject to internal debate, which 
included Secretary Shultz’s denial of Yasser Arafat’s request for a 
visa to travel to the UN General Assembly in New York to deliver 
an address about engagement. Shultz was nervous about provisions 
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calling for Palestinian self- determination, as the United States 
moved closer to endorsing political rights but would not cede the 
idea of a state.96 The arguments that had first confronted Carter in 
the late 1970s persisted a decade later.

Swedish government officials spearheaded the initiative that ul-
timately bridged the gap between the United States and the PLO. 
In the spring of 1988, Swedish foreign minister Sten Andersson 
reached out to a small group of prominent American Jews and ar-
ranged meetings with PLO leaders to formulate a statement dem-
onstrating the Palestinian commitment to a peace deal with Israel. 
These leaders included Rita Hauser, the New York lawyer who had 
served as ambassador to the UN Human Rights Council, Stanley K. 
Sheinbaum, an economist and human rights activist, and Drora 
Kass, the director of the International Center for Peace in the Middle 
East.97 Initially, the Swedish initiative was focused on Israel, but the 
Shamir government’s negative reaction led to Andersson’s realization 
that the way to engagement was through the United States. Hauser, 
who was instrumental in the talks, recounted Andersson’s desire for 
American Jews to act as a bridge between the United States, Israel, 
and the PLO. “When I talked to Sten,” Hauser recalled, “the only way 
to break this would be if the Americans recognized the PLO, then the 
Israelis would have to follow suit. It was ridiculous! It should have 
been the other way around. But that’s the way it was.”98

Andersson was deeply affected by the violence of the Intifada, 
having traveled to Israel and the Palestinian territories in March 
1988. Austria’s former chancellor, Bruno Kreisky, who had engaged 
extensively with Arafat and the PLO, also encouraged Andersson’s 
efforts. The Swedish foreign minister wrote a letter of condolence 
to Arafat after the Mossad’s assassination of Abu Jihad, Fatah’s mil-
itary commander and Arafat’s chief deputy. In the note,  Andersson 
recalled sending his son to an Israeli kibbutz in the 1960s, an ex-
perience that opened his eyes to the plight of the Palestinians.99 
After Arafat’s positive response and thanks, Andersson wrote again 
telling the PLO leader of his interest in facilitating a dialogue with 
members of the American Jewish community as a means of secur-
ing U.S. engagement with the organization.

The ensuing meetings between American Jewish figures and 
the PLO leadership in Stockholm proved crucial in paving the way 
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for Secretary of State Shultz to develop an American position on 
substantive discussions with the organization. Rita Hauser later 
described her own evolving perception of the PLO in the course 
of the secret talks: “At two o clock in the morning my phone would 
ring, and I would joke to my husband ‘oh, it’s the PLO.’ The first 
time that they came on I was a little frightened. At this point the 
PLO was seen as a terrorist organization, all that kind of stuff. And 
they were, you know, nice enough guys, human beings, and wanting 
to move in this direction, very much so.”100 Hauser and her fellow 
Jewish leaders were subject to withering criticism in the course of 
the Stockholm talks, most notably from the Israeli government and 
staunch supporters of Israel in the United States. Yet they persisted 
in their meetings.101

Shultz’s requirements for opening a dialogue included the PLO’s 
acceptance of UN resolutions 242 and 338, recognition of Israel, 
and the renunciation of terrorism, conditions that would meet the 
requirements of Kissinger’s non- engagement promise of 1975. The 
Swedish foreign minister was in constant contact with Shultz, who 
gave the “green light” for this endeavor, unbeknownst to the partici-
pants at the time.102 They served as the necessary interlocutors to 
smooth the way for an official PLO dialogue and acceptance of the 
organization by the U.S. government.

As it turned out, Shultz’s stipulations were not a simple require-
ment to meet. Traveling to Geneva instead of New York to deliver 
his highly anticipated General Assembly address, Yasser Arafat 
publicized the political decisions first taken by the Palestinian 
National Council in Algiers. He affirmed UN resolutions 242 and 
338, calling for the establishment of a state of Palestine “based on 
international legitimacy embodied in UN resolutions since 1947 
and the ability of the Palestinian people to enjoy the rights of self- 
determination, political independence, and sovereignty neces-
sary over its land.”103 As for renouncing terrorism, Arafat said the 
following:

As the leader of the Palestine Liberation Organization, I declare one 
more time: I condemn terrorism in all its forms. At the same time I salute 
all those I see before me in this hall, whose interrogators and occupiers 
accused them of terrorism during the battles to liberate their countries 
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from the fires of colonialism. They are all honest leaders of their peoples 
and faithful to the principles and values of freedom and justice.104

Shafiq al- Hout, the leading PLO official in Lebanon and a close 
advisor of Arafat, described the enthusiastic applause that broke 
out around the hall: “It seemed to me as if a great weight had been 
lifted from his [Arafat’s] chest. As far as he was concerned, it left no 
excuse for the United States to keep the PLO on its list of terrorist 
organizations.”105

Arafat’s speech reflected a deep- seated tension within anti-
colonial movements of the twentieth century. The use of violence for 
political ends had limited currency after the age of decolonization. 
In al- Hout’s view, the Geneva address was therefore a monumental 
development. It “reflected very clearly the political turn that the in-
tifada had brought about by transforming the Palestinian struggle 
from a national liberation movement into a national independence 
movement.”106 While reactions at the United Nations were exceed-
ingly positive, the U.S. delegation and American media were more 
circumspect. According to al- Hout, “What we had considered to be 
a miracle breakthrough for the leadership— recognition that a solu-
tion should be founded on international law to establish two states 
on the land of Palestine— was received by the United States as if it 
were simply a maneuver by the PLO to play with words and hide 
behind obfuscation.”107

Rita Hauser publicly endorsed Arafat’s speech and vouched for 
his sincerity. Reagan administration officials still demanded a re-
wording of the pledge. Having failed to repeat verbatim the “magic 
words” of Shultz’s precise statement on renouncing terror rather 
than condemning it, Arafat finally met the American conditions 
in a follow- up press conference on December 14, 1988.108 Pales-
tinian interlocutors were divided on whether to issue a restate-
ment meeting Shultz’s demands. Several Palestinian businessmen 
worked quickly to provide the PLO leader with a replica of the text 
prescribed by the U.S. State Department, assisted by Andersson’s 
Swedish aides.109

At the Geneva press conference, Arafat read out a statement 
before the cameras as Shultz and his advisors watched live from 
the State Department. “Self- determination means survival for the 
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Palestinians,” Arafat explained, “and our survival does not destroy 
the survival of the Israelis, as their rulers claim.” The insistence on 
a possible future for both Palestinians and Israelis was the culmina-
tion of efforts toward a two- state solution that had been extended 
for more than a decade. “As for terrorism,” Arafat continued, “I re-
nounced it yesterday in no uncertain terms, and yet, I repeat for 
the record, I repeat for the record that we totally and absolutely 
renounce all forms of terrorism, including individual, group and 
state terrorism.”110 The PLO leader responded directly to critics 
who continued to marginalize or dismiss the national movement, 
insisting that the remaining matters should be discussed “around 
the table” at an international conference. “Let it be absolutely clear 
that neither Arafat, nor any [one else] for that matter, can stop the 
intifada, the uprising,” concluded the PLO leader. “The intifada will 
come to an end only when practical and tangible steps have been 
taken towards the achievement of our national aims and establish-
ment of our independent Palestinian state.”111

Arafat’s insistence on statehood, however, was a one- sided 
pledge. Israeli and American officials remained opposed to such an 
outcome, a reminder that the quest for self- determination did not 
inevitably lead to national sovereignty. Secretary Shultz and Presi-
dent Reagan both affirmed the onset of a PLO dialogue as a step to-
ward direct negotiations with Israel and a comprehensive peace in 
the Middle East. But statehood was explicitly not endorsed. “Noth-
ing here may be taken to imply an acceptance or recognition by the 
United States of an independent Palestinian state,” Shultz declared. 
“The position of the United States is [that] the status of the West 
Bank and Gaza [Strip] cannot be determined by unilateral acts of 
either side, but only through a process of negotiations. The United 
States does not recognize the declaration of an independent Pales-
tinian state.”112 Reagan added assurances to Israel in his remarks, 
noting “the United States’ special commitment to Israel’s security 
and well- being remains unshakeable. Indeed, a major reason for 
our entry into this dialogue is to help Israel achieve the recognition 
and security it deserves.”113

The leading Palestinian interlocutor with the United States, the 
Palestinian American academic Dr. Mohamed Rabie, was bitterly 
disappointed by these official reactions. He saw the statements 
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as “in violation of both the letter and the spirit of the Stockholm 
agreement” and felt they undercut efforts he had undertaken with 
former NSC advisor William Quandt to start a meaningful dia-
logue.114 In Rabie’s view, the statements “reinforced PLO suspicion 
and deepened its mistrust of U.S. intentions.”115 Others were more 
upbeat about the developments. Mahmoud Abbas, the leading PLO 
proponent for negotiations, recalled the recognition with pride in 
his memoir: “An important victory was won. We had surmounted 
an obstacle that had been placed in our path by Henry Kissinger 
fourteen years previously.”116 For Abbas, the onset of a dialogue 
with the United States was vital: “It meant that we, the PLO, had 
definitely become an official and integral part of any dialogue on 
the Middle East conflict. If America was serious about achieving a 
comprehensive peace settlement then Israel would recognize our 
existence, one way or another.”117

Shultz designated the U.S. ambassador to Tunisia, Robert Pel-
letreau, as the authorized lead channel for the official dialogue with 
the PLO. On December 15, Pelletreau called the British ambassador 
in Tunisia to ask for the organization’s telephone number. The fol-
lowing day, members of the PLO Executive Committee met with the 
American delegation at a guest palace in Carthage. Pelletreau wel-
comed the start of the dialogue, although substantive issues would 
be postponed until a new U.S. administration took office on January 
20, 1989.118 After so many years of officially shutting out the PLO, 
even as secret talks and coordination in Lebanon had bypassed 
Kissinger’s ban, the U.S. government had finally  legitimated the na-
tional vanguard of a leading revolutionary movement. In handwrit-
ten notes from a meeting with President Reagan soon after the dia-
logue had started, National Security Advisor Colin Powell scribbled, 
“Reaction to PLO decision: American Jewish community— resigned 
to it. Israelis unhappy—  Shamir bitter & sad.”119 It was a sober re-
minder of just how much distance had been traveled from Carter’s 
earliest efforts to engage the Palestinians, followed by Reagan’s own 
strong opposition to the PLO throughout the 1980s.

By the end of 1988, the PLO had achieved the international rec-
ognition that had eluded the national movement for so long. The 
failed attempts to bypass Palestinian nationalism in the 1980s had 
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actually served to legitimate the organization and force Israel, the 
United States, and the wider Arab world to reckon with their quest 
for national self- determination. This recognition was also the cul-
mination of years of diplomatic efforts, armed struggle, and back- 
channel negotiations. After a decade of internal debate, the PLO 
had managed to reposition itself at the forefront of the national 
struggle, reconciling warring factions and garnering official status 
from the U.S. government.

It was a great surprise that such a shift took place in the last 
months of a Republican administration ideologically opposed to 
Palestinian nationalism, viewing the PLO as a Soviet proxy. Rea-
gan himself had a lingering aversion to the entire region, which he 
recounted in his memoir: “Although we had moments of progress, 
and at times we managed to bottle up at least temporarily the sav-
agery that forever lies beneath the sands of the Middle East, the re-
gion was still an adders’ nest of problems when I moved out of the 
White House eight years later. And along the way it had been the 
source of some of my administration’s most difficult moments.”120 
In the wake of war in Lebanon, the U.S. government had in fact 
contributed handsomely to the region’s problems, particularly 
 Israel’s conflict with the Palestinians.

Despite multiple Israeli and American plans to circumvent the 
PLO through Jordan or via local alternatives in the occupied terri-
tories, the Intifada served to redirect attention back to the national 
movement itself. The shift was abetted by changing domestic per-
ceptions of the PLO among American Jews and secret efforts at en-
gagement involving European diplomats as well. But PLO recogni-
tion did not denote the national movement’s attainment of political 
sovereignty, and the form and content of a possible Palestinian po-
litical future remained unclear after Arafat’s Geneva concession. It 
was only with the end of the Cold War and the onset of the  Madrid 
Talks in 1991 that such a future was more sharply delineated. Rea-
gan’s departure from the scene and a new U.S. administration fore-
grounded a different set of priorities and considerations.
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cH a Pter eigHt

A Stillborn Peace

“by noW, it sHoUlD be Plain to all Parties  that peacemak-
ing in the Middle East requires compromise,” explained a trium-
phant President George Bush, in an address to a Joint Session of 
Congress on March 6, 1991. “We must do all that we can to close the 
gap between Israel and the Arab states— and between Israelis and 
Palestinians.” Operation Desert Storm had just ended with a victory 
for the United States and coalition forces, which defeated Saddam 
Hussein’s army after Iraq’s invasion and annexation of neighboring 
Kuwait. The first Gulf War elevated American regional influence, 
and Bush sought to leverage the opportunity for a diplomatic push 
that would resolve the Palestinian question. “A comprehensive peace 
must be grounded in United Nations Security Council Resolutions 
242 and 338 and the principle of territory for peace,” Bush asserted. 
“The principle must be elaborated to provide for Israel’s security and 
recognition and at the same time for legitimate Palestinian political 
rights. Anything else would fail the twin test of fairness and security.”1

Echoes of the earlier failed efforts by Carter and Reagan could be 
discerned in Bush’s speech, but global circumstances had changed 
considerably in the forty- first president’s favor. When Bush took 
office in January 1989, the Cold War between the United States 
and the Soviet Union was ending. Ronald Reagan and Mikhail 
Gorbachev had laid the groundwork in their bilateral summitry. 
George Bush proved an adept leader through a succession of pivotal 
events that followed.2 Soviet support for the United States in the 
context of Saddam Hussein’s aggression underscored a new spirit 
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of cooperation and marked an auspicious moment for renewed 
American engagement in the Middle East.3 Without the tension of 
a geopolitical rivalry that had at times undermined earlier efforts to 
resolve the Arab- Israeli conflict, Bush had a chance to focus anew 
on diplomacy.

Together, the end of the Cold War and the victory in the Persian 
Gulf provided the White House with a reservoir of political capital 
to reengage in Israeli- Palestinian negotiations. The early 1990s was 
a period marked by a flurry of diplomatic activity, characterized by 
renewed efforts for a comprehensive peace summit at Madrid. This 
gathering was followed by extensive talks over the fate of Palestin-
ian self- determination in negotiations between Israelis and Pales-
tinians convened by the Bush administration in Washington. Sub-
stantively, however, these talks remained constrained by the limits 
of the Camp David framework, as Begin’s autonomy model intruded 
on the efforts to address the core question of territorial sovereignty. 
Unbeknownst to the negotiators in Washington, the PLO leadership 
in Tunis was simultaneously convening secret talks with the Israeli 
government in Oslo. Arafat and senior members of the PLO sought 
recognition and a return to the occupied territories, goals that were 
ultimately secured in exchange for the very concessions that had 
been demanded by the Israelis in the Camp David process.

Baker’s Challenge
Bush’s secretary of state, James A. Baker III, was centrally involved 
in the efforts to restart a comprehensive peace plan for the Middle 
East. Even before the Gulf Crisis had started, Baker was exploring 
options on the Arab- Israeli front. At the behest of Defense Minister 
Yitzhak Rabin and Foreign Minister Moshe Arens, the government 
of Israeli prime minister Yitzhak Shamir began to develop more 
substantive ideas on addressing the Palestinian question.4 Shamir 
put forward an initiative to his cabinet on May 14, 1989, invoking 
“the principles of the Camp David Accords” while simultaneously 
opposing the establishment of an “additional Palestinian state.” He 
ruled out negotiations with the PLO, and also clarified that “there 
will be no change in the status of Judea, Samaria and Gaza other 
than in accordance with the basic principles of the Government.”5 
Shamir’s plan called for elections in the West Bank and Gaza Strip 
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without PLO participation, a means to creating an interim agree-
ment for self- government.6

Secretary Baker was willing to consider this Israeli initiative as 
an opening, but he would not cede the principle of territorial with-
drawal. At the annual American Israel Public Affairs Committee 
(AIPAC) conference on May 22, Baker spoke in a  startlingly forth-
right manner about the ideology of the Israeli right in the context of 
the ongoing Intifada: “Now is the time to lay aside, once and for all, 
the unrealistic vision of a greater Israel. Israeli interests in the West 
Bank and Gaza— security and otherwise— can be accommodated in 
a settlement based on Resolution 242. Forswear annexation. Stop 
settlement activity. Allow schools to reopen. Reach out to the Pal-
estinians as neighbors who deserve political rights.”7 The fiercely 
pro- Israel audience was thrown off guard by the candid speech as 
they confronted an administration that was blunt and businesslike 
after the Reagan administration’s warm embrace.

Baker’s rhetoric was followed by efforts to “redesign” the Shamir 
Initiative into something more palatable for the Palestinians, to en-
sure their inclusion in the dialogue directly. Yet Baker’s attempts 
were debilitated as a result of constraining influences within the 
Likud Central Committee and an Israeli plan to move a large num-
ber of new Jewish immigrants from the Soviet Union into the oc-
cupied territories.8 President Bush had closely followed the settle-
ment issue from his time as vice president, and he and Baker did 
not appreciate Shamir’s obstinacy on the issue, viewing his settle-
ment policy as “a deliberate attempt to foil U.S. peacemaking.”9 
This clash erupted into a particularly bitter debate as the American 
government refused to grant Israel loan guarantees of $10 billion 
in light of ongoing settlement expansion. At a hearing in front of 
the House Foreign Affairs Committee, Baker publicly recited the 
number of the White House switchboard to draw Israeli attention: 
“When you’re serious about peace, call us.”10

Alongside his efforts with the Shamir government, Baker at-
tempted to bring the Palestinians into the discussions as well. The 
Bush administration had been empowered to engage directly with 
the national movement after the onset of the official U.S.- PLO dia-
logue at the end of Reagan’s term in office. As part of these efforts, 
Baker worked to persuade the PLO to allow talks to begin with non- 
official representatives, in order to secure Israeli participation.11 



[ 270 ] cHaPter eigHt

Early stages of the talks had been fitful, and Egyptian president 
Hosni Mubarak stepped in to offer his own ideas and a direct chan-
nel to Arafat. This effort yielded a formula for including Palestin-
ians in the negotiations, which was a departure from the long pat-
tern of exclusion and Egyptian representation on their behalf. But 
a series of violent incidents in 1990 forestalled the official dialogue, 
beginning with a shooting by a disturbed Israeli soldier of seven 
Palestinians, followed by the June landing of the renegade Iraqi- 
backed Palestine Liberation Front on a beach outside Tel Aviv. 
While the attackers were neutralized, the head of the group, Abu 
Abbas, was still a member of the PLO Executive Committee and 
had also been responsible for the Achille Lauro  hijacking. These 
outbursts of violence compelled President Bush to suspend the dis-
cussions between the United States and the PLO.12

The context of regional relations was also a crucial factor in the 
upending of the nascent U.S.- PLO relationship. Soviet patronage 
in the Arab world had ceased with the end of the Cold War and 
was accompanied by a rise of anti- American sentiment in Baghdad. 
Iraqi leader Saddam Hussein launched increasingly vocal attacks 
on the United States and Israel, and also made inroads with PLO 
leader Yasser Arafat, who frequently visited the Iraqi capital after 
the suspension of the dialogue with the United States. In the wake 
of the August 1990 invasion and annexation of Kuwait, Saddam 
attempted to link his actions with Israel’s occupation of Arab terri-
tories, eliciting support from many in the Arab world.13 The PLO’s 
support for Iraq in the ensuing Gulf War was particularly damaging 
to Arafat’s position, compromising the political gains that had been 
achieved in the Intifada. Despite acrimony with the PLO, Baker 
made several trips to the Middle East in the wake of the coalition 
victory, seeking to transform U.S. military alliances into a platform 
for an international peace conference to revive his previous efforts 
on the Arab- Israeli front.

The Madrid Conference
The venue for restarting Arab- Israeli peace talks was to be in Ma-
drid, Spain, at a major conference cosponsored by the United States 
and the Soviet Union between October 30 and November 1, 1991. 
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It was the first official face- to- face gathering that included repre-
sentatives from Israel, Lebanon, Syria, Jordan, and the Palestin-
ian Territories. Saddam’s defeat in the Gulf War and the end of the 
Cold War had reshaped regional politics, leaving Soviet clients like 
Syria without an interlocutor to counter American influence. The 
Palestinians attended as part of a joint Jordanian delegation that 
was coordinating closely with the PLO leadership in Tunis. While 
the Gulf War had discredited the PLO, the leadership acquiesced 
to a diminished role and used the Jordanian umbrella to exert its 
own influence behind the scenes.14 Local officials in the occupied 
territories, who had gained political influence and popularity over 
the course of the Intifada, joined with leading figures in the Pales-
tinian diaspora to continue constructive engagement with the Bush 
White House, which had been ongoing since 1989.15 In turn, these 
new figures, including Faisal Husseini as coordinator of the joint 
delegation and Hanan Ashrawi as the public spokesperson, helped 
project what one Madrid observer called “a new image of Palestin-
ian nationalism.”16

For the first time since Israel’s creation, the Madrid Conference 
served as a forum in which the Palestinians were included in sub-
stantive discussions over their political fate.17 In an American “Let-
ter of Assurance to the Palestinians,” written a few weeks before 
the Madrid Conference opened, the U.S. position on the “legitimate 
political rights of the Palestinian people” and belief in “an end to 
Israeli occupation” was clearly stated.18 The negotiations, Secre-
tary Baker wrote, would be conducted in phases, moving from in-
terim self- government arrangements to permanent status talks.19 
In the Madrid “Gameplan” prepared for the Palestinian delegation, 
a warning of potential Israeli political gambits at the conference 
included their presentation of “fully fledged autonomy plans.”20

President Bush and Soviet president Mikhail Gorbachev co-
chaired the direct multilateral negotiations, which were redolent 
with symbolism. The head of the Palestinian delegation, the Gaza- 
based physician Haidar Abdel Shafi, spoke eloquently about the 
impact of the occupation. “What requiem can be sung for trees 
uprooted by army bulldozers?” he asked, seeking a restoration of 
Palestinian land as the basis of two viable states.21 Israeli prime 
minister Yitzhak Shamir was more reluctant to join in the talks, 
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and one attendee described his attitude during the meeting as “de-
fiant” and “truculent.”22 At the behest of the American organizers, 
all the parties sat around one large table, the picture of hope for a 
region that had just emerged from a full- scale war.

Substantively, however, the impact of the Madrid gathering was 
limited.23 The conference was to be followed by bilateral negotia-
tions between Israel and Jordan, Lebanon, Syria, and the Palestin-
ians in Washington, as well as multilateral negotiations in Moscow. 
One of the most important procedural legacies of the conference 
was the idea of reaching an interim agreement between Israel and 
the Palestinians, an approach that deferred final status issues like 
the refugee question and the fate of Jerusalem to permanent sta-
tus talks. A similar mechanism had been suggested as part of the 
transitional phase of the autonomy negotiations, which served as 
a way for the Israeli government to maintain security assurances 
and residual sovereignty for an undefined period of time. Palestin-
ians, as well as Egyptian interlocutors negotiating their future after 
Camp David, had long contested this absence of real sovereignty. 
Among Palestinian delegates to Madrid, deep suspicion of interim 
measures and the autonomy model that had been suggested over a 
decade earlier remained palpable.24

Several days after the conference ended, the Palestinian delega-
tion made it clear in a letter to the Soviet foreign minister, Eduard 
Shevardnadze, that any return to Camp David was not acceptable. 
“We would like to emphasize that we do not view these negotiations 
in any way as a continuation of the Camp David talks,” the delegates 
explained. “Nor do we perceive them as parallel to or an exten-
sion of previous Israeli- Egyptian negotiations. Thus, in substance, 
scope, and priorities, we reserve our right to decide on our own 
approach and principles based on our political program and our 
own definitions of the nature of the transitional phase and its re-
quirements.” They also raised the issue of intensified activity in the 
occupied territories, conveying “serious concern and grave alarm 
at Israel’s escalation of its settlement activity in a calculated at-
tempt at the de facto annexation of Palestinian land and resources.” 
Seeking to move past the Carter-  and Reagan- era debates over the 
status of settlements, the Palestinians argued that they were inher-
ently illegal “and must not be made an agenda item or the subject 
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of negotiations.”25 This powerful assertion of Palestinian concerns 
about the Madrid process made it very clear that the shadow of 
Begin’s earlier diplomatic triumph still loomed over the fate of their 
struggle for self- determination.

The Washington Talks
U.S. negotiators were also aware of the pitfalls that carried over 
from the Camp David process. In Baker’s invitation to all the parties 
to formally begin bilateral negotiations in Washington, the U.S. sec-
retary of state warned of the past missteps on the question of an in-
terim self- government. “Having experienced several years of negoti-
ations on these issues in the late 1970s and early 1980s,” Baker wrote, 
“it is our considered view that both Israel and Palestinians should 
avoid as much as possible a protracted debate on such principles as 
the ‘source of authority,’ ‘nature of the interim self- government au-
thority,’ and the like.”26 Recognizing that the self- governing  models 
Israelis and Palestinians would present were bound to diverge, 
Baker nonetheless saw the negotiations as an opportunity to clarify 
starting points around the powers and responsibilities that would be 
assumed by the Palestinians in the transitional period.

Rather than provide a model for achieving sovereignty, this 
architecture actually served as a constraining mechanism. By fo-
cusing the discussion on “interim self- government arrangements,” 
which the Shamir government had insisted upon, “final status” 
issues were deferred to later talks. These included the end of the 
military occupation, the settlements, the status of Jerusalem, the 
refugees, control of land and water, and the question of sovereignty. 
Unlike the bilateral tracks that had started in the wake of Madrid 
with Syria, Lebanon, and Jordan— intended to resolve final status 
issues between the parties— the Israelis and joint Palestinian del-
egation began a prolonged discussion over interim arrangements. 
Before the discussions even began, Palestinians expressed concern 
over the imbalance in this architecture. “It appears that Israel is at-
tempting to carry out unilateral steps to impose its own version of 
a de facto autonomy,” the Palestinians wrote to the Madrid cospon-
sors. “Such moves are seriously prejudicial to the process itself and 
seek to predetermine the outcome of the negotiations.”27
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For the Shamir government, a prolonged discussion over interim 
arrangements worked to its advantage. Israeli negotiators could 
focus on temporary measures that might possibly lead to greater 
local jurisdiction and alleviate pressure in the territories, rather 
than discuss territorial withdrawals or the possibility of Palestinian 
sovereignty. There was a stark parallel with Begin’s offer of limited 
autonomy to the Arab inhabitants of the land while continuing to 
assert territorial control and an insistence on the Jewish right to 
settle in “Judea and Samaria.” As one advisor to the Palestinian del-
egation in Washington later explained, he and his colleagues found 
themselves in a “straitjacket,” “only permitted to quibble over the 
details of the 1978 interim self- government autonomy plan.”28 Like 
Camp David, the bilateral discussions excluded the core issue of 
Palestinian acquisition of sovereignty over the occupied territories. 
This time, however, Palestinians were participating in the process 
itself and had a foreboding sense that the outcome had been fore-
closed. As Hanan Ashrawi remarked to U.S. diplomats in one early 
meeting, “We do not want to be frozen in autonomy.”29

There were many reasons why sovereignty remained off the 
table in the Washington talks, from Israeli concerns over security 
to American unease with the possibility of actual statehood. Yet 
the deferral of this central issue was not merely a theoretical point 
of debate. During the early 1990s, the territory upon which such 
sovereignty might be achieved was simultaneously being trans-
formed by the occupation itself. Settlement expansion, which had 
grown exponentially since the Camp David Accords, continued in 
the wake of Madrid. Palestinian negotiators raised the issue of the 
Shamir government’s ongoing activity directly with the Americans 
in the Washington talks, pointing to the impact of further build-
ing on water rights, transportation, and infrastructure needs. As 
the Palestinian delegate Ghassan Khatib told U.S. negotiator Alan 
Kreczko, it would be “impossible” to deal with the future Palestin-
ian authority “while settlements are expanding.” Kreczko’s reply, 
echoing the sentiment of many U.S. diplomats who had negotiated 
before him, was to focus on the realm of the possible: “This is a po-
litical point, not a practical point. A couple more settlements won’t 
make a difference.”30 Palestinian participants begged to differ. One 
told the Americans that they must “freeze the status of the disputed 



a stillborn Peace [ 275 ]

property before new fait[s] accomplis are created,” while another 
added that “this is the ABC of good faith and fair dealing. We would 
have to negotiate about settlement while they colonize the land. At 
the end of 12 months there might be no water and no land.”31

U.S. diplomats, presented with a compelling explanation of how 
Israeli territorial acquisition was undercutting the Palestinian po-
sition in the negotiations for the first time from the Palestinians 
themselves, responded that it would be best to deal with this issue 
as part of an agreement, “rather than only focusing on a single 
lump which causes problems.” Kreczko affirmed to the Palestinians 
that the United States opposed the settlements, but it was “difficult 
to get Israel to stop.” He suggested they not put themselves in a 
corner by defining a “red line” that halts negotiations, recalling the 
extensive autonomy talks. “The Egyptians called for a settlement 
freeze, but went ahead with negotiations,” Kreczko suggested. Yet 
as Dr. Haidar Abdel Shafi, the head of the Palestinian delegation 
to Madrid, explained to the Americans, “The Egyptians negoti-
ated when there were few settlements, after their peace treaty with 
 Israel. It is now too late to go back to what you are suggesting. The 
situation is very grave.”32 American officials were sympathetic to 
the Palestinian concerns, but strategically, they felt a freeze would 
not be obtainable. Shamir had successfully dislodged the loan 
guarantee debate from the settlement issue, redoubling expansion 
 efforts in the face of internal pressure from smaller parties on his 
right. The Bush administration instead looked to the possibility of 
the Israeli prime minister’s defeat or forced coalition with Labor in 
the upcoming Israeli elections.33

In part, Menachem Begin’s earlier red lines on withdrawal from 
territory occupied in 1967 shaped the structural constraints of the 
bilateral talks in Washington. One of the advisors to the Palestin-
ian delegation, Sari Nusseibeh, spoke of the challenge raised by 
the direct negotiations under these conditions: “We are being led 
into [a] lion’s den to agree, in view of the asymmetry of power. We 
feel it is dangerous. We are willing to enter direct negotiations, and 
work things out with Israel, but the U.S. position has to be trans-
lated into something concrete.” Even as senior American officials 
spoke out against the settlement issue with the Israelis, the bilateral 
discussions had their own logic. As another member of the U.S. 
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141,000 in 1992. See The Statistical Yearbook of the Jerusalem Institute (1983, 1992).
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delegation remarked, “THE KEY IS AN AGREEMENT. Land is a 
sub- issue.” In the U.S. view, the Palestinians would do well to delin-
eate the issues, move forward in negotiations, and then movement 
on the settlements would surely follow.34 But for those advocat-
ing actual statehood— or even a limited form of self- government 
that was less than a state but that nonetheless had ingredients of 
sovereignty— the reality on the ground made such a political future 
hard to imagine.

The Palestinians proceeded with negotiations in any case, as-
suming that they possessed national rights and that interim mea-
sures were a means to independence. Israeli officials did not see 
residents of the occupied territories possessing national rights and 
were not entertaining a sovereign outcome after the transitional 
 period.35 This divergence was at the heart of the incompatible plans 
laid out for an interim period of self- government. Two proposals 
were put on the table during the second round of talks in early 1992. 
The Palestinians offered the outline of what they called an “Interim 
Self- Government Authority” (PISGA), which was a very significant 
advancement over earlier models of autonomy suggested by Begin 
in conjunction with Camp David. Although only a temporary mea-
sure, the PISGA covered all territories occupied since 1967. “The 
jurisdiction of the PISGA,” the final draft version noted, “shall en-
compass all these territories, the land, natural resources and water, 
the subsoil, and their territorial sea and air- space. Its jurisdiction 
shall also extend to all the Palestinian inhabitants of these territo-
ries.” As an entity, the authority of the PISGA was derived “from the 
fact that it was elected by the Palestinian people. No outside source 
invests it with its authority.” The provisions for the PISGA’s estab-
lishment delineated clear transfers of authority to the Palestinians 
themselves, the basis of meaningful sovereignty over the land and 
its inhabitants.36 Secretary Baker, writing to the head of the Pales-
tinian delegation to the Peace Conference, Faisal Husseini, saw this 
document as a “positive development” and reconfirmed his com-
mitment and that of President Bush “to see this process through to 
its required objective, namely, a comprehensive settlement.”37

As the Washington talks progressed, Husseini recounted for 
Baker how the Israelis utilized procedural methods to disqualify 
certain Palestinian delegates from leaving the country, forcing 
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some Palestinians to travel without others. Baker was sympathetic: 
“There is nothing we can do about a practice that we do not ap-
prove of, or about administrative detention. The only way to prog-
ress on these issues is through the peace process, and with self- 
governing authority for you . . . I can’t wave a wand and stop the 
settlements. I can’t wave a wand here and stop the administrative 
detentions.” Baker was adamant that the Palestinians forge ahead 
with substance but that they needed to be strategic to preserve the 
self- governing arrangements. “If you insist on settlement first,” 
Baker told Husseini, “that is dumb, because you won’t get a settle-
ment freeze.”38 The Palestinian delegation had little room to ma-
neuver, constrained by Israeli actions on the ground, the demands 
of intensive diplomacy in Washington, and the need to maintain 
credibility with their own populace. But however narrow a space in 
which they were operating, the Washington talks underscored the 
necessity of direct participation by the Palestinians themselves, as 
agents attempting to secure a viable political future.

A Return to Autonomy
The Israeli proposal on self- rule, delivered on February 20, was a 
world away from the Palestinian document. It was a startling return 
to Begin’s autonomy plan. Revealingly titled “Ideas for peaceful 
coexistence in the territories during the interim period,” the draft 
spoke of the “establishment of interim self- government arrange-
ments for the Palestinian Arab inhabitants of the territories.” The 
territory itself, like Begin’s initial plan, was not up for discussion, 
and the Israelis included a clause for “keeping the established links 
between Judea, Samaria, Gaza district and Israel intact” as well as 
maintaining traditional ties between the Palestinian Arab inhabit-
ants and Jordan.” Once again, “residual powers” and the “sole re-
sponsibility for security in all its aspects” were reserved by Israel, 
and just as Begin had written in his original autonomy plan, “Israe-
lis will continue, as of right, to live and settle in the territories.”39

In a letter to the Palestinian delegation outlining the Israeli 
plan, lead negotiator Elyakim Rubinstein elaborated on the flaws 
of the Palestinian proposal, “which basically represents a Palestin-
ian state in all but name, considered by Israel a mortal security 



[ 280 ] cHaPter eigHt

threat.” As Rubinstein argued, the Israeli interim self- government 
arrangements “should be fair to the Arab population but not ham-
per the rights of Jews,” a position that undergirded Begin’s very 
clear proposal more than ten years earlier. The Israelis would not 
countenance a proposal that suggested the foundations of a future 
Palestinian state. In returning to Begin’s approach at Camp David, 
Rubinstein spelled out the continuity. “Israel’s basic approach to 
the arrangements is founded in principle [sic] developments since 
1978.” These arrangements, Rubinstein explained, would be based 
on a “functional- administrative approach, not to include state- like 
powers.”40 Aside from the direct involvement of Palestinians in the 
discussions, it was hard to see what had changed in the fundamen-
tal Israeli view to prevent the emergence of a Palestinian state.

During a heated meeting at the State Department in which 
the Palestinians responded to this proposal, Palestinian negotia-
tor Hanan Ashrawi said the Israeli proposal was a “reorganiza-
tion of the occupation . . . it confirms the occupation and legiti-
mizes the annexation of land.” When asked by U.S. ambassador 
Edward Djerejian whether this really was the case, Ashrawi shot 
back, “ Either they’re playing games, or they’re not serious about the 
transfer of authority to the Palestinians. This is totally unaccept-
able.” Faisal Husseini added that “what the Israelis gave us is less 
than Camp David and less than what we have now.” The frustration 
with the Israeli position was on full display during the discussions. 
Ashrawi asked how long Palestinians could participate in a “cha-
rade.” “This has been an exercise in futility. Our credibility with our 
people is diminished. Things are worse on the ground.”41

American officials took issue with the Palestinian portrayal of 
events. U.S. diplomat Daniel Kurtzer told Ashrawi she was “pos-
turing” and that as long as the Palestinians were in negotiations, 
“see what’s there. They [Israel] won’t put a position on the table 
you like. Just argue against it.” Elias Samber, one of the Palestinian 
representatives, protested that the problem was that “land is com-
pletely absent from their presentation.” Kurtzer stated, “So make 
it present. . . . Work on a way you can effectively exercise authority 
over the land.” The constraints under which Baker was operating 
continued to play a central part in the U.S. approach. The secretary 
of state was treading carefully, mindful of looming Israeli elections 
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and the possibility the Likud government would be replaced by a 
more reasonable Labor alternative. “If it is perceived in Congress 
that the Secretary has played into a Palestinian strategy to stop 
settlements and to get a settlement freeze, he’s finished,” Kurtzer 
explained. Ashrawi interjected, “Conversely, if we negotiate with 
the settlements continuing, we’re finished.”42

At the end of the meeting, frustrated by the narrow Israeli posi-
tion and the demands of the U.S. negotiators, Ashrawi articulated 
one of the core elements of her opposition to the Israeli proposal: 
“Their position is racist. We start with the premise that we are 
human beings. Israelis only talk about Israeli interests, and say they 
can stay under conditions of coexistence under their own terms.” 
Kurtzer urged the Palestinians to work on responding to the Israeli 
proposal, despite the impossibly difficult odds. He recalled Faisal 
Husseini remarking “there has never been a case with a people 
who have been able to negotiate their own way out of occupation.” 
Somehow, Kurtzer urged, the Palestinians had to build a bridge, 
one that they might not be able to complete with the Israelis. “But 
you need the foundation for a bridge . . . I still say that you may 
be able to negotiate your own way out of occupation. The grist for 
the mill may be laid in the foundation.”43 In light of the dueling 
Israeli and Palestinian conceptions of a political outcome since the 
1970s— the race between a clear vision of state prevention and an 
aspiration for meaningful self- determination— it was a tall order to 
achieve.

The subsequent Washington meetings, extending into 1993, 
were far less heated and increasingly productive sites for negotiat-
ing these foundations, including issues like the nature of interim 
self- governance and land policies.44 With a political transition in 
Israel from Shamir’s Likud- led government to the return to power 
of Yitzhak Rabin and the Labor party in the summer of 1992,  Israeli 
negotiators gradually moved away from a strictly functional ap-
proach toward the territorial model developed by the Palestinians. 
This was a modest but highly significant historical shift from the 
narrower positions first espoused at the autonomy negotiations.45 
Room seemed to be opening to convince the Israelis and Ameri-
cans that such a territorial approach cohered with “reasonable 
 Israeli concerns on security and settlers” and was compatible with 



[ 282 ] cHaPter eigHt

the initial terms of reference. As the Palestinians wrote in a highly 
confidential memo, “This MAY be an opportunity for us to achieve 
progress along the lines of our own proposals, for the first time. 
We should not waste this limited opportunity, nor minimize it, nor 
exaggerate it.”46

Oslo’s Faustian Bargain
The brief window that opened at Madrid and continued in Wash-
ington may have eventually paved the way to a just and equitable 
solution to the Palestinian question, but events quickly shifted in 
alternate directions. President Bush was preoccupied with the No-
vember election, where he faced Arkansas governor Bill Clinton. 
Floundering in the polls, Bush pulled Secretary Baker from the 
State Department to take over as chief of staff in August. The talks 
in Washington continued, but without the leadership of Baker and 
with the looming vote, U.S. mediation was lacking.47 Clinton’s vic-
tory brought a presidential transition and a new party into office, 
coinciding with rising violence between Israelis and Palestinians as 
well as the formative deportation of Hamas activists into Lebanon. 
This decision by Rabin generated a tremendous amount of interna-
tional criticism and led to the suspension of Palestinian participa-
tion in the Washington talks. It also served to establish crucial links 
between Hamas members and the Lebanese militia Hezbollah.48

In January 1993, without the knowledge of the Palestinian dele-
gates or American mediators who had been meeting in Washington, 
secret negotiations between the PLO leadership and the  Israelis 
began outside Norway’s capital. Yasser Arafat was not pleased with 
his continued exclusion from the Washington talks, and he turned 
to direct contacts with the Israelis, first informally and then with 
official representatives of Prime Minister Rabin and Foreign Min-
ister Shimon Peres. Rabin and Peres, along with Deputy Foreign 
Minister Yossi Beilin, had contrasting views of engagement with 
the PLO, but they believed that an unofficial avenue would be a 
means to break the deadlock. Two Israeli academics, Dr. Ron Pun-
dak and Dr. Yair Hirschfeld, began the meetings with the PLO trea-
surer, Ahmed Qurei (Abu Alaa), a close Arafat confidant. They were 
joined by Uri Savir, the director general of the Foreign Ministry, 
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and Joel Singer, an Israeli attorney who had worked as a legal ad-
visor in the military. Together the group worked to conceptualize 
a framework for an Israeli- PLO accord in conjunction with Ara-
fat and his deputy, Mahmoud Abbas (Abu Mazen).49 The United 
States was nominally informed as the talks proceeded, but when 
Peres and the Norwegian foreign minister, Johan Jørgen Holst, in-
formed Clinton’s secretary of state, Warren Christopher, of the final 
agreement in August, he was taken by surprise.50

President Clinton nevertheless hosted the official signing of the 
Oslo Accords on the south lawn of the White House on Septem-
ber 13, 1993, lending the agreement a U.S. imprimatur. In certain 
respects, the Oslo Accords were a clear advance over earlier efforts 
like Camp David.51 The agreement signified the formal Israeli rec-
ognition of the PLO as the representative of the Palestinian people. 
It also included provisions to transfer territory in Gaza and Jericho 
to direct PLO control, providing Arafat with a base from which to 
organize the development of a possible political entity. In the minds 
of Oslo’s architects, this innovation was a decisive breakthrough 
that might plausibly lead to further Israeli withdrawals and more 
territory for Palestinians to control. Uri Savir, the chief Israeli ne-
gotiator, later wrote that Oslo’s central achievement was clarifying 
“that the land would ultimately have to be shared by two states.”52

But what if the agreement helped enshrine something far less for 
the Palestinians? In crucial ways, the Oslo Accords were nowhere 
near as picture perfect as the famous handshake between  Israeli 
prime minister Yitzhak Rabin and PLO chairman Yasser Arafat 
suggested. Like Camp David, Oslo proffered an interim five- year 
transitional period before discussing final status issues including 
borders, sovereignty, and refugees. A Palestinian police force would 
be brought in to maintain internal security in Gaza and  Jericho, but 
Israel maintained responsibility for external control. Most glaringly, 
the agreement allowed for an Israeli clause that would enable on-
going settlement expansion before permanent status negotiations. 
This formal “Declaration of Principles on Interim Self- Government 
Arrangements” (DOP) suggested a process that might set in motion 
the end of Israeli rule over the territories but also left the specifics 
to be discussed at a later stage.53 Such an approach meant a defer-
ral of the very same issue that had undermined the discussions in 
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Washington, reifying the notion of limited self- rule under Israeli 
occupation. In signing the DOP, PLO negotiators “fell into traps” 
that the Palestinian delegation in Washington had been working 
to avoid, argued one advisor to the Washington delegation.54 The 
agreement mirrored many of Begin’s original autonomy ideas pre-
sented in 1977 and the more restrictive notions of autonomy that 
had been debated in the wake of Camp David.55

The logic of the interim agreement and the implementation 
talks that followed in Taba and Cairo served to maintain Israeli 
dominance over Palestinian movements in key areas of the terri-
tories and over land crossings to Egypt and Jordan. It paved the 
way for enclaves of Palestinian self- rule in a sea of Israeli control, 
while respecting the autonomy of individual enclaves.56 This bred 
a condition that the forensic architect Eyal Weizman has incisively 
called “prosthetic sovereignty.”57 The blueprint for a subsovereign 
Palestinian entity that had been introduced by Begin fifteen years 
earlier was now the universal template for the Israeli and Amer-
ican concept of what the Palestinians could or should achieve in 
political terms. Moreover, Yasser Arafat and the PLO Executive 
Committee— the embodiment of the Palestinian national struggle— 
approved the template.58

It is no surprise that many of the Palestinian negotiators in Ma-
drid and Washington felt betrayed by Arafat’s acceptance of the 
Oslo Accords on far narrower terms than they had initially sought 
out.59 Their earlier talks had been characterized by a fundamental 
clash of political visions that the PLO negotiators had simply by-
passed in Oslo. In the Washington talks, Israel sought an interim 
agreement to offset the violence in the occupied territories. The 
Israelis believed it was possible to foster a “moderate leadership” 
within the context of the same five- year transitional arrangement 
suggested at Camp David and defer final status issues and the 
question of sovereignty. Palestinians, by contrast, were commit-
ted to the pursuit of statehood via an empowered PLO, seeking to 
end the Israeli occupation and settlement building. As the lead-
ing analyst of the peace process explains, “The Americans firmly 
sided with the Israelis, insisting that small practical steps needed 
to be taken first (confidence building measures), to be followed 
by agreement on a transitional period, and only later on the final 
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status issues that were uppermost in the minds of the Palestin-
ians.”60 The dynamic shifted somewhat with the start of the Rabin 
government, and Palestinians were able to drive harder on sover-
eignty. While it remains unclear how far the Palestinians might 
have been able to push forward their vision had the talks contin-
ued in Washington, the secret talks in Norway stopped this prog-
ress dead in its tracks.

Unlike the position of Palestinian negotiators in the Madrid 
process who opposed an interim agreement that would constrain 
 sovereignty, the PLO agreed precisely to such an outcome in Nor-
way. There are several reasons that have been offered as to why the 
PLO leadership signed on to the Oslo Accords, ranging from a de-
sire to restore legitimacy and financial solvency after a decade lan-
guishing in the Arab diaspora to a total disconnect from the reality 
of life under Israeli occupation.61 Arafat and his coterie of senior 
advisors had no experience living alongside settlements and under 
Israeli control, and were therefore less aware of the real conse-
quences that an unfavorable set of interim conditions would pose. 
After the decision to side with Iraq in the Gulf War, the leadership 
had little credibility. A return to the territories was seen as a devel-
opment that might place the PLO back at the heart of the national 
struggle. Yet it remained unclear how exactly such a return would 
enable the leadership to overcome the inevitable limitations Israel 
would place on them.62

In September 1995, Arafat and Rabin signed the Interim Agree-
ment on the West Bank and Gaza Strip, known as Oslo II, estab-
lishing the Palestinian Authority (PA) and dividing the West Bank 
into three separate zones of control. Palestinian cities were declared 
“Area A” and placed under full Palestinian civilian and security con-
trol. Surrounding towns and villages and their adjacent land were 
designated “Area B,” placed under Palestinian civilian control and 
Israeli security authority. “Area C” comprised the remaining 60 per-
cent of the West Bank and all the Israeli settlements, which was left 
under full Israeli control.63

This agreement granted the PA limited self- government for an 
interim period of time over certain areas, providing the vestiges of 
statehood without actual content. The Oslo process lulled its pro-
ponents into the false belief that real issues like Jerusalem, refugees’ 
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right of return, settlements, and security would also eventually be 
dealt with. Rather, as a leading scholar of the occupation has ar-
gued, “a new indirect method of Israeli rule was put into place.”64

For the Israeli leadership, Oslo was in many ways a legacy of Be-
gin’s opposition to Palestinian statehood. It formalized the ceiling 
of Palestinian self- rule. Rabin himself made this clear in a speech to 
a special session of the Israeli Knesset convened to ratify Oslo II on 
October 5, 1995. He explained the nature of a permanent solution 
for the existence of Israel alongside a “Palestinian entity”: “We want 
this entity to be less than a state that will manage independently 
the lives of the Palestinians under its authority. The borders of the 
State of Israel at the time of the permanent solution will be beyond 
the lines that existed before the Six- Day War. We will not return 
to the lines of June 4, 1967.”65 Rabin never considered  sovereign 
statehood outright, although a top advisor had suggested that it 
was an inevitable outcome to a real self- governing authority for 
Palestinians.66

Yet critics on the Israeli right strongly denounced negotiations 
with the PLO or the possibility of their achieving independence, 
adamantly opposing Oslo at every turn. During the Knesset vote 
to approve the original accord, Benjamin Netanyahu, who had 
succeeded Shamir as leader of the Likud, promised to cancel the 
agreement if his party came to power. He compared Oslo to Neville 
Chamberlain’s appeasement of Adolf Hitler, telling Foreign Minis-
ter Peres, “You are even worse than Chamberlain. He imperiled the 
safety of another people, but you are doing it to your own people.”67 
The frenzy of anger directed at Rabin intensified after Oslo II, with 
Netanyahu speaking at an opposition rally in Jerusalem at which 
demonstrators displayed an effigy of the Israeli prime minister 
in a Nazi SS uniform.68 On November 4, 1995, Rabin attended a 
large peace rally in Tel Aviv held in support of his government’s 
policy. Returning to his waiting car, he was shot in the back at close 
range by Yigal Amir, an extremist from the national religious camp 
who sought to derail the peace process by assassinating the Israeli 
leader.69

Among the PLO factions, there was mounting dissent and in-
ternal opposition to the Oslo Accords. Mahmoud Darwish, who 
had written the Palestinian Declaration of Independence in 1988, 
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resigned from the PLO Executive Committee. “We have taken two 
generations to their death in the project of liberation and inde-
pendence,” exclaimed the national poet. “It now appears as if we 
are abandoning them completely, leaving them to the winds of the 
wilderness.”70 There was also enormous skepticism toward Arafat’s 
move in the Arab world. He was seen as selling out meaningful 
Palestinian sovereignty for the sake of his own return to the West 
Bank and Gaza Strip, where he was eventually elected president 
of the PA in 1996. In the rush to secure greater global legitimacy, 
the PLO leadership sacrificed the basic principles of national 
self- determination, acquiescing in part to the earlier notions of 
autonomy put forward during the Egyptian- Israeli- American ne-
gotiations. This decision to embrace limited self- rule as an entry 
point back into the territories facilitated the emergence of a local 
authority largely subject to Israeli control. Such an arrangement 
deferred meaningful sovereignty, fostering the performance of in-
dependence without substantive political content.
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conclUsion

The Consequences of 
State Prevention

“victory is at HanD,”  Yasser Arafat declared in front the UN 
General Assembly. “I see the homeland in your holy stones. I see 
the flag of our independent Palestine fluttering over the hills of our 
beloved homeland.”1 The image of a Palestinian state described by 
the leader of the PLO in his breakthrough 1988 address remains 
unfulfilled, well after the national movement that he led achieved 
international recognition. West Bank hilltops are even denser with 
Jewish settlements in 2018, as the Israeli government’s fifty- year 
celebration in Gush Etzion recedes swiftly from view.

Arafat’s vision of a state appears increasingly distant as one sur-
veys recent developments. To explain why, this book has described 
the process by which the emergence of meaningful Palestinian 
 sovereignty was prevented by a confluence of forces at the very mo-
ment when it first seemed attainable. After the 1967 War brought 
the territory of the West Bank, Gaza Strip, and East  Jerusalem 
under Israeli control, the Palestinian question was thrust into the 
diplomatic limelight, nearly two decades after being sidelined by 
Arab nationalist politics in the wake of 1948. The renewed strength 
of the PLO, which had been created at the behest of Egypt in 1964, 
found its independent footing in the aftermath of the 1967 and 
1973 wars, as nationalists drew common cause with other antico-
lonial movements to render Palestinian demands visible around 
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the globe. Yet that struggle did not end in statehood, even as the 
fight for self- determination was framed as the pursuit of national 
independence.

As early as 1973, PLO officials were steadily moving toward 
diplomacy rather than armed struggle, which had shaped the re-
surgence of the movement in its early years. They were attentive 
to the shifting international climate and cognizant of the challeng-
ing reality that confronted them in exile, first in Jordan and then 
in Lebanon. There was a sense of disconnect from the Palestinians 
who remained in Israel and the occupied territories, cut off from the 
Arab world and newly exposed to the military control of the Israeli 
state. Although the PLO’s political legitimacy in the Middle East 
and Europe grew steadily throughout the 1970s, the United States 
remained deeply opposed to the tactics and substance of Palestinian 
demands for independence. Both the Nixon and Ford administra-
tions sought to bypass the Palestinian question in favor of regional 
solutions to the Arab- Israeli conflict. Secretary of State Henry 
 Kissinger formalized the PLO’s marginalization with a 1975 ban on 
official engagement with the PLO that demanded an end to violence 
and the acceptance of UN resolutions that recognized Israel.

Political currents were moving in favor of the Palestinians by the 
second half of the decade. Jimmy Carter’s 1976 election brought a 
new U.S. administration to power that was far more sympathetic 
to addressing their demands for self- determination. Carter’s elec-
toral victory and arrival in Washington was a break in both style and 
substance from his predecessors. The administration’s approach was 
premised on abandoning Kissinger’s bilateralism, which had been 
aimed at removing Egypt from the conflict rather than pursuing a 
comprehensive peace that included the Palestinians. Carter’s stance 
was fueled by a deliberate turn to human rights rhetoric and away 
from the entrenched patterns of the Cold War. Such a position en-
abled the circulation of new ideas about Palestinian national aspi-
rations. It was also coupled with a growing global awareness of the 
PLO as a legitimate vehicle for waging diplomatic struggle, a direct 
consequence of successful decolonization across the Global South.

Carter’s consultations with Middle Eastern leaders in the early 
months of 1977 underscored this premise. Not long after the in-
auguration, the White House proposed a comprehensive regional 
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peace plan that would build on the Geneva Conference, a gathering 
of key parties that had met briefly in the aftermath of the 1973 War. 
This Geneva meeting, which was intended for the second half of 
1977, would include the Soviet Union and revive negotiations on 
the basis of United Nations Security Council Resolutions 242 and 
338. It would also address the issue of Palestinian representation, 
through a joint delegation with other Arab states or a measure of 
PLO participation that was the subject of intensive deliberations. 
Yet Geneva never came to pass. The domestic backlash from Cold 
War conservatives and leaders of the American Jewish community 
who opposed Carter’s vision was a major factor in derailing this 
comprehensive approach. While Israel and the Arab states agreed 
to work toward a gathering, their divergent positions on the key 
issues of contention resulted in a far more limited outcome. In the 
process, the Palestinian question was effectively removed from vi-
able diplomatic consideration. Along with the impatience of Egyp-
tian president Sadat, these pressures forced a return to a bilateral 
Egyptian- Israeli track, the very by- product of Kissinger’s “shuttle 
diplomacy” that Carter had sought so eagerly to replace.

While these global and regional developments were unfolding 
between Washington and the Middle East, important local dynam-
ics were also taking hold in Jerusalem and the occupied territories 
of the West Bank and Gaza Strip. Having solidified control of these 
areas in the June 1967 War, successive Labor governments in Israel 
had inaugurated a process of settlement expansion that started in 
the Golan Heights. Yitzhak Rabin’s resignation and the triumph 
of the Likud party in the May 1977 elections brought Menachem 
Begin to power, a figure deeply opposed to meaningful Palestinian 
sovereignty or statehood. Much to Carter’s dismay, the new Begin 
government sought to firmly entrench territorial gains and expand 
settlements for a combination of economic, political, and ideo-
logical reasons. Palestinian political sovereignty, long at the heart 
of both PLO and Arab demands, would have no place in such an 
emerging Israeli constellation.

Begin was a shrewd diplomat and political visionary, whose 
image of the Palestinian future was rooted in the belief that they 
were not a collective people or nation deserving of a state but a 
minority group of Arabs living in the greater Land of Israel and 
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deserving of individual rights. This was completely at odds with 
the view of Palestinians themselves, as well as a growing number 
of Western powers and Arab states. Critical accounts of the U.S. 
relationship with Israel during the Carter administration point 
to personal animus between the president and the Israeli prime 
minister, criticizing the tough American stance toward an ally.2 Yet 
much of the Carter administration’s frustration stemmed from the 
substance of the interactions with the Israeli leadership and the 
divergent vision of a political outcome. Begin was determined not 
to cede control over the territories or halt settlement expansion, 
instead introducing the concept of autonomy for Arab inhabitants 
as an alternative.

Carter recognized that the Israeli position was intended to un-
dermine the very principles on Palestinian self- determination that 
he articulated when he first arrived in office, even as he himself 
did not countenance a Palestinian state. At a news conference on 
March 9, 1978, the U.S. president would clarify that “we do not and 
have never favored an independent Palestinian nation, but within 
that bound of constraint, how to give the Palestinians who live in 
the West Bank, Gaza Strip some voice in the determination of their 
own future, is an issue still unresolved.”3 His stance highlighted the 
contested nature of sovereignty and self- determination in the 1970s, 
a decade in which a host of anticolonial struggles using resurgent 
rights- based language found limited backing around the globe.

While this was not a conducive environment for Palestinian dip-
lomatic advances, the PLO itself also helped undermine the pos-
sible emergence of a sovereign, independent nation- state. In exam-
ining the PLO’s strategy and actions in this period, it is clear that 
the national movement was making the unprecedented concession 
of accepting a state within the limits of the 1967 boundaries, a radi-
cal departure from its earliest political platform. At the same time, 
the organization’s internal reticence to accept UN resolution 242 
at several crucial early junctures— even with reservations— served 
to bolster critics of engagement and led U.S. officials to bypass the 
PLO for nonrepresentative alternatives. The flux within PLO de-
cision making was an understandable reflection of the danger of 
conceding recognition of Israel without a guarantee of meaningful 
sovereignty in return. Yasser Arafat attempted to maintain a large 
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umbrella organization that was populated by a range of factions, 
cognizant of the wider Arab political forces that influenced vari-
ous corners of the movement, including uncompromising voices 
demanding continued military action. Therefore, although Pales-
tinian nationalists had largely turned away from armed struggle 
by the mid- 1970s, the persistence of violence by individual factions 
indicated that the organization was far from a unitary actor.

The constraints the PLO was facing were well known to U.S. 
officials. Yet Carter also faced domestic opposition to engagement, 
and he ultimately deferred substantive talks with the PLO as he 
pursued a more limited agenda. Instead it was Egypt that took 
the most active role in the U.S. diplomatic track. Anwar al- Sadat 
 eagerly sought a peace agreement with Israel and American finan-
cial and military backing, while nominally speaking for the Pales-
tinians along the way. The incongruity of an Arab leader seeking 
to withdraw from the Arab- Israeli conflict— a process the Egyp-
tian president had started years earlier, without success— while a 
core element of that conflict remained unresolved was not lost on 
 Israel, the Palestinians, and the wider Arab world. U.S. and Soviet 
 leaders were also attuned to the pivotal Egyptian role, with the 
United States eager to secure a regional ally, while the Soviets had 
been losing influence in the Middle East since the 1967 War. The 
protracted discussions over Geneva solidified Sadat’s move to the 
American camp, and his decision to travel to Jerusalem and focus 
efforts on bilateral negotiations with Begin was a further indica-
tion of Egypt’s new stance. Although the path- breaking trip shat-
tered Israeli anxieties about Arab intentions, it also had the effect of 
shifting negotiations back to Kissinger’s bilateral approach, further 
eliding a national outcome for the Palestinians.

As U.S. diplomats slowly got behind Sadat’s efforts, the emer-
gence of the Camp David Summit was the final opportunity to 
keep the Palestinian question under consideration. In preparing 
for the talks and negotiating between Egypt and Israel, Carter and 
his advisors quickly realized that the fate of the Palestinians was 
tied to Begin’s narrow conception of autonomy. While the United 
States questioned these motives, and raised pointed criticism 
of the Israeli vision of limited sovereignty, Sadat was willing to 
proceed along narrower lines. Carter’s expansive planning for a 
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regional settlement ultimately gave way to the much narrower— 
albeit significant— bilateral peace treaty between Egypt and 
 Israel. Sadat’s approach during the subsequent negotiations over 
the bilateral peace treaty sacrificed meaningful Palestinian self- 
determination for a watered- down notion of self- rule promoted by 
the Begin government. As his lead advisors protested and quit in 
succession, the Egyptian president stood his ground, believing he 
could represent Palestinian interests despite his antipathy toward 
the PLO and Israeli designs over the occupied territories. Partly 
a by- product of his domestic considerations and Egypt’s desire to 
secure Western backing, this headstrong stance flew in the face of 
wider Arab concerns and left Egypt marginalized in the region. 
Internally, it was coupled with growing anger at the peace treaty 
with Israel and deeper discontent over the leadership of Sadat 
himself.

In the wake of the Egypt- Israel peace treaty of 1979, diplomatic 
efforts to address the Palestinian issue shifted to a series of smaller 
meetings devoted to autonomy. These autonomy talks, as they came 
to be known, were convened by the United States, Egypt, and  Israel 
without Palestinian participation. They were the first sustained 
political consideration of Palestinian self- determination after 
1948. They were also the most consequential. Israel’s clear vision 
of autonomy was dependent on the extension of state sovereignty 
throughout the occupied territories, a mechanism of “de facto an-
nexation” that blurred political boundaries and perpetuated con-
flict with the Palestinians.4 Later iterations of Palestinian models 
for self- rule, such as the Palestinian Authority that emerged from 
the Oslo Accords, emanated from this central premise. A change 
in status for Arab inhabitants in the territories would be depen-
dent on the continuation of Israeli settlements and some degree of 
 Israeli security control west of the Jordan River.

During the autonomy talks, in their negotiating tactics and 
overall stance, the American and Egyptian diplomats often acqui-
esced to the Israeli view of limited sovereignty, serving to thwart 
the possibility of a meaningful political outcome for the Palestin-
ians. As the Israeli concept was further clarified, and as Arab and 
Palestinian opposition grew, the logic and momentum of negotia-
tions superseded warnings that the outcome might favor the Begin 
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government. What then explained their continuation into the early 
1980s? The Carter administration confronted domestic pressures 
and other pressing concerns in the Middle East, sustaining the 
discussions out of necessity as a marker of progress on the Pal-
estinian front while having run out of political leverage to affect 
a meaningful outcome. For Sadat, the negotiations sustained the 
image that bilateral peace was connected to a broader settlement, 
drawing attention away from more hard- line critics who had op-
posed Camp David for the very reason that it undermined Palestin-
ian aspirations. Without halting ongoing settlement expansion or 
providing substantive authority to local residents of the occupied 
territories, the autonomy talks further prevented Palestinian self- 
determination in the West Bank and Gaza Strip. Autonomy, as a 
political, diplomatic, and conceptual tool utilized to manage the 
Palestinian question, became the ground upon which the Israeli 
government cemented indefinite control over the occupied territo-
ries without any expiration date or formal annexation.

Beyond the particularities of the Palestinian question, historians 
of decolonization, human rights, and U.S. internationalism in the 
1970s might consider the pursuit of Egyptian- Israeli peace in light 
of Carter’s broader ambitions. Some have revisited the Carter era 
with increasing sympathy for the constraints under which the U.S. 
president governed and his accomplishments abroad. Camp David 
is often singled out as his greatest success. The Carter administra-
tion, it is argued, broke with decades of U.S. inaction by seizing on 
the terms of the debate over the Middle East, often unintention-
ally, overhauling them to fit with an alternative conception of the 
region. In this respect, the Carter administration was certainly the 
first to place the Israeli- Palestinian conflict at the center of regional 
affairs. Yet the failure matters as much as the success. At a mo-
ment when the rhetoric of human rights and self- determination 
were poised to undo the carefully managed script of Kissinger’s 
 détente, the Palestinians presented a formative example where the 
rhetoric of human rights fell short. A focus on the autonomy talks 
in particular illustrates the narrow extent to which the contours 
and possible solutions of Israel’s conflict with the Arab world were 
circumscribed by Camp David and the troubling consequences that 
metastasized in its wake.
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The role of domestic politics was also a formative impediment to 
Carter’s broader ambitions. In their opposition to engagement with 
the possibility of Palestinian self- determination and with their cru-
cial embrace of the expansionist Begin government, the outspoken 
activism of American Jewish leaders provides an important window 
into the growing role of interest groups and ethnic politics in the 
making of Middle East policy during the 1970s. The degree to which 
American Jewish leaders collectively constrained Carter’s pursuit of 
a comprehensive peace is difficult to discern, but lobbying along re-
strictive Likud party lines became more evident in Congress, in the 
media, and within the American Jewish community. At the same 
time, important voices of dissent were visible and influential, break-
ing with a hostile view of the Palestinian question into the 1980s. 
Domestic opposition also came from anti- Soviet hawks, whose un-
rest indicated deeper discontent with Carter’s departure from Cold 
War priorities around the globe. The emergence of a foreign policy 
anchored by an appeal to human rights bolstered the claims of neo-
conservative critics who worried that the United States had given 
ground to the Soviet Union. These concerns would grow more acute 
as other foreign policy challenges arose, particularly the Iranian 
Revolution in 1979 and the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan that year.

A potent backlash against Carter would drive many Democrats 
to support California governor Ronald Reagan in his quest for the 
White House. Carter’s defeat in the 1980 election and the rise of 
the Reagan administration accelerated developments set in motion 
by Camp David and repositioned the Israeli- Palestinian conflict as 
a subset of the Cold War. The formal introduction of a strategic 
U.S. alliance with Israel was matched by the marginalization of the 
PLO as a Soviet proxy. Even as some U.S. officials warned of the 
danger in this approach, neoconservative ideologues dominated in 
the early years of Reagan’s first term and found a natural ally in 
the Likud government of Israel. Most consequentially, the Reagan 
administration aided Israeli officials in the transition from a diplo-
matic attempt to suppress Palestinian nationalism toward a mili-
tary intervention that targeted the PLO in its Lebanese stronghold. 
By green- lighting Israel’s June 1982 intervention in Lebanon, U.S. 
officials helped exacerbate a broader civil war that had already been 
raging since 1975.
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As the 1982 War and its aftermath demonstrated, the Israelis 
overestimated their own capabilities and the possibility of a politi-
cal alliance with the Maronites. In the process, the Begin govern-
ment sowed regional upheaval and drew the United States into its 
largest quagmire since the Vietnam War. The extent of the invasion, 
and the prolonged occupation of Lebanon, fomented violent resis-
tance and drew in other Arab states to exacerbate a host of internal 
rivalries. Although American officials were divided in their view of 
Israeli actions over the summer of 1982, acute failures by the U.S. 
administration in the aftermath of the PLO evacuation from Beirut 
left innocent Palestinian refugees distressingly vulnerable in Sabra 
and Shatila. The deployment of U.S. Marines after the ensuing 
massacre was a further tragedy, highlighting the regional backlash 
against American intervention and support for Israeli war aims. 
The United States suffered incomparable damage in the Lebanese 
imbroglio, in terms of both human lives and regional influence. 
Many of the legacies of intervention in the 1980s still haunt U.S. 
foreign policy in the Middle East.

Such a reordering of America’s position in the region during this 
period highlights U.S. internationalism at a moment of transition. 
The aftermath of Camp David and subsequent events in Lebanon 
were a crucial component of the American turn to military force in 
the region. While international historians are only recently begin-
ning to turn their attention toward the Reagan era, it clearly had 
a far- reaching impact on the Global South, especially the Middle 
East.5 The earlier insistence on a bifurcated Cold War/post– Cold 
War periodization scheme for organizing the late twentieth century 
is now seen as eliding the critical role of the United States in fo-
menting and exacerbating regional violence.6 Rather than periph-
eral to events elsewhere, the Middle East was a central site of Rea-
gan’s interventionist foreign policy in the closing years of the Cold 
War. In this regard, Preventing Palestine tempers any triumphalist 
narrative of U.S. foreign relations in the Reagan era.7

From Latin America to Africa, historians have become more ex-
plicit about the need to locate the genesis of contemporary social 
and political problems within a period of ostensible American tri-
umph.8 Scholars of the global Cold War in particular have forced a 
necessary reckoning with histories of the periphery, but even they 
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have neglected the Israeli- Palestinian conflict.9 A move away from 
Carter’s regional focus to the globalist approach of Reagan can be 
traced directly through this arena, with consequences that continue 
to underpin U.S. diplomacy toward the region. Although the Cold 
War mattered to Arab- Israeli relations in the late 1970s and 1980s, 
its impact was far less than might be expected, certainly in light of 
internal developments. As a framing and periodizing device, how-
ever, it helped situate those developments along a global axis. The 
rhythms and logic of Israeli and Palestinian concerns drew selec-
tively and instrumentally upon strategic Cold War reasoning when 
it suited particular policy initiatives in both the Carter and Reagan 
administrations.

Lebanon was the nexus of these local and global forces, reveal-
ing the consequences of a violent encounter between dueling ideolo-
gies and armed intervention in the early 1980s. The country has long 
been a battleground for regional power rivalries, and was also the site 
where Israel’s ambitious national agenda and the diplomatic fallout 
of Camp David collided in unexpected and damaging ways. In pursu-
ing the PLO militarily, and working to defeat Palestinian national-
ism via faulty alliances with the Lebanese Christian minority, Israel 
found itself implicated in a massacre and a wider war that undercut 
the entire edifice upon which a carefully cultivated ethos of defensive 
Zionism had been resting. Even alongside the creation of the Pales-
tinian refugee problem in 1948 and military failures in 1956 and 1973, 
the 1982 War endures as one of the darkest episodes in Israeli history, 
to say nothing of its resonance in Lebanon. While the Israeli invasion 
was a formative proving ground for subsequent attempts to suppress 
Palestinian nationalism, the lessons of overreach were never quite 
absorbed by the political establishment at the time.

The PLO’s expulsion from the country and the failure of the 
Israeli- Lebanese peace accords triggered new forms of regional re-
sistance and the resurgence of the Palestinian question in the oc-
cupied territories themselves. A shift from political efforts to curtail 
Palestinian self- determination toward the military intervention in 
Lebanon further exposed the national movement to violence and 
exile. But it also enabled a regrouping and rearticulation of the na-
tional struggle in conjunction with Palestinians who remained in-
side the West Bank and Gaza Strip, reviving the quest for statehood 
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that the Israelis had worked so diligently to suppress. Attempts to 
restart negotiations on the Palestinian front without PLO engage-
ment yielded little in the way of meaningful political progress.  Israel 
promoted its own alternatives like the ill- fated Village Leagues 
and “Quality of Life” initiatives to improve economic conditions in 
the territories via Jordanian channels. The primary goal of Israeli 
leaders— from Shamir to Peres— remained the suppression of Pal-
estinian nationalism in the occupied territories and the prevention 
of any PLO influence. U.S. officials actively backed these ideas, al-
though a short- lived plan to increase Hashemite control across the 
Jordan River gave way to King Hussein’s renunciation of his coun-
try’s influence over the West Bank. Far from bypassing the possibil-
ity of self- determination, these attempts fed into the outbreak of the 
first Intifada in 1987. Through largely nonviolent action, the mass 
uprising brought the national movement decisively in from the cold 
and renewed global attention to demands for statehood.

After an extended blanket policy of exclusion, the move toward 
recognition of Israel and a two- state settlement at the Palestin-
ian National Council in Algiers, as well as a secret dialogue with 
American Jewish leaders under Swedish mediation, prompted for-
mal PLO recognition and the beginning of an official dialogue in 
the final weeks of Reagan’s presidency. The administration’s belated 
recognition that the Palestinian issue had to be dealt with on its 
own terms, and via the PLO, was in many ways a return to the same 
principles articulated by Carter years earlier. This reversal occurred 
as the administration’s sweeping anti- communist rhetoric gave way 
to growing accommodation with the Soviet Union during Reagan’s 
second term in office. While the immediate catalyst for the rever-
sal was the unrest in the occupied territories and Arafat’s Geneva 
statement in which he renounced terrorism, a much longer history 
of U.S. efforts to contend with Palestinian national aspirations runs 
through this book.

By revisiting the years prior to PLO recognition, it emerges that 
the deferral of a political solution to Palestinian demands— from as 
early as Kissinger’s 1975 ban— served to prolong the possible attain-
ment of political sovereignty by the Palestinians. What was the cost 
of this deferred recognition? Could things have turned out differ-
ently had the ban not been in place? As this account has suggested, 
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the complex relations between the United States, the PLO, Israel, 
and transnational actors in the intervening years adversely shaped a 
much wider set of policies toward the Palestinian question. Carter’s 
ambitious plans for Geneva and then more modest achievements in 
Camp David both excluded the PLO, postponing a reckoning with 
the central question of political sovereignty in the occupied territo-
ries that had been articulated in the mid- 1970s. Egypt helped legiti-
mate this exclusion, and Reagan’s ideological turn further margin-
alized the national movement as the war in Lebanon unleashed its 
own violent outcome. But the crushing military and political blow 
delivered by Israel did not actually defeat the national movement.

The contest between two divergent political projects— an 
 Israeli vision of limited autonomy and a Palestinian vision of self- 
determination— was generally resolved in favor of the side that 
could better withstand its own pyrrhic victory at any given moment. 
But the international context was crucial. In the waning years of 
decolonization, Israel was able to withstand the postwar vision 
of anticolonial movements that had been arguing for the creation 
of sovereign, independent nation- states. While the PLO had drawn 
on the example of movements like the FLN in Algeria, an align-
ment with other struggles across the Global South lost its valence 
by the mid- 1970s, supplanted by the rise of human rights discourse. 
Israel’s position as an ally of the United States in the Cold War and 
joint rejection of efforts in bodies like the United Nations was so-
lidified in the Reagan era, thereby helping to embed an alternative 
view of the PLO as a Soviet proxy and Palestinians as undeserving 
of statehood. The end of the Cold War and the U.S. victory in the 
Persian Gulf challenged this trend, facilitating the Bush adminis-
tration’s move to begin substantive negotiations in 1991.

The Madrid Conference and the Washington talks finally al-
lowed the Palestinians to sit at the negotiating table, even under the 
severe political constraints that had been set in motion by Camp 
David. While the Palestinian delegation worked to secure greater 
sovereignty in these talks, Arafat’s secret move to pursue the Oslo 
channel with the Rabin government led to a breakthrough agree-
ment that did not actually address core demands. In securing the 
PLO’s return to the West Bank and Gaza Strip with the signing of 
the Oslo Accords, Arafat’s acceptance of limited self- rule through 
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the establishment of an interim Palestinian National Authority 
diluted the central elements of the Palestinian national struggle, 
bumping up against the ceiling of autonomy first laid out by Begin 
in 1977. It also virtually guaranteed Israel’s continued settlement 
expansion in the territories, further eroding the basis of what might 
emerge as a sovereign, independent nation- state.

Settlements, in this regard, remain a central actor in any wider 
story of this period. Carter’s limited attempt to push Prime Min-
ster Begin on settlement expansion, followed by Reagan’s shift on 
their legality, would enable years of unchecked Israeli building in 
the occupied territories. This legacy tends to be obscured by a focus 
on peace between Egypt and Israel, an agreement that should be 
understood as contingent in Begin’s mind on avoiding a resolution 
of the Palestinian issue. As the comprehensive track eroded, move-
ment on settlement building continued apace, and took off in the 
1980s. The settlements had become the mirror and negation, in ef-
fect, to the possibility of Palestinian sovereignty. About four thou-
sand Jewish settlers lived in the West Bank and Gaza Strip when 
Begin entered office in 1977, and over one hundred thousand by 
the end of 1992, on the eve of the Oslo Accords. In the interim, 
commuter towns and bypass roads for Jewish residents bisected 
the actual ground upon which Palestinian sovereignty could be 
achieved, as a matrix of Israeli control was consolidated that by 
some accounts would prove irreversible.10

The Legacy of the 1970s and 1980s
Critics of the U.S., Israeli, and Palestinian roles in the peace pro-
cess have long lamented the destructive impact of the 1990s and 
early 2000s. But new evidence deepens and complicates an under-
standing of the missteps that actually began far earlier. The Camp 
David process was the first diplomatic discussion of Palestinian 
self- determination, and also the most formative. For as damaging 
as the exclusion of actual Palestinians from the Egyptian- Israeli ne-
gotiations and the autonomy talks may have been, the impact on 
subsequent discussion of their political fate has also been crippling. 
By conditioning Palestinian political rights on a narrowly function-
alist and nonterritorial definition of autonomy alongside continued 
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Israeli settlement expansion in the occupied territories, the earlier 
talks undercut the possibility of Palestinian sovereignty long be-
fore the “peace process” of the 1990s had begun. Begin’s autonomy 
plan, as both records from his time in office and later discussions 
make clear, became the basis for the U.S. and Israeli negotiating 
positions— and the birth of the Palestinian Authority— in the years 
that followed.

The link between Camp David, the autonomy talks, and the Oslo 
Accords is almost entirely absent from studies of the peace pro-
cess. But in the view of former Israeli Knesset member and political 
scientist Naomi Chazan, Camp David “indirectly curtailed . . . the 
prospects of territorial compromise in the West Bank and Gaza.” 
“By decoupling peace from territories,” Chazan explains, “they actu-
ally encouraged Israeli settlement.”11 In continuing with the post- 
1967 “decision not to decide” on the fate of the territories and de-
ferring substantive negotiations over the Palestinian question in an 
autonomy process explicitly designed to prevent sovereignty, Camp 
David actually enabled the triumph of an Israeli vision intent on 
suppressing the demand for self- determination. This highly conse-
quential strategy was a defining feature of Begin’s statecraft, often 
lost in the broader picture of the peace treaty with Egypt.

A focus on the 1970s and 1980s also reveals a great deal about 
the nature of Israel’s expansion beyond the 1967 borders and the 
diplomacy that sustained it. The very idiom in which early negotia-
tions were rooted— autonomy not sovereignty, limited self- rule— 
exacerbated conditions on the ground and dismantled the political 
mechanisms for a just resolution to the Palestinian question. Even 
more restrictive than the notion of self- determination that featured 
in the mandate system after World War I, autonomy for the local 
inhabitants of the occupied territories was diluted to a point where 
it signaled indefinite Israeli control of the territories rather than a 
means to eventual self- government. Unlike the mandate system, 
which was premised on the assumption that the occupiers might 
one day leave, Israel’s occupation has lasted twice as long, without 
an end in sight. The context of Israel’s rule over the West Bank and 
Gaza Strip, which began well after the end of empire, the mandates, 
and the major waves of decolonization, can shed new light on the 
relationship between late twentieth- century occupation and the 
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persistence of prolonged statelessness. In large measure, the blue-
print for the limited degree of Palestinian sovereignty that might 
ever be reached in a negotiated settlement was first sketched out by 
Begin, Burg, Sharon, and members of the Israeli negotiating team, 
as well as through the acquiescence of U.S. and Egyptian diplomats 
working alongside them.

While historians of Palestine, Zionism, and Israel have looked 
anew at the emergence of communal and religious tensions in the 
late Ottoman context, and they have turned their attention to Brit-
ish Mandatory rule as an incubator of national divisions during 
the age of European colonialism, they have largely ignored the for-
mative impact of the post- 1967 era. Alongside the renewed focus 
on the contradictions that plagued Israeli state formation and the 
 dichotomous treatment of Arab citizens in the 1940s and 1950s, as 
well as the transformative nature of occupation in the West Bank 
and Gaza Strip following the 1967 War, there is a need to fortify the 
link between Israeli territorial expansion and the ongoing condi-
tion of Palestinian statelessness.12 The conjoined moment of  Israeli 
state formation and the onset of the Palestinian Nakba in 1948 
under scores the importance of positioning the imbricated history 
of Israel and Palestine in direct conversation with one another.13

By recovering post- 1967 developments, the rationale and 
political- conceptual dynamics animating Israel’s treatment of Pal-
estinians in the territories become clearer, as does the tacit, and 
often explicit, acceptance and encouragement of this behavior by 
other actors. In emphasizing individual rights and de- territorialized 
autonomy, rather than allowing for collective self- determination 
after Camp David, the Israeli government and their compliant U.S. 
and Egyptian counterparts helped solidify a non- national, non- 
statist arrangement for Palestinians. More broadly, in rejecting a 
postwar vision of national self- determination leading to the cre-
ation of a sovereign state, the treatment of the Palestinian ques-
tion links up with other contested struggles over sovereignty in the 
1970s and 1980s. From East Timor to Kurdistan, occupying powers 
and great power supporters posited that groups demanding rights 
were neither a nation nor a people, and whatever political rights 
they might have inhered in them as individuals rather than a col-
lective on the territory they occupied. Palestine is therefore an ideal 



conseqUences of state Prevention [ 303 ]

test case for understanding the global deprivation of political rights 
to certain national movements and the uneven trajectory of self- 
determination in the postwar era.14

Like other unmet promises in Latin America and Southeast 
Asia, the events recounted in this book highlight the wide gulf that 
separated the benevolent rhetorical intentions of U.S. policymakers 
and their actual conduct as mediators. In the words of former U.S. 
ambassador to Israel Samuel Lewis, who discussed his own role 
as a leading Middle East diplomat in this era, “I think, we perhaps 
tried to play this role of honest broker, mediator, catalyst, partici-
pant, partner, whatever you’d want to describe it— we wanted to 
play it only with carrots.”15 As the role of U.S. appointed envoys like 
Robert Strauss and Sol Linowitz attest, Israeli negotiators asserted 
the limits of their respective positions and secured American sup-
port in the process.

Looking back on this period from the contemporary vantage 
point of a fractured Palestinian polity, we can more clearly discern 
the historical absence and active prevention of sovereignty and how 
it endures as a primary obstacle to Palestinian self- determination 
and statehood. Preventing Palestine does not suggest that the fore-
closure was inevitable or that alternatives might not still be pos-
sible. Rather, it attempts to chart the actions by Israel, the United 
States, Egypt, regional Arab states, domestic actors, and many 
others between the late 1970s and early 1990s, thereby elucidating 
a historical moment that abetted the prevention of Palestine. In 
place of offering a totalizing view of early diplomatic efforts as de-
liberately destructive, this book suggests a fluid unfolding of events, 
constrained by domestic factors, various ideologies, the structure 
of negotiations, and the individual choices of Israelis, Palestinians, 
and a wide range of Middle Eastern and transnational actors. This 
delicate interplay captures a contingent history of state prevention 
in the late twentieth century.

In exploring how diplomatic practices interacted with existing 
governing structures and various forms of conceptual and political 
thinking, the period between Camp David and Oslo casts new light 
on the divergent meanings ascribed to words like “autonomy,” “self- 
rule,” and “sovereignty.”16 By pulling the frame away from a satu-
rated focus on the post- Oslo era, I have attempted to explain how 
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international political developments, the articulation of ideas and 
policies in the diplomatic arena, domestic politics in the United 
States, and transformations on the ground in the region itself dur-
ing the late 1970s and 1980s produced (and constricted) the pos-
sible conditions under which the Palestinian question could be ne-
gotiated after U.S. recognition of the PLO in 1988. William Quandt, 
one of the Carter administration’s advisors on the Arab- Israeli con-
flict, and the leading expert on the peace process, has argued, “On 
balance, Israel and its neighbors were no closer to agreement in 
1988 than they had been in 1980. Perhaps the most one can say is 
that things had not deteriorated beyond repair.”17 But greater dis-
tance and the new sources uncovered in this book suggest that the 
contours of a just settlement may actually have eroded significantly 
during these interim years, adversely impacting the prospect of any 
successful negotiation in the 1990s and beyond.

Historians are not frequently in the business of asking counter-
factuals, focused instead on how events, ideologies, and structural 
forces unfold and interact over a discrete period of time.18 One must 
wonder, however, if things might have turned out differently had 
Carter’s pursuit of a comprehensive peace moved forward, or Sadat 
held off on his trip to Jerusalem, or the Reagan Plan was taken seri-
ously in the midst of the Lebanon War, or the Madrid and Washing-
ton process had reached a conclusion before the secret agreement 
in Oslo. Perhaps possibilities would have presented themselves in 
the last two and a half decades that are hard to imagine today. But 
given the history recounted in this book, a more troubling question 
remains: Was the legacy of Camp David so deeply entrenched— both 
conceptually in terms of preventing Palestinian statehood and phys-
ically in terms of the territorial transformation in the West Bank and 
Gaza Strip— that the peace process in the 1990s was bound to fail 
from its inception? Can Palestinians, as one leading U.S. diplomat 
suggested, really “negotiate their own way out of occupation”?19

State Prevention into the Twenty- First Century
Throughout 2017, several Israeli politicians could be heard lament-
ing the missed opportunity of Menachem Begin’s autonomy plan, 
which they believe would have maintained Israel’s Jewish character 
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and circumvented international pressure to withdraw from the oc-
cupied territories.20 Naftali Bennett, the right- wing education min-
ister and leader of the National Home Party, has been a leading 
advocate of a political solution for the Palestinians that dispenses 
with the idea of two separate states.21 Instead, he has called for 
“autonomy on steroids” in its place. In a December 2017 interview, 
Bennett laid out his vision in great detail. “I have no desire to oc-
cupy, govern and control the 2 million Arabs that live in Judea and 
Samaria. I remember what it was like during the First Intifada, and 
I don’t want to control their education, their sewage system and 
their quality of life.” Instead, Bennett suggested a “Stability Plan” 
that would “provide full civilian self- governance to the Palestin-
ians so they can elect themselves, pay their taxes, and control those 
areas that are theirs.” In particular, he called for the application 
of Israeli sovereignty in Area C of the West Bank. This would in-
tegrate Palestinians who live there (about eighty thousand in his 
view) into Israel with an offer of full Israeli citizenship, including 
voting rights, or residency. Palestinians living in Area A and Area 
B, Bennett explained, “will govern themselves in all aspects bar-
ring two elements: overall security responsibility and not being able 
to allow the return of descendants of Palestinians refugees.”22 The 
echoes of Prime Minister Begin could not be clearer.

As for how this “autonomy on steroids” might materialize, Ben-
nett was open to ideas: “It could be a confederation with Jordan, or 
local municipalities, or a central government. It would encompass 
full freedom of movement, massive infrastructure investment, the 
creation of a tourism zone so Christians can enter Haifa, Nazareth, 
Nablus, Ramallah, Jerusalem and Hebron without going through 
road blocks.” The elements of such a plan would not require the 
cooperation of the Palestinians themselves, Bennett argued, or the 
international community. It would also make life better in the oc-
cupied territories, ensuring a continued Israeli presence across the 
Green Line. “It’s a bottom- up economy- based peace solution and 
the Palestinians don’t accept any other options. . . . My approach 
brings a much better horizon for Palestinians and Israelis be-
cause right now the only quiet place in the Middle East is in Judea 
and Samaria and it’s because we’re there.” When asked whether 
his vision would provide self- determination for the Palestinian 
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population in the West Bank, Bennett demurred. “It’s unrealistic. 
Self- determination also depends on democracy so that the people 
are able to determine what they want. Almost none of [sic] neigh-
bours enjoy democracy and if they did they would cease to be. So 
The Stability Plan is only partial self- determination but in the real 
world you have to make compromises.”23

Bennett’s twenty- first- century resuscitation of Begin’s po-
litical vision of autonomy and the attendant questions this book 
has raised can in part be traced to the impact of the second In-
tifada between 2000 and 2005. The violence contributed to the 
intensification of a right- wing shift in Israel, further engendering 
widespread opposition to the notion of a fully sovereign Palestin-
ian state. But this opposition has far deeper roots, predating the 
Oslo Accords and the accompanying public debate about  limited 
territorial withdrawal. Even Likud prime minister Benjamin 
Netanyahu— who denounced Oslo’s supporters as countenancing 
appeasement, calling them “worse than Chamberlain”— claimed to 
embrace a “two- state” model to ending the conflict, before mak-
ing clear that relinquishing control of the West Bank was not an 
option. He has spoken instead of a “state minus” for Palestinians, 
suggesting some form of limited self- rule with Israeli security con-
trol west of the Jordan River.24 Netanyahu, it should be recalled, 
began his service in the Israeli government during the Begin era. 
He was deeply attuned to the arguments around autonomy and 
the debates over settlements, self- determination, and the meaning 
of sovereignty.

Israel’s “decision not to decide” on the fate of the territories after 
1967 has in fact given way to a de facto policy of annexation in cer-
tain areas and public calls for formal annexation in others. Despite 
rhetorical support for a negotiated settlement, many Israeli politi-
cians have regressed to an even harsher stance than that of Men-
achem Begin himself. Such a trend is not limited to the right- wing 
political parties, as parallels can also be found among centrists 
and the Labor left. Rather than withdraw from the West Bank, or 
abandon the settlements, there is talk of interim measures and slow 
separation that ensures continued Israeli security control of the ter-
ritories. The idea of a Palestinian state— even a demilitarized one— 
has receded from view. Competing political visions that circulate 
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in its place are not necessarily premised on the attainment of equal 
rights, individual or collective, in either two states or one.

We ignore these trends at our peril. The return to the 1970s and 
1980s serves as a reminder that the contemporary debates over 
the Israeli- Palestinian conflict, as well as U.S. and international 
involvement in its resolution, are in many ways a twenty- first- 
century revival of earlier iterations. A central claim of this book is 
that political catastrophes do not just appear out of the blue; they 
are the product of decisions taken at particular moments in time. If 
we widen our lens to explain how earlier histories of the Mandate 
 period as well as state formation and dispossession in 1948 extend 
forward to the post- 1967 era, the broader dynamics of the Pales-
tinian question become more evident, as do the discrete periods 
in which diplomatic practices prevented its resolution in the late 
twentieth century and continue to obstruct a viable outcome in the 
twenty- first. Camp David and its aftermath loom large over recent 
discussions about how to address Palestinian sovereignty claims. 
The political formation through which they might ultimately be ex-
ercised cannot be separated from the underlying principle of self- 
determination at the very heart of Palestinian demands.
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ances, ample needling, and wit. Natasha Wheatley was a cherished 
roommate and brilliant interlocutor during countless formative 
moments in the life of this text and its grateful author.

On the eve of an exploratory research trip to the Middle East, 
an e- mail introduction changed the course of my life. Tareq has 
opened my eyes to the world in ways I am still coming to appreci-
ate, showing me the meaning of empathy with infinite patience and 
grace. Along with a great deal of laughter, his intuitive ability to 
navigate through the hardest terrain drew me away from the study 
of historical and political misfortune into the bracing adventures 
of the present.
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a  note on soUrces

in tHe first stages  of the research for this book, I was often 
asked if it was too early to write histories of the 1970s and 1980s. 
Relatively assured at the time that it wasn’t, I have become ever 
more certain of the importance and reward of investigating this 
recent past. The availability of a wide array of sources, much of it 
untapped by researchers, makes clear that there is a great deal yet 
to be discovered. One of the main challenges I have faced is the 
sheer volume of material and the opportunities— as well as clear 
limits— afforded by digitization.

For the U.S. perspective on Israel and the Palestinian ques-
tion in this period, the publications of the Carter administration 
FRUS  volumes on the Arab- Israeli dispute have been invaluable. 
The availability of additional volumes on North Africa, the Arabian 
Peninsula, and relevant themes like human rights provides further 
areas of exploration for the wider Middle East. The CIA’s Records 
Search Tool (CREST) in College Park, Maryland, a revealing archive 
that had only been available onsite, is now accessible online. The 
Carter Presidential Library in Atlanta has a wide range of crucial 
material, and a great deal more was released to me in the course 
of Mandatory Review. Reagan- era FRUS volumes on the Middle 
East have not yet been released, but the Reagan Presidential Li-
brary in Simi Valley, California, provides ample material on many 
relevant topics and further releases via Mandatory Review as well. 
The limits of American documents are well known, given the severe 
backlog in release schedules and the widespread use of redactions 
on material relating to national security, broadly defined. But FOIA 
and Mandatory Review requests yield results, even several years 
after submission, creating a wider source base and additional op-
portunities for future researchers.

Though I was not initially expecting to find the most sensi-
tive documents from this period, the Israel State Archives in Je-
rusalem turned out to be a treasure trove. Among the revelations 
were files scattered across newly opened collections on the Camp 
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David negotiations, the autonomy talks, U.S.- Israel relations, Jew-
ish diaspora politics, and the 1982 Lebanon War. In particular, the 
generous declassification policy and excellent records from the 
Prime Minister’s division and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in 
both Hebrew and English, provide a rich (and unredacted) source 
base, often including replica copies of American documents and 
verbatim Israeli transcripts of conversations that will not be opened 
in the United States. Many official meetings were conducted in 
 English, although side meetings and bilateral discussions between 
Israeli and American diplomats were often recorded in Hebrew, 
along with legal memoranda and internal ministry discussions that 
are also available in Hebrew.

While this is a remarkable source base and covers a broad range 
of topics, not only related to Israel and the Palestinians, a word of 
caution is in order. A recent move to digitize the Israel State Ar-
chives and attendant debates over declassification and redaction 
have made physical access to the documents more difficult. The 
clear limits to digitization are also evident when coupled with the 
inability of researchers to rifle through boxes and files where mean-
ingful adjacencies can be discovered, leading to new lines of inquiry 
that are simply not possible via computer alone. There have also 
been notable instances of sensitive material being reclassified. This 
is not to mention the broader structural challenge of researchers 
being denied access into Israel on the basis of political views or 
ethnicity as well as restrictions on movement for Palestinians in the 
West Bank and Gaza Strip seeking material (often about their own 
history) located inside Israeli archives. In this vein, the heroic work 
and online publication of relevant material by Akevot, the Institute 
for Israeli- Palestinian Conflict Research, as well as the struggles 
over access and declassification waged by individual researchers, 
must be noted. In Jerusalem, I also examined the private papers 
of Prime Minister Menachem Begin held at the Menachem Begin 
Heritage Center. These records include copious correspondence, 
policy formulations, and detailed exchanges between Begin’s advi-
sors. In Tel Aviv, the Jabotinsky Institute contains records of the 
Herut movement and the Likud.

At a crucial stage in my research, I was given access to sensi-
tive documents from the unpublished appendix of the Kahan 
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Commission of Inquiry into the Sabra and Shatila massacre. The 
documents were provided by William Quandt, Professor Emeri-
tus of Politics at the University of Virginia and staff member of the 
National Security Council during the Administration of President 
Jimmy Carter. In the course of Ariel Sharon’s libel lawsuit against 
Time magazine, Quandt served as a consultant to Time and re-
ceived the documents from the magazine’s lawyers after the law-
suit had been resolved. As I state on page 375, note 104, experts 
who have seen them, including Israeli sources who are familiar 
with such documents, recognize them as the authentic text of the 
Kahan Commission Report unpublished appendix. The revelations 
these documents yield are discussed in chapter 6. For further in-
formation related to this material please visit the book’s website at 
https://press.princeton.edu/titles/13225.html.

In tracing the perspective of Egyptians and the PLO,  historians 
must confront a more limited primary source base, a result in part 
of the asymmetrical nature of negotiations over the Palestinian 
question. This disparity is also the result of restricted Egyptian ac-
cess for government material on this period and the absence of 
state institutions and a national archive in the case of the Palestin-
ians. Key Palestinian collections were also captured or destroyed 
by  Israel in the 1982 Lebanon War. Nevertheless, PLO traces 
within U.S. diplomatic records as well as Palestinian private ar-
chives and official publications can yield a far more complete ac-
count of events. Some crucial Egyptian records were also provided 
to the Palestinian delegation ahead of the Madrid Conference 
talks, and these have been consulted via access generously granted 
by Rashid Khalidi, a Palestinian advisor and later participant in 
the Madrid and Washington negotiations. A portion of the records 
have been uploaded to the website of the Institute for Palestine 
 Studies as an open source archive. When drawing upon the docu-
ments, I have cited them as Papers of the Palestinian Delegation to 
the Palestinian- Israeli Negotiations (PPD) and included links for 
those available online.

To recover the broader political voice of Palestinians, I examined 
archival material available exclusively in Lebanon, at Beirut’s Insti-
tute for Palestine Studies (IPS). This essential archive contains ex-
tensive documents, newspapers, and bulletins published in Arabic 

https://press.princeton.edu/titles/13225.html
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and English by various Palestinian factions throughout this period. 
The IPS also holds a full series of the PLO’s WAFA news agency 
reports, issued daily during the height of the Lebanese civil war and 
an invaluable source for understanding how Palestinians navigated 
the Israeli and American military presence in Lebanon. Online, 
The Palestinian Revolution is a newly available digital archive with 
a growing collection of primary sources, visual material, and oral 
history interviews on this period, and the Palestine Poster Project 
Archives contains further visual material as well. Lebanese archives 
consulted include the Arab Image Foundation in Gemmayze, Bei-
rut, and the UMAM Documentation and Research Center in Harat 
Hreik, Beirut, both of which hold vital photographic and archival 
material.

For international context and a non- American perspective on 
Israel, the Palestinians, and the wider Middle East, I drew on newly 
opened files at the National Archives of the United Kingdom in 
Kew, London. These include the papers of British prime ministers 
James Callaghan and Margaret Thatcher (PREM) and the exten-
sive files of the Foreign Office (FCO). Several crucial documents 
were released to me by Freedom of Information request as well. For 
the domestic influence of a key interest group in the United States, 
I consulted the collections of leading American Jewish organiza-
tions, including the Dorot Division of the New York Public Library, 
the American Jewish Congress papers at the American Jewish His-
torical Society, and the archives of the American Jewish Committee 
and the Joint Distribution Committee in New York City.

Across this period, I also consulted a range of donated collec-
tions at Boston University’s Howard Gotlieb Archival Research 
Center, Stanford University’s Hoover Institution Archives, Yale 
University’s Manuscript Division, the Library of Congress Manu-
script Division, and the National Security Archive in Washing-
ton, D.C. Access was also kindly granted to the personal papers of 
Henry Siegman, the former head of the American Jewish Congress 
(1978– 1994), and Professor Ian Lustick, who was an analyst at the 
State Department’s Bureau of Intelligence and Research during the 
autonomy negotiations.

Lastly, I conducted over thirty oral history interviews with 
retired diplomats, politicians, communal leaders, and military 
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veterans across the United States, United Kingdom, Israel, Pales-
tine, and Lebanon. While not all the interviews have been quoted 
directly, several served as background for pursuing various avenues 
of archival research. I also consulted existing oral history collec-
tions in many of these locations, including the Liddell Hart Centre 
for Military Archives at King’s College London, the Avraham Har-
man Institute of Contemporary Jewry at the Hebrew University of 
Jerusalem, Columbia University’s Center for Oral History, and sev-
eral online repositories.
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a bbrev i ations

 CCOH Columbia Center for Oral History Archives

 CREST Central Intelligence Agency Records Search Tool

 DDRS Declassified Documents Reference System

 FRUS Foreign Relations of the United States

 HIA Hoover Institution Archives

 IPS Institute for Palestine Studies

 ISA Israel State Archives

 JCL Jimmy Carter Library

 KCD Kahan Commission Documents

 LOC Library of Congress

 MBC Menachem Begin Heritage Center

 MERIP Middle East Research and Information Project

 NARA National Archives and Records Administration

 NSA National Security Affairs

 NSC National Security Council

 PHE Papers of Hermann Eilts

 PPD Papers of the Palestinian Delegation to the Palestinian- 
Israeli Negotiations

 PPPJC Public Papers of the Presidents: Jimmy Carter

 PPPRR Public Papers of the Presidents: Ronald Reagan

 RRL Ronald Reagan Library

 UKNA United Kingdom National Archives

 YUL Yale University Library
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